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INTRODUCTORY NOTE  

On September 26, 2011, we changed the name of our company from RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation to Galena Biopharma, Inc. In this 
annual report, we sometimes refer to Galena Biopharma, Inc. as “Galena” or the “Company” and to our wholly-owned subsidiary, Apthera, Inc., 
as “Apthera.” On September 26, 2011, we also announced the contribution of our historical RNAi assets to a new subsidiary formed by us for 
this purpose and the proposed partial spin-off of the subsidiary referred to under “Item 1. Business — Recent Developments” in this annual 
report. Our new subsidiary, which assumed the name RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation in conjunction with the change in our name, is referred 
to in this annual report as “RXi.”  

We recently announced that our board of directors had declared a conditional dividend on Galena common stock of one share of common 
stock of RXi for each outstanding share of Galena common stock to be made pursuant to the registration statement filed by RXi with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission and declared effective on February 14, 2012. For the reasons described under “Item 1. Business — Recent 
Business Developments” in this annual report, there is no assurance that the payment and distribution of the RXi shares will be completed as 
planned.  

Unless the context otherwise indicates, references in this annual report to the “company,” “we,” “us” or “our” refer (i) to Galena, Apthera 
and RXi, collectively, prior to the proposed partial spin-off of RXi; and (ii) to only Galena and Apthera, together, after the partial spin-off of 
RXi, assuming it is completed.  

“SAFE HARBOR” STATEMENT  

Some of the information contained in this annual report may include forward-looking statements that reflect our current views with respect 
to our research and development activities, business strategy, business plan, financial performance and other future events. These statements 
include forward-looking statements both with respect to us, specifically, and our industry, in general. We make these statements pursuant to the 
safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Statements that include the words “expect,” “intend,” “plan,” 
“believe,” “project,” “estimate,” “may,” “should,” “anticipate,” “will” and similar statements of a future or forward-looking nature identify 
forward-looking statements for purposes of the federal securities laws or otherwise.  

All forward-looking statements involve inherent risks and uncertainties, and there are or will be important factors that could cause actual 
results to differ materially from those indicated in these statements. These factors include, but are not limited to, those factors set forth in the 
sections entitled “Business,” “Risk Factors,” “Legal Proceedings,” “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results 
of Operations,” “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk” and “Controls and Procedures” in this annual report, all of which 
you should review carefully. Please consider our forward-looking statements in light of those risks as you read this annual report. We undertake 
no obligation to publicly update or review any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new information, future developments or 
otherwise, except as required by law.  

If one or more of these or other risks or uncertainties materializes, or if our underlying assumptions prove to be incorrect, actual results 
may vary materially from what we anticipate. All subsequent written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to us or individuals acting 
on our behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by this “Safe Harbor” Statement.  
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Overview  

Galena is a biotechnology company focused on discovering, developing and commercializing innovative therapies addressing major unmet 
medical needs using targeted biotherapeutics. We are pursuing the development of novel cancer therapeutics using peptide-based 
immunotherapy products, including our main product candidate, NeuVax (E75), for the treatment of breast cancer and other tumors.  

NeuVax is a peptide-based immunotherapy intended to reduce the recurrence of breast cancer in low-to-intermediate HER2-positive breast 
cancer patients not eligible for trastuzumab (Herceptin ; Genentech/Roche). On January 19, 2012, we initiated enrollment in our Phase 3 
PRESENT clinical trial for NeuVax™ (E75 peptide plus GM-CSF) vaccine in low-to-intermediate HER2 1+ and 2+ breast cancer patients in the 
adjuvant setting to prevent recurrence (Clinicaltrials.gov identifier NCT01479244). The PRESENT (Prevention of Recurrence in Early-Stage, 
Node-Positive Breast Cancer with Low to Intermediate HER2 Expression with NeuVax Treatment) study is a randomized, multicenter, 
multinational clinical trial that will enroll approximately 700 breast cancer patients. The trial design has been updated to include current National 
Comprehensive Cancer Network (“NCCN”) guidelines and has received Special Protocol Assessment, or “SPA,” concurrence from the U.S. 
Food and Drug Administration, or “FDA.” The Phase 2 trial of NeuVax achieved its primary endpoint of disease-free survival, or “DFS.” The 
FDA has agreed in the SPA that the design and planned analysis of the Phase 3 PRESENT study is adequately designed to provide the necessary 
data that, depending upon the outcome, could support a regulatory submission for marketing approval. We previously reported the Phase 2 trial 
data in which none of the Phase 3 targeted low-to-intermediate, node-positive patients treated with the optimal regimen had experienced a 
relapse after 36 months of treatment.  

We also plan to start a Phase 2 trial comparing NeuVax in combination with trastuzumab (Herceptin ) versus trastuzumab, alone, in a 
300-patient, randomized study in the adjuvant breast cancer setting. We previously reported a Phase 2 trial of sequential therapy with 
trastuzumab followed by HER2 vaccination in the adjuvant setting. Of 62 patients who received standard-of-care trastuzumab, the 32 who 
received no NeuVax vaccine experienced a 12.5% breast cancer recurrence rate (4/32), which is comparable to reported rates of similarly staged 
and treated patients. In contrast, none (0%) of the 30 patients who received the NeuVax vaccine following trastuzumab therapy experience a 
recurrence.  

Our second product candidate, Folate Binding Protein-E39 (FBP), is a targeted vaccine, consisting of the peptides E39 and J65, aimed at 
preventing the recurrence of ovarian, endometrial, and breast cancers. On February 14, 2012, we announced the initiation of a Phase 1/2 clinical 
trial in two gynecological cancers: ovarian and endometrial adenocarcinomas. Folate binding protein has very limited tissue distribution and 
expression in non-malignant tissue and is over-expressed in more than 90% of ovarian and endometrial cancers, as well as in 20% to 50% of 
breast, lung, colorectal and renal cell carcinomas.  

We acquired Apthera and our NeuVax product candidate in April 2011. Prior to that time, we were engaged primarily in conducting 
discovery research and preclinical development activities based on RNA interference, or “RNAi,” a naturally occurring cellular mechanism that 
has the potential to effectively and selectively interfere with, or “silence,” expression of targeted disease-associated genes. Our acquisition of 
Apthera followed from the determination by our board of directors to broaden our strategic direction by giving us access to a late-stage product 
candidate, NeuVax. In connection with our acquisition of Apthera, we reduced the scope of our RNAi activities to focus primarily on RXI-109, 
our lead RNAi-product, while maintaining our key development alliances and core RNAi discovery and development capability. Following the 
Apthera acquisition, our board of directors undertook to explore strategic alternatives for our RNAi platform that would enable us to commit 
more resources to our later-stage oncology drug programs.  

On September 24, 2011, we contributed to a new wholly-owned subsidiary formed by us for this purpose substantially all of our RNAi-
related technologies and assets and entered into a number of agreements relating to RXi’s ongoing business and operations. Our new subsidiary, 
which assumed the RXi name, will focus solely on developing and commercializing therapeutic products based on RNAi technologies for the 
treatment of human diseases, including fibrotic disease, with financing provided by institutional investors in RXi. In the agreements, we have 
agreed, among other things, to undertake to distribute to our stockholders a portion of our shares of  
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common stock of RXi, which we sometimes refer to as the “partial spin-off” of RXi. See “Recent Developments,” below, for information on the 
status of the partial spin-off of RXi, and “RXi’s RNAi Program,” below, for a summary of RXi’s current research and development activities.  

Our Oncology Therapeutic Programs  

The chart below summarizes the current status of our oncology drug development programs, with the dark shading indicating completed 
stages of development and the light shading indicating development activities we intend to prioritize in the near-term:  
   

  

We are developing a pipeline of immunotherapy product candidates for the treatment of various cancers based on the E75 peptide, the most 
advanced of which is NeuVax, which is targeted at preventing the recurrence of breast cancer. NeuVax has had positive Phase 1/2 clinical trial 
results for the prevention of breast cancer recurrence in patients who have had breast cancer and received the standard of care treatment (surgery, 
chemotherapy, radiotherapy and hormonal therapy as indicated). We recently initiated our Phase 3 PRESENT clinical trial of NeuVax for the 
prevention of breast cancer recurrence in early-stage low-to-intermediate HER2 breast cancer patients. For the results of a single trial to support 
registration for an indication, the results of the trial must be internally consistent, clinically meaningful, and statistically very persuasive. 
Specifically, FDA has indicated that, in general, the results from two Phase 3 studies would be required to support approval, and it would accept 
a single pivotal study in support of approval if the results of the trial was internally consistent, clinically meaningful and statistically very 
persuasive.  

NeuVax is an immunotherapy that stimulates the immune system to actively seek out and selectively kill cancer cells. NeuVax directs 
“killer” T-cells to target and destroy cancer cells that express HER2/neu, a protein associated with epithelial tumors in breast, ovarian, 
pancreatic, colon, bladder and prostate cancers. NeuVax is comprised of a HER2/neu-derived peptide called E75. E75 is a nine-amino acid 
sequence that is immunogenic (produces an immune response) and GM-CSF is a commercially available protein that acts to stimulate and 
activate components of the immune system such as macrophages and dendritic cells.  

NeuVax has been shown to be most effective in patients with low-to-intermediate HER2/neu expressing patients with HLA type A2+ or 
A3+. We believe that approximately 25,000-40,000 of the approximately 200,000 women diagnosed with breast cancer in the United States each 
year meet these criteria. We believe that NeuVax’s specificity provides for a highly targeted therapy to prevent breast cancer recurrence for a 
selected subset of breast cancer patients and we believe it will increase the chance of the patient remaining disease free following a successful 
treatment for these patients.  

We are also developing novel applications for NeuVax based on preclinical studies and Phase 2 clinical trials which suggest that 
combining NeuVax and trastuzumab (Herceptin ; Genentech/Roche) can increase antigen presentation by tumor cells by promoting receptor 
internalization and subsequent proteosomal degradation of the HER2 protein. Based on these results, in 2012 we will commence a randomized, 
multicenter Phase 2 trial in 300 patients that will compare NeuVax with trastuzumab versus trastuzumab alone.  
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We also are pursuing additional therapeutic indications for NeuVax that are currently in Phase 1/2 clinical trials. Under our investigational 
new drug application, or “IND,” open protocols for the treatment of prostate cancer, ovarian cancer and bladder cancer exist for patient 
populations with the same general criteria for eligibility as in breast cancer ( i.e. , early-stage disease and adjuvant treatment setting after surgery 
with immunologic competence). An early stage clinical study in high-risk prostate cancer confirmed the ability of the patients to mount an E75 
specific immune response. We may explore whether NeuVax provides clinical benefits in other areas, such as a prophylactic vaccine against 
breast cancer occurrence in healthy women with a high likelihood for developing breast cancer based on genetic assays or biomarkers and a 
strong positive familial history of breast cancer, and in HER2 overexpressing gastric cancer. Herceptin is approved for this indication, and 
there is a significant clinical rationale for NeuVax’s potential efficacy in this indication. We also may investigate the use of NeuVax in 
combination with other therapies with a view to leveraging NeuVax’s attractive safety profile and targeted mechanism of action. Clinical trials 
conducted on NeuVax have provided proof-of-principle data in early-stage node-negative breast cancer, although such data is preliminary and 
not statistically significant, since the trials were not designed to provide statistically significant efficacy data. Both the early-stage node-negative 
breast cancer indication and the high-risk patient indication are longer-term areas of interest that we currently expect to explore only with 
support from corporate partners.  

Recent Developments  

On September 24, 2011, we contributed to RXi substantially all of our RNAi-related technologies and assets and entered into a securities 
purchase agreement with Tang Capital Partners, LP and RTW Investors, LLC, which we sometimes refer to as the “RXi investors,” and other 
agreements relating to the financing and other aspects of the subsidiary’s ongoing business and operations. RXi will focus on developing and 
commercializing therapeutic products based on RNAi technologies for the treatment of human diseases, including its lead anti-scarring and anti-
fibrosis product candidate, RXI-109. In these agreements, we committed, among other things, to undertake to distribute to our stockholders a 
portion of the RXi common stock held by Galena, which we sometimes refer to in this annual report the “partial spin-off of RXi.” To date, RXi’s 
activities have consisted of completing its organizational activities, acquiring our RNAi-related assets and entering into the agreements described 
in detail in our Current Reports on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 26, 2011 and September 27, 2011, respectively, and furthering the 
development of RXI-109 in preparation for RXi’s recent submission to the FDA of an IND for RXI-109.  

On February 27, 2012 we announced, as required by NASDAQ Listing Rule 5250(e)(6), that our board of directors had declared a 
conditional dividend on Galena common stock of one share of common stock of RXi for each outstanding share of Galena common stock. The 
spin-off shares will be payable, subject to certain conditions described below, to our stockholders as of close of business (Eastern time) on 
March 8, 2012, the record date for the distribution, in the ratio of one RXi share for each share of Galena common stock held as of the record 
date. In light of the conditional nature of the partial spin-off of RXi, our board of directors has not set a payment date for the distribution, and 
under NASDAQ rules our common stock is not yet trading “ex-dividend.” The distribution of the spin-off shares will be taxable to Galena 
stockholders who receive RXi shares in the distribution.  

The distribution to Galena stockholders of the shares of common stock of RXi, which we sometimes refer to as the “spin-off shares , ” is to 
be made pursuant to the registration statement filed by RXi with the Securities and Exchange Commission and declared effective on February 
14, 2012. Because the RXi registration statement will go “stale” on April 30, 2012, we must complete the distribution of the spin-off shares by 
that date, unless we were to cause RXi to amend the registration statement. It is likely that we would abandon the partial spin-off of RXi if the 
distribution of the spin-off shares has not been made by April 30, 2012, although our board of directors has not made any decision in this regard.  

The establishment of a payment date for the distribution and the payment of the distribution is dependent upon the timing of effectiveness 
of an application filed with the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, or “FINRA,” to permit RXi common stock to be traded in the OTC 
Markets Group under the symbol “RXII.” The payment of the distribution also is conditioned upon the closing of the RXi financing, which is 
subject to certain closing conditions that may or may not be satisfied. In addition, the securities purchase agreement among Galena, RXi and the 
RXi investors provides that the agreement may be unilaterally terminated by us or by the RXi investors if the closing of the transactions has not 
occurred by March 31, 2012, and it is not possible for the clos-  
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ing to occur by this date. Accordingly, unless this date is extended by mutual agreement of the RXi investors and us, either we or the RXi 
investors generally may terminate the securities purchase agreement at any time after March 31, 2012, unless the failure of the closing to occur 
was due to the fault of the party seeking to terminate the securities purchase agreement.  

Although we have no present intention to terminate the securities purchase agreement or to abandon the partial spin-off of RXi, the RXi 
investors may choose to do so. We also may decide to do so at any time if our board of directors determines that it is in the best interests of our 
company. For all of the foregoing reasons, there is no assurance that the payment and distribution of the spin-off shares will be completed.  

For a discussion of the risks and uncertainties relating to the partial spin-off of RXi, see the “Risk Factors - Risks Relating to the Spin-Off’ 
section of this annual report. We have been sued in connection with the contribution and spin-off transactions by some of the holders of our 
outstanding warrants. See “Risk Factors - Risks Relating to Our Financial Position and Capital Requirements - We have been sued by some of 
our warrant holders, and we could be found liable to repurchase their warrants .”  

RXi’s RNAi Program  

RXI-109, RXi’s first RNAi product candidate, is a dermal anti-scarring therapy that targets connective tissue growth factor, or “CTGF,” 
and that may inhibit connective tissue formation in human fibrotic disease.  

Data obtained from preclinical studies of RXi’s sd-rxRNA compounds in preliminary preclinical models using local administration to the 
skin have shown robust delivery and effective target gene silencing. RXi has targeted filing an IND application and commencing clinical trials of 
RXI-109 in 2012. If clinical studies of RXI-109 produce successful results in anti-scarring, we understand that RXi may explore opportunities in 
other dermatology applications and other anti-fibrotic indications, possibly including pulmonary fibrosis, liver fibrosis, acute spinal cord injury, 
ocular scarring and restenosis.  

Financial Condition  

We had cash and cash equivalents of approximately $11.4 million as of December 31, 2011. We had cash and cash equivalents of 
approximately $8.2 million as of March 26, 2012. On February 17, 2012, we entered into a Controlled Equity Offering sales agreement with 
Cantor Fitzgerald & Co. (“Cantor”), pursuant to which we may offer and sell from time to time through Cantor, acting as agent, shares of our 
common stock, $0.0001 par value per share, having an aggregate offering price of up to $10 million. The offer and sale of our shares through 
Cantor will be registered pursuant to our Registration Statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-167025) declared effective by the Securities and 
Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on May 21, 2010 and is described in detail in the related prospectus supplement dated February 17, 2012 
filed with the SEC and the prospectus dated May 21, 2010 included as part of our Registration Statement. The offering pursuant to the sales 
agreement will terminate upon the sale of all shares subject to the sales agreement or the earlier termination of the sales agreement as permitted 
therein.  

Under the sales agreement, Cantor may sell shares of our common stock by any method permitted by law deemed to be an “at-the-market” 
offering as defined in Rule 415 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, including, but not limited to, sales made directly on The NASDAQ 
Capital Market, on any other existing trading market for our common stock or to or through a market maker. Cantor may also sell our shares 
under the sales agreement by any other method permitted by law, including in privately negotiated transactions. Cantor has agreed in the sales 
agreement to use its commercially reasonable efforts to sell shares in accordance with our instructions (including any price, time or size limit or 
other customary parameters or conditions we may impose).  

We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents and the proceeds from the sales agreement should be sufficient to fund our 
operations through at least the first quarter of 2013.  

We have not generated revenue to date and may not generate product revenue in the foreseeable future, if ever. We expect to incur 
significant operating losses as we advance our product candidates through the drug development and regulatory process. We expect to continue 
to devote a substantial portion of our resources to research and development programs. As a result of the costs expected to be incurred in 
connection with our  
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recently commenced clinical trials of NeuVax and FBP, we expect that our research and development expense will increase significantly from 
historic levels for the foreseeable future. We will need to generate significant revenue to achieve profitability and might never do so. In the 
absence of product revenue, our potential sources of operational funding are expected to be the proceeds from equity financings, funded research 
and development payments and payments received under partnership and collaborative agreements. There is no guarantee that additional funding 
will be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all. If we fail to obtain additional funding when needed, we would be forced to scale back or 
terminate our operations, or to seek to merge with or to be acquired by another company.  

Corporate Information  

Galena is a biotechnology company focused on discovering, developing and commercializing innovative therapies addressing major unmet 
medical needs using targeted biotherapeutics. We are pursuing the development of novel cancer therapeutics using peptide-based 
immunotherapy products, including our main product candidate, NeuVax ™ (E75), for the treatment of various cancers.  

Our principal executive offices are located at 310 N. State Street, Suite 208, Lake Oswego, Oregon 97034, and our phone number is 
(855) 855-4253. Our website address is www.galenabiopharma.com. We do not incorporate the information on our website into this annual 
report, and you should not consider such information part of this annual report.  

We were incorporated as Argonaut Pharmaceuticals, Inc. in Delaware on April 3, 2006 and changed our name to RXi Pharmaceuticals 
Corporation on November 28, 2006. On September 26, 2011, we changed the name of our company from RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation to 
Galena Biopharma, Inc., as described under “Recent Developments” above.  

Our Competitive Strengths  

We believe we are well positioned to compete successfully in the cancer immunotherapy markets due to the following competitive 
strengths:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

Summary of NeuVax  

General  

NeuVax is a cytotoxic T-cell activating, epitope-specific immunotherapy comprised of a peptide called E75 and an immune adjuvant called 
GM-CSF (sargramostim). E75 is derived from HER2, a 185-Kd transmembrane glycoprotein that is part of the epidermal growth factor (“EGF”) 
family of tyrosine kinases. GM-CSF is recombinant human granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor, a stimulator and activator of 
macro-  
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•   In January 2012, we began our Phase 3 PRESENT clinical trial of our lead product candidate, NeuVax, for low-to-intermediate HER2-

expressing breast cancer patients not eligible for Herceptin ;  

  
•   In February 2012, we initiated Phase 1/2 clinical trials of our second product candidate, Folate Binding Protein-E39 (FBP) in two 

gynecological cancers: ovarian and endometrial adenocarcinomas;  

  
•   During 2012, we will commence our Phase 2 trial comparing NeuVax in combination with Herceptin (trastuzumab) versus 

trastuzumab, alone, in a 300-patient, randomized study in the adjuvant breast cancer setting;  
  •   Our accomplished scientific and business team has significant experience in building and managing emerging life sciences companies;  

  

•   Our scientific advisors are recognized leaders in research, including Dr. George Peoples, Chief of Surgical Oncology at San Antonio 
Military Medical Center in Houston, Texas and the Director and Principal Investigator of the Cancer Vaccine Development Program at 
Uniformed Services University of the Health Sciences in Bethesda, Maryland; and David A. Scheinberg, M.D., Ph.D., to Memorial 
Sloan-Kettering Cancer Center’s Vincent Astor’s chair and chair of the Molecular Pharmacology and Chemistry Program in the Sloan-
Kettering Institute, founder and Chair of the Experimental Therapeutics and Nanotechnology Centers at Memorial Sloan-Kettering and 
a member of the Leukemia Service; and  

  •   We are focused on unmet medical needs representing significant market opportunities.  
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phages and dendritic cells. HER2 is expressed at very low levels in a number of normal epithelial tissues but is amplified and overexpressed in 
many epithelial tumors. HER2/neu is key to growth of cancer and has proven to be a profitable target for such drugs as Herceptin and Tykerb.  

Clinical trials have shown that NeuVax boosts a pre-existing immune response found in most cancer patients. Its active component, the 9-
amino acid peptide, E75 (derived from amino acids 369-377 in the extracellular domain of the HER2 protein), is the synthetic version of an 
epitope recognized by cytotoxic T-lymphocytes (“CTLs”) and was originally found in tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes of breast and ovarian 
cancer patients. In contrast to previous clinical studies with peptides, E75 induces a 1,000-fold increased T-cell response; typically 1-2% of 
circulating T-cells become reactive to the E75 peptide. Such E75-reactive T-cells are therapeutically active as measured by a reduction in disease 
recurrence in early-stage breast cancer patients. Figure 1 below shows the 24-month follow-up data for all patients treated during the Phase 2 
clinical trial, including both node positive and node negative patients, HER2 1+, 2+, and 3+ patients, as well as optimally dosed and sub-
optimally dosed. The Kaplan-Meier Disease Free Survival rate improved for the patients receiving NeuVax (N=106) compared to the control 
group (N=76). An even greater improvement can be seen when we focus on Phase 2 patients who meet the proposed Phase 3 clinical protocols 
( i.e. , node-positive, low and intermediate HER2+ expressor, optimally-dosed patients) (N=18) compared to the control (N=27). Figure 2, 
below, shows the 24-month follow-up data for such patients, and the results are statistically significant.  

Figure 1 — Kaplan-Meier Disease-Free Survival for All Patients  
   

  

Figure 2 — Kaplan-Meier Disease-Free Survival for Node-Positive Low-Expressor Optimally-Dosed Patients  
   

  

Another potential significant advantage of NeuVax is that the process to manufacture it is relatively simple and can be accomplished using 
standard peptide synthesis techniques and automated methods. This results in cost of goods that are potentially significantly lower than both 
antigen-specific and polyvalent/whole-cell vaccines, which have increasingly complex manufacturing schemes.  
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Along with our research collaborators, we have developed this therapy using a treatment approach that focuses on treating early-stage 
cancer patients with no/low tumor burden and relatively healthy immune systems compared to patients with advanced/metastatic disease. Also, 
we intend to use a clinical trial endpoint focused on disease recurrence and disease-free survival in its Phase 3 trial for breast cancer as the basis 
for conditional approval of NeuVax rather than an overall survival endpoint. In contrast, cancer vaccines to date have been evaluated in patients 
with advanced/metastatic disease, resulting in equivocal survival data in clinical trials and several clinical development failures.  

NeuVax has been evaluated in Phase 1/2 clinical trials in early-stage breast cancer patients and a Phase 1/2 trial in prostate cancer patients 
at high risk for disease recurrence. On January 19, 2012, we initiated our PRESENT trial for NeuVax™ (E75 peptide plus GM-CSF) vaccine in 
low-to-intermediate HER2expressing breast cancer patients (often referred to as HER2 negative) in the adjuvant setting to prevent recurrence 
(Clinicaltrials.gov identifier NCT01479244). The PRESENT (Prevention of Recurrence in Early-Stage, Node-Positive Breast Cancer with Low 
to Intermediate HER2 Expression with NeuVax Treatment) study is a randomized, multicenter, multinational clinical trial that will enroll 
approximately 700 breast cancer patients. The trial design has been updated to include current National Comprehensive Cancer Network 
(“NCCN”) guidelines and has received Special Protocol Assessment, or “SPA,” concurrence from the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or 
“FDA.” Based on a previous Phase 2 trial of NeuVax that achieved its primary endpoint of disease-free survival, or “DFS,” the FDA has agreed 
in the SPA that the design and planned analysis of the Phase 3 PRESENT study is adequately designed to provide the necessary data that, 
depending upon the outcome, could support a regulatory submission for marketing approval.  

In addition to breast cancer, we intend to further develop NeuVax for the treatment of prostate cancer patients at high risk for disease 
recurrence, as well as for other solid tumor types that express HER2.  

Market Opportunity for NeuVax  

NeuVax targets a significant unmet medical need and blockbuster market opportunity. There are approximately 230,000 cases of invasive 
breast cancer diagnosed in the United States every year, by far, the most commonly diagnosed malignancy in women. Of these women, about 
70-80% test positive for HER2 (IHC 1+, 2+ or 3+), but only 20-30% of all breast cancer patients, those with HER2 3+ disease, are eligible for 
Herceptin (trastuzumab; Roche-Genentech). Herceptin revenues totaled more than $5.5 billion in 2011, with approximately $4.5 billion from 
U.S. sales due to its use in the adjuvant setting. NeuVax targets the remaining 50% of HER2 positive patients (HER2 1+ and 2+) who achieve 
remission with current standard of care, but have no available HER2 targeted adjuvant treatment options to maintain their disease-free status. 
Based on the Phase 3 target patient population, the target market for NeuVax is approximately 35,000-40,000 patients annually.  

NeuVax Target Market  
   

  

Introduction to the Field of RNAi Therapeutics  

Following the planned partial spin-off of RXi, RXi will continue to develop novel RNAi-based therapies. RNAi is a naturally occurring 
phenomenon where short double-stranded RNA molecules interfere with the  
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expression of targeted genes. RNAi technology takes advantage of this phenomenon and potentially allows us to effectively interfere with 
particular genes within living cells by designing RNA-derived molecules targeting those genes. RNAi is regarded as a significant advancement 
in the scientific community, as evidenced by the journal Science’s selection of RNAi as the “Breakthrough of the Year” in 2002 and by the 
awarding of the 2006 Nobel Prize in Medicine to the co-discoverers of RNAi, including Dr. Craig Mello, a founder of the Company.  

RNAi offers a novel approach to the drug development process because, as described below under “The RNAi Mechanism,” RNAi 
compounds can potentially be designed to target any one of the thousands of human genes, many of which are undruggable by other modalities. 
In contrast, an article published in the December 2005 edition of Drug Discovery Today, by Andreas P. Russ and Stefan Lampel, reported that 
only a subset of the proteins encoded in the human genetic code (human genome) are able to be targeted efficiently by traditional medicinal 
chemistry or antibody-based approaches. The specificity of RNAi is achieved by an intrinsic well-understood biological mechanism and 
potential therapeutic RNAi compounds can be designed to target the sequence of a disease-causing gene and take advantage of this mechanism. 
According to studies cited in Nature Review of Drug Discovery, the specificity of RNAi may be sufficient to permit therapeutic targeting of only 
a single gene, and may even selectively reduce or eliminate expression from a single abnormal copy of a gene while preserving expression from 
a normal copy (“allele-specific” targeting). This is critical in diseases such as cancer and neurodegenerative disorders that are often caused by 
abnormal copies of genes. In one study cited, for example, an siRNA was introduced into the cell and the specificity of silencing was evaluated 
using microarray analysis. According to the article, each siRNA silenced the intended target to the highest extent guided by sequence homology 
and other, non-targeted genes were not significantly altered.  

The RNAi Mechanism  

The genome is made of a double-strand of DNA (the double helix) that acts as an instruction manual for the production of the roughly 
30,000 to 50,000 human proteins. Proteins are important molecules that allow cells and organisms to live and function. With rare exceptions, 
each cell in the human body has the entire complement of genes. However, only a subset of these genes directs the production of proteins in any 
particular cell type. For example, a muscle cell produces muscle-specific protein, whereas a skin cell does not.  

In order for a gene to guide the production of a protein, it must first be copied into a single-stranded chemical messenger (messenger RNA 
or mRNA), which is then translated into protein. RNAi is a naturally occurring process by which a particular messenger RNA can be destroyed 
before it is translated into protein. The process of RNAi can be artificially induced by introducing a small double-stranded fragment of RNA 
corresponding to a particular messenger RNA into a cell. A protein complex within the cell called RISC (RNA-Induced Silencing Complex) 
recognizes this double-stranded RNA fragment and splits the double-strands apart, retaining one strand in the RISC complex. The RISC then 
helps this guide strand of RNA bind to and destroy its corresponding cellular messenger RNA target. Thus, RNAi provides a method to 
potentially block the creation of the proteins that cause disease.  

Since gene expression controls most cellular processes, the ability to inhibit gene expression provides a potentially powerful tool to treat 
human diseases. Furthermore, since the human genome has already been decoded, and based on numerous gene-silencing reports, we believe 
that RNAi compounds can readily be designed to interfere with the expression of any specific gene. Based on our internal research and our 
review of certain scientific literature, we also believe that our RNAi platform may allow us to develop therapeutics with significant potential 
advantages over traditional drug development methods, including:  
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  •   high specificity for targeted genes;  
  •   high potency (low doses);  
  •   ability to interfere with the expression of potentially any gene;  
  •   accelerated generation of lead compounds; and  
  •   low toxicity, natural mechanism of action.  
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RXi’s RNAi Therapeutic Platform  

RNAi Compound Design  

RNAi compounds are made from a strand or strands of RNA or modified RNA that are manufactured by a nucleic acid synthesizer. The 
synthesizer is programmed to assemble a strand of RNA of a particular sequence using the four kinds of nucleotide units (Adenine (“A”), Uracil 
(“U”), Cytidine (“C”) and Guanosine (“G”)) that match a small segment of the targeted gene. The hallmark of an RNAi compound is that it has a 
double stranded region. The compounds can be of various lengths of nucleotide units (nt). The two strands can have overhangs, or they can have 
blunt ends. A single strand can form an RNAi compound by forming a structure referred to as a hairpin.  

The length and shape of the compound can affect the activity and hence the potency of the RNAi in cells. The first design of RNAi 
compounds to be pursued for development as a human therapeutic was a short double-stranded RNA that included at least one overhanging 
single-stranded region, known as small interfering RNA, or siRNA, which we also refer to as classic siRNA.  

In the case of classic siRNA, double-stranded RNA with single-stranded overhangs is used. We believe that classic siRNAs have 
drawbacks that may limit the usefulness of those agents as human therapeutics, and that we may be able to utilize the technologies we have 
licensed and developed internally to optimize RNAi compounds for use as human therapeutic agents. It is the combination of the length, the 
nucleotide sequence and the configuration of chemical modifications that are important for effective RNAi therapeutics.  

Our internal research leads us to believe that next generation rxRNA compounds offer significant advantages over classic siRNA used by 
other companies developing RNAi therapeutics, highlighted by the following characteristics:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

Based on our own research, we have developed a variety of novel siRNA configurations with potential advantages for therapeutic use. The 
first of these has been termed rxRNA ori. This configuration has some similarities to classic siRNA in that it is composed of two, short RNA 
strands. We have found that by using a somewhat longer length (25-29 bp), removing the overhangs and using proprietary chemical modification 
patterns we achieve a higher hit rate of very potent (picomolar potency) compounds in a given target sequence. These rxRNA ori compounds are 
modified to increase resistance to nucleases and to prevent off-target effects including induction of an immune response. These novel RNAi 
compounds are distinct from the siRNA compounds used by many other companies developing RNAi therapeutics in that they are designed 
specifically for therapeutic use and offer many of the properties that we believe are important to the clinical development of RNAi-based drugs.  

The second novel configuration has been called “sd-rxRNA” to indicate its novel “self-delivering” properties which do not require 
additional delivery vehicles for efficient cellular uptake and RISC-mediated silencing. A combination of at least three characteristics is required 
for activity: (1) specific, proprietary chemical modifications; (2) a precise number of chemical modifications; and (3) reduction in 
oligonucleotide content. Kinetic analyses of fluorescently-labeled compounds demonstrate that efficient cellular internalization is observed 
within minutes of exposure. These molecules are taken up efficiently and cause target gene silencing in diverse cell types (cell lines and primary 
cells). This novel class of RNAi compounds may afford a broad opportunity for therapeutic development.  
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  •   potent RNAi activity;  
  •   more resistant to nuclease degradation;  
  •   readily manufactured;  
  •   potentially more specific for the target gene;  
  •   more reliable at blocking immune side effects than classic siRNA; and  
  •   in the case of sd-rxRNA, the unique ability to be “self-delivering,”  without the need for any additional delivery vehicle.  
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We believe that both chemical modification and formulation of RNAi compounds may be utilized to develop RNA drugs suitable for 
therapeutic use. The route by which an RNAi therapeutic is brought into contact with the body depends on the intended organ or tissue to be 
treated. Delivery routes can be simplified into two major categories: (1) local (when a drug is delivered directly to the tissue of interest); and 
(2) systemic (when a drug accesses the tissue of interest through the circulatory system). Local delivery may avoid some hurdles associated with 
systemic approaches such as circulation clearance and tissue extravasation (crossing the endothelial barrier from the blood stream). However, the 
local delivery approach can only be applied to a limited number of organs or tissues ( e.g. , skin, eye, lung and potentially the central nervous 
system).  

The key to therapeutic success with RNAi lies in delivering intact RNAi compounds to the target tissue and the interior of the target cells. 
To accomplish this, we have developed a comprehensive platform that includes local, systemic and oral delivery approaches. We work with 
chemically synthesized RNAi compounds that are optimized for stability and efficacy and combine delivery at the site of action and formulation 
with delivery agents to achieve optimal delivery to specific target tissues.  

Local Delivery  

sd-rxRNA molecules have unique properties which improve tissue and cell uptake. Delivery of sd-rxRNA by a local route of 
administration may avoid hurdles associated with systemic approaches such as rapid clearance from the bloodstream and inefficient 
extravasation ( e.g. , crossing the endothelial barrier from the blood stream). We have studied sd-rxRNA molecules in a rat model of dermal 
delivery. Administration of sd-rxRNA by intradermal injection with no additional delivery vehicle demonstrates that target gene silencing can be 
measured after direct delivery to the skin. The dose levels required for these direct injection methods are small and suitable for clinical 
development suggesting that local delivery indications will be very accessible with the sd-rxRNA technology platform. Additional target tissues 
that are potentially accessible by local delivery using sd-rxRNA compounds include lung, eye, CNS, mucosal tissues and tumors (direct 
administration).  

Systemic Delivery  

Systemic delivery occurs when a drug accesses the tissue of interest through the circulatory system. In some cases, such as in targeting a 
treatment to the liver, the optimal route of delivery may be by a systemic route. We have developed a portfolio of systemic delivery solutions 
utilizing our RNAi therapeutic platforms. One novel approach involves the use of sd-rxRNA compounds. The self-delivering technology 
introduces properties required for in vivo efficacy such as cell penetration and improved blood clearance and distribution properties. Systemic 
delivery of these compounds to mice has resulted in gene specific inhibition with no additional delivery vehicle required. In addition, we have 
developed novel nanotransporter formulations to aid in transport of RNAi compounds to both liver and various other target tissues in the body. 
These nanotransporters are chemically-synthesized compounds that form nanometer-sized particles when mixed with RNAi compounds and alter 
the clearance, distribution and tissue penetration properties of the RNAi compounds. Delivery of RNAi compounds to the liver might be critical 
for the treatment of many diseases and using rxRNA or sd-rxRNA in conjunction with such delivery vehicles has enabled us to demonstrate gene 
specific inhibition in a mouse model after intravenous, systemic delivery. Target tissues that are potentially accessible using rxRNA compounds 
by systemic delivery include liver, lung, adipocytes, cardiomyocytes, bone marrow, sites of inflammation, tumors, vascular endothelium and 
kidney.  

Alliance Partners in Therapeutic Areas  

We are actively seeking to leverage our technology platforms by seeking to work with pharmaceutical and biotechnology partners in the 
partners’ fields of interest. Our team has experience targeting genes in virtually every major therapeutic area, and based on this experience, we 
believe we can discover many more drug candidates by working with partners than we can develop with our own resources. We are seeking to 
work with partners in the discovery and development of drugs in a number of therapeutic areas.  
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Patents and Patent Applications  

Galena-related Patents and Patent Applications  

Galena exclusively licenses from the University of Texas an issued US patent covering the E75 peptide contained in NeuVax as a 
composition of matter. The patent expires in 2015 and was not filed outside the US.  

Galena also is actively prosecuting two patent families, including 13 pending applications, exclusively licensed from Henry Jackson 
Foundation covering particular uses of E75. The first family claims methods of using E75 to induce immunity against breast cancer recurrence, 
and was filed the United States, Australia, Canada, China, Europe, Japan, Korea and Mexico. The applications in the United States and Mexico 
were recently allowed and are expected to issue in 2012. Once issued, these patents are expected to expire in 2028, not including any patent term 
extensions. The second family claims methods of using E75 in combination with trastuzumab (Herceptin ) as a vaccine, and was filed in the 
United States, Australia, Canada, Europe and Japan. The Australian application was recently allowed and is expected to issue in 2012. Once 
issued, this patent is expected to expire in 2026, not including any patent term extensions.  

Galena also exclusively licenses from the Henry Jackson Foundation a patent family covering folate binding peptide variants, including the 
lead product candidate, and their use alone or combination as a vaccine. Patents have issued in issued in the United States, Canada and Japan, 
and there are pending applications in the United States, Europe and Japan. Patents in this family are expected to expire in 2022, not including 
patent term extensions.  

RNAi-related Patents and Patent Applications  

RXi is actively prosecuting 13 patent families, including four pending PCT patent applications and nine patent families that have entered 
national stage. The nine patent families that have entered national stage include ten (including one continuation-in-part application) United 
States, four Canadian, two Chinese, four European, and five Japanese pending patent applications. Our portfolio does not include any issued 
patents. The patent applications encompass what we believe to be important new compounds and their use as therapeutics in RNAi, chemical 
modifications of RNAi compounds that improve the compounds’ suitability for therapeutic uses (including delivery) and compounds directed to 
specific targets (i.e., that address specific disease states). Any patents that may issue from these pending patent applications will be set to expire 
between 2028 and 2031, not including any patent term extensions that may be afforded under the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act (and the 
equivalent provisions in foreign jurisdictions) for any delays incurred during the regulatory approval process relating to human drug products (or 
processes for making or using human drug products).  

License Agreements  

Immunotherapy-related Licenses  

We acquired exclusive and non-exclusive rights to develop NeuVax for the treatment of cancer by licensing key patent rights from third 
parties. These rights include composition of matter on E75, the active peptide component of NeuVax, and methods of use thereof.  

The Board of Regents, University of Texas and Henry Jackson Foundation  

We obtained an exclusive license from the University of Texas through our Patent and Technology License Agreement with The Board of 
Regents of the University of Texas System (the “Texas License”). The Texas License provides an exclusive right to use the E75 peptide in 
humans for therapeutic purposes, under Issued U.S. Patent No. 6,514,942, titled “Methods and Compositions for Stimulating T-lymphocytes.” 
This patent expires in 2015, without taking into account any patent extensions that may be available, and we do not expect to commence 
commercialization of NeuVax prior to 2017, if at all.  

We have also secured an exclusive license to practice the inventions described in PCT Published Patent Application WO/2008/15057, 
titled “Vaccine for the Prevention of Breast Cancer Relapse” from the Henry Jackson Foundation. National applications have been filed in the 
United States, Australia, Canada, China, Europe, Japan, Korea and Mexico. The applications in the United States and Mexico were recently 
allowed and are  
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expected to issue in 2012. These applications provide protection on improved methods for inducing immunity against breast cancer recurrence 
using the E75 peptide as identified in clinical trials. Patents in these countries, if issued, would be expected to expire in 2028, not including any 
patent term extensions.  

We also have an exclusive license from the Henry Jackson Foundation to practice the inventions described in PCT Published Patent 
Application WO/2007/030771, titled “Targeted Identification of Immunogenic Peptides”, insofar as they cover the use of E75 in combination 
with trastuzumab (Herceptin ) as a vaccine. National applications have been filed in the United States, Australia, Canada, Europe and Japan. 
The Patents in these countries, if issued, would be expected to expire in 2026, not including any patent term extensions.  

The issued United States patent and any patents that may issue from the licensed or pending patent applications will be set to expire 
between 2015 for our composition of matter patent and we have no equivalent protection outside of the United States and 2026 and 2028 for 
other patent applications covering methods of treating cancer patients, not including any patent term extensions. In connection with the Texas 
License, we are obligated to pay specified milestones and royalties on sales of products covered by the licensed patents, including royalties 
possibly extending beyond the expiration date of a patent.  

We are preparing to apply for Orphan Drug status for NeuVax, which, if granted, could provide seven years of market exclusivity in the 
United States and ten years of market exclusivity in Europe. We also anticipate that NeuVax will qualify for 12 years of data exclusivity under 
the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act.  

In addition, we have an exclusive license from the Henry Jackson Foundation to practice the inventions described in PCT Published Patent 
Application WO/2002/072766, titled “Induction of Tumor Immunity by Variants of Folate Binding Proteins”, covering folate binding peptide 
variants and their use alone or in combination as a vaccine. The patent, if issued, would be expected to expire in 2022, not including any patent 
term extensions.  

RNAi-related Licenses  

RXi has secured exclusive and non-exclusive rights to develop RNAi therapeutics by licensing key RNAi technologies and patent rights 
from third parties. These rights relate to chemistry and configuration of RNAi compounds, delivery technologies of RNAi compounds to cells 
and therapeutic targets. As RXi continues to develop its own proprietary compounds, it continues to evaluate both its in-licensed portfolio as 
well as the field for new technologies that could be in-licensed to further enhance RXi’s intellectual property portfolio and unique position in the 
RNAi space.  

University of Massachusetts Medical School .    RXi holds a non-exclusive license from the University of Massachusetts Medical School 
(“UMMS”). This license grants to RXi rights under certain UMMS patent applications to make, use and sell products related to applications of 
RNAi technologies in particular fields, including HCMV and retinitis, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, known as “ALS” or “Lou Gehrig’s 
Disease,” diabetes and obesity. Throughout the term of the license, RXi must pay UMMS an annual maintenance fee of $15,000. RXi also will 
be required to pay to UMMS customary royalties of up to 10% of (i) any future net sales of licensed products, (ii) income received from any 
sublicensees under this license, and (iii) net sales of commercial clinical laboratory services, subject to a minimum royalty of $50,000 beginning 
in 2016. RXi also agreed to pay expenses incurred by UMMS in prosecuting and maintaining the licensed patents.  

Dharmacon .    RXi holds a license agreement with Dharmacon, Inc. (now part of Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc.), pursuant to which RXi 
has an exclusive license to certain RNAi sequences to a number of target genes for the development of its rxRNA compounds. Furthermore, RXi 
holds the right to license additional RNAi sequences, under the same terms, disclosed by Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc. in its pending patent 
applications against target genes and has received an option for exclusivity for other siRNA configurations. As partial consideration for this 
license, RXi has agreed to pay future clinical milestone payments in an aggregate amount of up to $2,000,000 and royalty payments of either 
0.25% or 0.5% based on the level of any future sales of siRNA compositions developed in connection with the licensed technology.  

Advirna .    RXi has entered into agreements with Advirna pursuant to which Advirna assigned to RXi its existing patent and technology 
rights related to sd-rxRNA technology in exchange for RXi’s agreement to pay Advirna an annual $100,000 maintenance fee and a one-time 
milestone payment of $350,000 upon the issuance  
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of the first patent with valid claims covering the assigned technology. Additionally, RXi will be required to pay a 1% royalty to Advirna for any 
licensing revenue received by RXi with respect to future licensing of the assigned Advirna patent and technology rights. RXi also agreed to grant 
back to Advirna a license under the assigned patent and technology rights for fields of use outside human therapeutics and diagnostics and to 
issue to Advirna, upon the completion of the partial spin-off of RXi, shares of common stock equal to approximately 5% of RXi’s outstanding 
common stock on a fully diluted basis assuming the conversion of all outstanding Series A Preferred Stock.  

Competition  

Immunotherapy-related Competition  

We have a number of competitors in the oncology immunotherapy field. These competitors include large and small pharmaceutical, 
chemical and biotechnology companies, as well as universities, government agencies, and other private and public research organizations.  

A number of multinational pharmaceutical companies, as well as large biotechnology companies, including Roche Laboratories, Inc., 
Pfizer Inc., Bayer HealthCare AG, Sanofi-Aventis, US, LLC, Amgen, Inc. and GlaxoSmithKline plc are pursuing the development or are 
currently marketing pharmaceuticals that target oncology pathways on which we are focusing. It is probable that the number of companies 
seeking to develop products and therapies for the treatment of unmet needs in oncology will increase.  

Anti-scarring and RNAi-related Competition  

We believe numerous companies are investigating or plan to investigate a variety of proposed anti-scarring therapies in clinical trials. The 
companies include large and small pharmaceutical, chemical and biotechnology companies, as well as universities, government agencies and 
other private and public research organizations. Such companies include Renovo Group plc, CoDa Therapeutics, Inc., Sirnaomics, Inc., 
FirstString Research, Inc., Merz Pharmaceuticals, LLC, Capstone Therapeutics, Halscion, Inc., Garnet Bio Therapeutics, Inc., AkPharma Inc., 
Promedior, Inc., Kissei Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., Eyegene, Derma Sciences, Inc., Healthpoint Biotherapeutics and Pharmaxon. In particular, 
Excaliard Pharmaceuticals, Inc., which has been acquired by Pfizer, Inc., has successfully advanced an anti-CTGF antisense oligonucleotide 
through several Phase 1 and Phase 2 trials, demonstrating improved scar outcome over placebo.  

We believe other companies working in the RNAi area, generally, include Alnylam Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Marina Biotech, Inc., Tacere 
Therapeutics, Inc., Benitec Limited, OPKO Health, Inc., Silence Therapeutics plc, Quark Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Rosetta Genomics Ltd., Lorus 
Therapeutics, Inc., Tekmira Pharmaceuticals Corporation, Arrowhead Research Corporation, Regulus Therapeutics Inc. and Santaris, as well as a 
number of large pharmaceutical companies. Many other companies are pursuing non-RNAi-based therapies for one or more fibrotic disease 
indications, including ocular scarring or other indications that we may seek to pursue.  

Most of these competitors have substantially greater research and development capabilities and financial, scientific, technical, 
manufacturing, marketing, distribution and other resources than RXi, and RXi may not be able to successfully compete with them. In addition, 
even if RXi is successful in developing its product candidates, in order to compete successfully RXi may need to be first to market or to 
demonstrate that its RNAi based products are superior to therapies based on different technologies. A number of RXi’s competitors have already 
commenced clinical testing of RNAi product candidates and may be more advanced than RXi is in the process of developing products. If RXi is 
not first to market or are unable to demonstrate superiority, any products for which RXi is able to obtain approval may not be successful.  

Government Regulation  

The United States and other developed countries extensively regulate the preclinical and clinical testing, manufacturing, labeling, storage, 
record-keeping, advertising, promotion, export, marketing and distribution of drugs and biologic products. The FDA regulates pharmaceutical 
and biologic products under the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, the Public Health Service Act and other federal statutes and regulations.  
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To obtain approval of our future product candidates from the FDA, we must, among other requirements, submit data supporting safety and 
efficacy for the intended indication as well as detailed information on the manufacture and composition of the product candidate. In most cases, 
this will require extensive laboratory tests and preclinical and clinical trials. The collection of these data, as well as the preparation of 
applications for review by the FDA involve significant time and expense. The FDA also may require post-marketing testing to monitor the safety 
and efficacy of approved products or place conditions on any approvals that could restrict the therapeutic claims and commercial applications of 
these products. Regulatory authorities may withdraw product approvals if we fail to comply with regulatory standards or if we encounter 
problems at any time following initial marketing of our products.  

The first stage of the FDA approval process for a new biologic or drug involves completion of preclinical studies and the submission of the 
results of these studies to the FDA. These data, together with proposed clinical protocols, manufacturing information, analytical data and other 
information submitted to the FDA, in an IND, must become effective before human clinical trials may commence. Preclinical studies generally 
involve FDA regulated laboratory evaluation of product characteristics and animal studies to assess the efficacy and safety of the product 
candidate.  

After the IND becomes effective, a company may commence human clinical trials. These are typically conducted in three sequential 
phases, but the phases may overlap. Phase 1 trials consist of testing the product candidate in a small number of patients or healthy volunteers, 
primarily for safety at one or more doses. Phase 2 trials, in addition to safety, evaluate the efficacy of the product candidate in a patient 
population somewhat larger than Phase 1 trials. Phase 3 trials typically involve additional testing for safety and clinical efficacy in an expanded 
population at multiple test sites. A company must submit to the FDA a clinical protocol, accompanied by the approval of the Institutional 
Review Boards at the institutions participating in the trials, prior to commencement of each clinical trial.  

To obtain FDA marketing authorization, a company must submit to the FDA the results of the preclinical and clinical testing, together 
with, among other things, detailed information on the manufacture and composition of the product candidate, in the form of a new drug 
application, or NDA, or, in the case of a biologic, a biologics license application, or BLA.  

The amount of time taken by the FDA for approval of an NDA or BLA will depend upon a number of factors, including whether the 
product candidate has received priority review, the quality of the submission and studies presented, the potential contribution that the compound 
will make in improving the treatment of the disease in question, and the workload at the FDA.  

The FDA may, in some cases, confer upon an investigational product the status of a fast track product. A fast track product is defined as a 
new drug or biologic intended for the treatment of a serious or life threatening condition that demonstrates the potential to address unmet 
medical needs for this condition. The FDA can base approval of an NDA or BLA for a fast track product on an effect on a surrogate endpoint, or 
on another endpoint that is reasonably likely to predict clinical benefit. If a preliminary review of clinical data suggests that a fast track product 
may be effective, the FDA may initiate review of entire sections of a marketing application for a fast track product before the sponsor completes 
the application.  

We anticipate that our products will be manufactured by our strategic partners, licensees or other third parties. Before approving an NDA 
or BLA, the FDA will inspect the facilities at which the product is manufactured and will not approve the product unless the manufacturing 
facilities are in compliance with the FDA’s current good manufacturing practice (“cGMP”), which are regulations that govern the manufacture, 
holding and distribution of a product. Manufacturers of biologics also must comply with the FDA’s general biological product standards. Our 
manufacturers also will be subject to regulation under the Occupational Safety and Health Act, the Nuclear Energy and Radiation Control Act, 
the Toxic Substance Control Act and the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act and other applicable environmental statutes. Following 
approval, the FDA periodically inspects drug and biologic manufacturing facilities to ensure continued compliance with the good manufacturing 
practices regulations. Our manufacturers will have to continue to comply with those requirements. Failure to comply with these requirements 
subjects the manufacturer to possible legal or regulatory action, such as suspension of manufacturing or recall or seizure of product. Adverse 
patient experiences with the product must be reported to the  
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FDA and could result in the imposition of marketing restrictions through labeling changes or market removal. Product approvals may be 
withdrawn if compliance with regulatory requirements is not maintained or if problems concerning safety or efficacy of the product occur 
following approval.  

The labeling, advertising, promotion, marketing and distribution of a drug or biologic product also must be in compliance with FDA and 
Federal Trade Commission requirements which include, among others, standards and regulations for off-label promotion, industry sponsored 
scientific and educational activities, promotional activities involving the internet, and direct-to-consumer advertising. We also will be subject to 
a variety of federal, state and local regulations relating to the use, handling, storage and disposal of hazardous materials, including chemicals and 
radioactive and biological materials. In addition, we will be subject to various laws and regulations governing laboratory practices and the 
experimental use of animals. In each of these areas, as above, the FDA has broad regulatory and enforcement powers, including the ability to 
levy fines and civil penalties, suspend or delay issuance of product approvals, seize or recall products, and deny or withdraw approvals.  

We will also be subject to a variety of regulations governing clinical trials and sales of our products outside the United States. Whether or 
not FDA approval has been obtained, approval of a product candidate by the comparable regulatory authorities of foreign countries and regions 
must be obtained prior to the commencement of marketing the product in those countries. The approval process varies from one regulatory 
authority to another and the time may be longer or shorter than that required for FDA approval. In the European Union, Canada and Australia, 
regulatory requirements and approval processes are similar, in principle, to those in the United States.  

Environmental Compliance  

Our research and development activities involve the controlled use of potentially harmful biological materials as well as hazardous 
materials, chemicals and various radioactive compounds. We are subject to federal, state and local laws and regulations governing the use, 
storage, handling and disposal of these materials and specific waste products. We are also subject to numerous environmental, health and 
workplace safety laws and regulations, including those governing laboratory procedures, exposure to blood-borne pathogens and the handling of 
bio-hazardous materials. The cost of compliance with these laws and regulations could be significant and may adversely affect capital 
expenditures to the extent we are required to procure expensive capital equipment to meet regulatory requirements.  

Human Resources  

As of March 1, 2012, the Company had 19 full-time employees, of whom 13 were engaged in research and development and six were 
engaged in management, administration and finance. None of our employees are represented by a labor union or covered by a collective 
bargaining agreement, nor have we experienced any work stoppages.  

As of March 1, 2012, RXi had ten full-time employees, eight of whom were engaged in research and development and two of whom were 
engaged in management, administration and finance. None of RXi’s employees are represented by a labor union or covered by a collective 
bargaining agreement, nor have we experienced any work stoppages.  

Insurance  

We currently purchase insurance policies for property and liability risks arising out of current operations.  
   

Our business is subject to numerous risks. We caution you that the following important factors, among others, could cause our actual 
results to differ materially from those expressed statements made by us or on our behalf in filings with the SEC, press releases, communications 
with investors and oral statements. Any or all of our statements in this annual report and in any other public statements we make may turn out to 
be wrong. They can be affected by inaccurate assumptions or by known or unknown risks and uncertainties. Many factors mentioned in the 
discussion below will be important in determining future results. Consequently, actual future results may vary materially from those anticipated 
in this annual report.  
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Risks Relating to Galena’s Business and Industry  

We recently changed our strategic focus, and the anticipated benefits of our new strategic focus may not be realized.  

You may have difficulty evaluating our business, because we acquired Apthera only in the past year and are undertaking to partially spin 
off RXi. Following the partial spin-off, our financial statements will no longer reflect the consolidated financial condition and results of 
operations of RXi, and we will account for our partial ownership of RXi based on the cost method of accounting. For these reasons, the historical 
consolidated financial information included in this annual report do not necessarily reflect the financial condition, results of operations or cash 
flows that we will achieve in the future.  

On September 24, 2011, we contributed to RXi substantially all of our RNAi-related technologies and assets and entered into a number of 
agreements in contemplation of the partial spin-off of RXi. RXi will focus solely on developing and commercializing therapeutic products based 
on our RNAi technologies for the treatment of human diseases, including fibrotic disease. There is no assurance that the partial spin-off of RXi 
will be completed or that RXi will be able to succeed as a stand-alone company. There also is no assurance that we will be successful in 
implementing our new focus as an oncology product development pipeline company.  

For a discussion of the risks and uncertainties regarding the proposed partial spin-off of RXi, see “Risks Relating to the Partial Spin-Off of 
RXi,” below in this section.  

We are largely dependent on the success of our two leading drug candidates neither of which may receive regulatory approval or be 
successfully commercialized.  

Our business prospects depend heavily on successfully developing and commercializing our lead product candidate, NeuVax. On May 8, 
2009, we submitted an SPA for a Phase 3 clinical trial for NeuVax, but did not include required chemistry, manufacturing, and controls 
(“CMC”) information. In July 2009, FDA placed our IND application for a Phase 3 trial for NeuVax on partial clinical hold pending submission 
of the missing CMC information. We submitted the CMC information August 8, 2011, and the FDA removed the partial clinical hold on 
September 7, 2011, allowing us to proceed with the Phase 3 clinical trial. The FDA has agreed in the SPA for our Phase 3 PRESENT clinical 
trial of NeuVax that the design, resulting data, and planned analyses of the Phase 3 study support an acceptable regulatory submission for 
marketing approval. There is no assurance, however, that the Phase 3 study will be successful, that a single Phase 3 trial will support marketing 
approval, or that we will be able to obtain marketing approval for NeuVax or any other product candidate.  

We currently generate no revenue from sales, and we may never be able to develop marketable products. Before they can be marketed, our 
products in development must be approved by the FDA or similar foreign governmental agencies. The process for obtaining FDA approval is 
both time-consuming and costly, with no certainty of a successful outcome. Before obtaining regulatory approval for the sale of any drug 
candidate, we must conduct extensive preclinical tests and clinical trials to demonstrate the safety and efficacy in humans of our product 
candidates. Although NeuVax has demonstrated safety during Phase 1 and Phase 2 clinical trials, further testing in our Phase 3 trial may 
undermine those determinations or unexpected side effects may arise. A failure of any preclinical study or clinical trial can occur at any stage of 
testing. The results of preclinical and initial clinical testing of these products may not necessarily indicate the results that will be obtained from 
later or more extensive testing. It also is possible to suffer significant setbacks in advanced clinical trials, even after obtaining promising results 
in earlier trials.  

A number of different factors could prevent us from obtaining regulatory approval or commercializing our product candidates on a timely 
basis, or at all.  

We, the FDA or other applicable regulatory authorities or an institutional review board, or “IRB,” which is an independent committee 
under the oversight of the United States Department of Health and Human Services, or “HHS,” that has been formally registered with HHS and 
functions to approve, monitor and review biomedical and behavioral research involving humans, may suspend clinical trials of a drug candidate 
at any time for various reasons, including if we or they believe the subjects or patients participating in such trials are being exposed to 
unacceptable health risks. Among other reasons, adverse side effects of a drug candidate on subjects or patients  
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in a clinical trial could result in the FDA or other regulatory authorities suspending or terminating the trial and refusing to approve a particular 
drug candidate for any or all indications of use.  

Clinical trials of a new drug candidate require the enrollment of a sufficient number of patients, including patients who are suffering from 
the disease the drug candidate is intended to treat and who meet other eligibility criteria. Rates of patient enrollment are affected by many 
factors, and delays in patient enrollment can result in increased costs and longer development times.  

Clinical trials also require the review and oversight of IRBs, which approve and continually review clinical investigations and protect the 
rights and welfare of human subjects. An inability or delay in obtaining IRB approval could prevent or delay the initiation and completion of 
clinical trials, and the FDA may decide not to consider any data or information derived from a clinical investigation not subject to initial and 
continuing IRB review and approval.  

In addition, cancer vaccines are a relatively new form of therapeutic and a very limited number of such products have received regulatory 
approval. Therefore, the FDA or other regulatory authority may apply standards for approval of a new cancer vaccine that is different from past 
experience.  

Numerous factors could affect the timing, cost or outcome of our drug development efforts, including the following:  
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•   difficulties or delays in enrolling patients in our Phase 3 PRESENT study of NeuVax or our Phase 1/2 clinical trials of FBP in 

conformity with required protocols or projected timelines or in our other NeuVax clinical trials;  

  
•   conditions imposed on us by the FDA, including the possibility that that the FDA would require an additional Phase 3 trial of NeuVax, 

or comparable foreign authorities regarding the scope or design of our clinical trials;  
  •   difficulties or delays in arranging for third parties to conduct clinical trials of our product candidates;  
  •   problems in engaging IRBs to oversee trials or problems in obtaining or maintaining IRB approval of studies;  
  •   third-party contractors failing to comply with regulatory requirements or meet their contractual obligations to us in a timely manner;  

  
•   our drug candidates having very different chemical and pharmacological properties in humans than in laboratory testing and interacting 

with human biological systems in unforeseen, ineffective or harmful ways, and the possibility that our previous Phase 2 trials were not 
indicative of our drug candidates’  performance in larger patient populations;  

  •   the need to suspend or terminate our clinical trials if the participants are being exposed to unacceptable health risks;  
  •   insufficient or inadequate supply or quality of our drug candidates or other necessary materials necessary to conduct our clinical trials;  

  
•   effects of our drug candidates not being the desired effects or including undesirable side effects or the drug candidates having other 

unexpected characteristics;  
  •   the cost of our clinical trials may be greater than we anticipate;  

  
•   negative or inconclusive results from our clinical trials or the clinical trials of others for drug candidates similar to our own or inability 

to generate statistically significant data confirming the efficacy of the product being tested;  
  •   adverse results obtained by other companies developing similar drugs;  
  •   modification of the drug during testing;  
  •   changes in the FDA’s requirements for our testing during the course of that testing; and  
  •   reallocation of our limited financial and other resources to other clinical programs.  
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It is possible that none of the product candidates that we develop will obtain the appropriate regulatory approvals necessary for us to begin 
selling them or that any regulatory approval to market a product may be subject to limitations on the indicated uses for which we may market the 
product. The time required to obtain FDA and other approvals is unpredictable but often can take years following the commencement of clinical 
trials, depending upon the complexity of the drug candidate. Any analysis we perform of data from clinical activities is subject to confirmation 
and interpretation by regulatory authorities, which could delay, limit or prevent regulatory approval. Any delay or failure in obtaining required 
approvals could have a material adverse effect on our ability to generate revenue from the particular drug candidate.  

We are also subject to numerous foreign regulatory requirements governing the conduct of clinical trials, manufacturing and marketing 
authorization, pricing and third-party reimbursement. The foreign regulatory approval process includes all of the risks associated with the FDA 
approval described above as well as risks attributable to the satisfaction of local regulations in foreign jurisdictions. Approval by the FDA does 
not assure approval by regulatory authorities outside of the United States.  

We will rely upon third parties for the manufacture of our clinical product candidates.  

We do not have the facilities or expertise to manufacture supplies of any of our potential product candidates for clinical trials. Accordingly, 
we will be dependent upon contract manufacturers for these supplies. There can be no assurance that we will be able to secure needed supply 
arrangements on attractive terms, or at all. Our failure to secure these arrangements as needed could have a materially adverse effect on our 
ability to complete the development of our product candidates or, if we obtain regulatory approval for our product candidates, to commercialize 
them.  

Our current plans call for the manufacture of our compounds by contract manufacturers offering research grade, Good Laboratory grade 
and Good Manufacturing Practices grade materials for preclinical studies ( e.g. , toxicology studies) and for clinical use. Certain of our product 
candidates are complex molecules requiring many synthesis steps, which may lead to challenges with purification and scale-up. These challenges 
could result in increased costs and delays in manufacturing. NeuVax is administered in combination with GM-CSF, a compound produced by 
Genzyme. If Genzyme were to discontinue supplying GM-CSF, we may experience delays in securing a replacement supplier.  

We may not be able to establish or maintain the third-party relationships that are necessary to develop or potentially commercialize some 
or all of our product candidates.  

We expect to depend on collaborators, partners, licensees, clinical research organizations and other third parties to support our discovery 
efforts, to formulate product candidates, to manufacture our product candidates, and to conduct clinical trials for some or all of our product 
candidates. We cannot guarantee that we will be able to successfully negotiate agreements for or maintain relationships with collaborators, 
partners, licensees, clinical investigators, vendors and other third parties on favorable terms, if at all. Our ability to successfully negotiate such 
agreements will depend on, among other things, potential partners’ evaluation of the superiority of our technology over competing technologies 
and the quality of the preclinical and clinical data that we have generated, and the perceived risks specific to developing our product candidates. 
In addition, we reduced the scale of our RNAi operations in connection with the partial spin-off of RXi, which could affect our ability to 
maintain or enter into new alliances. If we are unable to obtain or maintain these agreements, we may not be able to clinically develop, 
formulate, manufacture, obtain regulatory approvals for or commercialize our product candidates. Under certain license agreements that we have 
already entered into, we have minimum dollar amounts per year that we are obligated to spend on the development of the technology we have 
licensed from our contract partners and other obligations to maintain certain licenses. If we fail to meet this requirement under any of our 
licenses that contain such requirements or any other obligations under these licenses, we may be in breach of our obligations under such 
agreement, which may result in the loss of the technology licensed. We cannot necessarily control the amount or timing of resources that our 
contract partners will devote to our research and development programs, product candidates or potential product candidates, and we cannot 
guarantee that these parties will fulfill their obligations to us under these arrangements in a timely fashion. We may not be able to readily 
terminate any such agreements with contract partners even if such contract partners do not fulfill their obligations to us.  
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In addition, we may receive notices from third parties from time to time alleging that our technology or product candidates infringe upon 
the intellectual property rights of those third parties. Any assertion by third parties that our activities or product candidates infringe upon their 
intellectual property rights may adversely affect our ability to secure strategic partners or licensees for our technology or product candidates or 
our ability to secure or maintain manufacturers for our compounds.  

Even if we obtain regulatory approvals, our marketed drugs will be subject to ongoing regulatory review. If we fail to comply with ongoing 
regulatory requirements, we could lose our approvals to market drugs and our business would be materially adversely affected.  

Following regulatory approval of any drugs we may develop, we will remain subject to continuing regulatory review, including the review 
of adverse drug experiences and clinical results that are reported after our drug products are made available to patients. This would include 
results from any post marketing tests or vigilance required as a condition of approval. The manufacturer and manufacturing facilities we use to 
make any of our drug products will also be subject to periodic review and inspection by the FDA. The discovery of any new or previously 
unknown problems with the product, manufacturer or facility may result in restrictions on the drug or manufacturer or facility, including 
withdrawal of the drug from the market. We would continue to be subject to the FDA requirements governing the labeling, packaging, storage, 
advertising, promotion, recordkeeping, and submission of safety and other post-market information for all of our product candidates, even those 
that the FDA had approved. If we fail to comply with applicable continuing regulatory requirements, we may be subject to fines, suspension or 
withdrawal of regulatory approval, product recalls and seizures, operating restrictions and other adverse consequences.  

Even if we receive regulatory approval to market our product candidates, our product candidates may not be accepted commercially, 
which may prevent us from becoming profitable.  

NeuVax and our other cancer-targeted product candidates may not achieve market acceptance. Factors that we believe will materially 
affect market acceptance of our product candidates include:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

We will be subject to competition and may not be able to compete successfully.  

The biotechnology industry, including the cancer therapy vaccines market, is intensely competitive and involves a high degree of risk. We 
compete with other companies that have far greater experience and financial, research and technical resources than us. Potential competitors in 
the United States and worldwide are numerous and include pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, educational institutions and research 
foundations, many of which have substantially greater capital resources, marketing experience, research and development staffs and facilities 
than us. Some of our competitors may develop and commercialize products that compete directly with those incorporating our technology, 
introduce products to market earlier than our products or on a more cost effective basis. We may be unable to effectively develop our technology 
or any other applications on a cost effective basis or otherwise. In addition, our technology may be subject to competition from other technology 
or methods developed using techniques other than those developed by traditional biotechnology methods. Our competitors compete with us in 
recruiting and retaining qualified scientific and management personnel as  
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  •   timing of our receipt of any marketing approvals, the terms of any approvals and the countries in which approvals are obtained;  
  •   safety, efficacy and ease of administration of our product candidates;  
  •   advantages of our product candidates over those of our competitors;  
  •   willingness of patients to accept relatively new therapies;  
  •   success of our physician education programs;  
  •   availability of government and third-party payor reimbursement;  
  •   pricing of our products, particularly as compared to alternative treatments; and  
  •   availability of effective alternative treatments and the relative risks and/or benefits of the treatments.  
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well as in acquiring technologies complementary to our technology. Our collaborators or we will face competition with respect to product 
efficacy and safety, ease of use and adaptability to various modes of administration, acceptance by physicians, the timing and scope of regulatory 
approvals, availability of resources, reimbursement coverage, price and patent position, including potentially dominant patent positions of others. 
An inability to successfully complete our product development could lead to us having limited prospects for establishing market share or 
generating revenues from our technology.  

For patients with early stage breast cancer, adjuvant therapy is often given to prevent recurrence and increase the chance of long-term 
disease free survival. Adjuvant therapy for breast cancer can include chemotherapy, hormonal therapy, radiation therapy, or combinations 
thereof. In addition, the HER2 targeted drug trastuzumab (Herceptin ) may be given to patients with tumors with high expression of HER2 
(IHC 3+).  

There are a number of cancer vaccines in development for breast cancer, including but not limited to Lapuleucel-T (Dendreon), AE-37 
(Antigen Express) and Stimuvax (Merck KgA). While these development candidates are aimed at a number of different targets, there is no 
guarantee that any of the these compounds will not in the future be indicated for treatment of low to intermediate HER2 breast cancer patients 
and become directly competitive with NeuVax.  

We are dependent on technologies we license, and if we lose the right to license such technologies or we fail to license new technologies in 
the future, our ability to develop new products would be harmed.  

We currently are dependent on licenses from third parties for technologies relating to our product candidates. Our current licenses impose, 
and any future licenses we enter into are likely to impose, various development, funding, royalty, diligence, sublicensing, insurance and other 
obligations on us. If our license with respect to any of these technologies is terminated for any reason, the development of the products 
contemplated by the licenses would be delayed, or suspended altogether, while we seek to license similar technology or develop new non-
infringing technology. The costs of obtaining new licenses are high.  

We may be unable to protect our intellectual property rights licensed from others parties, our intellectual property rights may be 
inadequate to prevent third parties from using our technologies or developing competing products, and we may need to license additional 
intellectual property from others.  

In addition to our licenses, we also rely on copyright and trademark protection, trade secrets, know-how, continuing technological 
innovation and licensing opportunities. In an effort to maintain the confidentiality and ownership of our trade secrets and proprietary 
information, we require our employees, consultants, advisors and others to whom we disclose confidential information to execute confidentiality 
and proprietary information agreements. However, it is possible that these agreements may be breached, invalidated or rendered unenforceable, 
and if so, there may not be an adequate corrective remedy available. Furthermore, like many companies in our industry, we may from time to 
time hire scientific personnel formerly employed by other companies involved in one or more areas similar to the activities we conduct. In some 
situations, our confidentiality and proprietary information agreements may conflict with, or be subject to, the rights of third parties with whom 
our employees, consultants or advisors have prior employment or consulting relationships. Although we require our employees and consultants 
to maintain the confidentiality of all confidential information of previous employers, we may be subject to allegations of trade secret 
misappropriation or other similar claims as a result of our employees’ or consultants’ prior affiliations. Finally, others may independently 
develop substantially equivalent proprietary information and techniques, or otherwise gain access to our trade secrets. Our failure to protect our 
proprietary information and techniques may inhibit or limit our ability to exclude certain competitors from the market and execute our business 
strategies.  

Our success depends upon our ability to obtain and maintain intellectual property protection for our products and technologies.  

Our success will depend on our ability to obtain and maintain adequate protection of our intellectual property covering our product 
candidates and technologies. The ultimate degree of patent protection that will be afforded to biotechnology products and processes, including 
ours, in the United States and in other important markets remains uncertain and is dependent upon the scope of protection decided upon by the 
patent offices,  
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courts and lawmakers in these countries. There is no certainty that our existing patents, or patent applications if obtained, will afford us 
substantial protection or commercial benefit. Similarly, there is no assurance that our pending patent applications or patent applications licensed 
from third parties will ultimately be granted as patents or that those patents that have been issued or are issued in the future will stand if they are 
challenged in court.  

There is a risk that the products incorporating our peptide-based immunotherapy technology or otherwise marketed by us might infringe 
the patent, trademark or other intellectual property rights of third parties, and there may be patent or other intellectual property rights belonging 
to others that require us to alter our products, pay licensing fees or cease certain activities. For example, in June 2010, we received a letter from 
Alnylam Pharmaceuticals, Inc. claiming that we require access to Alnylam’s patent and patent applications and demanding that we stop engaging 
in unspecified alleged infringing activities unless we obtain a license from Alnylam. If our products infringe patent or other intellectual property 
rights of others, the owners of those rights could bring legal actions against us claiming damages and seeking to enjoin manufacture, use, 
marketing and sales of the affected products. If these legal actions are successful, in addition to any potential liability for damages, we could be 
required to obtain a license in order to continue to manufacture or market the affected products. We may not prevail in any action brought 
against us, and any license required under any rights that we infringe may not be available on acceptable terms or at all. Others may attempt to 
invalidate our intellectual property rights or those of our licensors. Even if our rights, or those of our licensors, are not directly challenged, 
disputes among third parties could lead to the weakening or invalidation of our intellectual property rights. Any attempt by third parties to 
undermine or invalidate our intellectual property rights could be costly to defend, require significant time and attention of our management and 
have a material adverse effect on our business.  

If we are unable to obtain regulatory exclusivity for NeuVax, our business would be adversely affected and such exclusivity may not 
provide sufficient protection to prevent competitors from entering our markets.  

Because our intellectual property rights to the composition of matter of NeuVax expire prior to commercialization, we expect to rely 
substantially on data exclusivity provided under the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act and similar laws in other countries and, to a lesser 
extent, on orphan drug designation, if granted for NeuVax. We are preparing to apply for Orphan Drug status for NeuVax that, if granted, could 
provide seven years or ten years of market exclusivity in the United States or the European Union, respectively. However, there is no assurance 
that the FDA or the European Medicines Agency, or “EMEA,” will approve our Orphan Drug Application. We also anticipate that NeuVax will 
qualify for 12 years of data exclusivity, and thus other companies would be prevented from using our clinical data to support their application for 
regulatory approval, under the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act; however, there can be no assurance that the 12 years of exclusivity 
provided for under the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act will remain in effect, or that NeuVax will meet the qualifications of a 
“biological product” to receive the specified period of exclusivity.  

While the orphan drug designation for NeuVax, if granted, will provide seven years of market exclusivity in the United States, we will not 
be able to exclude other companies from receiving market approval for the designated orphan indication beyond that timeframe. Even if we have 
orphan drug designation for a particular drug indication, we cannot guarantee that another company also holding orphan drug designation will 
not receive FDA approval for the same indication before we do. If that were to happen, our applications for that indication may not be approved 
until the competing company’s seven-year period of exclusivity expired. Even if we are the first to obtain FDA approval for an orphan drug 
indication, there are circumstances under which a competing product may be approved for the same indication during our seven-year period of 
marketing exclusivity, such as if the later product is shown to be clinically superior to the orphan product. Further, the seven-year marketing 
exclusivity would not prevent competitors from obtaining approval of the same compound for other indications or the use of other types of drugs 
for the same use as the orphan drug. In addition, data exclusivity does not prevent another company from completing its own clinical trials with 
NeuVax and obtaining regulatory approval for the same indication for which NeuVax may be approved. Consequently, we may not be able to 
prevent competitors from entering the market prior to the end of any applicable data exclusivity period. If we are not able to prevent competitors 
from entering the market with a similar product to NeuVax, our ability to achieve profits from sales of NeuVax will be dramatically limited.  
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We are subject to potential liabilities from clinical testing and future product liability claims.  

If any of our future products are alleged to be defective, they may expose us to claims for personal injury by patients in clinical trials of our 
products. If our products are approved by the FDA, users may claim that such products caused unintended adverse effects. We will seek to 
obtain clinical trial insurance for clinical trials that we conduct, as well as liability insurance for any products that we market. There can be no 
assurance that we will be able to obtain insurance in the amounts we seek, or at all. We anticipate that licensees who develop our products will 
carry liability insurance covering the clinical testing and marketing of those products. There is no assurance, however, that any insurance 
maintained by us or our licensees will prove adequate in the event of a claim against us. Even if claims asserted against us are unsuccessful, they 
may divert management’s attention from our operations and we may have to incur substantial costs to defend such claims.  

Any drugs we develop may become subject to unfavorable pricing regulations, third-party reimbursement practices or healthcare reform 
initiatives, which could have a material adverse effect on our business.  

We intend to sell our products primarily to hospitals, oncologists and clinics which receive reimbursement for the health care services they 
provide to their patients from third-party payors, such as Medicare, Medicaid and other domestic and international government programs, private 
insurance plans and managed care programs. Most third-party payors may deny reimbursement if they determine that a medical product was not 
used in accordance with cost-effective treatment methods, as determined by the third-party payor, was used for an unapproved indication or if 
they believe the cost of the product outweighs its benefits. Third-party payors also may refuse to reimburse for experimental procedures and 
devices. Furthermore, because our programs are still in development, we are unable at this time to determine their cost-effectiveness and the 
level or method of reimbursement for them. Increasingly, the third-party payors who reimburse patients are requiring that drug companies 
provide them with predetermined discounts from list prices, and are challenging the prices charged for medical products. If the price we are able 
to charge for any products we develop is inadequate in light of our development and other costs, our profitability could be adversely affected.  

We currently expect that any drugs we develop may need to be administered under the supervision of a physician. Under currently 
applicable law, drugs that are not usually self-administered may be eligible for coverage by the Medicare program if:  
   

   

   

   

Insurers may refuse to provide insurance coverage for newly approved drugs, or insurance coverage may be delayed or be more limited 
than the purpose for which the drugs are approved by the FDA. Moreover, eligibility for insurance coverage does not imply that any drug will be 
reimbursed in all cases or at a rate that covers our costs, including research, development, manufacture, sale and distribution. Interim payments 
for new drugs, if applicable, may also not be sufficient to cover our costs and may not be made permanent. Reimbursement may be based on 
payments for other services and may reflect budgetary constraints or imperfections in Medicare data. Net prices for drugs may be reduced by 
mandatory discounts or rebates required by government health care programs or private payors and by any future relaxation of laws that 
presently restrict imports of drugs from countries where they may be sold at lower prices than in the United States. Third-party payors often rely 
upon Medicare coverage policy and payment limitations in setting their own reimbursement rates. Our inability to promptly obtain coverage and 
profitable reimbursement rates from both government-funded and private payors for new drugs that we develop could have a material adverse 
effect on our operating results, our ability to raise capital needed to develop products, and our overall financial condition.  

Additionally, third-party payors are increasingly attempting to contain health care costs by limiting both coverage and the level of 
reimbursement for medical products and services. Levels of reimbursement may decrease in the future, and future legislation, regulation or 
reimbursement policies of third-party payors may  
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  •   they are “ incidental”  to a physician’s services;  

  
•   they are “reasonable and necessary” for the diagnosis or treatment of the illness or injury for which they are administered according to 

accepted standard of medical practice;  
  •   they are not excluded as immunizations; and  
  •   they have been approved by the FDA.  
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adversely affect the demand for and price levels of our products. If our customers are not reimbursed for our products, they may reduce or 
discontinue purchases of our products, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

Comprehensive health care reform legislation, which was recently adopted by Congress and was subsequently signed into law, could 
adversely affect our business and financial condition. Among other provisions, the legislation provides that a “biosimilar” product may be 
approved by the FDA on the basis of analytical tests and certain clinical studies demonstrating that such product is highly similar to an existing, 
approved product and that switching between an existing product and the biosimilar product will not result in diminished safety or efficacy. This 
abbreviated regulatory approval process may result in increased competition if we are able to bring a product to market. The legislation also 
includes more stringent compliance programs for companies in various sectors of the life sciences industry with which we may need to comply 
and enhanced penalties for non-compliance with the new health care regulations. Complying with new regulations may divert management 
resources, and inadvertent failure to comply with new regulations may result in penalties being imposed on us.  

Some states and localities have established drug importation programs for their citizens, and federal drug import legislation has been 
introduced in Congress. The Medicare Prescription Drug Plan legislation, which became law in December 2003, required the Secretary of Health 
and Human Services to promulgate regulations for drug reimportation from Canada into the United States under some circumstances, including 
when the drugs are sold at a lower price than in the United States. The Secretary, however, retained the discretion not to implement a drug 
reimportation plan if he finds that the benefits do not outweigh the costs, and has so far declined to approve a reimportation plan. Proponents of 
drug reimportation may attempt to pass legislation that would directly allow reimportation under certain circumstances. Legislation or 
regulations allowing the reimportation of drugs, if enacted, could decrease the price we receive for any products that we may develop and 
adversely affect our future revenues and prospects for profitability.  

If our new management team is not effective or if we fail to attract, hire and retain qualified personnel, we may not be able to design, 
develop, market or sell our products or successfully manage our business.  

Our business prospects are dependent on our management team. The loss of Dr. Ahn, our President and Chief Executive Officer, or our 
other executive officers, or our inability to identify, attract, retain and integrate additional qualified key personnel, could make it difficult for us 
to manage our business successfully and achieve our business objectives.  

Competition for skilled research, product development, regulatory and technical personnel also is intense, and we may not be able to 
recruit and retain the personnel we need. The loss of the services of any key research, product development, regulatory, and technical personnel, 
or our inability to hire new personnel with the requisite skills, could restrict our ability to develop our product candidates.  

We use biological and hazardous materials, and we may be liable for any contamination or injury we cause.  

Our research and development activities involve the controlled use of potentially harmful biological materials as well as hazardous 
materials, chemicals and various radioactive compounds. We cannot completely eliminate the risk of accidental contamination or injury; we may 
be liable for any damages that result, and any liability could exceed our resources.  

We are also subject to numerous environmental, health and workplace safety laws and regulations, including those governing laboratory 
procedures, exposure to blood-borne pathogens and the handling of biohazardous materials. We maintain workers’ compensation insurance to 
cover us for costs and expenses we may incur due to injuries to our employees resulting from the use of these materials. State laws mandate the 
limits of our workers’ compensation insurance, and our workers’ compensation liability is capped at these state-mandated limits. We do not 
maintain insurance for environmental liability or toxic tort claims that may be asserted against us in connection with our storage or disposal of 
biological, hazardous or radioactive materials. Additional federal, state and local laws and regulations affecting our operations may be adopted in 
the future. We may incur substantial costs to comply with, and substantial fines or penalties if we violate any of these laws or regulations.  
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Risks Relating To Our Financial Position and Capital Requirements  

We may not be able to obtain sufficient financing, and may not be able to develop our product candidates.  

We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents and the proceeds from our sales agreement with Cantor should be sufficient to fund 
our operations through at least the first quarter of 2013. In the future, we will be dependent on obtaining further financing from third parties in 
order to maintain our operations and to meet our financial obligations. We cannot assure that additional funding to maintain our operations and 
to meet our obligations to our licensors will be available to us in the future on acceptable terms, or at all. If we fail to obtain additional funding 
when needed, we would be forced to scale back, or terminate, our operations, or to seek to merge with or to be acquired by another company.  

We anticipate that we will need to raise substantial amounts of money to fund a variety of future activities integral to the development of 
our business, which may include but are not limited to the following:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

We cannot assure you that any financing needed for the development of our business will be available to us on acceptable terms or at all. If 
we cannot obtain additional financing in the future, our operations may be restricted and we may ultimately be unable to continue to develop and 
potentially commercialize our product candidates.  

We expect to continue to incur significant research and development expenses, which may make it difficult for us to attain profitability, 
and may lead to uncertainty about or as to our ability to continue as a going concern.  

Substantial funds were expended to develop our technologies and product candidates, and additional substantial funds will be required for 
further preclinical testing and clinical trials of our product candidates, and to manufacture and market any products that are approved for 
commercial sale. Because the successful development of our products is uncertain, we are unable to precisely estimate the actual funds we will 
require to develop and potentially commercialize them. In addition, we may not be able to generate enough revenue, even if we are able to 
commercialize any of our product candidates, to become profitable.  

In the event that we are unable to achieve or sustain profitability or to secure additional financing, we may not be able to meet our 
obligations as they come due, raising substantial doubts as to our ability to continue as a going concern. Any such inability to continue as a going 
concern may result in our common stock holders losing their entire investment. There is no guaranty that we will become profitable or secure 
additional financing. Our financial statements contemplate that we will continue as a going concern and do not contain any adjustments that 
might result if we were unable to continue as a going concern. Changes in our operating plans, our existing and anticipated working capital 
needs, the acceleration or modification of our expansion plans, increased expenses, potential acquisitions or other events will all affect our ability 
to continue as a going concern. Future financing may be obtained through, and future development efforts may be paid for by, the issuance of 
debt or equity, which may have an adverse effect on our stockholders or may otherwise adversely affect our business.  

If we raise funds through the issuance of debt or equity, any debt securities or preferred stock issued will have rights, preferences and 
privileges senior to those of holders of our common stock in the event of a liqui-  
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•   to conduct our Phase 3 PRESENT clinical trial of NeuVax , our Phase 1/2 clinical trials of FBP and our planned Phase 2 trial of 

NeuVax in combination with Herceptin and our other planned NeuVax trials;  
  •   to obtain regulatory approval for our product candidates;  
  •   to file and prosecute patent applications and to defend and assess patents to protect our technologies;  
  •   to retain qualified employees, particularly in light of intense competition for qualified scientists;  
  •   to manufacture products ourselves or through third parties;  
  •   to market our products, either through building our own sales and distribution capabilities or relying on third parties; and  
  •   to acquire new technologies, licenses, products or companies.  

® 



Table of Contents  

dation. In such event, there is a possibility that once all senior claims are settled, there may be no assets remaining to pay out to the holders of 
common stock. In addition, if we raise funds through the issuance of additional equity, whether through private placements or additional public 
offerings, such an issuance would dilute your ownership in us.  

The terms of debt securities may also impose restrictions on our operations, which may include limiting our ability to incur additional 
indebtedness, to pay dividends on or repurchase our capital stock, or to make certain acquisitions or investments. In addition, we may be subject 
to covenants requiring us to satisfy certain financial tests and ratios, and our ability to satisfy such covenants may be affected by events outside 
of our control.  

You may have difficulty evaluating our business, because we have a limited history and our historical financial information may not be 
representative of our future results.  

We have limited operating experience and may not be able to effectively operate.  

We are a development-stage company with limited operating history conducting oncology drug programs. We will focus on developing 
and, if we obtain regulatory approval, commercializing our product candidates, and there is no assurance that we will be successful. There is no 
assurance that we will be able to manage our business effectively, or that we will be able to identify, hire and retain any needed additional 
management or scientific personnel to develop and implement our product development plans, obtain third-party contracts or any needed 
financing or achieve our other business objectives.  

We may be unable to comply with our reporting and other requirements under federal securities laws.  

As a publicly traded company, we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the 
“Exchange Act , ” and the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, or the “Sarbanes-Oxley Act.” In addition, the Exchange Act requires that we file annual, 
quarterly and current reports. Our failure to prepare and disclose this information in a timely manner could subject us to penalties under federal 
securities laws, expose us to lawsuits and restrict our ability to access financing. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires that we, among other things, 
establish and maintain effective internal controls and procedures for financial reporting. From time to time we evaluate our existing internal 
controls in light of the standards adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board. It is possible that we or our independent 
registered public accounting firm may identify significant deficiencies or material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting in 
the future. Any failure or difficulties in implementing and maintaining these controls could cause us to fail to meet the periodic reporting 
obligations or result in material misstatements in our financial statements.  

Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires annual management assessments of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial 
reporting. Our failure to satisfy the requirements of Section 404 on a timely basis could result in the loss of investor confidence in the reliability 
of our financial statements, which in turn could have a material adverse effect on our business and our common stock.  

We recently reported a material weakness in the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting, and if we cannot provide 
reliable financial and other information, investors may lose confidence in our SEC reports.  

In October 2011, our management identified a material weakness in the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting related 
to our accounting for certain outstanding stock options and warrants. As a result, we restated our unaudited condensed consolidated financial 
statements as of June 30, 2011. Based on this evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and 
procedures, and because of the error described above, our management concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures over our 
accounting for stock options modified and for warrants potentially settleable in cash were not effective as of the end of the quarters ended 
June 30, and September 30, 2011. Disclosure controls and procedures generally include controls and procedures designed to ensure that 
information required to be disclosed by us in the reports we file with the SEC is recorded, processed, summarized and reported accurately and 
within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. In the fourth quarter of 2011, we implemented additional review procedures to 
ensure the accuracy of our fair market value calculations to ensure that our accounting for stock options modified and for  
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warrants potentially settleable in cash is in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. This action was in place in connection with 
the preparation of our financial statements for the year ended 2011. As such, we believe that the remediation initiative was sufficient to eliminate 
the material weakness in internal control over financial reporting as discussed above.  

Effective internal controls over financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures are necessary for us to provide reliable financial 
and other reports and effectively prevent fraud. If we cannot provide reliable financial or SEC reports or prevent fraud, investors may lose 
confidence in our SEC reports, our operating results and the trading price of our common stock could suffer materially and we may become 
subject to litigation.  

We have been sued by some of our warrant holders, and we could be found liable to repurchase their warrants.  

On November 21, 2011, Hudson Bay Master Fund, Ltd. (“Hudson Bay”) filed a Complaint against us in the United States District Court 
for the Southern District of New York (the “Court”), captioned Hudson Bay Master Fund, Ltd. v. Galena Biopharma, Inc., 11 Civ. 8432 (JPO) , 
alleging that our plan to partially spin off RXi and related actions taken by us in preparation for the spin-off gives Hudson Bay the right to 
require us to repurchase the warrants acquired by Hudson Bay in our April 2011 underwritten public offering. Hudson Bay also seeks related 
declaratory and injunctive relief. On January 12, 2012, three other warrant holders affiliated with each other filed a Complaint in the Court, 
captioned Tenor Opportunity Fund, Ltd., Aria Opportunity Fund, Ltd., and Parsoon Opportunity Fund, Ltd. v. Galena Biopharma, Inc., 12 CIV 
0260 , and on January 20, 2012 and February 2, 2012, respectively, two other warrant holders filed their own Complaints in the Court, captioned 
Cranshire Capital Master Fund, Ltd. v. Galena Biopharma, Inc., 12 CIV 0493 and Iroquois Master Fund, Ltd. v. Galena Biopharma, Inc., 12 CIV 
0839 , respectively. In these Complaints, which are substantially identical to the previous Complaints filed in the Court, the various warrant 
holders also claim that our planned spin-off of RXi and related actions give them the right to require us to repurchase our outstanding warrants 
held by them. According to the allegations in the Complaints, the repurchase price of the plaintiffs’ warrants would amount to approximately 
$5.2 million in the aggregate.  

On March 21, 2012, we received letters from each of the plaintiff-warrant holders withdrawing their repurchase demands with respect to 
their warrants covering an aggregate of 6,350,000 shares out of a total of 6,850,000 shares of common stock purchasable under their warrants 
(the “Withdrawal Notice s ”). After giving effect to the Withdrawal Notices, the plaintiff-warrant holders continued to demand that we 
repurchase their warrants covering the balance of 500,000 shares of common stock in the aggregate. Based on the plaintiff-warrant holders’ 
claims in their Complaints, we believe that the repurchase price for these warrants is $0.71 per underlying share, or an aggregate of $355,000. 
On March 27, 2012, we tendered to the plaintiff-warrant holders an aggregate of $355,000 as payment in full of the repurchase price for those 
warrants. We believe that the Withdrawal Notices and our tender of payment as described above render moot the majority of the claims of the 
plaintiff-warrant holders in their Complaints, although the Withdrawal Notices purport to reserve all rights of the plaintiff-warrant holders under 
the Complaints.  

If we were to become liable to repurchase the plaintiffs’ warrants, we may not have on hand sufficient funds to satisfy the liability and to 
meet our other obligations as they come due, which could raise doubts as to our ability to continue as a going concern.  

Risks Relating to Ownership of Our Common Stock  

The market price and trading volume of our common stock may be volatile.  

The market price of our common stock has exhibited substantial volatility recently. Between January 1, 2012 and March 27, 2012, the sale 
price of our common stock as reported on The NASDAQ Capital Market ranged from a low of $0.43 to a high of $2.93. The market price of our 
common stock could continue to fluctuate significantly for many reasons, including the following factors:  
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In addition, factors beyond our control may also have an impact on the price of our stock. For example, to the extent that other large 
companies within our industry experience declines in their stock price, our stock price may decline as well. In addition, when the market price of 
a company’s common stock drops significantly, stockholders often institute securities class action lawsuits against the company. A lawsuit 
against us could cause us to incur substantial costs and could divert the time and attention of our management and other resources.  

Anti-takeover provisions of our certificate of incorporation and by-laws and provisions of Delaware law could delay or prevent a change 
of control that you may favor.  

Anti-takeover provisions of our certificate of incorporation and by-laws and provisions of Delaware law may discourage, delay or prevent 
a merger or other change of control that stockholders may consider favorable, or may impede the ability of the holders of our common stock to 
change our management. These provisions of our certificate of incorporation and by-laws, among other things:  
   

   

   

   

In addition, Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law provides that, subject to limited exceptions, persons that acquire, or are 
affiliated with a person that acquires, more than 15% of the outstanding voting stock of a Delaware corporation such as our company shall not 
engage in any business combination with that corporation, including by merger, consolidation or acquisitions of additional shares for a three-year 
period following the date on which that person or its affiliate crosses the 15% stock ownership threshold. Section 203 could operate to delay or 
prevent a change of control of our company.  

We may acquire other businesses, including businesses in which our directors or officers may have an interest, or form joint ventures that 
may be unsuccessful and could adversely dilute your ownership of our company.  

As part of our business strategy, we may pursue acquisitions of other complementary businesses and assets and may also pursue strategic 
alliances. We have limited experience in acquiring other companies and in forming such alliances. Apthera was our first acquisition. Sanford J. 
Hillsberg, our Chairman of the Board, was a substantial stockholder of Apthera at the time of the acquisition and had interests in the Apthera 
acquisition that were different from the interests of our stockholders, generally. We may not be able to successfully integrate any acquisitions 
into our existing business, and we could assume unknown or contingent liabilities or become subject  
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  •   announcements of regulatory developments or technological innovations by us or our competitors;  

  
•   announcements of business or strategic transactions such as our planned partial spin-off of RXi and related transactions and of the 

progress of the partial spin-off or other strategic transactions;  
  •   changes in our relationship with our licensors and other strategic partners;  
  •   our quarterly operating results;  
  •   developments in patent or other technology ownership rights;  
  •   public concern regarding the safety of our products;  

  
•   additional funds may not be available on terms that are favorable to us and, in the case of equity financings, may result in dilution to our 

stock holders;  
  •   government regulation of drug pricing; and  
  •   general changes in the economy, the financial markets or the pharmaceutical or biotechnology industries.  

  •   divide our board of directors into three classes, with members of each class to be elected for staggered three-year terms;  
  •   limit the right of stockholders to remove directors;  
  •   regulate how stockholders may present proposals or nominate directors for election at annual meetings of stockholders; and  
  •   authorize our board of directors to issue preferred stock in one or more series, without stockholder approval.  



Table of Contents  

to possible stockholder claims in connection with any related-party or third-party acquisitions or other transactions. We also could experience 
adverse effects on our reported results of operations from acquisition-related charges, amortization of acquired technology and other intangibles 
and impairment charges relating to write-offs of goodwill and other intangible assets from time to time following the acquisition of Apthera or 
other acquisitions. Integration of an acquired company requires management resources that otherwise would be available for ongoing 
development of our existing business. We may not realize the anticipated benefits of any acquisition, technology license or strategic alliance.  

To finance future acquisitions, we may choose to issue shares of our common stock as consideration, which would dilute your ownership 
interest in us. Alternatively, it may be necessary for us to raise additional funds through public or private financings. Additional funds may not 
be available on terms that are favorable to us and, in the case of equity financings, may result in dilution to our stockholders.  

Risks Relating to the Partial Spin-Off of RXi  

There are a number of risks associated with the partial spin-off of RXi, including the following:  

The partial spin-off may be delayed or may not be completed.  

On February 27, 2012 we announced, as required by NASDAQ Listing Rule 5250(e)(6), that our board of directors had declared a 
conditional dividend on Galena common stock of one share of common stock of RXi for each outstanding share of Galena common stock. The 
spin-off shares will be payable, subject to certain conditions described below, to our stockholders as of close of business (Eastern time) on 
March 8, 2012, the record date for the distribution, in the ratio of one RXi share for each share of Galena common stock held as of the record 
date. In light of the conditional nature of the partial spin-off of RXi, our board of directors has not set a payment date for the distribution, and 
under NASDAQ rules our common stock is not yet trading “ex-dividend.” The distribution of the spin-off shares will be taxable to Galena 
stockholders who receive RXi shares in the distribution.  

The distribution to Galena stockholders of the spin-off shares is to be made pursuant to the registration statement filed by RXi with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission and declared effective on February 14, 2012. Because the RXi registration statement will go “stale” on 
April 30, 2012, we must complete the distribution of the spin-off shares by that date, unless we were to cause RXi to amend the registration 
statement. It is likely that we would abandon the partial spin-off of RXi if the distribution of the spin-off shares has not been made by April 30, 
2012, although our board of directors has not made any decision in this regard.  

The establishment of a payment date for the distribution and the payment of the distribution is dependent upon the timing of effectiveness 
of an application filed with FINRA to permit RXi common stock to be traded in the OTC Markets Group under the symbol “RXII.” The payment 
of the distribution also is conditioned upon the closing of the RXi financing, which is subject to certain closing conditions that may or may not 
be satisfied. In addition, the securities purchase agreement among Galena, RXi and the RXi investors provides that the agreement may be 
unilaterally terminated by us or by the RXi investors if the closing of the transactions has not occurred by March 31, 2012, and it is not possible 
for the closing to occur by this date. Accordingly, unless this date is extended by mutual agreement of the RXi investors and us, either we or the 
RXi investors generally may terminate the securities purchase agreement at any time after March 31, 2012, unless the failure of the closing to 
occur was due to the fault of the party seeking to terminate the securities purchase agreement.  

Although we have no present intention to terminate the securities purchase agreement or to abandon the partial spin-off of RXi, the RXi 
investors may choose to do so. We also may decide to do so at any time if our board of directors determines that it is in the best interests of our 
company. For all of the foregoing reasons, there is no assurance that the payment and distribution of the spin-off shares will be completed.  

We will no longer control RXi.  

We currently own all of the outstanding shares of common stock of RXi. Upon completion of the RXi financing and the partial spin-off of 
RXi, assuming they are completed, we will own only approximately 4% of the as-converted common stock of RXi and our stockholders will 
own in the aggregate approximately 8% of the as-converted common stock.  
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We will have no management rights in RXi, and the officers, directors and other RXi stockholders may have interests that are different 
from ours.  

Although we will own approximately 4% of RXi’s outstanding common stock upon completion of the spin-off of RXi, we will have no 
control over its management or operations. RXi will have its own board of directors and management, who will be responsible for the affairs and 
policies of RXi and its development plans. Mark J. Ahn, Ph.D., our President and Chief Executive Officer, will resign as a director of RXi in 
conjunction with the partial spin-off of RXi, and neither we nor our stockholders will have any right to designate or elect Dr. Ahn or other 
individual as a director of RXi or any other management rights in RXi. The directors, management and other stockholders of RXi may have 
interests that are different from ours, and RXi may engage in actions in connection with its business and operations that we believe are not in our 
best interests.  

We have agreed to guarantee the bridge loan to RXi upon the imminent maturity date of the RXi convertible notes, and there is no 
assurance that the maturity date will be extended; and if the spin-off of RXi is not completed, we will lose control of RXi.  

Pursuant to the securities purchase agreement with the RXi, investors, the RXi investors have provided a bridge loan to RXi by purchasing 
$1,000,000 of RXi convertible notes and have agreed, in the RXi investors’ discretion, to purchase up to an additional $500,000 of RXi 
convertible notes prior to the closing. The RXi convertible notes accrue interest at a rate of 7% per annum (or 18% per annum in the case of an 
event of default) and mature on March 31, 2012, or earlier in the case of an event of default. The obligations due under the RXi convertible notes 
are secured by a first-priority blanket lien on the assets of RXi and are guaranteed by us. Additionally, we have pledged all of our shares of RXi 
common stock to further guarantee the timely payment of the amounts due under the RXi convertible notes, if not converted into RXi preferred 
stock at the closing of the transactions under the securities purchase agreement.  

If the closing of the transactions under the securities purchase agreement has not occurred by the March 31, 2012 maturity date of the RXi 
convertible notes, unless such date is extended by mutual agreement by the RXi investors and us, the permanent financing and the partial spin-
off of RXi will not occur, and one-half of the outstanding principal of and accrued interest on the RXi convertible notes held by the investors 
will be converted into shares of RXi common stock equal to 51% of the shares of outstanding common stock of RXi immediately upon such 
conversion. RXi will be obliged to repay the balance of the principal of and accrued interest on the RXi convertible notes held by the investors, 
and we have agreed in the securities purchase agreement to guarantee RXi’s repayment of the RXi convertible notes to the extent they are not 
converted. In this event, we will own 44% of the outstanding shares of RXi common stock, and RXi will carry on as a stand-alone private 
company under the investors’ control, with its own management and with whatever funding and other financial resources that may be available 
to it. Neither the investors in RXi nor Galena will be obliged to provide any funding to RXi in this event, and there is no guarantee that funding 
will be available to RXi on acceptable terms, or at all. If RXi fails to obtain additional funding in this event, it would be forced to scale back or 
terminate its operations, or to seek to merge with or to be acquired by another company.  

Although we will own approximately 4% of RXi’s outstanding common stock upon completion of the spin-off of RXi, we will have no 
control over its management or operations. RXi will have its own board of directors and management, who will be responsible for the affairs and 
policies of RXi and its development plans. Mark J. Ahn, Ph.D., our President and Chief Executive Officer, will resign as a director of RXi in 
conjunction with the partial spin-off of RXi, and neither we nor our stockholders will have any right to designate or elect Dr. Ahn or other 
individual as a director of RXi or any other management rights in RXi. The directors, management and other stockholders of RXi may have 
interests that are different from ours, and RXi may engage in actions in connection with its business and operations that we believe are not in our 
best interests.  

We are in discussions with the RXi investors to extend the current March 31, 2012 maturity date of the RXi convertible notes, but there is 
no assurance that the maturity date will be extended.  

We retain little discretion over the use of RXi’s funds.  

We have agreed in the securities purchase agreement to use the proceeds of the RXi convertible notes and the funds contributed to RXi by 
us in accordance with budgets agreed or to be agreed upon by the investors and us. We retain no discretion over the use of these funds, and these 
funds will not be available to us for use in Galena’s oncology business or operations.  
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Risks Associated With Our Ownership Interest in RXi.  

If the partial spin-off is completed, or if it is not completed and we become a minority stockholder of RXi, the value of our ownership 
interest in RXi and of the spin-off shares to be received by our stockholders will depend on RXi’s success in developing and commercializing 
products developed based upon its RNAi technologies, which activities are subject to significant risks and uncertainties.  

RXi will be dependent on the success of its leading drug candidate, which may not receive regulatory approval or be successfully 
commercialized.  

RXI-109, RXi’s first RNAi-based product candidate, targets connective tissue growth factor, or “CTGF,” and may have a variety of 
medical applications. RXi is planning to file an IND application with the FDA and begin a Phase 1 clinical trial in 2012 for RXI-109. The FDA, 
however, may deny RXi’s application or require additional information before approving the application, and such information may be costly to 
provide. There is no assurance that RXi will be able to successfully develop RXI-109 or any other product candidate.  

RXi currently generates no revenue from sales, and may never be able to develop marketable products. The FDA or similar foreign 
governmental agencies must approve RXi’s products in development before they can be marketed. The process for obtaining FDA approval is 
both time-consuming and costly, with no certainty of a successful outcome. Before obtaining regulatory approval for the sale of any drug 
candidate, RXi must conduct extensive preclinical tests and clinical trials to demonstrate the safety and efficacy in humans of our product 
candidates. RXi has not shown safety or efficacy in humans for any RNAi-based product candidates, including RXI-109. A failure of any 
preclinical study or clinical trial can occur at any stage of testing. The results of preclinical and initial clinical testing of these products may not 
necessarily indicate the results that will be obtained from later or more extensive testing. It is also possible to suffer significant setbacks in 
advanced clinical trials, even after obtaining promising results in earlier trials.  

A number of different factors could prevent RXi from obtaining regulatory approval or commercializing its product candidates on a timely 
basis, or at all.  

RXi, the FDA or other applicable regulatory authorities, or an IRB may suspend clinical trials of a drug candidate at any time for various 
reasons, including if RXi or they believe the subjects or patients participating in such trials are being exposed to unacceptable health risks. 
Among other reasons, adverse side effects of a drug candidate on subjects or patients in a clinical trial could result in the FDA or other 
regulatory authorities suspending or terminating the trial and refusing to approve a particular drug candidate for any or all indications of use.  

Clinical trials of a new drug candidate require the enrollment of a sufficient number of patients, including patients who are suffering from 
the disease the drug candidate is intended to treat and who meet other eligibility criteria. Rates of patient enrollment are affected by many 
factors, and delays in patient enrollment can result in increased costs and longer development times.  

Clinical trials also require the review and oversight of IRBs, which approve and continually review clinical investigations and protect the 
rights and welfare of human subjects. An inability or delay in obtaining IRB approval could prevent or delay the initiation and completion of 
clinical trials, and the FDA may decide not to consider any data or information derived from a clinical investigation not subject to initial and 
continuing IRB review and approval.  

Numerous factors could affect the timing, cost or outcome of RXi’s drug development efforts, including the following:  
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  •   delays in filing the initial IND drug application for RXI-109 or other product candidates;  
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  •   conditions imposed on us by the FDA or comparable foreign authorities regarding the scope or design of RXi’s clinical trials;  
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It is possible that none of the product candidates that RXi may develop will obtain the appropriate regulatory approvals necessary to begin 
selling them or that any regulatory approval to market a product may be subject to limitations on the indicated uses for which RXi may market 
the product. The time required to obtain FDA and other approvals is unpredictable, but often can take years following the commencement of 
clinical trials, depending upon the complexity of the drug candidate. Any analysis RXi performs of data from clinical activities is subject to 
confirmation and interpretation by regulatory authorities, which could delay, limit or prevent regulatory approval. Any delay or failure in 
obtaining required approvals could have a material adverse effect on RXi’s ability to generate revenue from the particular drug candidate.  

RXi also is subject to numerous foreign regulatory requirements governing the conduct of clinical trials, manufacturing and marketing 
authorization, pricing and third-party reimbursement. The foreign regulatory approval process includes all of the risks associated with the FDA 
approval described above as well as risks attributable to the satisfaction of local regulations in foreign jurisdictions. Approval by the FDA does 
not assure approval by regulatory authorities outside of the United States.  

The approach RXi is taking to discover and develop novel therapeutics using RNAi is unproven and may never lead to marketable 
products.  

RNA interference is a relatively new scientific discovery. To date, no company has received regulatory approval to market therapeutics 
utilizing RNAi, and a number of clinical trials of RNAi technologies by other companies have been unsuccessful. The scientific evidence to 
support the feasibility of developing drugs based on these discoveries is both preliminary and limited. To successfully develop RNAi-based 
products, RXi must solve a number of issues, including stabilizing the RNAi material and delivering it into target cells in the human body. RXi 
may spend large amounts of money trying to solve these issues and never succeed in doing so. In addition, any compounds that RXi develops 
may not demonstrate in patients the chemical and pharmacological properties ascribed to them in laboratory studies, and they may interact with 
human biological systems in unforeseen, ineffective or even harmful ways.  
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  •   problems in engaging IRBs to oversee trials or problems in obtaining or maintaining IRB approval of studies;  
  •   difficulty in enrolling patients in conformity with required protocols or projected timelines;  
  •   third-party contractors failing to comply with regulatory requirements or to meet their contractual obligations to us in a timely manner;  

  
•   RXi’s drug candidates having very different chemical and pharmacological properties in humans than in laboratory testing and 

interacting with human biological systems in unforeseen, ineffective or harmful ways;  
  •   the need to suspend or terminate clinical trials if the participants are being exposed to unacceptable health risks;  

  
•   insufficient or inadequate supply or quality of RXi’s drug candidates or other necessary materials necessary to conduct our clinical 

trials;  

  
•   effects of our drug candidates not being the desired effects or including undesirable side effects or the drug candidates having other 

unexpected characteristics;  
  •   the cost of RXi’s clinical trials may be greater than it anticipates;  

  
•   negative or inconclusive results from RXi’s clinical trials or the clinical trials of others for similar drug candidates or inability to 

generate statistically significant data confirming the efficacy of the product being tested;  
  •   changes in the FDA’s requirements for testing during the course of that testing;  
  •   reallocation of RXi’s limited financial and other resources to other clinical programs; and  
  •   adverse results obtained by other companies developing similar drugs.  
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The FDA could impose a unique regulatory regime for RNAi therapeutics.  

The substances RXi intends to develop may represent a new class of drug, and the FDA has not yet established any definitive policies, 
practices or guidelines in relation to these drugs. While we expect any product candidates that RXi develops will be regulated as a new drug 
under the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, the FDA could decide to regulate them or other products RXi may develop as biologics under 
the Public Health Service Act. The lack of policies, practices or guidelines may hinder or slow review by the FDA of any regulatory filings that 
RXi may submit. Moreover, the FDA may respond to these submissions by defining requirements that RXi may not have anticipated.  

The FDA approval process may be delayed for any drugs RXi develops that require the use of specialized drug delivery devices or vehicles. 

Some drug candidates that RXi develops may need to be administered using specialized devices, such as an implantable pump that deliver 
RNAi therapeutics directly to diseased parts of the body. These devices may or may not have been approved by the FDA or other regulatory 
agencies. The drug delivery vehicles that RXi may utilize to deliver its drug candidates have not been approved by the FDA or other regulatory 
agencies. In addition, the FDA may regulate the product as a combination product of a drug and a device or require additional approvals or 
clearances for the modified delivery.  

If specialized delivery vehicle is owned by another company, RXi would need that company’s cooperation to implement the necessary 
changes to the vehicle, or its labeling, and to obtain any additional approvals or clearances. Any delays in finding suitable drug delivery vehicles 
to administer RNAi therapeutics directly to diseased parts of the body could negatively affect our ability to successfully develop our RNAi 
therapeutics.  

Even if RXi receives regulatory approval to market its product candidates, its product candidates may not be accepted commercially, which 
may prevent RXi from becoming profitable.  

The RNAi product candidates that RXi is developing are based on new technologies and therapeutic approaches. RNAi products may be 
more expensive to manufacture than traditional small molecule drugs, which may make them more costly than competing small molecule drugs. 
Additionally, for various applications, RNAi products are likely to require injection or implantation, which will make them less convenient to 
administer than drugs administered orally. Key participants in the pharmaceutical marketplace, such as physicians, medical professionals 
working in large reference laboratories, public health laboratories and hospitals, third-party payors and consumers may not accept products 
intended to improve therapeutic results based on RNAi technology. As a result, it may be more difficult for RXi to convince the medical 
community and third-party payors to accept and use RXi’s products, or to provide favorable reimbursement. If medical professionals working 
with large reference laboratories, public health laboratories and hospitals choose not to adopt and use RXi’s RNAi technology, its products may 
not achieve broader market acceptance.  

Other factors that we believe will materially affect market acceptance of RNAi product candidates include:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   
33  

  •   timing of RXi’s receipt of any marketing approvals, the terms of any approvals and the countries in which approvals are obtained;  
  •   safety, efficacy and ease of administration of RXi’s product candidates;  
  •   advantages of RXi’s product candidates over those of RXi’s competitors;  
  •   willingness of patients to accept relatively new therapies;  
  •   success of RXi’s physician education programs;  
  •   availability of government and third party payor reimbursement;  
  •   pricing of RXi’s products, particularly as compared to alternative treatments; and  
  •   availability of effective alternative treatments and the relative risks and/or benefits of the treatments.  
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RXi will be subject to competition and may not be able to compete successfully.  

We believe numerous companies are investigating or plan to investigate a variety of proposed anti-scarring therapies in clinical trials. The 
companies include large and small pharmaceutical, chemical and biotechnology companies, as well as universities, government agencies and 
other private and public research organizations. Such companies include Renovo Group plc, CoDa Therapeutics, Inc., Sirnaomics, Inc., 
FirstString Research, Inc., Merz Pharmaceuticals, LLC, Capstone Therapeutics, Halscion, Inc., Garnet Bio Therapeutics, Inc., AkPharma Inc., 
Promedior, Inc., Kissei Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., Eyegene, Derma Sciences, Inc., Healthpoint Biotherapeutics and Pharmaxon. In particular, 
Excaliard Pharmaceuticals, Inc., which has been acquired by Pfizer, Inc., has successfully advanced an anti-CTGF antisense oligonucleotide 
through several Phase 1 and Phase 2 trials, demonstrating improved scar outcome over placebo.  

We believe other companies working in the RNAi area, generally, include Alnylam Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Marina Biotech, Inc., Tacere 
Therapeutics, Inc., Benitec Limited, OPKO Health, Inc., Silence Therapeutics plc, Quark Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Rosetta Genomics Ltd., Lorus 
Therapeutics, Inc., Tekmira Pharmaceuticals Corporation, Arrowhead Research Corporation, Regulus Therapeutics Inc. and Santaris, as well as a 
number of large pharmaceutical companies. Many other companies are pursuing non-RNAi-based therapies for one or more fibrotic disease 
indications, including ocular scarring or other indications that RXi may seek to pursue.  

Most of RXi’s competitors have substantially greater research and development capabilities and financial, scientific, technical, 
manufacturing, marketing, distribution and other resources than RXi, and RXi may not be able to successfully compete with them. In addition, 
even if RXi is successful in developing its product candidates, in order to compete successfully RXi may need to be first to market or to 
demonstrate that its RNAi-based products are superior to therapies based on different technologies. A number of RXi’s competitors have already 
commenced clinical testing of RNAi product candidates and may be more advanced than RXi is in the process of developing products. If RXi is 
not first to market or are unable to demonstrate superiority, any products for which RXi is able to obtain approval may not be successful.  

RXi will be dependent on technologies it licenses, and if it loses the right to license such technologies or fails to license new technologies 
in the future, its ability to develop new products would be harmed.  

Many patents in the RNAi field have already been exclusively licensed to third parties, including RXi’s competitors. If any of RXi’s 
existing licenses are terminated, the development of the products contemplated by the licenses could be delayed or terminated and RXi may not 
be able to negotiate additional licenses on acceptable terms, if at all, which would have a material adverse effect on RXi’s business.  

RXi may be unable to protect its intellectual property rights licensed from others parties, its intellectual property rights may be inadequate 
to prevent third parties from using its technologies or developing competing products, and RXi may need to license additional intellectual 
property from others.  

Therapeutic applications of gene silencing technologies, delivery methods and other technologies that RXi licenses from third parties are 
claimed in a number of pending patent applications, but there is no assurance that these applications will result in any issued patents or that those 
patents would withstand possible legal challenges or protect RXi’s technologies from competition. The United States Patent and Trademark 
Office and patent granting authorities in other countries have upheld stringent standards for the RNAi patents that have been prosecuted so far. 
Consequently, pending patents that RXi has licensed or owns may continue to experience long and difficult prosecution challenges and may 
ultimately issue with much narrower claims than those in the pending applications. Third parties may hold or seek to obtain additional patents 
that could make it more difficult or impossible for RXi to develop products based on RNAi technology without obtaining a license to such 
patents, which licenses may not be available to RXi on attractive terms, or at all.  

In addition, others may challenge the patents or patent applications that RXi currently licenses or may license in the future or that RXi 
owns and, as a result, these patents could be narrowed, invalidated or rendered unenforceable, which would negatively affect RXi’s ability to 
exclude others from using RNAi technologies described in these patents. There can be no assurance that these patent or other pending 
applications or issued  
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patents RXi licenses or owns will withstand possible legal challenges. Moreover, the laws of some foreign countries may not protect RXi’s 
proprietary rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States. Any patents issued to RXi or its licensors may not provide RXi with any 
competitive advantages, and there can be no assurance that the patents of others will not have an adverse effect on RXi’s ability to do business or 
to continue to use its technologies freely. RXi’s efforts to enforce and maintain its intellectual property rights may not be successful and may 
result in substantial costs and diversion of management time. Even if RXi’s rights are valid, enforceable and broad in scope, competitors may 
develop products based on technology that is not covered by RXi’s licenses or patents or patent application that it owns.  

In June 2010, we received a letter from Alnylam Pharmaceuticals, Inc. claiming that we require access to Alnylam’s patent and patent 
applications and demanding that we stop engaging in unspecified alleged infringing activities unless we obtain a license from Alnylam. We 
understand that other companies working in the RNAi area have received similar letters from Alnylam. Although we believe that RXi’s current 
and planned activities do not infringe any valid patent rights of Alnylam, there is no assurance that RXi will not need to alter its development 
candidates or products or obtain a license to Alnylam’s rights to avoid any such infringement.  

There is no guarantee that future licenses will be available from third parties for RXi’s product candidates on satisfactory terms, or at all. 
To the extent that RXi is required and is able to obtain multiple licenses from third parties to develop or commercialize a product candidate, the 
aggregate licensing fees and milestones and royalty payments made to these parties may materially reduce RXi’s economic returns or cause RXi 
to abandon development or commercialization of a product candidate.  

RXi’s success depends upon its ability to obtain and maintain intellectual property protection for its products and technologies.  

The applications based on RNAi technologies claim many different methods, compositions and processes relating to the discovery, 
development, delivery and commercialization of RNAi therapeutics. Because this field is so new, very few of these patent applications have been 
fully processed by government patent offices around the world, and there is a great deal of uncertainty about which patents will issue, when, to 
whom, and with what claims. It is likely that there will be significant litigation and other proceedings, such as interference and opposition 
proceedings in various patent offices, relating to patent rights in the RNAi field and that RXi may be a party to such proceedings.  

RXi will rely upon third parties for the manufacture of its clinical product candidates.  

RXi does not have the facilities or expertise to manufacture supplies of any of its potential product candidates for clinical trials. 
Accordingly, RXi will be dependent upon contract manufacturers for these supplies. RXi currently obtains supplies for RXI-109 from a single 
supplier, Agilent Technologies, Nucleic Acid Solutions Division. If for any reason RXi is unable to obtain RXI-109 from this supplier, it would 
have to seek to obtain it from another major oligonucleotide manufacturer. There is no assurance that RXi will be able to timely secure needed 
supply arrangements on satisfactory terms, or at all. RXi’ s failure to secure these arrangements as needed could have a material adverse effect on 
its ability to complete the development of its product candidates or, if RXi obtains regulatory approval for its product candidates, to 
commercialize them.  

RXi may not be able to establish or maintain the third-party relationships that are necessary to develop or potentially commercialize some 
or all of its product candidates.  

We expect that RXi will be dependent upon collaborators, partners, licensees, clinical research organizations and other third parties to 
support its discovery efforts, to formulate product candidates, to manufacture its product candidates and to conduct clinical trials for some or all 
of its product candidates. We cannot guarantee that RXi will be able to successfully negotiate agreements for or maintain relationships with 
collaborators, partners, licensees, clinical investigators, vendors and other third parties on favorable terms, if at all. RXi’s ability to successfully 
negotiate such agreements will depend on, among other things, potential partners’ evaluation of the superiority of RXi’s technology over 
competing technologies, the quality of the preclinical and clinical data that RXi has generated and the perceived risks specific to developing its 
product candidates. If RXi is unable to obtain or maintain these agreements, it may not be able to clinically develop, formulate, manufacture, 
obtain  
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regulatory approvals for or commercialize its product candidates. RXi cannot necessarily control the amount or timing of resources that its 
contract partners will devote to RXi’s research and development programs, product candidates or potential product candidates, and we cannot 
guarantee that these parties will fulfill their obligations to RXi under these arrangements in a timely fashion. RXi may not be able to readily 
terminate any such agreements with contract partners even if such contract partners do not fulfill their obligations to RXi.  

If RXi fails to attract, hire and retain qualified personnel, it may not be able to design, develop, market or sell its products or successfully 
manage its business.  

RXi’s business prospects are dependent on its management team and on RXi’s ability to identify, attract, retain and integrate additional 
qualified key personnel. RXi will need to recruit and hire a Chief Executive Officer to replace Mark J. Ahn, Ph.D., who currently serves on a 
part-time basis as RXi’s President. RXi also is seeking a new Chief Financial Officer, as well as other key employees.  

Competition for skilled research, product development, regulatory and technical personnel is intense, and RXi may not be able to recruit 
and retain the personnel it needs. The loss of the services of any key research, product development, regulatory and technical personnel, or RXi’s 
inability to hire new personnel with the requisite skills, could restrict RXi’s ability to develop its product candidates.  

RXi may not be able to obtain sufficient financing and may not be able to develop its product candidates.  

With the proceeds to be received in the RXi financing, we believe that RXi will have sufficient working capital to fund its currently 
planned expenditures through the first quarter of 2013. However, in the future RXi may need to incur debt or issue equity in order to fund its 
planned expenditures, as well as to make acquisitions and other investments. There is no assurance that debt or equity financing will be available 
to RXi on acceptable terms or at all. If RXi cannot, or is limited in the ability to, incur debt, issue equity or enter in strategic collaborations, RXi 
may be unable to fund discovery and development of its product candidates, address gaps in its product offerings or improve its technology.  

We anticipate that RXi will need to raise substantial amounts of money to fund a variety of future activities integral to the development of 
its business, which may include, but are not limited to, the following:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

We cannot assure that any needed financing will be available to RXi on acceptable terms or at all. If RXi cannot obtain additional 
financing in the future, its operations may be restricted, and it may ultimately be unable to continue to develop and potentially commercialize its 
product candidates.  

Future financing may be obtained by RXi through, and future development efforts may be paid for by, RXi’s issuance of debt or equity, 
which may have an adverse effect on Galena and RXi’s other stockholders or may otherwise adversely affect RXi’s business.  

If RXi raises funds through the issuance of debt or equity, any debt securities or preferred stock issued will have rights, preferences and 
privileges senior to those of holders of our common stock in the event of a liquidation. In such event, there is a possibility that once all senior 
claims are settled, there may be no assets remaining to pay out to the holders of common stock. In addition, if RXi raises funds through the 
issuance of additional equity, whether through private placements or public offerings, such an issuance would dilute Galena’s ownership in RXi.  
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  •   to conduct research and development to successfully develop its RNAi technologies;  
  •   to obtain regulatory approval for its products;  
  •   to file and prosecute patent applications and to defend and assess patents to protect its technologies;  
  •   to retain qualified employees, particularly in light of intense competition for qualified scientists;  
  •   to manufacture products itself or through third parties;  
  •   to market its products, either through building its own sales and distribution capabilities or relying on third parties; and  
  •   to acquire new technologies, licenses or products.  
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The terms of debt securities may also impose restrictions on RXi’s operations, which may include limiting its ability to incur additional 
indebtedness, to pay dividends on or repurchase its capital stock, or to make certain acquisitions or investments. In addition, RXi may be subject 
to covenants requiring it to satisfy certain financial tests and ratios, and its ability to satisfy such covenants may be affected by events outside of 
RXi’s control.  

We expect that RXi will incur significant research and development expenses, which may make it difficult for RXi to attain profitability, 
and may lead to uncertainty about RXi’s ability to continue as a going concern.  

Substantial funds were expended to develop RXi’s RNAi technologies, and additional substantial funds will be required for further 
research and development, including preclinical testing and clinical trials of any product candidates, and to manufacture and market any products 
that are approved for commercial sale. Because the successful development of its products is uncertain, we are unable to precisely estimate the 
actual funds RXi will require to develop and potentially commercialize them. In addition, RXi may not be able to generate enough revenue, even 
if it is able to commercialize any of its product candidates, to become profitable.  

If RXi is unable to achieve or sustain profitability or to secure additional financing, it may not be able to meet its obligations as they come 
due, raising substantial doubts as to its ability to continue as a going concern. Any such inability to continue as a going concern may result in 
RXi’ s common stock holders losing their entire investment. There is no guarantee that RXi will become profitable or secure additional financing. 
   

None.  
   

On July 18, 2011, we entered into a lease with LO 138, LLC for our facility located at 310 N. State Street, Suite 208, Lake Oswego, 
Oregon, 97034. The facility is approximately 2,100 square feet and is used for Galena’s general and administrative offices. The monthly rent is 
approximately $3,200.  

RXi occupies its facility located at 60 Prescott Street, Worcester, Massachusetts, pursuant to a lease agreement, dated September 25, 2007, 
with Newgate Properties, LLC (an affiliate of Worcester Polytechnic Institute). The facility is approximately 6,800 square feet, of which 5,600 
square feet is laboratory space used for research and development and the additional 1,200 square feet is used for general and administrative 
offices. In May 2011, RXi reduced the total space occupied by it to approximately 5,355 square feet. On June 9, 2011, the lease was extended 
through July 31, 2012. The monthly rent is approximately $16,000.  

We believe that our facilities are suitable for our current needs.  
   

On November 21, 2011, Hudson Bay Master Fund, Ltd. (“Hudson Bay”) filed a Complaint against us in the United States District Court 
for the Southern District of New York (the “Court”), captioned Hudson Bay Master Fund, Ltd. v. Galena Biopharma, Inc., 11 Civ. 8432 (JPO) , 
alleging that our plan to partially spin off RXi and related actions taken by us in preparation for the spin-off gives Hudson Bay the right to 
require us to repurchase the warrants acquired by Hudson Bay in our April 2011 underwritten public offering. Hudson Bay also seeks related 
declaratory and injunctive relief. On January 12, 2012, three other warrant holders affiliated with each other filed a Complaint in the Court, 
captioned Tenor Opportunity Fund, Ltd., Aria Opportunity Fund, Ltd., and Parsoon Opportunity Fund, Ltd. v. Galena Biopharma, Inc., 12 CIV 
0260 , and on January 20, 2012 and February 2, 2012, respectively, two other warrant holders filed their own Complaints in the Court, captioned 
Cranshire Capital Master Fund, Ltd. v. Galena Biopharma, Inc., 12 CIV 0493 and Iroquois Master Fund, Ltd. v. Galena Biopharma, Inc. , 12 
CIV 0839, respectively. In these latest Complaints, which are substantially identical to the previous Complaints filed in the Court, the various 
warrant holders also claim that our planned spin-off of RXi and related actions give them the right to require us to repurchase our outstanding 
warrants held by them. According to the allegations in the Complaints, the repurchase price of the plaintiffs’ warrants would amount to 
approximately $5.2 million in the aggregate.  
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On March 21, 2012, we received letters from each of the plaintiff-warrant holders withdrawing their repurchase demands with respect to 
their warrants covering an aggregate of 6,350,000 shares out of a total of 6,850,000 shares of common stock purchasable under their warrants 
(the “Withdrawal Notice s ”). After giving effect to the Withdrawal Notices, the plaintiff-warrant holders continued to demand that we 
repurchase their warrants covering the balance of 500,000 shares of common stock in the aggregate. Based on the plaintiff-warrant holders’ 
claims in their Complaints, we believe that the repurchase price for these warrants is $0.71 per underlying share, or an aggregate of $355,000. 
On March 27, 2012, we tendered to the plaintiff-warrant holders an aggregate of $355,000 as payment in full of the repurchase price for those 
warrants. We believe that the Withdrawal Notices and our tender of payment as described above render moot the majority of claims of the 
plaintiff-warrant holders in their Complaints, although the Withdrawal Notices purport to reserve all rights of the plaintiff-warrant holders under 
the Complaints.  
   

Not applicable.  
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PART II.  
   

Market Information  

Our common stock is listed on The NASDAQ Capital Market under the symbol “GALE ” The following table shows the high and low per-
share sale prices of our common stock for the periods indicated:  
   

Holders  

As of March 26, 2012, there were approximately 700 holders of record of our common stock. Because many of our shares are held by 
brokers and other institutions on behalf of stockholders, we are unable to estimate the total number of individual stockholders represented by 
these holders of record.  

Dividends  

We have never paid any cash dividends and do not anticipate paying any cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future. 
We expect to retain future earnings, if any, for use in our development activities and the operation of our business. The payment of any future 
dividends will be subject to the discretion of our board of directors and will depend, among other things, upon our results of operations, financial 
condition, cash requirements, prospects and other factors that our board of directors may deem relevant. Additionally, our ability to pay future 
dividends may be restricted by the terms of any debt financing.  

Performance Graph  

Because we are a smaller reporting company, we are not required to provide this information.  

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities  

Set forth below is information regarding any unregistered sales by us of common stock, preferred stock, options and warrants during the 
period covered by this annual report that were not previously reported by us in a Quarter Report on Form 10-K or Current Report on Form 8-K:  

Preferred Stock  

None.  

Common Stock  

On March 8, 2012, the Company issued 1,315,789 restricted shares of common stock in payment of the first milestone under the contingent 
value rights agreement entered into in connection with our merger acquisition of Apthera in April 2011. The certificates evidencing the 
milestone shares have been deposited with the escrow  
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Item 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER 
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES 

     High      Low   

2010        

First Quarter     $ 8.99       $ 3.48    
Second Quarter       5.23         2.51    
Third Quarter       3.02         1.70    
Fourth Quarter       4.08         2.20    

2011        

First Quarter     $ 2.65       $ 1.10    
Second Quarter       1.65         0.73    
Third Quarter       1.48         0.61    
Fourth Quarter       1.01         0.36    
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agent under the escrow agreement, dated as of April 13, 2011, among the Company, the stockholder representative, and Computershare Trust 
Company, N.A., as Escrow Agent. The milestone shares will be released to the former Apthera shareholders from escrow if the issuance of the 
milestone shares is approved by the stockholders of the Company at the Company’s 2012 annual stockholders meeting.  

On February 3, 2012, the Company issued 100,000 shares of our common stock in payment of $135,000 of accrued legal fees.  

On January 20, 2012, the Company sold 579,710 shares of our common stock for $400,000 to Kwang Dong Pharmaceutical Company as 
part of a existing license agreement for NeuVax covering territorial rights for the compound in South Korea that we acquired in our merger 
acquisition of Apthera.  

From January 23, 2012 through March 23, 2012, the Company issued 1,369,944 shares of our common stock subject to the exercise of 
outstanding warrants from various warrant holders. The Company received $1,223,464 in total payments at exercise prices ranging from $0.65 to 
$2.50 per share.  

The foregoing shares were issued without registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, in reliance upon the exemptions from 
registration afforded under Section 4(2) of the Act and Regulation D under the Act.  

Common Stock Options and Warrants  

On February 4, 2012, the Company granted warrants to purchase 400,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $0.66 per share in 
exchange for business advisory services to the Company for a period of up to twelve months. The warrants vested as to 100,000 shares upon 
issuance, and then will vest at a rate of 100,000 shares per quarter starting on the 90-day anniversary of issuance.  

The foregoing warrants were issued without registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, in reliance upon the exemption 
from registration afforded under Section 4(2) of the Act.  
   

Because we are a smaller reporting company, we are not required to provide the information required by this Item.  
   

You should read the following discussion in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and the notes to consolidated financial 
statements included elsewhere in this annual report. This “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations” section contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. For a 
discussion of indicators of forward-looking statements and specific important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from 
those contained in forward-looking statements, see “Risk Factors” under Part I — Item 1A of this annual report. This “Management’s Discussion 
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” section should be read and interpreted in light of such factors. Our actual results 
and the timing of certain events could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of certain factors, 
including those discussed below and elsewhere in this annual report.  

You may have difficulty evaluating our business, because we acquired Apthera only in the past year and are undertaking to partially spin 
off RXi. There is no assurance, however, that the partial spin-off will be completed. Following the partial spin-off, assuming it is completed, our 
financial statements will no longer reflect the consolidated financial condition and results of operations of RXi, and we will account for our 
partial ownership of RXi based on the equity method of accounting. For these reasons, the historical consolidated financial information included 
in this annual report do not necessarily reflect the financial condition, results of operations or cash flows that we will achieve in the future.  
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Background on the Company and Recent Change in Strategic Focus  

We were formed in 2006 by CytRx Corporation (“CytRx”) and four prominent RNAi researchers. We commenced operations in January 
2007, after CytRx contributed to us its portfolio of RNAi therapeutic assets consisting primarily of RNAi licenses and related intellectual 
property and a nominal amount of equipment.  

We acquired Apthera and our NeuVax product candidate in April 2011. Prior to that time, we were engaged primarily in conducting 
discovery research and preclinical development activities based on RNAi. Our acquisition of Apthera followed from the determination by our 
board of directors to broaden our strategic direction by giving us access to a late-stage clinical candidate, NeuVax. In connection with our 
acquisition of Apthera, we reduced the scope of our RNAi activities to focus primarily on RXI-109, our lead RNAi-product, while maintaining 
our key development alliances and core RNAi discovery and development capability. Following the Apthera acquisition, our board of directors 
undertook to explore strategic alternatives for our RNAi platform that would enable us to commit more resources to our later-stage oncology 
drug programs.  

On February 27, 2012 we announced, as required by NASDAQ Listing Rule 5250(e)(6), that our board of directors had declared a 
conditional dividend on Galena common stock of one share of common stock of RXi for each outstanding share of Galena common stock. The 
spin-off shares will be payable, subject to certain conditions described below, to our stockholders as of close of business (Eastern time) on 
March 8, 2012, the record date for the distribution, in the ratio of one RXi share for each share of Galena common stock held as of the record 
date. In light of the conditional nature of the partial spin-off of RXi, our board of directors has not set a payment date for the distribution, and 
under NASDAQ rules our common stock is not yet trading “ex-dividend.” The distribution of the spin-off shares will be taxable to Galena 
stockholders who receive RXi shares in the distribution.  

The distribution to Galena stockholders of the spin-off shares is to be made pursuant to the registration statement filed by RXi with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission and declared effective on February 14, 2012. Because the RXi registration statement will go “stale” on 
April 30, 2012, we must complete the distribution of the spin-off shares by that date, unless we were to cause RXi to amend the registration 
statement. It is likely that we would abandon the partial spin-off of RXi if the distribution of the spin-off shares has not been made by April 30, 
2012, although our board of directors has not made any decision in this regard.  

The establishment of a payment date for the distribution and the payment of the distribution is dependent upon the timing of effectiveness 
of an application filed with FINRA to permit RXi common stock to be traded in the OTC Markets Group under the symbol “RXII.” The payment 
of the distribution also is conditioned upon the closing of the RXi financing, which is subject to certain closing conditions that may or may not 
be satisfied. In addition, the securities purchase agreement among Galena, RXi and the RXi investors provides that the agreement may be 
unilaterally terminated by us or by the RXi investors if the closing of the transactions has not occurred by March 31, 2012, and it is not possible 
for the closing to occur by this date. Accordingly, unless this date is extended by mutual agreement of the RXi investors and us, either we or the 
RXi investors generally may terminate the securities purchase agreement at any time after March 31, 2012, unless the failure of the closing to 
occur was due to the fault of the party seeking to terminate the securities purchase agreement.  

Although we have no present intention to terminate the securities purchase agreement or to abandon the partial spin-off of RXi, the RXi 
investors may choose to do so. We also may decide to do so at any time if our board of directors determines that it is in the best interests of our 
company. For all of the foregoing reasons, there is no assurance that the payment and distribution of the spin-off shares will be completed.  

If the closing of the transactions under the securities purchase agreement has not occurred by the March 31, 2012 maturity date of the RXi 
convertible notes, unless such date is extended by mutual agreement by the RXi investors and us, the permanent financing and the partial spin-
off of RXi may not occur, and one-half of the outstanding principal of and accrued interest on the RXi convertible notes held by the investors 
will be converted into shares of RXi common stock equal to 51% of the shares of outstanding common stock of RXi immediately upon such 
conversion. RXi will be obliged to repay the balance of the principal of and accrued interest on the RXi convertible notes held by the investors, 
and we have agreed in the securities purchase agreement to guarantee RXi’s repayment of the RXi convertible notes to the extent they are not 
converted. In this event, we will own 44% of the outstanding shares of RXi common stock, and RXi will carry on as a stand-alone private 
company  
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under the investors’ control, with its own management and with whatever funding and other financial resources that may be available to it. 
Neither the investors in RXi nor Galena will be obliged to provide any funding to RXi in this event, and there is no guarantee that funding will 
be available to RXi on acceptable terms, or at all. If RXi fails to obtain additional funding in this event, it would be forced to scale back or 
terminate its operations, or to seek to merge with or to be acquired by another company.  

We are in discussions with the RXi investors to extend the current March 31, 2012 maturity date of the RXi convertible notes, but there is 
no assurance that the maturity date will be extended.  

Research and Development  

Our research and development programs are focused on developing cancer therapies utilizing peptide-based immunotherapy products, 
including our main product candidate NeuVax, for the treatment of various cancers.  

Since we commenced operations, research and development has comprised a significant proportion of our total operating expenses and is 
expected to comprise the majority of our spending for the foreseeable future.  

There are risks in any new field of drug discovery that preclude certainty regarding the successful development of a product. We cannot 
reasonably estimate or know the nature, timing and costs of the efforts necessary to complete the development of, or the period in which material 
net cash inflows are expected to commence from, any product candidate. Our inability to make these estimates results from the uncertainty of 
numerous factors, including but not limited to:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

Failure to complete any stage of the development of our product candidates in a timely manner could have a material adverse effect on our 
operations, financial position and liquidity.  

License Agreements  

We have entered into licensing relationships with academic institutions, research foundations and commercial entities, and may seek to 
enter into additional licenses with pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies. We also may enter into strategic alliances to expand our 
intellectual property portfolio and to potentially accelerate our development programs by gaining access to technology and funding, including 
equity sales, license fees and other revenues. For each product that we develop that is covered by the patents licensed to us including our 
material licenses discussed elsewhere in this annual report, we are obligated to make additional payments upon the attainment of certain 
specified product development milestones.  

See “Business — Intellectual Property” under Part I — Item 1 of this annual report for information on our material license agreements.  
   

42  

  •   our ability to advance product candidates into preclinical research and clinical trials;  
  •   the scope and rate of progress of our preclinical program and other research and development activities;  
  •   the scope, rate of progress and cost of any clinical trials we commence;  
  •   the cost of filing, prosecuting, defending and enforcing patent claims and other intellectual property rights;  
  •   clinical trial results;  
  •   the terms and timing of any collaborative, licensing and other arrangements that we may establish;  
  •   the cost and timing of regulatory approvals;  
  •   the cost of establishing clinical and commercial supplies of our product candidates and any products that we may develop;  
  •   the cost and timing of establishing sales, marketing and distribution capabilities;  
  •   the effect of competing technological and market developments; and  

  
•   the effect of government regulation and insurance industry efforts to control healthcare costs through reimbursement policy and other 

cost management strategies.  
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates  

Use of Estimates  

The preparation of our financial statements requires management to make estimates, allocations and judgments that affect the reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. On an ongoing basis, 
management evaluates its estimates, including those related to impairment of goodwill and long-lived assets, accrued liabilities and certain 
expenses. We base our estimates about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources on historical 
experience and on other assumptions believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ materially from these 
estimates under different assumptions or conditions. Additionally, the financial information included here may not necessarily reflect the 
financial position, operating results, changes in our invested equity and cash flows in the future or what they would have been had we been a 
separate, stand-alone entity during the periods presented.  

Our significant accounting policies are summarized in the notes to our consolidated financial statements. We believe the following critical 
accounting policies involve significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our financial statements.  

Research and Development Expenses  

Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. Included in research and development costs are wages, benefits and other 
operating costs, facilities, supplies, external services and overhead related to our research and development departments as well as costs to 
acquire technology licenses and expenses associated with preparation of clinical trials.  

Stock-Based Compensation  

We follow the provisions of the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 718, 
“Compensation — Stock Compensation” (“ASC 718”), which requires the measurement and recognition of compensation expense for all share-
based payment awards made to employees, non-employee directors, and consultants, including employee stock options. Stock compensation 
expense based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of ASC 718 is recognized as an expense over the requisite 
service period.  

For stock options granted as consideration for services rendered by non-employees, we recognize compensation expense in accordance 
with the requirements of FASB ASC Topic 505-50 (“ASC 505-50”), “Equity Based Payments to Non- Employees.” Non-employee option grants 
that do not vest immediately upon grant are recorded as an expense over the vesting period of the underlying stock options. At the end of each 
financial reporting period prior to vesting, the value of these options, as calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, will be re-
measured using the fair value of our common stock and the non-cash compensation recognized during the period will be adjusted accordingly. 
Since the fair market value of options granted to non-employees is subject to change in the future, the amount of the future compensation 
expense will include fair value re-measurements until the stock options are fully vested.  

The fair value of each option grant is estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, with the following weighted average 
assumptions:  
   

The Company’s expected common stock price volatility assumption is based upon the volatility of a basket of companies that we consider 
comparable to us. The expected life assumptions for employee grants were based upon the simplified method provided for under ASC 718-10, 
which averages the contractual term of the options  
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     2011    2010 

Weighted average risk free interest rate     0.92% - 3.16%    1.88% - 3.28% 
Weighted average volatility     98.61% - 113.87%    118.3% - 133.62% 
Expected lives (years)     4.71 - 9.25    6 - 10 
Expected dividend yield     0%    0% 
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of ten years with the average vesting term of four years for an average of six years. The expected life assumptions for non-employees were based 
upon the contractual term of the option. The dividend yield assumption of zero is based upon the fact that the Company has never paid cash 
dividends and presently has no intention of paying cash dividends in the future. The risk-free interest rate used for each grant was also based 
upon prevailing short-term interest rates.  

The Company has an estimated annualized forfeiture rate of 15.0% for options granted to employees, and 8.0% for options granted to 
senior management and no forfeiture rate for the directors. The Company will record additional expense if the actual forfeitures are lower than 
estimated and will record a recovery of prior expense if the actual forfeiture rates are higher than estimated.  

Derivative Financial Instruments  

During the normal course of business, from time to time, we issue warrants and options to vendors as consideration to perform services. 
We may also issue warrants as part of a debt or equity financing. We do not enter into any derivative contracts for speculative purposes.  

We recognize all derivatives as assets or liabilities measured at fair value with changes in fair value of derivatives reflected as current 
period income or loss unless the derivatives qualify for hedge accounting and are accounted for as such. During the years ended December 31, 
2011 and 2010, we issued warrants to purchase 18,100,000 and 540,000 shares of common stock, respectively, in connection with an equity 
transaction. In accordance with ASC Topic 815-40, “Derivatives and Hedging — Contracts in Entity’s Own Stock” (“ASC 815-40”), the value 
of these warrants is required to be recorded as a liability, as the holders have an option to put the warrants back to us in certain events, as 
defined.  

Goodwill, Other Intangible Assets and Impairment of Long-Lived Assets  

Business acquisitions typically result in goodwill and other intangible assets, and the recorded values of those assets may become impaired 
in the future. The determination of the value of such intangible assets requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect our consolidated 
financial statements. Goodwill has an indefinite useful life and is not amortized but is evaluated for impairment annually or whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. We record intangible assets acquired at fair value. Our 
intangible assets consist primarily of acquired in-process research and development.  

Goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite lives are tested annually for impairment at the reporting unit level utilizing the “fair 
value” methodology. Factors the Company considers important that could trigger an interim review for impairment include, but are not limited 
to, the following:  
   

   

   

   

Goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite lives are evaluated for impairment using the two-step process. The first step is to 
compare the fair value of the reporting unit to the carrying amount of the reporting unit (the “First Step”). If the carrying amount exceeds the fair 
value, a second step must be followed to calculate impairment (the “Second Step”). Otherwise, if the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds the 
carrying amount, the goodwill is not considered to be impaired as of the measurement date. In its review of the carrying value of the goodwill, 
the Company determines fair values of its intangible assets using the Income Approach, or more specifically the Discounted Cash Flow Method. 
This valuation method requires management to project revenues, operating expenses, working capital investment, capital spending and cash 
flows for the reporting units over a multiyear period, as well as determine the weighted average cost of capital to be used as a discount rate.  

Long-lived assets, held and used are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their net book 
value may not be entirely recoverable. When such factors and circumstances exist, we compare the projected undiscounted future cash flows 
associated with the related asset or group of assets over  
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  •   significant changes in the manner of its use of acquired assets or the strategy for its overall business;  
  •   significant negative industry or economic trends;  
  •   significant decline in stock price for a sustained period; and  
  •   significant decline in market capitalization relative to net book value.  
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their estimated useful lives against their respective carrying amounts. Impairment, if any, is based on the excess of the carrying amount over the 
fair value of those assets and is recorded in the period in which the determination was made. Any resulting impairment losses recorded by the 
Company could have an adverse impact on our results of operations by either decreasing net income or increasing net loss.  

In connection with its annual impairment test, the Company performed its review for impairment. Based upon the valuation approach 
described above, the Company determined that the current carrying value of its goodwill had not been impaired.  

Goodwill amounted to $5.9 million and $0 as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. There was no amortization of goodwill for the 
years ended 2011 and 2010. Other intangible assets amounted to $12.9 million and $0 million as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. 
There was no amortization of other intangible assets for the years ended 2011 and 2010.  

Purchase Price Allocation  

We allocate the purchase price of our acquisitions to the assets and liabilities acquired, including identifiable intangible assets, based on 
their respective fair values at the date of acquisition. Some of the items, including property and equipment, other intangible assets, certain 
accrued liabilities and other reserves require a degree of management judgment. Certain estimates may change as additional information 
becomes available. Management finalizes the purchase price allocation within 12 months of the acquisition date as certain initial accounting 
estimates are resolved.  

Acquired In-Process Research and Development  

In 2011, we recorded $12.9 million of acquired in-process research and development related to our acquisition of Apthera. The projects 
acquired in the acquisition consisted primarily of the clinical development related to its clinical oncology program, primarily the NeuVax 
compound for breast cancer patients. We purchased this with the intent of clinically developing the NeuVax compound for market approval. At 
the date we acquired the NeuVax compound, the program was in the midst of a Phase 2 clinical trial. In order to commercialize this drug, the 
Company will need to complete at least one Phase 3 clinical trial. On January 19, 2012, we initiated our Phase 3 PRESENT trial for NeuVax™ 
(E75 peptide plus GM-CSF) vaccine in low-to-intermediate HER2 1+ and 2+ breast cancer patients in the adjuvant setting to prevent recurrence 
(Clinicaltrials.gov identifier NCT01479244). The cost of this Phase 3 clinical trial is expected to exceed $50 million to reach its primary 
endpoint. We do not expect to commence commercialization of NeuVax prior to 2017, if at all.  

Valuation of Contingent Earnout Consideration  

Acquisitions may include contingent consideration payments based on the achievement of certain future financial performance measures of 
the acquired company. Contingent consideration is required to be recognized at fair value as of the acquisition date. We estimate the fair value of 
these liabilities based on financial projections of the acquired companies and estimated probabilities of achievement. We believe our estimates 
and assumptions are reasonable; however, there is significant judgment involved. We evaluate, on a routine, periodic basis, the estimated fair 
value of the contingent consideration and changes in estimated fair value, subsequent to the initial fair value estimate at the time of the 
acquisition, are reflected in income or expense in the consolidated statements of expenses. Changes in the fair value of contingent consideration 
obligations may result from changes in discount periods and rates, changes in the timing of development milestones achieved and changes in 
probability assumptions with respect to the likelihood of achieving the various earnout criteria. Any changes in the estimated fair value of 
contingent consideration may have a material impact on our operating results.  
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Results of Operations  

For the year ended December 31, 2011, our net loss was approximately $11,485,000 compared with a net loss of $11,993,000 for the year 
ended December 31, 2010. The primary reasons for the variation in the net loss between the years are discussed below.  

Revenue  

Since we are a development-stage biopharmaceutical company, we have not generated any revenue since inception through December 31, 
2011.  

Research and Development Expense (in thousands)  
   

Research and development expense consists primarily of compensation-related costs for our employees dedicated to research and 
development activities and for clinical trial related costs, licensing fees, patent prosecution costs, and the cost of lab supplies used in our research 
and development programs. We expect to continue to devote a substantial portion of our resources to research and development programs. As a 
result of the costs expected to be incurred in connection with our recently commenced clinical trials of NeuVax and FBP, we expect that our 
research and development expense will increase significantly from historic levels for the foreseeable future.  

Total research and development expenses for the year ended December 31, 2011 was approximately $11,538,000 as compared to 
$7,873,000 for the year ended December 31, 2010. The increase of $3,665,000, or 47%, was due to an increase of $4,696,000 in research and 
development cash expenses related to preparation for our Phase 3 PRESENT clinical trial of NeuVax, which was partially offset by a decrease of 
$218,000 in employee stock-based compensation and a $813,000 decrease in non-employee stock based compensation expense.  

Research and Development Non-Employee Stock-Based Compensation Expense  

We issued options to purchase shares of our common stock as compensation to our Scientific Advisory Board (“SAB”) members and 
consultants. For financial statement purposes, we valued these shares at their fair value. Fluctuations in non-employee stock-based compensation 
expense results from variations in the number of common stock options issued, vesting schedules and the Black-Scholes fair values of common 
stock options granted to SAB members.  

General and Administrative Expense (in thousands)  
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For the Years Ended  

December 31,   
     2011     2010   

Research and development expense     $ 10,742      $ 6,046    
Research and development employee stock-based compensation expense       866        1,084    
Research and development non-employee stock-based compensation expense       (70 )      743    

         
  

        
  

Total research and development expense     $ 11,538      $ 7,873    
         

  

        

  

     
For the Years Ended  

December 31,   
     2011      2010   

General and administrative expense     $ 6,863       $ 5,493    
Common stock warrants issued for general and administrative expense       108         718    
Fair value of common stock issued in exchange for general and administrative expense       73         —   
Common stock and stock options issued for general and administrative expense       2,205         2,541    

         
  

         
  

Total general and administrative expense     $ 9,249       $ 8,752    
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General and administrative expense includes compensation-related costs for our employees dedicated to general and administrative 
activities, legal fees, audit and tax fees, consultants and professional services, and general corporate expenses.  

Total general and administrative expense was $9,249,000 for the year ended December 31, 2011 compared with $8,752,000 for the year 
ended December 31, 2010. The increase of $497,000, or 6%, was primarily due to an increase of $1,370,000 in general and administrative 
expense related to an increase in legal, audit and other professional services, and an increase of $73,000 for non-cash share-based compensation 
expense issued in exchange for services, which increases were partially offset by a decrease of $610,000 from warrants issued for business 
advisory services and $336,000 in non-cash share based compensation expense.  

From time to time, we expect to issue shares of our common stock or warrants or options to purchase shares of our common stock to 
consultants and other service providers in exchange for services. For financial statement purposes, we will value these shares of common stock, 
common stock options, and warrants at their fair value.  

Interest Income  

Interest income was negligible for both the year ended December 31, 2011, and December 31, 2010. The key objectives of our investment 
policy are to preserve principal and ensure sufficient liquidity, so our invested cash may not earn as high a level of income as longer-term or 
higher risk securities, which generally have less liquidity and more volatility. The interest rates available on lower risk, shorter-term investments 
in today’s market are lower than rates available in the prior period. We expect to have interest income in future periods based on our current 
account balances and potentially from additional capital we may receive in the future.  

Other Income  

Other income (expense) is summarized as follows (in thousands):  
   

Other income was $9,302,000 and $4,632,000 for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. The overall increase of 
$4,670,000, or 101%, was due to an increase of $6,837,000 attributable to the change in fair value of common stock warrants outstanding, which 
was partially offset by $900,000 due to the loss on warrant exchange, a decrease of $785,000 attributed to a decrease of potential redemption 
liability and a decrease of $616,000 in other income, representing primarily a decrease in grant income.  

Income Taxes  

There was no income tax expense for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 due to the fact that we have incurred significant tax 
losses since we began operations. A deferred tax benefit would have been recorded for losses; however, due to the uncertainty of realizing the 
tax benefit, a valuation allowance was recognized which fully offset the deferred tax benefit.  

Liquidity and Capital Resources  

We had cash and cash equivalents of approximately $11.4 million as of December 31, 2011 and approximately $8.2 million as of 
March 26, 2012.  
   

47  

     
For the Years Ended  

December 31,   
     2011     2010   

Interest income, net     $ 30      $ 5    
Loss on warrant exchange       (900 )      —   
Change in fair value of common stock warrants issued       9,886        3,049    
Reduction of potential redemption liability       —       785    
Change in contingent purchase liability       109        —   
Other income       177        793    

         
  

        
  

Other income, net     $ 9,302      $ 4,632    
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We have not generated revenue to date and may not generate product revenue in the foreseeable future, if ever. We expect to incur 
significant operating losses as we advance our product candidates through the drug development and regulatory process. As a result of the 
increased research and development expense expected to be incurred in connection with our recently commenced clinical trials of NeuVax and 
FBP, we expect that our expenses will increase significantly from historic levels for the foreseeable future. In addition to increasing research and 
development expense, we expect general and administrative costs to increase as we conduct future clinical trials. We will need to generate 
significant revenue to achieve profitability and might never do so. In the absence of product revenue, our potential sources of operational funding 
are expected to be the proceeds from the sale of equity, funded research and development payments and payments received under partnership 
and collaborative agreements.  

On February 17, 2012, we entered into a Controlled Equity Offering sales agreement with Cantor Fitzgerald & Co. (“Cantor”), pursuant 
to which we may offer and sell from time to time through Cantor, acting as agent, shares of our common stock, $0.0001 par value per share, 
having an aggregate offering price of up to $10 million. The offer and sale of our shares through Cantor will be registered pursuant to our 
Registration Statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-167025) declared effective by the SEC on May 21, 2010 and is described in detail in the 
related prospectus supplement dated February 17, 2012 filed with the SEC and the prospectus dated May 21, 2010 included as part of our 
Registration Statement. The offering pursuant to the sales agreement will terminate upon the sale of all shares subject to the sales agreement or 
the earlier termination of the sales agreement as permitted therein. There is no assurance that additional funding will be available to the 
Company on acceptable terms or at all.  

Under the sales agreement, Cantor may sell shares of our common stock by any method permitted by law deemed to be an “at-the-market” 
offering as defined in Rule 415 of the SEC Securities Act of 1933, as amended, including, but not limited to, sales made directly on The 
NASDAQ Capital Market, on any other existing trading market for our common stock or to or through a market maker. Cantor may also sell our 
shares under the sales agreement by any other method permitted by law, including in privately negotiated transactions. Cantor has agreed in the 
sales agreement to use its commercially reasonable efforts to sell shares in accordance with our instructions (including any price, time or size 
limit or other customary parameters or conditions we may impose).  

We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents and the proceeds from the sales agreement should be sufficient to fund our 
operations through at least the first quarter of 2013.  

Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities  

Net cash used in operating activities was approximately $14,668,000 for the year ended December 31, 2011 compared with $10,257,000 
net cash used in operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2010. The increase of approximately $4,411,000 resulted from a net loss of 
$11,485,000, less non-cash items of $5,738,000, of which $3,074,000 related to stock-based compensation, $108,000 related to stock warrant 
expense in exchange for services, $900,000 related to a loss on equity instruments, $163,000 related to depreciation, $109,000 related to a 
decrease in the fair value of the contingent purchase consideration, $9,881,000 that reflects the fair value of warrants and mandatorily 
redeemable stock obligations issued with financings completed by the Company and $2,255,000 related to changes in current assets and 
liabilities.  

Net Cash Flow from Investing Activities  

Net cash provided by investing activities was approximately $14,000 for the year ended December 31, 2011, compared with net cash used 
in investing activities of $106,000 for the year ended December 31, 2010. The increase of approximately $121,000 in cash provided by investing 
activities was due to $101,000 change in restricted cash, $168,000 of cash received in connection with our acquisition and a decrease of $53,000 
in cash paid for equipment.  

Net Cash Flow from Financing Activities  

Net cash provided by financing activities was approximately $19,196,000 for the year ended December 31, 2011, compared with 
$11,570,000 for the year ended December 31, 2010. This increase of approximately $7,626,000 was primarily due to not purchasing any treasury 
shares in 2011 compared with the purchase of  
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$3,849,000 during 2010, an increase in net proceeds from the issuance of common stock of $3,380,000 and $500,000 of notes payable incurred 
by RXi during 2011.  

Recent Accounting Pronouncements  

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements  

In December 2010, the FASB issued ASC Update 2010-29, Business Combinations (Topic 805) — Disclosure of Supplementary Pro 
Forma Information for Business Combinations (Update No. 2010-29). This Update requires a public entity to disclose pro forma information for 
business combinations that occurred in the current reporting period. The disclosures include pro forma revenue and earnings of the combined 
entity for the current reporting period as though the acquisition date for all business combinations that occurred during the year had been as of 
the beginning of the annual reporting period. If comparative financial statements are presented, the pro forma revenue and earnings of the 
combined entity for the comparable prior reporting period should be reported as though the acquisition date for all business combinations that 
occurred during the current year had been as of the beginning of the comparable prior annual reporting period. This Update affects any public 
entity that enters into business combinations that are material on an individual or aggregate basis and is effective prospectively for business 
combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after December 15, 
2010. All disclosures are presented in accordance with the acquisition of Apthera, Inc.  

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements  

In May 2011, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Updated (“ASU”) 2011-04 , Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Amendments to 
Achieve Common Fair Value Measurement and Disclosure Requirements in U.S. GAAP and IFRSs , a new accounting standard that clarifies the 
application of certain existing fair value measurement guidance and expands the disclosures for fair value measurements that are estimated using 
significant unobservable (Level 3) inputs. This new standard is effective on a prospective basis for annual and interim reporting periods 
beginning on or after December 15, 2011. The Company does not expect that adoption of this new standard will have a material impact on its 
consolidated financial statements.  

In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-05, Comprehensive Income (Topic 220): Presentation of Comprehensive Income , a new 
accounting standard that eliminates the option to present the components of other comprehensive income as part of the statement of changes in 
stockholders’ equity, requires the consecutive presentation of the statement of net income and other comprehensive income and requires an 
entity to present reclassification adjustments on the face of the financial statements from other comprehensive income to net income. The 
amendments in this new standard do not change the items that must be reported in other comprehensive income or when an item of other 
comprehensive income must be reclassified to net income nor do the amendments affect how earnings per share is calculated or presented. This 
new standard is required to be applied retrospectively and is effective for fiscal years and interim periods within those years beginning after 
December 15, 2011. As this new standard only requires enhanced disclosure, the adoption of this standard will not impact the Company’s 
consolidated financial statements.  

In September 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-08, Intangibles — Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Testing Goodwill for Impairment, a 
new accounting standard to simplify how entities test goodwill for impairment. The amendments in the Update permit an entity to first assess 
qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount as a basis 
for determining whether it is necessary to perform the two-step goodwill impairment test described in Topic 350. The more-likely-than-not 
threshold is defined as having a likelihood of more than 50 percent. Previous guidance under Topic 350 required an entity to test goodwill for 
impairment, on at least an annual basis, by comparing the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying amount, including goodwill (step one). If 
the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, then the second step of the test must be performed to measure the amount of the 
impairment loss, if any. Under the amendments in this Update, an entity is not required to calculate the fair value of a reporting unit unless the 
entity determines that it is more likely than not that its fair value is less than its carrying amount. This new standard is effective for fiscal years 
beginning after December 15, 2011; however,  
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early adoption is permitted. The Company does not expect that adoption of this new standard will have a material impact on its consolidated 
financial statements.  

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements  

In connection with certain license agreements, we are required to indemnify the licensor for certain damages arising in connection with the 
intellectual property rights licensed under the agreement. In addition, we are a party to a number of agreements entered into in the ordinary 
course of business that contain typical provisions that obligate us to indemnify the other parties to such agreements upon the occurrence of 
certain events. These indemnification obligations are considered off-balance sheet arrangements in accordance with ASC Topic 460 (“ASC 
460”), “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others.” To 
date, we have not encountered material costs as a result of such obligations and have not accrued any liabilities related to such obligations in our 
financial statements. See Note 9 of the notes to consolidated financial statements included in this annual report for further discussion of these 
indemnification agreements.  
   

Because we are a smaller reporting company, we are not required to provide the information required by this Item.  
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM  

Board of Directors and Stockholders  
Galena Biopharma, Inc.  
Lake Oswego, Oregon  

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Galena Biopharma, Inc., formerly RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation, (a 
development stage company) (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2011 and 2010 and the related consolidated statements of expenses, 
stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years then ended and for the period from January 1, 2003 (date of inception) to December 31, 2011. 
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 
statements based on our audits.  

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. 
Our audits included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. 
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial 
position of Galena Biopharma, Inc. as of December 31, 2011 and 2010 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then 
ended and for the period from January 1, 2003 (date of inception) to December 31, 2011, in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America.  

/s/    BDO USA, LLP  

March 28, 2012  
Boston, Massachusetts  
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GALENA BIOPHARMA, INC.  
(A Development Stage Company)  

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS  
(Amounts in thousands, except share data)  

   

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.  
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     December 31,   
     2011     2010   

ASSETS    
Current assets:       

Cash and cash equivalents     $ 11,433      $ 6,891    
Restricted cash       101        —   
Prepaid expenses       276        150    

         
  

        
  

Total current assets       11,810        7,041    
         

  
        

  

Equipment and furnishings, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization of $657 and $491 in 2011 and 
2010, respectively       393        419    

In-process research and development       12,864        —   
Goodwill       5,898        —   
Deposits       3        16    

         
  

        
  

Total assets     $ 30,968      $ 7,476    
         

  

        

  

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS ’ EQUITY    
Current liabilities:       

Accounts payable     $ 2,155      $ 724    
Accrued expense and other current liabilities       2,168        1,113    
Convertible notes payable       500        —   
Deferred revenue       816        —   
Current maturities of capital lease obligations       35        51    
Fair value of warrants potentially settleable in cash       3,746        3,138    
Current contingent purchase price consideration       1,782        —   

         
  

        
  

Total current liabilities       11,202        5,026    
Capital lease obligations, net of current maturities       32        20    
Deferred tax liability, non-current       5,053        —   
Contingent purchase price consideration, net of current portion       4,569        —   

         
  

        
  

Total liabilities       20,856        5,046    
         

  
        

  

Commitments and contingencies (Note 9)       

Stockholders’  equity:       

Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issued and outstanding       —       —   
Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 125,000,000 shares authorized and 47,811,453 shares issued and 

47,136,453 shares outstanding at December 31, 2011; and 50,000,000 shares authorized and 
19,047,759 shares issued and 18,372,759 outstanding at December 31, 2010, respectively       5        2    

Additional paid-in capital       81,184        62,020    
Deficit accumulated during the developmental stage       (67,228 )      (55,743 )  
Less treasury shares at cost, 675,000 shares       (3,849 )      (3,849 )  

         
  

        
  

Total stockholders’  equity       10,112        2,430    
         

  
        

  

Total liabilities and stockholders’  equity     $ 30,968      $ 7,476    
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GALENA BIOPHARMA, INC.  
(A Development Stage Company)  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EXPENSES  
(Amounts in thousands, except share and per share data)  

   

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.  
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Year Ended  
December 31,  

2011     

Year Ended  
December 31,  

2010     

Period from  
January 1,  

2003 (Date of 
 

Inception) to 
December 31, 

 
2011   

Expenses:         

Research and development expense     $ 10,742      $ 6,046      $ 37,425    
Research and development employee stock-based compensation expense       866        1,084        3,273    
Research and development non-employee stock-based compensation expense       (70 )      743        5,993    
Fair value of common stock issued in exchange for licensing rights       —       —       3,954    

         
  

        
  

        
  

Total research and development expense       11,538        7,873        50,645    
         

  
        

  
        

  

General and administrative expense       6,863        5,493        27,973    
Fair value of common stock warrants issued for general and administrative 

expense       108        718        2,402    
Fair value of common stock issued in exchange for general and administrative 

expenses       73        —       354    
General and administrative employee stock-based compensation expense       2,205        2,541        9,590    

         
  

        
  

        
  

Total general and administrative expense       9,249        8,752        40,319    
         

  
        

  
        

  

Operating loss       (20,787 )      (16,625 )      (90,964 )  
         

  
        

  
        

  

Other income/(expense):         

Interest income, net       30        5        658    
Loss on warrant exchange       (900 )      —       (900 )  
Other income, net       10,172        4,627        13,937    

         
  

        
  

        
  

Total other income, net       9,302        4,632        13,695    
         

  
        

  
        

  

Loss before provision for income taxes       (11,485 )      (11,993 )      (77,269 )  
Provision for income taxes       —       —       —   

         
  

        
  

        
  

Net loss     $ (11,485 )    $ (11,993 )    $ (77,269 )  
         

  

        

  

        

  

Net loss per common share:         

Basic and diluted loss per share     $ (0.32 )    $ (0.67 )    
         

  

        

  

  

Weighted average common shares outstanding: basic and diluted       36,334,413        17,883,381      
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GALENA BIOPHARMA, INC.  
(A Development Stage Company)  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY FOR  THE PERIOD FROM  
APRIL 3, 2006 TO  

DECEMBER 31, 2011 AND PARENT COMPANY’S NET DEFICIT FOR THE PERIOD  
FROM DECEMBER 31, 2003 TO DECEMBER 31, 2006  
(Amounts in thousands, except share and per share data)  
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    Common Stock     

Additional 

 
Paid-In  
Capital   

  

Deficit  
Accumulated 

 
During  

Development 

 
Stage   

  

Treasury 

 
Stock   

  

Parent  
Company’s 

 
Net Deficit   

  

Total       Shares Issued     Amount             

Predecessor                

Balance at December 31, 2003      —     $ —     $ —         $ (89 )    $ (89 )  
Net loss      —       —       —           (3,272 )      (3,272 )  
Net transactions with Parent      —       —       —           2,393        2,393    

        
  

        
  

        
  

            
  

        
  

Balance at December 31, 2004      —       —       —           (968 )      (968 )  
Net loss      —       —       —           (2,209 )      (2,209 )  
Net transactions with Parent      —       —       —           2,727        2,727    

        
  

        
  

        
  

            
  

        
  

Balance at December 31, 2005      —       —       —           (450 )      (450 )  
Net loss      —       —       —           (2,405 )      (2,405 )  
Net transactions with Parent      —       —       —           2,587        2,587    

        
  

        
  

        
  

            
  

        
  

Balance at December 31, 2006      —     $ —     $ —         $ (268 )    $ (268 )  
        

  

        

  

        

  

            

  

        

  

Successor                

Balance at April 3, 2006      —     $ —     $ —     $ —     $ —       $ —   
Issuance of common stock      1,624,278        —       2        —       —         2    

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

Balance at December 31, 2006      1,624,278        —       2        —       —         2    
Common stock issued to CytRx for 

contribution of RXi and other assets      7,040,318        1        47        —       —         48    
Common stock issued for cash      3,273,292        —       15,348        —       —         15,348    
Common stock issued to CytRx for 

reimbursement of expenses      188,387        —       978        —       —         978    
Expenses incurred by CytRx for RXi      —       —       831        —       —         831    
Common stock issued to UMMS for additional 

intellectual properties      462,112        —       2,311        —       —         2,311    
Common stock issued to directors      30,000        —       150        —       —         150    
Common stock issued upon exercise of stock 

options      66,045        —       331              331    
Stock based compensation for directors and 

employees      —       —       1,048        —       —         1,048    
Stock based compensation expense for services      —       —       766        —       —         766    
Net loss      —       —       —       (10,990 )      —         (10,990 )  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

          
  

Balance at December 31, 2007      12,684,432        1        21,812        (10,990 )      —         10,823    
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    Common Stock     

Additional 

 
Paid-In  
Capital   

  
Deficit  

Accumulated 
 

During  
Development 

 
Stage   

  

Treasury 

 
Stock   

  

Parent  
Company’s 

 
Net Deficit 

  

Total       
Shares  
Issued     Amount             

Issuance of common stock, net of offering costs of 
$796      1,073,299        —       7,918        —       —         7,918    

Common stock issued upon exercise of stock options     5,500        —       26        —       —         26    
Stock based compensation for directors and 

employees      —       —       2,211        —       —         2,211    
Stock based compensation expense for services      —       —       1,613        —       —         1,613    
Common stock warrant expense in exchange for 

services          750          —         750    
Net loss      —       —       —       (14,373 )          (14,373 )  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

          
  

Balance at December 31, 2008      13,763,231        1        34,330        (25,363 )      —         8,968    
Issuance of common stock, net of offering costs of 

$636      2,385,715        1        7,713        —       —         7,714    
Common stock warrants issued in connection with 

the 2009 Offering      —       —       (2,863 )      —       —         (2,863 )  
Common stock issued upon exercise of stock options     281        —       —       —       —         —   
Common stock issued as commitment fee in 

connection with SEDA      58,398        —       281        —       —         281    
Stock based compensation expense for directors and 

employees      —       —       2,906        —       —         2,906    
Stock based compensation expense for services      —       —       1,296        —       —         1,296    
Common stock warrant expense in exchange for 

services      —       —       826          —         826    
Net loss      —       —       —       (18,387 )          (18,387 )  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

          
  

Balance at December 31, 2009      16,207,625        2        44,489        (43,750 )      —         741    
Issuance of common stock, net of offering costs of 

$965      2,700,000       —       15,235        —       —         15,235    
Purchase of 675,000 shares of treasury stock      —         —       —       (3,849 )        (3,849 )  
Common stock warrants issued in connection with 

2010 offering      —       —       (2,466 )      —       —         (2,466 )  
Fair value of shares mandatorily redeemable for cash 

upon exercise of warrants      —       —       (785 )      —       —         (785 )  
Common stock issued upon exercise of stock options     53,500        —       254        —       —         254    
Issuance of restricted stock units      86,634        —       207        —       —         207    
Stock based compensation expense for directors and 

employees      —       —       3,625        —       —         3,625    
Stock based compensation expense for services      —       —       743        —       —         743    
Value of common stock warrants issued in exchange 

for services      —       —       718          —         718    
Net loss      —       —       —       (11,993 )      —         (11,993 )  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

          
  

Balance at December 31, 2010      19,047,759        2        62,020        (55,743 )      (3,849 )        2,430    
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See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.  
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    Common Stock     

Additional 

 
Paid-In  
Capital   

  
Deficit  

Accumulated 
 

During  
Development 

 
Stage   

  

Treasury 

 
Stock   

  

Parent  
Company’s 

 
Net Deficit 

  

Total       
Shares  
Issued     Amount             

Issuance of common stock, net of offering costs of 
$1,890      18,650,000        2        18,613        —       —         18,615    

Common stock warrants issued in connection with the 
2011 common stock offerings      —       —       (12,709 )      —       —         (12,709 )  

Issuance of stock in lieu of cash bonus      147,040        —       171        —       —         171    
Issuance of restricted stock units      220,729        —       256        —       —         256    
Issuance of common stock for services      53,558        —       73        —       —         73    
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of warrants      150,000        —       150        —       —         150    
Issuance of common stock in cashless exchange of 

outstanding warrants      4,151,000        —       3,120        —       —         3,120    
Issuance of common stock related to acquisition of 

Apthera, Inc.      4,974,090        1        6,366        —       —         6,367    
Issuance of common stock subject to employee 

termination agreements      398,453        —       350        —       —         350    
Issuance of common stock in connection with employee 

stock purchase plan      18,824        —       15        —       —         15    
Stock based compensation expense for directors and 

employees      —       —       2,774        —       —         2,774    
Stock based compensation expense for services      —       —       (123 )      —       —         (123 )  
Value of common stock warrants issued in exchange for 

services      —       —       108        —       —         108    
Net loss      —       —       —       (11,485 )      —         (11,485 )  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

             
  

Balance at December 31, 2011      47,811,453      $ 5      $ 81,184      $ (67,228 )    $ (3,849 )      $ 10,112    
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GALENA BIOPHARMA, INC.  
(A Development Stage Company)  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  
(Amounts in thousands)  
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Year Ended  
December 31, 

 
2011     

Year Ended  
December 31, 

 
2010     

Period from  
January 1,  

2003 (Date of 
 

Inception)  
through  

December 31, 
 

2011   

Cash flows from operating activities:        

Net loss    $ (11,485 )    $ (11,993 )    $ (77,269 )  
Adjustment to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:        

Depreciation and amortization expense      163        172        664    
Loss on disposal of equipment      7        —       19    
Non-cash rent expense      —       —       29    
Accretion and receipt of bond discount      —       —       35    
Non-cash share based compensation      3,001        4,368        18,858    
Loss on exchange of equity instruments      900        —       900    
Fair value of shares mandatorily redeemable for cash upon exercise of warrants      —       (785 )      (785 )  
Fair value of common stock warrants issued in exchange for services      108        718        2,402    
Fair value of common stock issued in exchange for services      73        —       354    
Change in fair value of common stock warrants      (9,881 )      (3,049 )      (12,072 )  
Fair value of common stock issued in exchange for licensing rights      —       —       3,954    
Change in fair value of contingent consideration      (109 )      —       (109 )  
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:        

Prepaid expenses and other assets      (99 )      (30 )      (249 )  
Accounts payable      500        99        1,224    
Due to former parent      —       —       (207 )  
Deferred revenue      816        —       816    
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities      1,338        243        2,658    

        
  

        
  

        
  

Net cash used in operating activities      (14,668 )      (10,257 )      (58,778 )  
        

  
        

  
        

  

Cash flows from investing activities:        

Change in restricted cash      (101 )      —       (101 )  
Cash received in acquisition      168        —       168    
Purchase of short-term investments      —       (5,990 )      (37,532 )  
Maturities of short-term investments      —       5,990        37,497    
Cash paid for purchase of equipment and furnishings      (53 )      (106 )      (739 )  
Disposal of equipment and furnishings      —       —       (1 )  
Cash refunded (paid) for lease deposit      —       —       (45 )  

        
  

        
  

        
  

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities      14        (106 )      (753 )  
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See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.  
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Year Ended  
December 31, 

 
2011     

Year Ended  
December 31, 

 
2010     

Period from  
January 1,  

2003 (Date of 
 

Inception)  
through  

December 31, 
 

2011   

Cash flows from financing activities:        

Net proceeds from issuance of common stock      18,615        15,235        64,982    
Cash paid for repurchase of common stock      —       (3,849 )      (3,849 )  
Net proceeds from exercise of common stock options      —       254        610    
Net proceeds from exercise of common stock warrants      150        —       150    
Common stock issued in connection with ESPP      15        —       15    
Net proceeds from issuance of convertible notes payable      500        —       500    
Repayments of capital lease obligations      (84 )      (70 )      (210 )  
Cash advances from former parent company, net      —       —       8,766    

        
  

        
  

        
  

Net cash provided by financing activities      19,196        11,570        70,964    
        

  
        

  
        

  

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents      4,542        1,207        11,433    
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period      6,891        5,684        —   

        
  

        
  

        
  

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period    $ 11,433      $ 6,891      $ 11,433    
        

  

        

  

        

  

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:        

Cash received during the periods for interest    $ 2      $ —     $ 726    
        

  
        

  
        

  

Cash paid during the periods for interest    $ 6      $ —     $ 13    
        

  
        

  
        

  

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities:        

Settlement of corporate formation expenses in exchange for common stock    $ —     $ —     $ 978    
        

  

        

  

        

  

Fair value of warrants issued in connection with common stock recorded as 
cost of equity    $ 12,709      $ 2,466      $ 18,038    

        

  

        

  

        

  

Issuance of common stock in exchange of outstanding warrants    $ 3,120      $ —     $ 3,120    
        

  

        

  

        

  

Fair value of shares mandatorily redeemable for cash upon exercise of warrants   $ —     $ 785      $ 785    
        

  

        

  

        

  

Allocation of management expenses    $ —     $ —     $ 551    
        

  

        

  

        

  

Equipment and furnishings exchanged for common stock    $ —     $ —     $ 48    
        

  

        

  

        

  

Equipment and furnishings acquired through capital lease    $ 80      $ 53      $ 277    
        

  

        

  

        

  

Non-cash lease deposit    $ —     $ —     $ 50    
        

  

        

  

        

  

Value of restricted stock units and common stock issued in lieu of cash bonuses   $ 427      $ 207      $ 634    
        

  

        

  

        

  

Apthera Acquisition:        

Fair value of shares issued to acquire Apthera    $ 6,367      $ —     $ 6,367    
Fair value of contingent purchase price consideration in connection with 

Apthera acquisition      6,460        —       6,460    
        

  
        

  
        

  

Net assets acquired excluding cash of $168    $ 12,827      $ —     $ 12,827    
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GALENA BIOPHARMA, INC.  
(A Development Stage Company)  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

1.    Nature of Business  

Galena Biopharma Inc. (“we,” “us,” “our,” “Galena” or the “Company”) is a biotechnology company focused on discovering, developing 
and commercializing innovative therapies addressing major unmet medical needs using targeted biotherapeutics. Galena is pursuing the 
development of novel cancer therapeutics using peptide-based immunotherapy products, including our main product candidate, NeuVax (E75), 
for the treatment of various cancers.  

The Company was incorporated as Argonaut Pharmaceuticals, Inc., in Delaware, on April 3, 2006. The Company changed its name to RXi 
Pharmaceuticals Corporation on November 28, 2006.  

We acquired Apthera and our NeuVax product candidate in April 2011. Prior to that time, we were engaged primarily in conducting 
discovery research and preclinical development activities based on RNAi. Our acquisition of Apthera followed from the determination by our 
board of directors to broaden our strategic direction by giving us access to a late-stage clinical candidate, NeuVax. In connection with our 
acquisition of Apthera, we reduced the scope of our RNAi activities to focus primarily on RXI-109, our lead RNAi-product, while maintaining 
our key development alliances and core RNAi discovery and development capability. Following the Apthera acquisition, our board of directors 
undertook to explore strategic alternatives for our RNAi platform that would enable us to commit more resources to our later-stage oncology 
drug programs.  

On September 26, 2011, the Company changed its name from RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation to Galena Biopharma, Inc. in connection 
with the Company’s planned separation into two companies: (i) Galena, which will operate as a late-stage oncology drug development company; 
and (ii) RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation, or RXi, which will continue to develop novel RNAi-based therapies utilizing our historical RNAi 
assets. RXi was initially incorporated as RNCS, Inc. and assumed the name RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation in conjunction with the change in 
the Company’s name to Galena.  

As the Company has not generated any revenue from inception through December 31, 2011, the Company is considered a development-
stage company for accounting purposes.  

The Company had cash and cash equivalents of approximately $11.4 million as of December 31, 2011. On February 17, 2012, the 
Company entered into a Controlled Equity Offering sales agreement with Cantor Fitzgerald & Co. (“Cantor”), pursuant to which the Company 
may offer and sell from time to time through Cantor, acting as agent, shares of our common stock, $0.0001 par value per share, having an 
aggregate offering price of up to $10 million. The offer and sale of our shares through Cantor will be registered pursuant to the Company’s 
Registration Statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-167025) declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on 
May 21, 2010. The offering pursuant to the sales agreement will terminate upon the sale of all shares subject to the sales agreement or the earlier 
termination of the sales agreement as permitted therein. There is no assurance that additional funding will be available to the Company on 
acceptable terms, or at all.  

The Company believes that its existing cash and cash equivalents should be sufficient to fund its operations through at least the first quarter 
of 2013.  

The Company has not generated revenue to date and may not generate product revenue in the foreseeable future, if ever. The Company 
expects to incur significant operating losses as it advances its product candidates through the drug development and regulatory process. The 
Company expects to continue to devote a substantial portion of its resources to research and development programs. As a result of the costs 
expected to be incurred in connection with our recently commenced clinical trials of NeuVax and FBP, the Company expects that their research 
and development expense will increase significantly from historic levels for the foreseeable future. The Company will need to generate 
significant revenue to achieve profitability and might never do so. In the absence of product revenue, our potential sources of operational funding 
are expected to be the proceeds from equity financings, funded research and development payments and payments received under partnership 
and collabo-  
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GALENA BIOPHARMA, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)  
   
rative agreements. There is no guarantee that additional funding will be available to the Company on acceptable terms, or at all. If the Company 
fails to obtain additional funding when needed, it would be forced to scale back or terminate operations or to seek to merge with or to be 
acquired by another company.  

2.    Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  

Uses of estimates in preparation of financial statements — The preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America which requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported 
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ materially from those estimates.  

Principles of Consolidation — The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Galena and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All 
material intercompany accounts have been eliminated in consolidation.  

Cash and Cash Equivalents — The Company considers all highly-liquid debt instruments with an original maturity of 90 days or less to be 
cash equivalents. Cash equivalents consist primarily of amounts invested in money market accounts.  

Restricted Cash — Restricted cash consists of certificates of deposit on hand with the Company’s financial institutions as collateral for its 
corporate credit cards.  

Fair Value of Financial Instruments — The carrying amounts reported in the balance sheet for cash equivalents, accounts payable, 
convertible notes payable and capital leases approximate their fair values due to their short-term nature and market rates of interest.  

Equipment and Furnishings — Equipment and furnishings are stated at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method based on the 
estimated useful lives (generally three to five years for equipment and furniture) of the related assets.  

Goodwill and Intangible Assets — Goodwill has an indefinite useful life and is not amortized but is evaluated for impairment annually or 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.  

The In-Process Research & Development (“IPR&D”) asset is considered an indefinite-lived intangible asset and is not subject to 
amortization. IPR&D must be tested for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the asset 
might be impaired. The impairment test consists of a comparison of the fair value of the IPR&D with its carrying amount. If the carrying amount 
of the IPR&D exceeds its fair value, an impairment loss must be recognized in an amount equal to that excess. After an impairment loss is 
recognized, the adjusted carrying amount of the IPR&D will be its new accounting basis. Subsequent reversal of a previously recognized 
impairment loss is prohibited. The initial determination and subsequent evaluation for impairment, of the IPR&D asset requires management to 
make significant judgments and estimates. The Company believes no impairment of its IPR&D exists as of December 31, 2011.  

The Company records intangible assets at historical cost or fair value, if acquired through an acquisition. Intangible assets consist primarily 
of acquired in process research and development and clinical data that has been generated thereof. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually 
utilizing the “fair value” methodology. The annual measurement date is December 31. Factors the Company considers important that could 
trigger an interim review for impairment include, but are not limited to, the following:  
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  •   significant changes in the manner of its use of acquired assets or the strategy for its overall business;  
  •   significant negative industry or economic trends;  
  •   significant decline in stock price for a sustained period; and  
  •   significant decline in market capitalization relative to net book value.  
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Goodwill is evaluated for impairment using a two-step process. The first step is to compare the fair value to the carrying amount (the “First 
Step”). If the carrying amount exceeds the fair value, a second step must be followed to calculate potential impairment (the “Second Step”). 
Otherwise, if the fair value exceeds the carrying amount, the goodwill is not considered to be impaired as of the measurement date. In its review 
of the carrying value of the goodwill, the Company determines fair value using the Income Approach, or more specifically the Discounted Cash 
Flow Method. This valuation method requires management to project revenues, operating expenses, working capital investment, capital spending 
and cash flows for the reporting unit over a multi-year period, as well as determine the weighted average cost of capital to be used as a discount 
rate. The 2011 analysis confirmed that fair values exceeded carrying values and, therefore, no impairment existed.  

Contingent Consideration — Contingent consideration is recorded at the estimated fair value as of the acquisition date. The fair value of 
the contingent consideration is remeasured at each reporting period with any adjustments in fair value included in our consolidated statement of 
expenses.  

Patents and Patent Application Costs — Although the Company believes that its patents and underlying technology have continuing value, 
the amount of future benefits to be derived from the patents is uncertain. Patent costs are, therefore, expensed as incurred.  

Share-based Compensation — The Company follows the provisions of the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting 
Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 718, “ Compensation — Stock Compensation” (“ASC 718”), which requires the measurement and 
recognition of compensation expense for all stock based payment awards made to employees, non-employee directors, and consultants, including 
employee stock options. Stock compensation expense based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of ASC 718 
is recognized as an expense over the requisite service period.  

For stock options granted as consideration for services rendered by non-employees, the Company recognizes compensation expense in 
accordance with the requirements of FASB ASC Topic 505-50 (“ASC 505-50”), “ Equity Based Payments to Non- Employees .” Non-employee 
option grants that do not vest immediately upon grant are recorded as an expense over the vesting period of the underlying stock options. At the 
end of each financial reporting period prior to vesting, the value of these options, as calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, 
will be re-measured using the fair value of the Company’s common stock and the non-cash compensation recognized during the period will be 
adjusted accordingly. Since the fair market value of options granted to non-employees is subject to change in the future, the amount of the future 
compensation expense will include fair value re-measurements until the stock options are fully vested.  

The Company recognized ($70,000) and $743,000 of stock based compensation expense related to non-employee stock options for the 
years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.  

Derivative Financial Instruments — During the normal course of business, from time to time, the Company issues warrants and options to 
vendors as consideration to perform services. It may also issue warrants as part of a debt or equity financing. The Company does not enter into 
any derivative contracts for speculative purposes.  

The Company recognizes all derivatives as assets or liabilities measured at fair value with changes in fair value of derivatives reflected as 
current period income or loss unless the derivatives qualify for hedge accounting and are accounted for as such. In accordance with FASB ASC 
Topic 815-40, “ Derivatives and Hedging — Contracts in Entity’s Own Stock,” the value of these warrants is required to be recorded as a 
liability, as the holders have an option to put the warrants back to the Company upon the occurrence of certain events set forth in the warrant 
agreement.  

Obligations to Repurchase Shares of the Company’s Equity Securities — In accordance with FASB ASC Topic 480-10, “Distinguishing 
Liabilities from Equity,” the Company recognizes all obligations to repurchase shares of its equity securities that require or may require the 
Company to settle the obligation by transferring assets, as liabilities or assets in some circumstances measured at fair value with changes in fair 
value reflected as current period income or loss and are accounted for as such.  
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Research and Development Expenses — Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. Included in research and development 
costs are wages, benefits and other operating costs, clinical trial related expenses, facilities, supplies, external services and overhead directly 
related to the Company’s research and development departments as well as costs to acquire technology licenses. We recognize expenses for 
these costs based on a variety of factors, including estimates provided by third parties or the Company’s employees, measuring changes in 
activities and reviewing various milestones that may have been achieved.  

Income Taxes — The Company recognizes liabilities or assets for the deferred tax consequences of temporary differences between the tax 
basis of assets or liabilities and their reported amounts in the financial statements in accordance with FASB ASC 740-10, “ Accounting for 
Income Taxes” (“ASC 740-10”). These temporary differences will result in taxable or deductible amounts in future years when the reported 
amounts of the assets or liabilities are recovered or settled. ASC 740-10 requires that a valuation allowance be established when management 
determines that it is more likely than not that all or a portion of a deferred asset will not be realized. The Company evaluates the realizability of 
its net deferred income tax assets and valuation allowances as necessary, at least on an annual basis. During this evaluation, the Company 
reviews its forecasts of income in conjunction with other positive and negative evidence surrounding the realizability of its deferred income tax 
assets to determine if a valuation allowance is required. Adjustments to the valuation allowance will increase or decrease the Company’s income 
tax provision or benefit. The recognition and measurement of benefits related to the Company’s tax positions requires significant judgment, as 
uncertainties often exist with respect to new laws, new interpretations of existing laws, and rulings by taxing authorities. Differences between 
actual results and the Company’s assumptions or changes in the Company’s assumptions in future periods are recorded in the period they 
become known  

Concentrations of Credit Risk — Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to significant concentrations of credit risk 
consist principally of cash and cash equivalents. The Company maintains cash balances in several accounts with two banks, which at times are in 
excess of federally insured limits. As of December 31, 2011, the Company’s cash equivalents were invested in money market mutual funds. The 
Company’s investment policy disallows investment in any debt securities rated less than “investment grade” by national ratings services. The 
Company has not experienced any losses on its deposits of cash and cash equivalents. All of the non-interest bearing cash balances were fully 
insured at December 31, 2011 due to temporary federal program in effect from December 31, 2010 through December 31, 2012. Under the 
program, there is no limit to the amount of insurance for eligible accounts. Beginning in 2013, insurance coverage will revert to $250,000 per 
depositor at each financial institution, and the non-interest bearing cash balances may again exceed federally insured limits.  

Comprehensive Loss — The Company’s comprehensive loss is equal to its net loss for all periods presented.  

Parent Company’s Net Deficit — The Parent Company’s Net Deficit of the Predecessor consists of CytRx’s initial investment in RXi and 
subsequent changes in RXi’s net investment resulting from RXi being an integrated part of CytRx. All disbursements for the Predecessor were 
made by CytRx.  

3.    Recent Accounting Pronouncements  

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements  

In December 2010, the FASB issued ASC Update 2010-29, Business Combinations (Topic 805) — Disclosure of Supplementary Pro 
Forma Information for Business Combinations (Update No. 2010-29). This Update requires a public entity to disclose pro forma information for 
business combinations that occurred in the current reporting period. The disclosures include pro forma revenue and earnings of the combined 
entity for the current reporting period as though the acquisition date for all business combinations that occurred during the year had been as of 
the beginning of the annual reporting period. If comparative financial statements are presented, the pro forma revenue and earnings of the 
combined entity for the comparable prior reporting period should be reported as though the acquisition date for all business combinations that 
occurred during the current year had been as of the beginning of the comparable prior annual reporting period. This Update affects any public 
entity that enters into business combi-  
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nations that are material on an individual or aggregate basis and is effective prospectively for business combinations for which the acquisition 
date is on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after December 15, 2010. All disclosures are presented in 
accordance with the acquisition of Apthera, Inc.  

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements  

In May 2011, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Updated (“ASU”) 2011-04 , Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Amendments to 
Achieve Common Fair Value Measurement and Disclosure Requirements in U.S. GAAP and IFRSs , a new accounting standard that clarifies the 
application of certain existing fair value measurement guidance and expands the disclosures for fair value measurements that are estimated using 
significant unobservable (Level 3) inputs. This new standard is effective on a prospective basis for annual and interim reporting periods 
beginning on or after December 15, 2011. The Company does not expect that adoption of this new standard will have a material impact on its 
consolidated financial statements.  

In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-05, Comprehensive Income (Topic 220): Presentation of Comprehensive Income , a new 
accounting standard that eliminates the option to present the components of other comprehensive income as part of the statement of changes in 
stockholders’ equity, requires the consecutive presentation of the statement of net income and other comprehensive income and requires an 
entity to present reclassification adjustments on the face of the financial statements from other comprehensive income to net income. The 
amendments in this new standard do not change the items that must be reported in other comprehensive income or when an item of other 
comprehensive income must be reclassified to net income nor do the amendments affect how earnings per share is calculated or presented. This 
new standard is required to be applied retrospectively and is effective for fiscal years and interim periods within those years beginning after 
December 15, 2011. As this new standard only requires enhanced disclosure, the adoption of this standard will not impact the Company’s 
consolidated financial statements.  

In September 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-08, Intangibles — Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Testing Goodwill for Impairment , a 
new accounting standard to simplify how entities test goodwill for impairment. The amendments in the Update permit an entity to first assess 
qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount as a basis 
for determining whether it is necessary to perform the two-step goodwill impairment test described in Topic 350. The more-likely-than-not 
threshold is defined as having a likelihood of more than 50 percent. Previous guidance under Topic 350 required an entity to test goodwill for 
impairment, on at least an annual basis, by comparing the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying amount, including goodwill (step one). If 
the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, then the second step of the test must be performed to measure the amount of the 
impairment loss, if any. Under the amendments in this Update, an entity is not required to calculate the fair value of a reporting unit unless the 
entity determines that it is more likely than not that its fair value is less than its carrying amount. This new standard is effective for fiscal years 
beginning after December 15, 2011; however, early adoption is permitted. The Company adopted this standard for the fiscal year ended 
December 31, 2011. The adoption of this standard had no material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.  

4.    Apthera Acquisition  

On April 13, 2011, the Company completed its acquisition of Apthera, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Apthera”), under an Agreement and 
Plan of Merger (“Merger Agreement”) entered into on March 31, 2011. Subject to the terms and conditions of the Merger Agreement, the 
Company’s wholly owned subsidiary formed for this purpose was merged with and into Apthera, with Apthera surviving as a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of the Company. Under the Merger Agreement, the Company issued to Apthera’s stockholders approximately 5.0 million shares of 
common stock of the Company (the “Aggregate Stock Consideration”) and agreed to make future contingent payments of up to $32 million 
based on the achievement of certain development and commercial milestones relating to the Company’s NeuVax™ product candidate. The 
contingent consideration is payable,  
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at the election of the Company, in either cash or additional shares of common stock, provided that the Company may not issue any shares in 
satisfaction of any contingent consideration unless it has first obtained approval of its stockholders in accordance with Rule 5635(a) of the 
NASDAQ Marketplace Rules.  

In connection with the Merger Agreement, the Company deposited with a third-party escrow agent certificates representing 10% of the 
Aggregate Stock Consideration, which shares will be available to compensate the Company and related parties for certain indemnifiable losses 
as described in the merger agreement. On October 13, 2011, the escrow agent released from the escrow 5% of the Aggregate Stock 
Consideration, or 248,705 shares. The remaining Aggregate Stock Consideration held with the escrow agent is expected to be released in April 
2012.  

The Company’s acquisition of Apthera was in concert with the decision by the Company’s Board of Directors to diversify its development 
programs and to become a late stage clinical development company. The Company does not expect any of its goodwill to be deductible for tax 
purposes.  

The purchase price consideration and allocation of purchase price of Apthera were as follows:  
   

The estimated value of the earn-out consideration of $6.5 million originally recorded was based on the expected probability of achievement 
in the future of certain development and commercial milestones relating to the Company’s NeuVax product candidate and then applying a 
discount rate, based on a corporate debt interest rate index publicly issued, to the expected future payments. The expected timing of the 
milestones, the probability of success for each milestone and the discount rates applied are updated quarterly using the most current information 
to measure the contingent liability as of the reporting date. The decrease in the fair value of the contingent liability from date of issuance to 
December 31, 2011 is $109,000, which was included in other income and expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of expenses for 
the twelve months ended December 31, 2011. The fair value of the contingent liability at December 31, 2011 was $6,351,000. Of this amount 
$1,782,000 was recorded as a current liability. On January 19, 2012, the first milestone of $1,000,000 of this contingent liability was triggered 
with the first patient enrolled in our Phase 3 present clinical trial for breast  
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     (in 000’s)   
Calculation of allocable purchase price:     

Fair value of shares issued at closing including escrowed shares expected to be released     $ 6,367 (i)  
Estimated value of earn-out       6,460    

         
  

Total allocable purchase price     $ 12,827    
         

  

Allocation of purchase price:     

Cash     $ 168    
Prepaid expenses and other current assets       14    
Equipment and furnishings       11    
Goodwill       5,898    
In-process research and development       12,864    
Accounts payable       (931 )  
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities       (143 )  
Notes payable       (1 )  
Deferred tax liability, non-current       (5,053 )  

         
  

   $ 12,827    
         

  

  
(i) The value of the Company’s common stock was based upon a per share value of $1.28, the closing price of the Company’s common stock as 

of the close of business on April 13, 2011. 
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cancer. On March 8, 2012, the Company issued 1,315,789 restricted shares of common stock in payment of the first milestone. The certificates 
evidencing the milestone shares have been deposited with a third party escrow agent. The milestone shares will be released to the Apthera 
shareholders from escrow following approval of the issuance of the milestone shares by the stockholders of the Company, which the Company 
intends to seek at its 2012 annual stockholders meeting.  

If stockholder approval is obtained, the number of milestone shares will be subject to increase to the extent that $0.76 ( i.e ., the closing 
price of the Company’s common stock as reported on The NASDAQ Capital Market on January 18, 2012, the day prior to achievement of its 
first milestone, used for purposes of determining the number of milestone shares in) is greater than the closing price of common stock as of the 
most recent trading day prior to the receipt of stockholder approval. Whether or not stockholder approval is obtained, in addition to the release 
from escrow of the milestone shares or the payment in cash of the final milestone as the case may be, the Company will pay concurrently to the 
former Apthera shareholders in cash an interest factor of ten percent (10%) per annum on the amount of the final milestone from February 10, 
2012 through the day immediately prior to the release of the milestone shares from escrow or the cash payment, as the case may be, less certain 
legal fees of the stockholder representative to be paid or reimbursed by the Company.  

During the fourth quarter of 2011, the Company finalized its purchase price allocation which resulted in an increase in goodwill and 
deferred tax liability of $5,053,000.  

The following presents the pro forma net loss and pro forma net loss per common share of the Company and twelve months ended 
December 31, 2011 and 2010 as if the Company’s acquisition of Apthera occurred as of January 1, 2010:  
   

5.    RXi Spin-Out  

Contribution Agreement  

On September 24, 2011, the Company entered into a Contribution Agreement (“Contribution Agreement”) with RXi pursuant to which we 
assigned and contributed to RXi substantially all of the Company’s RNAi-related technologies and assets. The contributed assets consist 
primarily of our novel RNAi compounds and licenses relating to our RNAi technologies, as well as the lease of our Worcester, Massachusetts 
laboratory facility, fixed assets and other equipment located at the facility and our employment arrangements with certain scientific, corporate 
and administrative personnel who have become employees of RXi. The Company also contributed $1.5 million of cash to the capital of RXi.  

Pursuant to the Contribution Agreement, RXi has agreed to assume certain recent accrued expenses of our RXI-109 development program 
and all future obligations under the contributed licenses, employment arrangements and other agreements. RXi has also agreed to make future 
milestone payments to us of up to $45 million, consisting of two one-time payments of $15 million and $30 million, respectively, if RXi 
achieves annual net sales equal to or greater than $500 million and $1 billion, respectively, of any covered products that may be developed with 
the contributed RNAi technologies.  

In the Contribution Agreement, the Company made customary representations and warranties to RXi regarding the contributed assets and 
other matters, and the parties have agreed to customary covenants regarding the  
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For the Twelve Months Ended  

December 31,   
     2011     2010   
     (unaudited)   

Pro forma net loss     $ (12,778 )    $ (14,229 )  
         

  

        

  

Pro forma net loss per common share     $ (0.34 )    $ (0.62 )  
         

  

        

  

Weighted average shares outstanding       37,724,433        22,857,471    
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conduct of RXi’s business pending the spin-off of RXi. The parties also have agreed to indemnify each other against losses arising from a breach 
of their respective representations, warranties and covenants set forth in the Contribution Agreement.  

Securities Purchase Agreement  

On September 24, 2011, the Company also entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement (“Securities Purchase Agreement”) with RXi and 
two institutional Investors (the “Investors”), pursuant to which the Investors agreed to purchase a total of $9,500,000 of Series A Preferred Stock 
of RXi (“RXi Preferred Stock”) at the closing of the spin-off of RXi, and to lend up to $1,500,000 to RXi to fund its operations between signing 
and closing (the “Bridge Loan”). The outstanding principal and accrued interest from the Bridge Loan will, except under certain circumstances 
described below, be converted into RXi Preferred Stock at the closing of the spin-off of RXi and will represent a portion of the $9,500,000 total 
investment, which is referred to herein as the “RXi financing.” The RXi financing and the spin-off of RXi are subject to customary closing 
conditions, including the registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), of the distribution by us of the spin-off 
shares. There is no assurance that the RXi financing and the spin-off of RXi will be completed.  

The RXi Preferred Stock will be convertible by a holder at any time into shares of RXi common stock, except to the extent that the holder 
would own more than 9.999% of the shares of RXi common stock outstanding immediately after giving effect to such conversion. Without 
regard to this conversion limitation, the shares of the Preferred Stock to be held by the Investors upon completion of the RXi financing and the 
spin-off of RXi will be convertible into shares of RXi common stock representing approximately 83% of the shares of RXi common stock that 
would be outstanding, assuming the conversion in full of the Preferred Stock, which we refer to as the “as-converted common stock.” The 
Company will own approximately 12% of the as-converted common stock immediately prior to the spin-off of RXi, and Advirna, LLC, a key 
licensor of RXi, will be issued the remaining 5% of the as-converted common stock pursuant to the agreement with Advirna, LLC as described 
below.  

Spin-Off  

The Company has agreed in the Securities Purchase Agreement to undertake to distribute to our stockholders on a share-for-share basis 
approximately 8% of the as-converted common stock of RXi, subject to the registration of the distribution of such shares under the Securities 
Act of 1933 and other conditions. Assuming the spin-off of RXi is completed, the Company will initially retain 4% of the as-converted common 
stock, and the Company agreed, in the Securities Purchase Agreement, not to sell or dispose of our shares of RXi common stock for a one-year 
period following completion of the spin-off of RXi. The Securities Purchase Agreement provides that the spin-off will be on a share-for-share 
basis, so that one share of RXi will be distributed as a dividend on each share of Galena that is issued and outstanding as of the record date for 
the distribution.  

On February 27, 2012, the Company announced, as required by NASDAQ Listing Rule 5250(e)(6), that its board of directors had declared 
a conditional dividend on Galena common stock of one share of common stock of RXi for each outstanding share of Galena common stock. The 
spin-off shares will be payable, subject to certain conditions described below, to the Company’s stockholders as of close of business (Eastern 
time) on March 8, 2012, the record date for the distribution, in the ratio of one RXi share for each share of Galena common stock held as of the 
record date. In light of the conditional nature of the partial spin-off of RXi, the Company’s board of directors has not set a payment date for the 
distribution, and under NASDAQ rules Galena common stock is not yet trading “ex-dividend.” The distribution of the spin-off shares will be 
taxable to Galena stockholders who receive RXi shares in the distribution.  

The distribution to Galena stockholders of the spin-off shares is to be made pursuant to the registration statement filed by RXi with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission and declared effective on February 14, 2012. Because the RXi registration statement will go “stale” on 
April 30, 2012, the Company must complete the distribution of the spin-off shares by that date, unless the Company were to cause RXi to amend 
the registration  
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statement. It is likely that the Company would abandon the partial spin-off of RXi if the distribution of the spin-off shares has not been made by 
April 30, 2012, although the Company’s board of directors has not made any decision in this regard.  

The establishment of a payment date for the distribution and the payment of the distribution is dependent upon the timing of effectiveness 
of an application filed with FINRA to permit RXi common stock to be traded in the OTC Markets Group under the symbol “RXII.” The payment 
of the distribution also is conditioned upon the closing of the RXi financing, which is subject to certain closing conditions that may or may not 
be satisfied. In addition, the securities purchase agreement among Galena, RXi and the Investors provides that the agreement may be unilaterally 
terminated by the Company or by the Investors if the closing of the transactions has not occurred by March 31, 2012, and it is not possible for 
the closing to occur by this date. Accordingly, unless this date is extended by mutual agreement of the Investors and the Company, either the 
Company or the Investors generally may terminate the securities purchase agreement at any time after March 31, 2012, unless the failure of the 
closing to occur was due to the fault of the party seeking to terminate the securities purchase agreement.  

Although the Company has no present intention to terminate the securities purchase agreement or to abandon the partial spin-off of RXi, 
the Investors may choose to do so. The Company also may decide to do so at any time if its board of directors determines that it is in the best 
interests of the Company. For all of the foregoing reasons, there is no assurance that the payment and distribution of the spin-off shares will be 
completed.  

Purchase Agreement Terms and Conditions  

In the Securities Purchase Agreement, the parties have made customary representations and warranties to the other parties and have agreed 
to customary covenants regarding the parties’ actions in connection with the spin-off of RXi and other matters, including the filing of a resale 
registration statement registering a portion of the common stock underlying the conversion of the Preferred Stock. The parties also have agreed 
to indemnify each other against losses arising from a breach of their respective representations, warranties and covenants set forth in the 
Securities Purchase Agreement. RXi has agreed, upon completion of the spin-off of RXi, to reimburse the Company and the Investors for up to a 
total of $300,000 and $100,000, respectively, of transaction costs relating to the Contribution Agreement, the Securities Purchase Agreement and 
the transactions contemplated by the agreements.  

The Securities Purchase Agreement may be terminated in certain circumstances, including by the Investors or the Company if the spin-off 
of RXi has not occurred by March 31, 2012. If the Securities Purchase Agreement is terminated without cause due to the fact that the spin-off 
has not occurred by such date, then a portion of the Bridge Loan will be converted into common stock of RXi, as described below.  

Bridge Loan  

Pursuant to the Securities Purchase Agreement, the Investors agreed to provide the Bridge Loan by purchasing $500,000 of secured 
convertible promissory notes of RXi (“RXi convertible notes”) and agreeing to purchase up to an additional $1,000,000 of RXi convertible notes 
prior to the closing of the spin-off of RXi. The RXi convertible notes will, except as described below, be convertible into shares of RXi Preferred 
Stock at a conversion price of $1,000 per share. The proceeds from the Bridge Loan will be used by RXi in accordance with an operating budget 
approved by the Investors to fund RXi’s business and operations pending completion of the spin-off of RXi.  

The RXi convertible notes accrue interest at a rate of 7% per annum (or 18% per annum in the case of an event of default) and mature on 
March 31, 2012, or earlier in the case of an event of default. The obligations due under the RXi convertible notes are secured by a first-priority 
blanket lien on the assets of RXi and are guaranteed by Galena. Additionally, Galena has pledged all of the shares of RXi common stock that it 
holds to further guaranty the timely repayment of the amounts due under the RXi convertible notes, if not converted into RXi Preferred Stock at 
the closing under the Securities Purchase Agreement.  
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If the closing under the Securities Purchase Agreement has not occurred by the March 31, 2012 maturity date of the RXi convertible notes, 
then 50% of the outstanding Bridge Loan balance will be converted into a number of shares of RXi common stock equal to 51% of the post-
conversion shares outstanding. RXi will remain obligated to repay the remaining balance of the principal and accrued interest under the Bridge 
Loan, and Galena has agreed to guarantee RXi’s repayment of the RXi convertible notes to the extent they are not converted. In this event, 
Galena and Advirna, LLC will beneficially own 44% and 5%, respectively, of the outstanding shares of RXi common stock, and RXi will carry 
on as a stand-alone private company under the Investors’ control. Neither the Investors nor Galena will be obliged to provide any funding to RXi 
in this event.  

As of the date of the filing of the Annual Report on Form 10-K of which these Consolidated Financial Statements are a part, the Company 
was in discussions with the Investors to extend the current March 31, 2012 maturity date of the RXi convertible notes, but there is no assurance 
that the maturity date will be extended.  

The RXi convertible notes will be issued, and the Bridge Loan will be funded, in three tranches of $500,000 each. The first and second 
tranches were issued and funded on September 24, 2011 and February 24, 2012, respectively, and the third tranche is to be issued and funded as 
needed by RXi prior to the closing under the Securities Purchase Agreement and following the approval by the Investors, in their discretion, of 
RXi’ s budget for the use of such funds. At December 31, 2011, the first tranche of $500,000 had been received and recorded to convertible notes 
payable as a current liability. There are additional features of the RXi post spin-off Series A Convertible Preferred Stock which represent 
contingent beneficial conversion features, to be reevaluated in the future. In the event that the facts and circumstances indicate that a contingency 
is removed, at that point the beneficial conversion feature, if any, will be recorded. On February 24, 2012, the second tranche of $500,000 was 
received and recorded to convertible notes payable.  

Advirna Agreement  

As part of the transactions contemplated by the Contribution Agreement and Securities Purchase Agreement, RXi has entered into an 
agreement with Advirna, LLC, which the Company refers to as “Advirna,” a company affiliated with Anastasia Khvorova, Ph.D., the 
Company’s former Senior Vice President and Chief Scientific Officer. In the agreement, Advirna has agreed to amend its existing patent and 
technology assignment agreement with RXi to eliminate all clinical milestone and royalty payments to Advirna under the amended agreement; 
obligations remain to make an annual $100,000 maintenance fee and a one-time milestone payment of $350,000 to Advirna upon the issuance of 
a patent with valid claims covering the assigned technology. Additionally, RXi will be required to pay a 1% royalty to Advirna for any licensing 
revenue received by RXi on the license of the assigned Advirna technology. In exchange, RXi has agreed to issue to Advirna upon the earlier of 
the closing under the Securities Purchase Agreement or the partial conversion of the RXi convertible notes, a number of shares of RXi common 
stock equal to 5% of the as-converted common stock of RXi.  

6.    Fair Value Measurements  

The Company follows ASC 820, “Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures,” (“ASC 820”) for the Company’s financial assets and 
liabilities that are re-measured and reported at fair value at each reporting period, and are re-measured and reported at fair value at least annually 
using a fair value hierarchy that is broken down into three levels. Level inputs are as defined as follows:  

Level 1 — quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.  

Level 2 — other significant observable inputs for the assets or liabilities through corroboration with market data at the measurement 
date.  

Level 3 — significant unobservable inputs that reflect management’s best estimate of what market participants would use to price the 
assets or liabilities at the measurement date.  
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The Company categorized its cash equivalents as Level 1 hierarchy. The valuation for Level 1 was determined based on a “market 
approach” using quoted prices in active markets for identical assets. Valuations of these assets do not require a significant degree of judgment. 
The Company categorized its warrants potentially settleable in cash as a Level 2 hierarchy. The warrants are measured at market value on a 
recurring basis and are being marked to market each quarter-end until they are completely settled. The warrants are valued using the Black-
Scholes method, using assumptions consistent with our application of ASC 718. The contingent purchase price consideration is categorized as a 
Level 3 hierarchy and is measured at its estimated fair value on a recurring basis and is adjusted at each quarter-end until it is completely settled. 
The contingent price consideration is valued based on the expected timing of milestones, the expected probability of success for each milestone 
and the updated discount rates based on a corporate debt interest rate index publicly issued.  
   

   

The Company has classified its liabilities for contingent earn-out consideration relating to its acquisitions of Apthera within Level 3 of the 
fair value hierarchy because the fair values are determined using significant unobservable inputs, which included probability weighted cash 
flows.  
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Description    

December 31, 
 

2011      

Quoted Prices In 
 

Active Markets  
(Level 1)      

Significant Other 
Observable Inputs 

 
(Level 2)      

Unobservable Inputs 
 

(Level 3)   

Assets:              

Cash equivalents     $ 11,433       $ 11,433       $ —      $ —   
         

  
         

  
         

  
         

  

Total assets     $ 11,433       $ 11,433       $ —      $ —   
         

  

         

  

         

  

         

  

Liabilities:              

Warrants potentially settleable in cash     $ 3,746       $ —      $ 3,746       $ —   
Contingent purchase price consideration       6,351         —        —        6,351    

         
  

         
  

         
  

         
  

Total liabilities     $ 10,097       $ —      $ 3,746       $ 6,351    
         

  

         

  

         

  

         

  

Description    

December 31, 
 

2010      

Quoted Prices in 
 

Active Markets  
(Level 1)      

Significant Other 
Observable Inputs 

 
(Level 2)      

Unobservable Inputs 
 

(Level 3)   

Assets:              

Cash equivalents     $ 6,891       $ 6,891       $ —      $ —   
         

  
         

  
         

  
         

  

Total assets     $ 6,891       $ 6,891       $ —      $ —   
         

  

         

  

         

  

         

  

Liabilities:              

Warrants potentially settleable in cash       3,138       $ —      $ 3,138       $ —   
         

  
         

  
         

  
         

  

Total liabilities     $ 3,138       $ —      $ 3,138       $ —   
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The Company has not transferred any financial instruments into or out of Level 3 classification during 2010 or 2011. A reconciliation of 
the beginning and ending Level 3 liabilities for the year ended December 31, 2011 is as follows:  
   

7.    Capital Lease Obligations  

The Company acquired equipment under capital leases that is included in equipment and furnishings in the accompanying consolidated 
balance sheet. The cost and accumulated amortization of capitalized leased equipment was approximately $272,000 and $95,000 at 
December 31, 2011, respectively, and $196,000 and $56,000 at December 31, 2010, respectively. Amortization expense for capitalized leased 
equipment was approximately $54,000 in 2011 and $39,000 in 2010. Future minimum lease payments under the capital leases including interest 
are approximately $38,000, $25,000 and $14,000 for the years ending December 31, 2012, 2013 and 2014, respectively. Interest expense related 
to the capital leases was $6,000 for each of the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010.  

8.    Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities  

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consist of the following (in thousands):  
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Fair Value  
Measurements  

Using Significant 
 

Unobservable  
Inputs  

(Level 3)   
     (In Thousands)   
Balance at January 1, 2011     $ —   
Initial fair value of contingent earnout consideration related to Meridian Acquisition       6,460    
Change in fair value of earnout consideration       (109 ) 

         
  

Balance at December 31, 2011     $ 6,351    
         

  

     

For the Years  
Ended  

December 31,   
     2011      2010   

Professional fees     $ 520       $ 313    
Research and development costs       755         60    
Payroll related costs       868         740    
Other       25         —   

         
  

         
  

Total accrued expenses and other current liabilities     $ 2,168       $ 1,113    
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9.    Commitments and Contingencies  

The Company acquires assets still in development and enters into research and development arrangements with third parties that often 
require milestone and royalty payments based on the progress of the asset through development stages. Milestone payments may be required, for 
example, upon approval of the product for marketing by a regulatory agency. In certain agreements, the Company is required to make royalty 
payments based upon a percentage of the sales. Because of the contingent nature of these payments, they are not included in the table of 
contractual obligations shown below (see also Note 15).  

These arrangements may be material individually, and in the unlikely event that milestones for multiple products covered by these 
arrangements were reached in the same period, the aggregate charge to expense could be material to the results of operations. In addition, these 
arrangements often give the Company the discretion to unilaterally terminate development of the product, which would allow the Company to 
avoid making the contingent payments; however, the Company is unlikely to cease development if the compound successfully achieves clinical 
testing objectives. The Company’s contractual obligations that will require future cash payments as of December 31, 2011 are as follows (in 
thousands):  
   

   

   

   

The Company applies the disclosure provisions FASB ASC Topic 460 (“ASC 460”), “ Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure 
Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Other s ”, to its agreements that contain guarantee or 
indemnification clauses. The Company provides (i) indemnifications of varying scope and size to certain investors and other parties for certain 
losses suffered or incurred by the indemnified party in connection with various types of third-party claims and (ii) indemnifications of varying 
scope and size to officers and directors against third party claims arising from the services they provide to us. These indemnifications give rise 
only to the disclosure provisions of ASC 460. To date, the Company has not incurred costs as a result of these obligations and does not expect to 
incur material costs in the future. Accordingly, the Company has not accrued any liabilities in its financial statements related to these 
indemnifications.  
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Operating 
Leases(1)      

Non-Cancelable 
Employment  

Agreements(2)      Subtotal      

Cancelable  
License  

Agreements(3)      Total   

2012     $ 139       $ 1,774       $ 1,914       $ 578       $ 2,492    
2013       25         1,006         1,031         453         1,484    
2014       3         413         415         463         878    
2015       3         300         303         538         841    
2016       2         100         102         988         1,090    
2017 and Thereafter       —        —        —        7,173         7,173    

         
  

         
  

         
  

         
  

         
  

Total     $ 172       $ 3,593       $ 3,765       $ 10,193       $ 13,958    
         

  

         

  

         

  

         

  

         

  

(1) Operating leases are primarily facility and equipment related obligations with third party vendors. Operating lease expenses during the years 
ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 were approximately $233,000 and $274,000, respectively. 

(2) Employment agreement obligations include management contracts, as well as scientific advisory board member compensation agreements. 
Certain agreements, which have been revised from time to time, provide for minimum salary levels, adjusted annually at the discretion of the 
Compensation Committee, as well as for minimum bonuses that are payable. 

(3) License agreements generally relate to the Company’s obligations with The Board of Regents, University of Texas and Henry Jackson 
Foundation for our oncology therapies and UMMS associated with RNAi and, for future periods, represent minimum annual royalty and 
milestone payment obligations, of the total amount due. The Company continually assesses the progress of its licensed technology and the 
progress of its research and development efforts as it relates to its licensed technology and may terminate with notice to the licensor at any 
time. In the event these licenses are terminated, no amounts will be due. 
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On November 21, 2011, Hudson Bay Master Fund, Ltd. (“Hudson Bay”) filed a Complaint against the Company in the United States 
District Court for the Southern District of New York (the “Court”), captioned Hudson Bay Master Fund, Ltd. v. Galena Biopharma, Inc., 11 Civ. 
8432 (JPO) , alleging that the Company’s plan to partially spin off RXi and related actions taken in preparation for the spin-off gives Hudson 
Bay the right to require us to repurchase the warrants acquired by Hudson Bay in our April 2011 underwritten public offering. Hudson Bay also 
seeks related declaratory and injunctive relief. On January 12, 2012, three other warrant holders affiliated with each other filed a Complaint in 
the Court, captioned Tenor Opportunity Fund, Ltd., Aria Opportunity Fund, Ltd., and Parsoon Opportunity Fund, Ltd. v. Galena Biopharma, 
Inc., 12 CIV 0260 , and on January 20, 2012 and February 2, 2012, respectively, two other warrant holders filed their own Complaints in the 
Court, captioned Cranshire Capital Master Fund, Ltd. v. Galena Biopharma, Inc., 12 CIV 0493 and Iroquois Master Fund, Ltd. v. Galena 
Biopharma, Inc., 12 CIV 0839 , respectively. In these latest Complaints, which are substantially identical to the previous Complaints filed in the 
Court, the various warrant holders also claim that the planned spin-off of RXi and related actions give them the right to require the Company to 
repurchase the Company’s outstanding warrants held by them. According to the allegations in the Complaints, the repurchase price of the 
plaintiffs’ warrants would amount to approximately $5.2 million in the aggregate.  

On March 21, 2012, the Company received letters from each of the plaintiff-warrant holders withdrawing their repurchase demands with 
respect to their warrants covering an aggregate of 6,350,000 shares out of a total of 6,850,000 shares of common stock purchasable under their 
warrants (the “Withdrawal Notice s ”). After giving effect to the Withdrawal Notices, the plaintiff-warrant holders continued to demand that the 
Company repurchase their warrants covering the balance of 500,000 shares of common stock in the aggregate. Based on the plaintiff-warrant 
holders’ claims in their Complaints, the Company believes that the repurchase price for these warrants is $0.71 per underlying share, or an 
aggregate of $355,000. On March 27, 2012, the Company tendered to the plaintiff-warrant holders an aggregate of $355,000 as payment in full 
of the repurchase price for those warrants. The Company believes that the Withdrawal Notices and the Company’s tender of payment as 
described above render moot the majority of claims of the plaintiff-warrant holders in their Complaints, although the Withdrawal Notices purport 
to reserve all rights of the plaintiff-warrant holders under the Complaints.  

If the Company were to become liable to repurchase the plaintiffs’ warrants, the Company may not have on hand sufficient funds to satisfy 
the liability and to meet its other obligations as they come due, which could raise doubts as to the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern.  

10.    Stockholders’ Equity  

Preferred Stock — The Company has authorized up to 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock, $0.0001 par value per share, for issuance. The 
preferred stock will have such rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions, including voting rights, dividend rights, conversion rights, 
redemption privileges and liquidation preferences, as shall be determined by the Company’s board of directors upon its issuance. At 
December 31, 2011, there were no shares of preferred stock outstanding.  

Common Stock — The Company has authorized up to 125,000,000 shares of common stock, $0.0001 par value per share, for issuance. 
Shares of common stock are reserved as follows:  
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As of  
December 31,  

2011   

Warrants outstanding       14,120,642    
Stock options outstanding       6,163,137    
Options reserved for future issuance under the Company’s 2007 Incentive Plan       1,299,717    

         
  

Total reserved for future issuance       21,583,496    
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Common Stock Warrants — On August 7, 2008, the Company issued 190,000 warrants to an investment bank as consideration for 
investment and business advisory services. The warrants have an exercise price of $7.036 per share and expire 5 years from the date of issuance, 
on August 7, 2013. The warrants vested as to 94,000 shares upon issuance, and vested at a rate of 32,000 shares per month starting on the 90 day 
anniversary of issuance, and are exercisable for a period of five years. All shares were vested and compensation cost was fully recorded at 
December 31, 2009. The Company also agreed to give the holder of the warrants unlimited “piggy back” registration rights with respect to the 
shares of the Company’s common stock underlying the warrants in any registration statement the Company files in connection with an 
underwritten offering of its common stock.  

On October 3, 2008, the Company acquired the rights to license exclusive worldwide technology for the oral delivery of RNAi 
therapeutics. As consideration for this license, the Company agreed to pay a total license fee of $2,500,000 over a 12 month period, which can be 
paid in cash, in equity or a combination thereof, provided that a specified amount of the license fee must be made in cash. Payments made in 
equity may only be made if, at the time of such payment, the shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of the warrant have been 
registered for resale under the Securities Act of 1933. No warrants have been issued under this agreement thru the date of this report. The 
Company continually assesses the progress of its research and development efforts as it relates to its licensed technology and may terminate with 
notice to the Licensor at any time. Accordingly, the amounts are being expensed, as payments are made. There was no expense for this license 
for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010.  

On January 29, 2009, the Company issued 142,500 warrants to an investment bank as consideration for investment and business advisory 
services. The warrants have an exercise price of $4.273 per share and expire five years from the date of issuance on January 29, 2014. The 
warrants vested as to 71,250 shares upon issuance, and vested at a rate of 23,750 shares per month starting on the 90 day anniversary of issuance, 
and are exercisable for a period of five years. All shares were vested and compensation expense was fully recorded at December 31, 2009. The 
Company has also agreed to give the holder of the warrants unlimited “piggy back” registration rights with respect to the shares of Common 
Stock underlying the warrants in any registration statement the Company files in connection with an underwritten offering of the common stock.  

In connection with the 2009 Offering, the Company issued warrants to purchase 978,142 shares of the Company’s common stock. Details 
of the transaction can be found under the heading “2009 Registered Direct Offering” below.  

In connection with the 2010 Offering, the Company issued warrants to purchase 540,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. Details 
of the transaction can be found under the heading “2010 Registered Direct Offering” below.  

In connection with the March 2011 Offering, the Company issued warrants to purchase 6,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. 
Details of the transaction can be found under the heading “March 2011 Registered Direct Offering” below.  

In connection with the April 2011 Offering, the Company issued warrants to purchase 11,950,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. 
Details of the transaction can be found under the heading “April 2011 Registered Direct Offering” below.  

During 2011, the Company issued 150,000 warrants in exchange for business advisory services. The Company recognizes the total fair 
value of these warrants as stock compensation expense, over the requisite service period. The Company used the Black-Scholes option pricing 
model to compute the estimated fair value of these warrant grants on the date of the award. Total expense related to these warrants was $108,000 
in 2011.  

Private Investment in Public Equity — On June 24, 2008, the Company entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement pursuant to which 
RXi issued and sold to certain investors an aggregate of 1,073,299 shares of common stock in a private placement at a price of $8.12 per share. 
Net proceeds to the Company were approximately $7.9 million.  
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2009 Registered Direct Offering — On March 17, 2009, the Company entered into a placement agency agreement, which was 
subsequently amended on May 26, 2009 and July 22, 2009, with Rodman & Renshaw, LLC (“Rodman”) as the exclusive placement agent, 
relating to a proposed offering by the Company of new securities to potential investors. On July 30, 2009, the Company entered into definitive 
agreements for the sale and issuance by the Company to certain investors of 2,385,715 units, with each unit consisting of one share of the 
Company’s common stock and a warrant to purchase 0.40 of a share of common stock, at a purchase price of $3.50 per unit (the “2009 
Offering”). The 2009 Offering closed on August 4, 2009. The warrants have an exercise price of $4.50 per share and are exercisable for a period 
beginning on February 3, 2010 until their expiration on August 3, 2014. The Company raised gross proceeds of approximately $8,350,000 in the 
2009 Offering and net cash proceeds, after deducting the placement agents’ fees and other offering expenses payable by the Company, of 
approximately $7.7 million. Total warrants issued in connection with the transaction were 954,285.  

As part of the placement agency agreement, the Company issued a warrant to purchase 23,857 shares of the Company’s common stock to 
Rodman. The warrant has an exercise price of $4.38 per share. The warrant is immediately vested and is exercisable until its expiration on 
August 3, 2014.  

Certain warrants issued in connection with the stock offering on August 4, 2009 were determined not to be indexed to the Company’s 
common stock as they are potentially settleable in cash. The fair value of the warrants at the dates of issuance totaling $2,863,000 was recorded 
as a liability and a cost of equity and was determined by the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Due to the fact that the Company has limited 
trading history, the Company’s expected stock volatility assumption is based on a combination of implied volatilities of similar entities whose 
share or option prices are publicly traded. The Company used a weighted average expected stock volatility of 122.69%. The expected life 
assumption is based on the contract term of five years. The dividend yield of zero is based on the fact that RXi has no present intention to pay 
cash dividends in the future. The risk free rate of 1.72% used for the warrant is equal to the zero coupon rate in effect at the time of the grant. 
The change in the fair value of the warrants during the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 was $1,879,000 and $1,778,000, respectively. 
These amounts have been included in other income and expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of expenses. The fair value of the 
warrants at December 31, 2011 of $64,000 is included as a current liability in the accompanying balance sheet as of that date and was 
determined by the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The following assumptions were used to determine the fair value as of December 31, 
2011: weighted average expected stock volatility of 98.91%; an expected life of 2.6 years and a dividend yield of zero and a risk free rate of 
0.31%.  

2010 Registered Direct Offering  — On March 22, 2010, the Company entered into a placement agency agreement relating to a proposed 
offering by the Company of new securities to potential investors. On March 23, 2010, the Company entered into definitive agreements for the 
sale and issuance by the Company to certain investors of 2,700,000 units, with each unit consisting of one share of the Company’s common 
stock and a warrant to purchase 0.20 of a share of the Company’s common stock, at a purchase price of $6.00 per unit (the “2010 Offering”). 
The 2010 Offering closed on March 26, 2010. The Company issued warrants to purchase 540,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at an 
exercise price of $6.00 per share and that are exercisable beginning on September 26, 2010 until their expiration on March 26, 2016. The 
Company raised gross proceeds of approximately $16.2 million in the 2010 Offering and net cash proceeds, after deducting the placement agent 
fees and other offering expenses payable by the Company, of approximately $15.2 million.  

As part of the 2010 Offering, the Company entered in a stock redemption agreement whereby the Company was required to use 25% of the 
net proceeds from the 2010 Offering to repurchase from CytRx Corporation (“CytRx”) 675,000 shares of the Company’s common stock held by 
CytRx (“CytRx shares”). The Company repurchased such shares on March 29, 2010. The values of the shares at the date of repurchase totaling 
$3,849,000 were recorded at cost and have been included in treasury stock in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 
2011 and 2010.  
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Shares of common stock that are mandatorily redeemable under the stock redemption agreement upon the exercise of warrants issued in 
the 2010 Offering, were determined to embody an obligation that may require the Company to settle the obligation by transferring assets, and as 
such, shall be classified as a liability. The fair value of the common stock potentially redeemable under the stock redemption agreement totaling 
$785,000 was recorded as a liability and a cost of equity and was determined using the fixed monetary amount of each warrant multiplied by 
assumptions regarding the number and timing of warrants to be exercised. On December 29, 2010, CytRx sold all of their shares held in Galena, 
thus reducing the potential redemption liability to zero as December 31, 2010.  

Certain warrants issued in connection with the 2010 Offering were determined not to be indexed to the Company’s common stock as they 
are potentially settleable in cash. The fair value of the warrants at the dates of issuance totaling $2,466,000 was recorded as a liability and a cost 
of equity and was determined by the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Due to the fact that the Company has limited trading history, the 
Company’s expected stock volatility assumption is based on a combination of implied volatilities of similar entities whose share or option prices 
are publically traded. The Company used a weighted average expected stock volatility of 119.49%. The expected life assumption is based on the 
contract term of 6.5 years. The dividend yield of zero is based on the fact that the Company has no present intention to pay cash dividends. The 
risk free rate of 3.22% used for the warrant is equal to the zero coupon rate in effect at the time of the grant. The change in the fair value of the 
warrants during the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 was $1,079,000 and $1,271,000, respectively. These amounts have been included 
in other income and expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of expenses. The fair value of the warrants at December 31, 2011 of 
$116,000 is included as a current liability in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and was determined by the Black-Scholes option 
pricing model. In the model, the Company used a weighted average expected stock volatility of 98.91%. The expected life assumption is based 
on the remaining contract term of 4.8 years. The dividend yield of zero is based on the fact that the Company has no present intention to pay cash 
dividends. The risk free rate of 0.83% used for the warrant is equal to the zero coupon rate in effect on the date of the re-measurement.  

March 2011 Registered Direct Offering  — On March 4, 2011, the Company closed an underwritten public offering of 6,000,000 units at a 
price to the public of $1.35 per unit for gross proceeds of $8.1 million (the “March 2011 Offering”). The offering provided approximately 
$7.3 million to the Company after deducting the underwriting discounts and commissions and offering expenses. Each unit consists of (i) one 
share of common stock, (ii) a thirteen-month warrant to purchase 0.50 of a share of common stock at an exercise price of $1.70 per share 
(subject to anti-dilution adjustment) and (iii) a five-year warrant to purchase 0.50 of a share of common stock at an exercise price of $1.87 per 
share (subject to anti-dilution adjustment). On April 15, 2011, the holders of outstanding warrants issued in the March 2011 Offering to purchase 
an aggregate of 3,450,000 shares of common stock agreed to exchange such warrants for warrants exercisable for the same number of shares as 
those being exchanged, but otherwise on the same terms of the warrants sold in the Company’s April 2011 financing. Prior to the exchange, the 
Company recorded a decrease in fair value of $1,000,000 related to the exchanged warrants. Upon the exchange, the Company recorded a loss of 
$900,000, which represented the difference between the adjusted fair value of the March 2011 warrants as compared to the fair value of the 
April 2011 warrants received in the exchange. As a result of a subsequent offering that was completed on April 15, 2011, the exercise price of 
the remaining 2,550,000 outstanding warrants sold in the March 2011 Offering was reduced to $1.00 per share as a result of the anti-dilution 
adjustment. At December 31, 2011, 150,000 warrants from the March 2011 Offering had been exercised with a remaining outstanding balance of 
5,850,000. As a result of the subsequent offering on September 26, 2011, the exercise price of the remaining 5,850,000 warrants sold in the 
March 4, 2011 Offering were reduced to $0.65 per share as a result of the anti-dilution adjustment.  

The thirteen-month and five-year warrants issued in connection with the March 2011 Offering were determined not to be indexed to the 
Company’s common stock as they are potentially settleable in cash. The fair value of the 2,550,000 warrants at the date of issuance totaling 
$1,790,000 was recorded as a liability and a cost of equity and was determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Due to the fact 
that the Company  
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has limited trading history, the Company expected stock volatility assumption is based on a combination of implied volatilities of similar entities 
whose shares or options are publicly traded. The Company used a weighted average expected stock volatility of 113.25%. The expected life 
assumption is based on the contract term of 1.08 years used for the thirteen-month warrants and 5 years used for the five-year warrants. The 
dividend yield of zero is based on the fact that we have no present intention to pay cash dividends. The risk free rate of 0.26% used for the 
thirteen-month warrants and 2.17% used for the five-year warrants is equal to the zero coupon rate in effect at the time of the grant. In July 2011, 
75,000 of the thirteen-month warrants were exercised at $1.00 per common share which resulted in a $34,000 reduction of the warrant liability. 
In July 2011, 75,000 of the five-year warrants were exercised at $1.00 per common share which resulted in a $68,000 reduction of the warrant 
liability. The decrease in the fair value of the warrants from the date of issuance to December 31, 2011 of $1,378,000 has been included in other 
income and expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of expenses for the year ended December 31, 2011. The fair value of the 
warrants at December 31, 2011 of $412,000 is included as a current liability in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and was 
determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Due to the fact that the Company has limited trading history, the Company’s expected 
stock volatility assumption is based on a combination of implied volatilities of similar entities whose shares or options are publicly traded. The 
Company used a weighted average expected stock volatility of 98.91%. The expected life assumption is based on the remaining contract term of 
0.3 years used for the thirteen-month warrants and 4.2 years used for the five- year warrants. The dividend yield of zero is based on the fact that 
the Company has no present intention to pay cash dividends. The risk free rate of 0.02% used for the thirteen-month warrants and 0.60% used for 
the five-year warrants is equal to the zero coupon rate in effect on the date of the re-measurement.  

April 2011 Registered Direct Offering  — On April 20, 2011, the Company completed an underwritten public offering of 11,950,000 units 
at a price to the public of $1.00 per unit for gross proceeds of approximately $12 million (the “April 2011 Offering”). Each unit consisted of one 
share of common stock and a warrant to purchase one share of common stock at an exercise price of $1.00 per share (subject to anti-dilution 
adjustment). The shares of common stock and warrants were immediately separable and no separate units were issued. The warrants are 
exercisable beginning one year and one day from the date of issuance, and expire on the sixth anniversary of the date of issuance. Net proceeds, 
after underwriting discounts and commissions and other offering expenses, were approximately $10.9 million. As a result of the subsequent 
offering that was completed on September 26, 2011, the exercise price of the 11,950,000 outstanding warrants sold in the April 2011 Offering 
was reduced to $0.65 per share as a result of the anti-dilution adjustment. On December 6, 2011, the Company effected a warrant exchange with 
a ratio of 1.42857 warrants in exchange for one share of common stock with several of the April 2011 warrant holders. In total, 5,930,000 
warrants were exchanged for 4,151,000 shares of common stock in this transaction. At December 31, 2011, 6,020,000 warrants sold in the 
April 20, 2011 Offering remained outstanding.  

The warrants issued in connection with the April 2011 Offering, including the warrants issued in exchange for the 3,450,000 March 2011 
warrants, were determined not to be indexed to the Company’s common stock as they are potentially settleable in cash. The fair value of the 
warrants at the dates of issuance totaling $11,015,000 was recorded as a liability and a cost of equity and was determined using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model. Due to the fact that the Company has limited trading history, the Company’s expected stock volatility assumption 
is based on a combination of implied volatilities of similar entities whose shares or options are publicly traded. The Company used a weighted 
average expected stock volatility of 99.04%. The expected life assumption is based on the contract term of 6.0 years. The dividend yield of zero 
is based on the fact that we have no present intention to pay cash dividends. The risk free rate of 2.81% used for the warrants is equal to the zero 
coupon rate in effect at the time of the grant. In December 2011, the Company exchanged 4,151,000 shares of common stock in exchange for 
5,930,000 of these April warrants at a ratio of 0.7 common shares for each warrant which resulted in a reduction to warrant liability of 
$3,120,000. The decrease in the fair value of the warrants from date of issuance to December 31, 2011 is $5,168,000, of which all has been 
included in other income and expense in  
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the accompanying consolidated statements of expenses for the twelve months ended December 31, 2011. The fair value of the warrants at 
December 31, 2011 of $3,154,000 is included as a current liability in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and was determined by the 
Black-Scholes option pricing model. Due to the fact that the Company has limited trading history, the Company’s expected stock volatility 
assumption is based on a combination of implied volatilities of similar entities whose shares or options are publicly traded. The Company used a 
weighted average expected stock volatility of 98.91%. The expected life assumption is based on the remaining contract term of 5.3 years. The 
dividend yield of zero is based on the fact that the Company has no present intention to pay cash dividends. The risk free rate of 0.83% used for 
the warrants is equal to the zero coupon rate in effect on the date of the re-measurement.  

September 2011 Registered Direct Offering  — On September 26, 2011, the Company completed a direct offering of 700,000 shares of 
common stock for gross proceeds of $455,000.  

Stock Options Modified  

On April 14, 2011, all of the Company’s directors and certain of the Company’s executive officers executed agreements with the Company 
under which they agreed that none of their outstanding stock options will be exercisable unless and until the Company increases the number of 
authorized shares of common stock to a number that is sufficient to permit the exercise or conversion in full of all then outstanding options of the 
Company (including their stock options), warrants and other securities of the Company that are convertible into shares of common stock. An 
aggregate of 3,498,256 option shares are covered by these agreements. For accounting purposes, the agreement of all of the Company’s directors 
and certain executive officers to place restrictions of the exercisability of their options is treated as a modification of their options resulting in the 
reclassification of the options from equity to a liability. In connection with the modification, the Company will recognize compensation cost 
equal to the greater of (a) the grant date fair value of the original equity award plus an incremental cost associated with the modification or 
(b) the fair value of the modified award when it is settled. On July 15, 2011, the Board of Directors of the Company adopted an amendment to 
increase the authorized shares of common stock to 125,000,000, which was presented to and approved by the stockholders of the Company at the 
2011 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. This increase in the authorized shares was sufficient to permit the exercise or conversion in full of all 
then outstanding options of the Company (including their stock options), warrants and other securities of the Company that are convertible into 
shares of common stock, as a result, the liability was marked to market through July 15, 2011 and, upon settlement, the value of $1,036,000 was 
reclassified to additional paid in capital. As a result of the modification, the Company recorded additional stock compensation expense of 
$35,000 during the year ended December 31, 2011.  

Other Equity Transactions  

On March 30, 2011, the Company entered into a severance agreement with its former President and Chief Executive Officer whereby, 
among other things, it agreed to issue shares to the former officer such that the number of shares issued times the market price of the shares on 
the day immediately following the separation date equal a value of $300,000. As of December 31, 2011, all payments and shares due under this 
severance agreement have been issued and recorded to stock compensation expense.  
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11.    Development Stage Supplemental Equity Disclosure  

Summarized below are the Company’s equity (common stock and common stock options) transactions since the Company’s inception 
through December 31, 2011 (in thousands except per share data).  
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Type of Security   Date of Issuance   

Shares of  
Common  

Stock     

Dollar  
Amount of  

Consideration 
 

($)     

Price per 
 

Share or 
 

Exercise 
Price per 

 
Share  

($)     

Counter  
Party to  

Transaction   

Nature of  
Non-Cash  

Consideration   
Basis of  

Assigning Cost 

Common Stock    April 3, 2006     1,624,278        2        0.002      Founders   NA   Cash 
Common Stock  

  

January 8, 2007 

  

  7.040,318    

  

  48 (A)  

  

  0.007    

  

CytRx 

  

Contributed 
 
Assets   

Predecessor  
Cost 

Common Stock    April 30, 2007     3,273,292        15,348 (B)      5.19      CytRx   NA   Cash 
Common Stock  

  

April 30, 2007 

  

  462,112    

  

  2,311    

  

  5.00    

  

UMMS 

  

Intellectual  
Properties 

  

Independent  
Third Party  
Valuation 

Common Stock    August 18, 2007     30,000        150        5.00      Directors   —   Cash 
Common Stock  

  

September 28, 2007 

  

  188,387    

  

  978    

  

  5.19    

  

CytRx 

  

NA 

  

Independent  
Third Party  
Valuation 

Common Stock  
  

November 21, 2007 
  

  66,045    
  

  331    
  

  5.00    
  

Exercise of Stock  
Options   

NA 
  

Cash 

Common Stock    June 26, 2008     1,073,299        7,918        8.12      PIPE   NA   Net Cash 
Common Stock  

  

October 6, 2008 and 
 
November 16, 2008   

  5,500    

  

  26    

  

  5.00    

  

Exercise of Stock  
Options 

  

NA 

  

Cash 

Common Stock    January 30, 2009     58,398        NA        NA        NA   Market Value 
Common Stock  

  

May 1, 2009 
  

  281    
  

  NA    
  

  4.19    
  

Exercise of Stock  
Options   

NA 
  

Cash 

Common Stock  
  

August 3, 2009 and  
August 4, 2009   

  2,385,715    
  

  7,714    
  

  3.50    
  

Registered Direct 
  

NA 
  

Net Cash 

Common Stock    March 22, 2010     2,700,000        15,235        6.00      Registered Direct   NA   Net Cash 
Common Stock  

  

Various — 2010 
  

  53,500    
  

  254    
  

  4.75    
  

Exercise of Stock  
Options   

NA 
  

Cash 

Common Stock  

  

January 2, 2010 and 
 
February 9, 2010   

  86,634    

  

  207    

  

  NA    

  

Restricted Stock  
Units 

  

NA 

  

Market Value 

Common Stock    March 4, 2011     6,000,000        7,307        1.35      Registered Direct   NA   Net Cash 
Common Stock  

  

March 15, 2011 
  

  220,729    
  

  256    
  

  1.16    
  

Restricted Stock  
Units   

NA 
  

Market Value 

Common Stock    April 13, 2011     4,974,090        6,367        NA      Acquired Company   NA   Market Value 
Common Stock    April 20, 2011     11,950,000        10,853        1.00      Registered Direct   NA   Net Cash 
Common Stock    July 1, 2011     18,824        15        0.83      ESPP   NA   Cash 
Common Stock  

  

July 27, 2011 
  

  150,000    
  

  150    
  

  1.00    
  

Exercise of  
Warrants   

NA 
  

Cash 

Common Stock    September 26, 2011     700,000        455        0.65      Registered Direct   NA   Cash 
Common Stock  

  

December 6, 2011 
  

  4,151,000    
  

  3,120    
  

  NA    
  

Exchange with  
Warrant Holders   

NA 
  

Market Value 

Common Stock    Various — 2011     599,051        594        NA      Stock Compensation   NA   Market Value 

(A) Transactions between related parties are accounted for at the historical cost of CytRx, with the intellectual property which was previously 
expensed on CytRx’s books being recorded at zero cost and equipment and furnishings being recorded at $48,000. 

(B) The Company received gross proceeds of $17.0 million for the issuance of the 3,273,292 shares of common stock which equals $5.19 per 
share. The gross proceeds were reduced by a reimbursement to CytRx of (1) $1.3 million for RXi’s pro rata share of offering costs related to 
the April 17, 2007 private placement  
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12.    Stock Based Compensation  

Options to Purchase Shares of Common Stock — The Company follows the provisions ASC 718 which requires the measurement and 
recognition of compensation expense for all share-based payment awards made to employees, non-employee directors, and consultants, 
including employee stock options. Stock compensation expense based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of 
ASC 718 is recognized as an expense over the requisite service period.  

For stock options granted as consideration for services rendered by non-employees, the Company recognizes compensation expense in 
accordance with the requirements of ASC Topic 505-50, Non-employee option grants that do not vest immediately upon grant are recorded as an 
expense over the vesting period of the underlying stock options. At the end of each financial reporting period prior to vesting, the value of these 
options, as calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, is being re-measured using the fair value of the Company’s common stock 
and the non-cash compensation recognized during the period will be adjusted accordingly. Since the fair market value of options granted to non-
employees is subject to change in the future, the amount of the future compensation expense will include fair value re-measurements until the 
stock options are fully vested.  

The Company is currently using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model to determine the fair value of all its option grants. For options 
grants issued for the year ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, the following assumptions were used:  
   

The weighted average fair value of options granted during the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 was $0.89 and $4.31 per share, 
respectively.  

The Company’s expected common stock price volatility assumption is based upon the volatility of a basket of comparable companies. The 
expected life assumptions for employee grants were based upon the simplified method provided for under ASC 718-10, which averages the 
contractual term of the Company’s options of ten years with the average vesting term of four years for an average of six years. The expected life 
assumptions for non-employees were based upon the contractual term of the option. The dividend yield assumption of zero is based upon the fact 
that Galena has never paid cash dividends and presently has no intention of paying cash dividends in the future. The risk-free interest rate used 
for each grant was also based upon prevailing short-term interest rates. The Company has estimated an annualized forfeiture rate of 15% for 
options granted to its employees, 8% for options granted to senior management and no forfeiture rate for the directors. The Company will record 
additional expense if the actual forfeitures are lower than estimated and will record a recovery of prior expense if the actual forfeiture rates are 
higher than estimated.  

The Company recorded approximately $3,001,000 and $4,368,000 of stock-based compensation for the years ended December 31, 2011 
and 2010, respectively. As of December 31, 2011, there was $1,012,000 of unrecognized compensation cost related to outstanding options that is 
expected to be recognized as a component of the Company’s operating expenses over a weighted average period of 3.3 years.  
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conducted by CytRx to fund its capital contribution to the Company and (2) $363,000 of expenses incurred on behalf of RXi for the year 
ended December 31, 2006. Net proceeds to RXi after these charges were $15.3 million or $4.69 a share. 

     2011    2010 

Weighted average risk free interest rate     0.92% - 3.16%    1.88% - 3.28% 
Weighted average volatility     98.61% - 113.87%    118.3% - 133.62% 
Expected lives (years)     4.71 - 9.25    6 - 10 
Expected dividend yield     0%    0% 
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On November 4, 2009, as part of a plan succession in leadership, Tod Woolf, Ph.D., resigned as our President, Chief Executive Officer and 
a member of our Board of Directors. According to the Separation Agreement between Dr. Woolf and the Company, Dr. Woolf received in one 
lump sum payment his full severance equivalent to a six (6) month salary ($187,500), six (6) months acceleration of vesting of all of his 
outstanding unvested Stock Options as of November 4, 2009, and an offer to join the Company’s Scientific Advisory Board (SAB) for 3 years 
(the “New Position”). In addition, and as part of the Separation Agreement, the Company agreed to extend the exercise period for all of 
Dr. Woolf’s vested Stock Options as of November 4, 2009, to the later of: (i) a period of two (2) years from his resignation (until November 4, 
2011), or (ii) ninety (90) days following the end of the term of the SAB Agreement (February 4, 2013) or such earlier date as the 
SAB Agreement may be terminated pursuant to the terms of the SAB Agreement provided Dr. Woolf has not violated the non-competition 
provisions of the SAB Agreement prior to the date of exercise (whether or not the SAB Agreement is still in effect at that time). Notwithstanding 
any provision of the Company’s 2007 Incentive Plan, the Company also agreed that Dr. Woolf’s previously awarded Stock Options shall 
continue to vest during his continuing role in the Company in the New Position. The total expense for 2011 and 2010 was $65,000 and $193,000, 
respectively.  

During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011, we granted to our President and Chief Executive Officer 300,000 stock options subject to 
performance-based vesting. The aggregate fair market value of the stock option grant was valued using the lattice model and is being amortized 
to compensation expense over the vesting period. Compensation expense recognized related to this grant was approximately $23,000 for the year 
ended December 31, 2011.  

As of December 31, 2011, an aggregate of 8,750,000 shares of common stock were reserved for issuance under the Company’s 2007 
Incentive Plan, including 6,163,137 shares subject to outstanding common stock options granted under this plan and 1,299,717 shares available 
for future grants. The administrator of the plan determines the times when an option may become exercisable. Vesting periods of options granted 
to date include vesting upon grant to vesting at the end of a four year period. The options will expire, unless previously exercised, no later than 
ten years from the grant date. The Company is using unissued shares for all shares issued for options, restricted share awards and ESPP 
issuances.  

The following table summarizes the options’ activity of the Company’s stock option plan:  
   

The weighted average remaining contractual life of options outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2011 was 7.87 years and 7.56 
years, respectively. The weighted average remaining contractual life of options outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2010 was 7.35 
years and 7.09 years, respectively.  

The aggregate intrinsic value of outstanding options as of December 31, 2011 and 2010 is $0 and $137,000, respectively. The aggregate 
intrinsic value of exercisable options as of December 31, 2011 and 2010 is $0 and  
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Stock  

Options     

Weighted  
Average  

Exercise Price   
Outstanding — January 1, 2010       3,582,339      $ 5.16    
Granted       926,768        4.81    
Exercised       (53,500 )      4.75    
Forfeited       (122,471 )      4.85    

         
  

  

Outstanding — December 31, 2010       4,333,136        5.10    
Granted       3,322,500        1.21    
Exercised       —       —   
Forfeited       (1,492,499 )      4.99    

         
  

  

Outstanding — December 31, 2011       6,163,137        3.03    
         

  

  

Exercisable — December 31, 2010       3,155,900        5.22    
         

  

  

Exercisable — December 31, 2011       4,673,768        3.40    
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$34,000, respectively. The aggregate intrinsic value is calculated based on the positive difference between the closing fair market value of the 
Company’s common stock and the exercise price of the underlying options.  

The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised during 2010 was approximately $164,000. There were no options exercised during 2011. 

Employee Stock Purchase Plan — The Company also has an employee stock purchase plan (“ESPP”) which allows employees to 
contribute up to 15% of their cash earnings, subject to certain maximums, to be used to purchase shares of our common stock on each semi-
annual purchase date. The purchase price is equal to 85% of the market value per share on either the first or last day of the semi-annual period, 
whichever is lower. Our ESPP is non-compensatory pursuant to the provisions of generally accepted accounting principles for share-based 
compensation expense. The ESPP contains an “evergreen provision” with annual increases in the number of shares available for issuance on the 
first day of each year through January 1, 2015 equal to the lesser of: (a) 250,000 shares increased on each anniversary of the adoption of the Plan 
by one percent (1%) of the total shares of stock then outstanding and (b) 1,000,000 shares. As of December 31, 2011, an aggregate of 231,176 
shares of common stock were authorized and available for issuance under the ESPP. Under the evergreen provision, on January 1, 2012, an 
additional 250,000 shares were authorized under our ESPP. The Company has issued 18,824 shares under the ESPP through December 31, 2011. 

Restricted Stock Units — In addition to options to purchase shares of common stock, the Company may grant restricted stock units 
(“RSU”) as part of its compensation package. Each RSU is granted at the fair market value based on the date of grant. Vesting is determined on a 
grant by grant basis.  

In 2011 and 2010, the Company granted a total of 220,728 and 43,541 RSUs, respectively. The RSUs granted in 2011 and 2010 had an 
aggregate intrinsic value of $256,000 and $112,000. As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, all of the RSUs had vested in full.  

13.    Net Loss Per Share  

The Company accounts for and discloses net loss per common share in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 260 “ Earnings per Share.” 
Basic net loss per common share is computed by dividing net loss attributable to common stockholders by the weighted average number of 
common shares outstanding. Diluted net loss per common share is computed by dividing net loss attributable to common stockholders by the 
weighted average number of common shares that would have been outstanding during the period assuming the issuance of common shares for all 
potential dilutive common shares outstanding. Potential common shares consist of shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options and 
warrants. Because the inclusion of potential common shares would be anti-dilutive for all periods presented, diluted net loss per common share is 
the same as basic net loss per common share.  

The following table sets forth the potential common shares excluded from the calculation of net loss per common share because their 
inclusion would be anti-dilutive:  
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     December 31,   
     2011      2010   

Options to purchase common stock       6,163,137         4,333,136    
Warrants to purchase common stock       14,120,642         2,100,642    

         
  

         
  

Total       20,283,779         6,433,778    
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14.    Income Taxes  

The components of federal and state income tax expense are as follows (in thousands):  
   

The components of net deferred tax assets are as follows (in thousands):  
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     As of December 31,   
     2011     2010   

Current       

Federal     $ —     $ —   
State       —       —   

         
  

        
  

Total current       —       —   
Deferred       

Federal       7,531        4,853    
State       2,831        1,283    

         
  

        
  

Total deferred       10,362        6,136    
Valuation allowance       (10,362 )     (6,136 ) 

         
  

        
  

Total income tax expense     $ —     $ —   
         

  

        

  

     As of December 31,   
     2011     2010   

Net operating loss carryforwards     $ 18,786      $ 13,328    
Tax credit carryforwards       3,160        1,061    
Stock based compensation       6,885        5,864    
Other       193        104    
Licensing deduction deferral       7,458        3,264    

         
  

        
  

Gross deferred tax assets       36,482        23,621    
Valuation allowance       (36,482 )      (23,621 )  

         
  

        
  

Net deferred tax asset     $ —     $ —   
         

  

        

  

The components of net deferred tax liabilities are as follows (in thousands):       

     As of December 31,   
         2011             2010       
In-process research and development not subject to future amortization for tax purposes     $ 5,053     $      —   

         
  

        
  

Gross deferred tax liability     $ 5,053     $ —   
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The provision for income taxes differs from the provision computed by applying the federal statutory rate to net loss before income taxes 
as follows (in thousands):  
   

The Company has incurred net operating losses from inception. At December 31, 2011, the Company had domestic federal and state net 
operating loss carryforwards of approximately $41.6 million available to reduce future taxable income, which expire at various dates beginning 
in 2013 through 2031. The Company also had federal and state research and development tax credit carryforwards of approximately $2,000,000 
and $1,800,000, respectively, available to reduce future tax liabilities and which expire at various dates beginning in 2023 through 2031.  

Under the provisions of the Internal Revenue Code, certain substantial changes in the Company’s ownership may result in a limitation on 
the amount of net operating loss carryforwards and research and development credit carryforwards which could be utilized annually to offset 
future taxable income and taxes payable.  

Based on an assessment of all available evidence including, but not limited to the Company’s limited operating history in its core business 
and lack of profitability, uncertainties of the commercial viability of its technology, the impact of government regulation and healthcare reform 
initiatives, and other risks normally associated with biotechnology companies, the Company has concluded that it is more likely than not that 
these net operating loss carryforwards and credits will not be realized and, as a result, a 100% deferred income tax valuation allowance has been 
recorded against these assets.  

The Company adopted certain provisions of the ASC 740, effective January 1, 2007 which clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in 
income taxes recognized in financial statements and requires the impact of a tax position to be recognized in the financial statements if that 
position is more likely than not of being sustained by the taxing authority. The adoption of ASC 740-10 did not have any effect on the 
Company’s financial position or results of operations.  

The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. federal, Massachusetts and Oregon jurisdictions. The Company is subject to tax 
examinations for the 2007 tax year and beyond. The Company does not believe there will be any material changes in its unrecognized tax 
positions over the next 12 months. The Company has not incurred any interest or penalties. In the event that the Company is assessed interest or 
penalties at some point in the future, they will be classified in the financial statements as general and administrative expense.  

15.    License Agreements  

As part of its business, the Company enters into licensing agreements with third parties that often require milestone and royalty payments 
based on the progress of the asset through development stages. Milestone payments may be required, for example, upon approval of the product 
for marketing by a regulatory agency. In certain agreements, the Company is required to make royalty payments based upon a percentage of net 
sales.  

The expenditures required under these arrangements may be material individually in the event that the Company develops product 
candidates covered by the intellectual property licensed under any such arrangement,  
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     As of December 31,   
     2011     2010   

Expected federal income tax benefit     $ (3,905 )    $ (4,078 )  
Non-qualified stock compensation       (3,189 )      (1,236 )  
Effect of change in valuation allowance       8,551        6,136    
Income tax credits       (260 )      (231 )  
State income taxes after credits       (1,197 )      (994 )  
Other       —       403    

         
  

        
  

   $ —     $ —   
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and in the unlikely event that milestones for multiple products covered by these arrangements were reached in the same period, the aggregate 
charge to expense could be material to the results of operations. In addition, these arrangements often give the Company discretion to unilaterally 
terminate development of the product, which would allow the Company to avoid making the contingent payments; however, the Company is 
unlikely to cease development if the compound successfully achieves clinical testing objectives.  

During the year ended December 31, 2007, the Company entered into a license agreement with Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory (“CSHL”) 
for small hairpin RNA, or “shRNA”, for which the Company paid $50,000 and agreed to make future milestone and royalty payments upon 
successful development and commercialization of products. The Company also entered into four exclusive license agreements and an invention 
disclosure agreement with the University of Massachusetts Medical School (“UMMS”) for which the Company paid cash of $453,000 and 
issued 462,112 shares of its common stock valued at $2.3 million, or $5.00 per share. For each RNAi product developed in connection with the 
license granted by CSHL, the possible aggregate milestone payments equal $2,650,000. The invention disclosure agreement has an initial term of 
three years and provides the option to negotiate licenses to certain RNAi technologies discovered at UMMS. During the year ended 
December 31, 2011, the Company cancelled several of its licenses with UMMS. Upon the signing of the Contribution Agreement on 
September 24, 2011, one of the remaining UMMS licenses was transferred to RXi and the CSHL license agreement was retained by the 
Company and not transferred to RXi.  

In October 2007, the Company entered into a license agreement with Dharmacon, Inc. (now part of Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc.), 
pursuant to which the Company obtained an exclusive license to certain RNAi sequences to a number of target genes for the development of the 
Company’s rxRNA compounds. Further, the Company has obtained the right to license additional RNAi sequences, under the same terms, 
disclosed by Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc. in its pending patent applications against target genes and has received an option for exclusivity for 
other siRNA configurations. As consideration for this license, the Company paid an up-front fee of $150,000 and agreed to pay future clinical 
milestone payments and royalty payments based on sales of siRNA compositions developed in connection with the licensed technology. In 
addition, the Company has agreed to pay future clinical milestone payments in an aggregate amount of up to $2,000,000 and royalty payments of 
either 0.25% or 0.5% based on the level of any future sales of siRNA compositions developed in connection with the licensed technology. No 
amounts were expensed in 2010 and 2011 related to this license.  

In September, 2009, the Company entered into a Patent and Technology Assignment Agreement with Advirna, LLC (“Advirna”), a 
Colorado limited liability company co-founded by the Company’s former Chief Scientific Officer. Pursuant to the terms of the agreement, 
Advirna assigned to the Company certain patent and technology rights related to chemically modified polynucleotides (the “Rights”) and the 
Company granted to Advirna a fully paid-up license to the Rights in a specified field. During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company 
paid and expensed $100,000 for the annual maintenance fees under this agreement. There was no expense recorded for the year ended 
December 31, 2010.  

As part of the transactions contemplated by the Contribution Agreement and Securities Purchase Agreement, on September 24, 2011, RXi 
entered into an agreement with Advirna pursuant to which:  
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•   Advirna assigned to RXi its existing patent and technology rights related to sd-rxRNA technology in exchange for RXi’s agreement to 

pay Advirna an annual $100,000 maintenance fee and a one-time $350,000 milestone payment upon the future issuance of the first 
patent with valid claims covering the assigned patent and technology rights;  

  
•   RXi will be required to pay a 1% royalty to Advirna for any licensing revenue received by RXi with respect to future licensing of the 

assigned Advirna patent and technology rights;  

  
•   RXi has granted back to Advirna a license under the assigned patent and technology for fields of use outside the fields of human 

therapeutics and diagnostics; and  
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In conjunction with the acquisition of Apthera, the Company assumed the rights and obligations of a certain license agreement, as 
amended, from The University of Texas M. D. Anderson Cancer Center (“MDACC”) and The Henry M. Jackson Foundation for the 
Advancement of Military Medicine, Inc. (“HJF”) which grants exclusive worldwide rights to a U.S. patent covering the E75 peptide, and several 
U.S. and foreign patents and patent applications covering methods of using the peptide as a vaccine. Under the terms of this license, we are 
required to make future annual maintenance fee payments, as well as clinical milestone payments and royalty payments based on sales of 
therapeutic products developed from the licensed technologies. As part of the expected payments under the terms of the license, the Company 
must pay an annual maintenance fee of $200,000. In addition, upon commencing the Phase 3 trial, we will pay a milestone payment of $200,000. 

In July 2011, the Company entered into a subsequent non-exclusive license agreement with HJF which has since been made exclusive, 
granting patent rights to the use of the E75 peptide in combination with Herceptin . As part of the expected payments under the terms of the 
license, the Company paid an issue royalty fee of $100,000. In addition, the Company must pay an annual maintenance fee of $50,000 ($25,000 
for each patent) and royalties based on net sales upon commercialization.  

In September 2011, the Company licensed worldwide rights to develop and commercialize a Folate Binding Protein-E39 (FBP) targeted 
vaccine to prevent recurrence in gynecological cancers such as ovarian and endometrial adenocarconimas. The FBP vaccine was licensed from 
The University of Texas M D Anderson Cancer Center and Henry M. Jackson Foundation for the Advancement of Military Medicine, Inc. FBP 
has been granted Investigational New Drug approval by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration to enter clinical trials. Institutional Review 
Board approval has also been received allowing RXi to initiate Phase 1 trials by the end of 2011. As part of the expected payments under the 
terms of the license, the Company paid an issue royalty fee of $100,000. Additionally, the Company shall pay the HJF a non-creditable, 
nonrefundable License issue royalty in the sum of $15,000 for each additional item of follow-on intellectual property. In addition, the Company 
must pay an annual maintenance fee of $25,000 in 2012 and $50,000 in 2013.  

16.    Related Party Transactions  

RXi and Advirna, LLC, which is 50%-owned by the Company’s former Chief Scientific Officer, or CSO, are parties to an option 
agreement whereby the Company paid $5,000 in 2008 for consideration to be granted the exclusive worldwide rights to license certain 
technology and $75,000 for the initial maintenance in 2009 under a Patent and Technology Assignment Agreement with Advirna entered into in 
September 2009 (see also Note 15).  

On February 26, 2007, the Company entered into Scientific Advisory Board Agreements (the “SAB Agreements”), with four of its 
founders. At the time of the execution of the SAB Agreements, each of the founders were beneficial owners of more than five percent of the 
Company’s outstanding stock. Pursuant to the SAB Agreements, on May 23, 2007, the Company granted to each of the founders a stock option 
under the 2007 Plan to purchase 52,832 shares of its common stock. In addition, under the SAB Agreements, the Company will grant each of the 
founders a stock option under the 2007 Plan to purchase 52,832 shares of its common stock on February 26, 2008, June 5, 2009 and June 4, 2010 
with a per share exercise price equal to the closing price of such stock on the public market on the date of grant unless a founder terminates a 
SAB Agreement without good reason (as defined) or the Company terminates a SAB Agreement with cause (as defined therein) in which case 
no further option grants will be made to the founder. If the Company’s common stock is not publicly available on the dates specified above, its 
Board of Directors will grant the stock options to the founders at the first scheduled board meeting after such date and the per share exercise 
price of the options will be determined in good faith by the Company’s board of directors. All options granted pursuant to the SAB Agreements 
are fully vested on the date of grant and have a term of ten years. The fair value of stock options granted during 2011 and 2010 under  
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•   RXi has agreed to issue to Advirna, upon the completion of the spin-off transaction, shares of RXi’s common stock equal to 

approximately 5% of the fully diluted shares of RXi common stock assuming the conversion in full of all outstanding Series A Preferred 
Stock.  

® 
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the SAB Agreement for each founder is approximately $0 and $142,000 which was estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model as 
more fully discussed above under significant accounting policies and the stock based compensation footnote. Included in the accompanying 
financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2010 is approximately $566,000 of expense related to the granting of these stock options. 
No options under the SAB agreements were issued during the year ended December 31, 2011  

Additionally, pursuant to a letter agreement between the Company and each founder dated as of April 30, 2007, the “SAB Letters”, in 
further consideration of the services to be rendered by the founders under the SAB Agreements, the Company granted additional stock options 
on May 23, 2007 under the 2007 Plan to each of the founders to purchase 26,416 shares of its common stock. Unless a founder terminates a 
SAB Agreement without good reason (as defined) or the Company terminates a SAB Agreement with cause (as defined therein), the options 
granted pursuant to the SAB Letters will fully vest from and after April 29, 2012 and will have a term of ten years from the date of grant. At 
December 31, 2011 and 2010, the fair market value of stock options under the SAB Agreement for each founder is approximately $5,000 and 
$59,000, respectively, which was estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model as more fully discussed above under the summary of 
significant accounting policies and the stock based compensation footnote. Included in the accompanying financial statements for the years 
ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 is approximately $159,000 and $60,000 of income, respectively, related to these stock options.  

During 2012, the Company retained TroyGould PC to be its outside corporate counsel. Sanford J. Hillsberg, the Chairman of the Company, 
is a senior lawyer with TroyGould PC.  

17.    Employee Benefit Plan  

The Company sponsors a 401(k) retirement savings plan (the “Plan”). Participation in the Plan is available to full-time employees who 
meet eligibility requirements. Eligible employees may defer a portion of their salary as defined by Internal Revenue Service regulations. The 
Company may make matching contributions on behalf of all participants in the 401(k) Plan in an amount determined by the Company’s board of 
directors. The Company may also make additional discretionary profit sharing contributions in amounts as determined by the board of directors, 
subject to statutory limitations. Matching and profit-sharing contributions, if any, are subject to a vesting schedule; all other contributions are at 
all times fully vested. The Company intends the 401(k) Plan, and the accompanying trust, to qualify under Sections 401(k) and 501 of the 
Internal Revenue Code so that contributions by employees to the 401(k) Plan, and income earned (if any) on plan contributions, are not taxable 
to employees until withdrawn from the 401(k) Plan, and so that the Company will be able to deduct its contributions, if any, when made. The 
trustee under the 401(k) Plan, at the direction of each participant, invests the assets of the 401(k) Plan in any of a number of investment options. 
To date, the Company has not made any matching contributions.  

18.    Subsequent Events  

The Company evaluated all events or transactions that occurred after December 31, 2011 up through the date these financial statements 
were issued. Other than what is disclosed below, or elsewhere in the notes to the consolidated financial statements, the Company did not have 
any material recognizable or unrecognizable subsequent events.  

On January 12, 2012, the Company granted an option to purchase 50,000 shares of common stock to each of the five non-employee 
members of the Board of Directors. These options had an exercise price of $0.72 per share, which represented the Company’s closing stock price 
on that date. The options vest quarterly over a one-year period and expire not later than 10 years from the grant date.  

On January 12, 2012, the Company granted options to purchase an aggregate of 825,000 shares of common stock to certain employees at a 
price of $0.72 per share, which represented the Company’s closing stock price on  
   

F-37  



Table of Contents  

GALENA BIOPHARMA, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)  
   
that date. The options vest quarterly over four years beginning three months from the date of grant and expire not later than 10 years from the 
date of grant.  

On February 4, 2012, the Company granted warrants to purchase 400,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $0.66 per share in 
exchange for business advisory services to the Company for a period of up to twelve months. The warrants vested as to 100,000 shares upon 
issuance, and then will vest at a rate of 100,000 shares per quarter starting on the 90 day anniversary of issuance. The Company has also agreed 
to give “piggy back” registration rights with respect to the shares of common stock underlying the warrants in any registration statement filed by 
the company in connection with an underwritten offering of the common stock.  

On January 20, 2012, the Company sold 579,710 shares of our common stock for $400,000 to Kwang Dong Pharmaceutical Company as 
part of a existing license agreement for NeuVax covering territorial rights for the compound in South Korea that the Company acquired in its 
merger acquisition of Apthera.  

On February 3, 2012, the Company issued 100,000 shares of our common stock in payment of $135,000 of accrued legal fees.  

On March 8, 2012, the Company issued 1,315,789 restricted shares of common stock in payment of the first milestone under the contingent 
value rights agreement entered into in connection with our merger acquisition of Apthera in April 2011. The certificates evidencing the 
milestone shares have been deposited with a third-party escrow agent. The milestone shares will be released to the former Apthera shareholders 
from escrow if the issuance of the milestone shares is approved by the stockholders of the Company at the Company’s 2012 annual stockholders 
meeting.  

From January 23, 2012 through March 23, 2012, the Company issued 1,369,944 shares of the Company’s common stock subject to the 
exercise of outstanding warrants from various warrant holders. The Company received $1,223,464 in total payments at exercise prices ranging 
from $0.65 to $2.50 per share.  
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Not applicable.  
   

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures  

Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), defines the term “disclosure controls 
and procedures” as those controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it 
files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and 
Exchange Commission rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and communicated to the company’s management, including 
its principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions 
regarding required disclosure.  

Our Chief Executive Officer and Principal Accounting Officer have evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our 
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined under Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 
amended) as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Principal Accounting 
Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective.  

There have been no changes in our internal controls over financial reporting during the fourth quarter of the year ended December 31, 2011 
that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal controls over financial reporting.  

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedure Management’s report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting  

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined 
in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and 
Principal Accounting Officer, we conducted evaluations of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the 
framework in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission 
(“COSO”). Based on our evaluations under the framework in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the COSO, our management 
concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2011.  

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of 
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or 
that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.  

This annual report does not include an attestation report of the company’s registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over 
financial reporting. Management’s report was not subject to attestation by our registered public accounting firm pursuant to SEC rules that 
permit us to provide only management’s report in this annual report.  
   

None  
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Item 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES. 

Item 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 

Item 9B. OTHER INFORMATION 
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PART III.  
   

We will file with the SEC a definitive Proxy Statement, which we refer to herein as the “Proxy Statement,” not later than 120 days after the 
close of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011. The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the information 
contained in the Proxy Statement.  
   

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the information contained in the Proxy Statement.  
   

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the information contained in the Proxy Statement.  
   

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the information contained in the Proxy Statement.  
   

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the information contained in the Proxy Statement.  

PART IV.  
   

(a) (1)  Financial Statements  

See Item 8 in Part II of this annual report on Form 10-K, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data,” for an index to the financial 
statements filed in this annual report, which information is incorporated herein by reference.  

(2) Financial Statement Schedules  

Certain schedules are omitted because they are not applicable, or not required by smaller reporting companies.  

(3) Exhibits  

The Exhibits listed in the Exhibit Index immediately preceding the Exhibits are filed as a part of this annual report.  
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Item 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT 

Item 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED 
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS. 

Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS, RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE 

Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES 

Item 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES 
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SIGNATURES  

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be 
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.  

   

Dated: March 28, 2012  

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf 
of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.  
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By:   /s/    Mark J. Ahn  

  

Mark J. Ahn, Ph.D.  
President and Chief Executive Officer  

Signature    Title   Date 

/s/    Mark J. Ahn  
Mark J. Ahn, Ph.D.     

President, Chief Executive Officer and Director 
  

March 28, 2012 

/s/    Kwang S. Lee  
Kwang S. Lee  

   

Vice President, Finance and Principal 
Accounting Officer (Principal Financial and 

Accounting Officer)   

March 28, 2012 

/s/    Sanford J. Hillsberg  
Sanford J. Hillsberg     

Director 
  

March 28, 2012 

/s/    Richard Chin  
Richard Chin, M.D.     

Director 
  

March 28, 2012 

/s/    Stephen S. Galliker  
Stephen S. Galliker     

Director 
  

March 28, 2012 

/s/    Steven A. Kriegsman  
Steven A. Kriegsman     

Director 
  

March 28, 2012 

/s/    Rudolph Nisi  
Rudolph Nisi, M.D.     

Director 
  

March 28, 2012 
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Exhibit  
Number    Description 

    3.1 
   

Form of Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Galena Biopharma, Inc. (formerly RXi Pharmaceuticals 
Corporation).(1) 

    3.2 
   

Amendment to Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Galena Biopharma, Inc. (formerly RXi Pharmaceuticals 
Corporation).(27) 

    3.3    Certificate of Ownership and Merger.(19) 
    3.4    Form of Amended and Restated By-laws of Galena Biopharma, Inc. (formerly RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation).(1) 
    4.1    Specimen common stock certificate.(3) 
    4.2 

   

Annex I to form of Subscription Agreement — Registration Rights Terms between Galena Biopharma, Inc. (formerly RXi 
Pharmaceuticals Corporation) and Stephen Galliker, Mark Ahn and Sanford Hillsberg.(1) 

    4.3    Warrant No. A-1 in favor of J.P. Turner Partners, LP, dated August 7, 2008.(5) 
    4.4    Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant issued in August 2009.(8) 
    4.5    Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant issued in March 2010.(10) 
    4.6    Form of 13-Month Common Stock Purchase Warrant issued in March 2011.(12) 
    4.7    Form of Five-Year Common Stock Purchase Warrant issued in March 2011.(12) 
    4.8    Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant issued in April 2011.(15) 
    4.9    Warrant No. 2012-1 in favor of Legend Securities, Inc. issued in February 2012.** 
  10.1 

   

Form of Contingent Value Rights Agreement among Galena Biopharma, Inc. (formerly RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation), 
Computershare Trust Company, N.A., Computershare Inc., and Robert E Kennedy, dated April 13, 2011.(14) 

  10.2 
   

First Amendment to Contingent Value Rights Agreement among Galena Biopharma, Inc. (formerly RXi Pharmaceuticals 
Corporation), Computershare Trust Company, N.A., Computershare Inc., and Robert E Kennedy, dated February 15, 2012.** 

  10.3 

   

Form of Escrow Agreement entered into among Galena Biopharma, Inc. (formerly RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation), 
Computershare Trust Company, N.A., and Robert E. Kennedy, in his capacity as the Stockholder Representative, on April 13, 
2011.(14) 

  10.4 
   

Non-Exclusive License Agreement, between CytRx Corporation and the University of Massachusetts Medical School related to 
UMMS disclosure number 01-36, dated April 15, 2003, as amended February 1, 2004.+(24) 

  10.5 
   

License Agreement between RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation and Dharmacon, Inc. (now part of Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc.), 
dated October 29, 2007.+(24) 

  10.6 
   

Employment Agreement between Galena Biopharma, Inc. (formerly RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation) and Mark W. Schwartz, 
Ph.D., dated April 13, 2011.*(16) 

  10.7 
   

Employment Agreement between Galena Biopharma, Inc. (formerly RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation) and Mark Ahn, dated 
March 31, 2011.*(13) 

  10.8    Galena Biopharma, Inc. (formerly RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation) Amended and Restated 2007 Incentive Plan.*(11) 
  10.9 

   

Amendment to Galena Biopharma, Inc. (formerly RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation) Amended and Restated 2007 Incentive 
Plan.*(26) 

  10.10    Form of Incentive Stock Option.*(1) 
  10.11    Form of Non-qualified Stock Option.*(1) 
  10.12 

   

Lease between RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation and Newgate Properties, LLC for One Gateway Place, Worcester, Massachusetts 
01605, dated September 25, 2007.(2) 

  10.13 
   

Amendment to Lease between RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation and Newgate Properties, LLC for One Gateway Place, 
Worcester, Massachusetts 01605, dated January 23, 2009.(6) 

  10.14 
   

Amendment to Lease between RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation and Newgate Properties, LLC for One Gateway Place, 
Worcester, Massachusetts 01605, dated March 5, 2009.(7) 

  10.15 
   

Amendment to Lease between RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation and Newgate Properties, LLC for One Gateway Place, 
Worcester, Massachusetts 01605, dated August 28, 2008.(23) 
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  10.16 
   

Amendment to Lease between RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation and Newgate Properties, LLC for One Gateway Place, 
Worcester, Massachusetts 01605, dated November 4, 2008.(23) 

  10.17 
   

Amendment to Lease between RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation and Newgate Properties, LLC for One Gateway Place, 
Worcester, Massachusetts 01605, dated June 9, 2011.(23) 

  10.18 
   

Patent and Technology Assignment Agreement between Galena Biopharma, Inc. (formerly RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation) and 
Advirna, LLC dated September 21, 2009.+(9) 

  10.19 

   

Patent and Technology License Agreement, dated September 11, 2006, by and among the Board of Regents of the University of 
Texas System, the University of Texas M.D. Anderson Cancer Center, the Henry M. Jackson Foundation for the Advancement of 
Military Medicine, Inc., and Apthera, Inc. (formerly Advanced Peptide Therapeutics, Inc.).+(16) 

  10.20 

   

Amendment No. 1 to Patent and Technology License Agreement, dated December 21, 2007, by and among the Board of Regents 
of the University of Texas System, the University of Texas M.D. Anderson Cancer Center, the Henry M. Jackson Foundation for 
the Advancement of Military Medicine, Inc., and Apthera, Inc. (formerly Advanced Peptide Therapeutics, Inc.).(16) 

  10.21 

   

Amendment No. 2 to Patent and Technology License Agreement, dated September 3, 2008, by and among the Board of Regents 
of the University of Texas System, the University of Texas M.D. Anderson Cancer Center, the Henry M. Jackson Foundation for 
the Advancement of Military Medicine, Inc., and Apthera, Inc. (formerly Advanced Peptide Therapeutics, Inc.).(16) 

  10.22 

   

Amendment No. 3 to Patent and Technology License Agreement, dated July 8, 2009, by and among the Board of Regents of the 
University of Texas System, the University of Texas M.D. Anderson Cancer Center, the Henry M. Jackson Foundation for the 
Advancement of Military Medicine, Inc., and Apthera, Inc. (formerly Advanced Peptide Therapeutics, Inc.).(16) 

  10.23 

   

Amendment No. 4 to Patent and Technology License Agreement, dated February 11, 2010, by and among the Board of Regents of 
the University of Texas System, the University of Texas M.D. Anderson Cancer Center, the Henry M. Jackson Foundation for the 
Advancement of Military Medicine, Inc., and Apthera, Inc. (formerly Advanced Peptide Therapeutics, Inc.).+(16) 

  10.24 

   

Amendment No. 5 to Patent and Technology License Agreement, dated January 10, 2011, by and among the Board of Regents of 
the University of Texas System, the University of Texas M.D. Anderson Cancer Center, the Henry M. Jackson Foundation for the 
Advancement of Military Medicine, Inc., and Apthera, Inc. (formerly Advanced Peptide Therapeutics, Inc.).+(16) 

  10.25 
   

Scientific Advisory Agreement between RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation and George E. Peoples, Ph.D., dated April 13, 2011.
(16) 

  10.26 

   

Form of Amendment to Stock Options Granted under Galena Biopharma, Inc. (formerly RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation) 2007 
Incentive Plan, entered into in April 2011 by Galena Biopharma, Inc. with all directors of Galena Biopharma, Inc., as of April 1, 
2011, and Mark J. Ahn, Ph.D., Anastasia Khvorova, Ph.D., and Pamela Pavco, Ph.D.*(16) 

  10.27 

   

Exclusive License Agreement, dated as of July 11, 2011, by and among The Henry M. Jackson Foundation for the Advancement 
of Military Medicine, Inc., Galena Biopharma, Inc. (formerly RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation) and its wholly-owned subsidiary, 
Apthera, Inc.+(16) 

  10.28 
   

Separation and Transition Agreement entered into as of September 24, 2011 between Galena Biopharma, Inc. (formerly RXi 
Pharmaceuticals Corporation) and Pamela Pavco, Ph.D.(17) 

  10.29 
   

Employment letter dated 21 September 2011 between Galena Biopharma, Inc. (formerly RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation) and 
Kwang Lee.*(17) 

  10.30 
   

Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement made as of September 23, 2011 between Galena Biopharma, Inc. (formerly RXi 
Pharmaceuticals Corporation) and Mark W. Schwartz, Ph.D.*(17) 

  10.31 

   

Agreement and Plan of Merger by and among Galena Biopharma, Inc. (formerly RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation), 
Diamondback Acquisition Corp., Apthera, Inc. and Robert E. Kennedy, in his capacity as the Stockholder Representative, dated 
March 31, 2011.(13) 

  10.32 
   

Separation Agreement between Galena Biopharma, Inc. (formerly RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation) and Noah D. Beerman, 
dated March 30, 2011.(13) 
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  10.33 

   

Exclusive License Agreement, dated effective as of September 16, 2011, by and among The Henry M. Jackson Foundation for 
the Advancement of Military Medicine, Inc., Galena Biopharma, Inc. (formerly RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation), The Board 
of Regents of the University of Texas System and The University of Texas M.D. Anderson Cancer Center.+(18) 

  10.34 
   

Contribution Agreement, dated as of September 24, 2011, between RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation (formerly RNCS, Inc.) 
and Galena Biopharma, Inc. (formerly RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation).(19) 

  10.35 

   

Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of September 24, 2011, among RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation (formerly RNCS, 
Inc.), Galena Biopharma, Inc. (formerly RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation), Tang Capital Partners, LP and RTW Investments, 
LLC.(19) 

  10.36 

   

Omnibus Amendment to Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of February 6, 2012, among  
RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation (formerly RNCS, Inc.), Galena Biopharma, Inc. (formerly RXi Pharmaceuticals 
Corporation), Tang Capital Partners, LP and RTW Investments, LLC.(24) 

  10.37 

   

Second Omnibus Amendment to Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of March 5, 2012, among RXi Pharmaceuticals 
Corporation (formerly RNCS, Inc.), Galena Biopharma, Inc. (formerly RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation), Tang Capital 
Partners, LP and RTW Investments, LLC.** 

  10.38 
   

Investor Subscription Agreement, dated September 24, 2011, among Galena Biopharma, Inc. (formerly, RXi Pharmaceuticals 
Corporation), Tang Capital Partners, LP. and RTW Investments, LLC.(19) 

  10.39 
   

Amended and Restated Investor Subscription Agreement, dated September 26, 2011, among Galena Biopharma, Inc., Tang 
Capital Partners, LP. and RTW Investments, LLC.(20) 

  10.40 
   

Patent and Technology Assignment Agreement between RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation (formerly RNCS, Inc.) and Advirna, 
LLC, effective as of September 24, 2011.(23) 

  10.41    Form of Exchange Agreements by and between Galena Biopharma, Inc. and the Investors named therein.(21) 
  10.42 

   

Controlled Equity Offering Sales Agreement, dated as of February 17, 2012, between Galena Biopharma, Inc. and Cantor 
Fitzgerald & Co.(22) 

  10.43 
   

Lease between Galena Biopharma, Inc. (formerly RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation) and LO 138, LLC for 310 N. State Street, 
Suite 208, Lake Oswego, Oregon, 97034, entered into as of July 18, 2011.** 

  10.44    Galena Biopharma, Inc. (formerly RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation) Employee Stock Purchase Plan.*(25) 
  10.45    License Agreement, effective as of April 30, 2009, between Kwangdong Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. and Apthera, Inc.+** 
  10.46 

   

Amendment No. 1 to License Agreement, dated as of January 13, 2012, by and among Apthera, Inc., Kwangdong 
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., and Galena Biopharma, Inc.** 

  10.47 
   

Separation and Transition Agreement entered into as of September 24, 2011 between Galena Biopharma, Inc. (formerly RXi 
Pharmaceuticals Corp.) and Anastasia Khvorova, Ph.D.* ** 

  14.1    Code of Ethics and Conduct.(4) 
  21.1    Subsidiaries of the Registrant.** 
  23.1    Consent of BDO USA, LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.** 
  31.1    Sarbanes-Oxley Act Section 302 Certification of Mark J. Ahn.** 
  31.2    Sarbanes-Oxley Act Section 302 Certification of Kwang S. Lee.** 
  32.1    Sarbanes-Oxley Act Section 906 Certification of Mark J. Ahn and Kwang S. Lee.** 
101.INS    XBRL Instance Document. 
101.SCH    XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema. 
101.CAL    XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation. 
101.DEF    XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition. 
101.LAB    XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label. 
101.PRE    XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation. 
  
(1) Previously filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on October 30, 2007 (File No. 333-147009) and 

incorporated by reference herein 

SM 
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(2) Previously filed as an Exhibit to Amendment No. 1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on November 19, 2007
(File No. 333-147009) and incorporated by reference herein. 

(3) Previously filed as an Exhibit to Amendment No. 2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on January 20, 2008 (File 
No. 333-147009) and incorporated by reference herein. 

(4) Previously filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-K filed on April 15, 2008 (File No. 001-33958) and incorporated by reference 
herein. 

(5) Previously filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on November 14, 2008 (File No. 001-33958) and incorporated by 
reference herein. 

(6) Previously filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on January 29, 2009 (File No. 001-33958) and incorporated by reference 
herein. 

(7) Previously filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on May 15, 2009 (File No. 001-33958) and incorporated by reference 
herein. 

(8) Previously filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on July 31, 2009 (File No. 001-33958) and incorporated by reference 
herein. 

(9) Previously filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on November 16, 2009 (File No. 001-33958) and incorporated by 
reference herein. 

(10) Previously filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on March 23, 2010 (File No. 001-33958) and incorporated by reference 
herein. 

(11) Previously filed as Annex A to the Company’s Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed on April 23, 2010 (File No. 001-33958) and 
incorporated by reference herein. 

(12) Previously filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on March 1, 2011 (File No. 001-33958) and incorporated by reference 
herein. 

(13) Previously filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on April 5, 2011 (File No. 001-33958) and incorporated by reference 
herein. 

(14) Previously filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on April 14, 2011 (File No. 001-33958) and incorporated by reference 
herein. 

(15) Previously filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on April 15, 2011 (File No. 001-33958) and incorporated by reference 
herein. 

(16) Previously filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on August 15, 2011 (File No. 001-33958) and incorporated by reference 
herein. 

(17) Previously filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on November 14, 2011 (File No. 001-33958) and incorporated by 
reference herein. 

(18) Previously filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on September 21, 2011 (File No. 001-33958) and incorporated by 
reference herein. 

(19) Previously filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on September 26, 2011 (File No. 001-33958) and incorporated by 
reference herein. 

(20) Previously filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on September 27, 2011 (File No. 001-33958) and incorporated by 
reference herein. 

(21) Previously filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on December 6, 2011 (File No. 001-33958) and incorporated by reference 
herein. 

(22) Previously filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on February 17, 2012 (File No. 001-33958) and incorporated by reference 
herein. 

(23) Previously filed as an Exhibit to RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on October 25, 2011 (File 
No. 333-177498) and incorporated by reference herein. 

(24) Previously filed as an Exhibit to Amendment No. 4 to RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on 
February 7, 2012 (File No. 333-177498) and incorporated by reference herein. 



Table of Contents  

   

   

   

   

   

   
58  

(25) Previously filed as Annex B to the Company’s Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed on April 23, 2010 (File No. 001-33958) and 
incorporated by reference herein. 

(26) Previously filed as Annex A to the Company’s Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed on May 31, 2011 (File No. 001-33958) and 
incorporated by reference herein. 

(27) Previously filed as Annex B to the Company’s Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed on May 31, 2011 (File No. 001-33958) and 
incorporated by reference herein. 

    * Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement. 
  ** Filed herewith. 
    + This exhibit was filed separately with the Commission pursuant to an application for confidential treatment. The confidential portions of 

the exhibit have been omitted and have been marked by an asterisk. 



Exhibit 4.9 

NEITHER THESE SECURITIES NOR THE SECURITIES FOR WHI CH THESE SECURITIES ARE EXERCISABLE HAVE BEEN 
REGISTERED WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISS ION OR THE SECURITIES COMMISSION OF ANY 
STATE IN RELIANCE UPON AN EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATI ON UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS 
AMENDED (THE “SECURITIES ACT”), AND, ACCORDINGLY, M AY NOT BE OFFERED OR SOLD EXCEPT PURSUANT TO 
AN EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER THE SECUR ITIES ACT OR PURSUANT TO AN AVAILABLE 
EXEMPTION FROM, OR IN A TRANSACTION NOT SUBJECT TO,  THE REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF THE 
SECURITIES ACT AND IN ACCORDANCE WITH APPLICABLE ST ATE SECURITIES LAWS.  

GALENA BIOPHARMA, INC.  

WARRANT  
   

Galena Biopharma, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “ Company ”), hereby certifies that, for value received, Legend Securities, Inc., or its 
registered Permitted Transferees (together, the “ Holder ”), as registered owner of this warrant (the “ Warrant ”), is entitled to purchase from the 
Company up to a total of 400,000 shares (as adjusted from time to time as provided in Section 10 ) of Common Stock, at an exercise price equal 
to $0.66 per share (as adjusted from time to time as provided in Section 10 , the “ Exercise Price ”), upon such shares becoming Vested Shares, 
at any time and from time to time from and after the date of this Warrant (the “ Initial Exercise Date ”) to and including February 4, 2017 (the “ 
Expiration Date ” and the period starting with the Initial Exercise Date and ending on the Expiration Date is referred to as the “ Term ”), and 
subject to the following terms and conditions:  

1. Definitions . The capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined shall have the meanings set forth below:  

“ Affiliate ” of any specified Person means any other person or entity directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by or under direct 
or indirect common control with such specified Person. For purposes of this definition, “ control ” means the power to direct the management 
and policies of such Person or firm, directly or indirectly, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise.  

“ Commission ” means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.  

“ Common Stock ” means the common stock of the Company, $0.0001 par value per share.  
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“ Eligible Market ” means any of the New York Stock Exchange, the American Stock Exchange or Nasdaq (as defined below), and 
any successor markets thereto.  

“ Exchange Act ” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  

“ Market Price ” shall mean (i) if the principal trading market for such securities is an exchange, the average of the last reported sale 
prices per share for the last ten previous Trading Days in which a sale was reported, as officially reported on any consolidated tape or (ii) if 
clause (i) is not applicable, the average of the closing bid price per share for the last ten previous Trading Days as set forth in the National 
Quotation Bureau sheet listing for such securities. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if there is no reported sales price or closing bid price, as the 
case may be, on any of the ten Trading Days preceding the event requiring a determination of Market Price hereunder, then the Market Price 
shall be determined in good faith after reasonable investigation by resolution of the Board of Directors of the Company.  

“ Nasdaq ” means the Nasdaq Global Market or Nasdaq Capital Market, and any successor markets thereto.  

“ Permitted Transferees ” means only Persons who are the directors, officers and employees of the Holder.  

“ Person ” means any court or other federal, state, local or other governmental authority or other individual or corporation, 
partnership, trust, incorporated or unincorporated association, joint venture, limited liability company, joint stock company, government (or an 
agency or subdivision thereof) or other entity of any kind.  

“ Trading Day ” means (a) any day on which the Common Stock is listed or quoted and traded on any Eligible Market or (b) if the 
Common Stock is not then quoted and traded on any Eligible Market, then a day on which trading occurs on the Nasdaq Global Market (or any 
successor thereto).  

“ Vested Shares ” means Warrant Shares that have become vested as described in and pursuant to Section 4 hereunder.  

“ Warrant Shares ” shall initially mean shares of Common Stock and in addition may include Other Securities and Substituted 
Property (as defined in Section 10(e)(x) ) issued or issuable from time to time upon exercise of this Warrant.  

2. Registration of Warrant . The Company shall register this Warrant, upon records to be maintained by the Company for that purpose (the 
“ Warrant Register ”), in the name of the record Holder hereof from time to time. The Company may deem and treat the registered Holder of 
this Warrant as the absolute owner hereof for the purpose of any exercise hereof or any distribution to the Holder, and for all other purposes.  

3. Registration of Transfers . The Company shall register the transfer of any portion of this Warrant in the Warrant Register, which transfer 
shall only be made to a Permitted  
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Transferee and in accordance with applicable securities laws, upon surrender of this Warrant, with the Form of Assignment attached hereto as 
Appendix A duly completed and signed, to the Company at its address specified herein. Upon any such registration and transfer, a new warrant 
in substantially the form of a Warrant (any such new warrant, a “ New Warrant ”), evidencing the portion of this Warrant so transferred shall be 
issued to the Permitted Transferee and a New Warrant evidencing the remaining portion of this Warrant not so transferred, if any, shall be issued 
to the transferring Holder. The acceptance of the New Warrant by the Permitted Transferee thereof shall be deemed the acceptance by such 
Permitted Transferee of all of the rights and obligations of a holder of a Warrant.  

4. Vesting of Warrant Shares . The Warrant Shares issued hereunder shall vest completely and in favor of Legend in the following 
installments (the “ Installments ”) as described in this Section 4. The first Installment in the amount of 100,000 shares shall vest on the Effective 
Date of the Investment Banking Agreement, and the three remaining Installments, each in the amount of 100,000 shares, shall vest on each 
quarterly anniversary of the Effective Date of the Investment Banking Agreement following unless the letter agreement between Legend 
Securities and the Company dated February 4, 2012 has been terminated prior to each such date.  

5. Exercise and Duration of Warrant .  

(a) The Vested Shares under this Warrant shall be exercisable, either in its entirety or for a portion of the number of Vested Shares, 
by the registered Holder at any time and from time to time from and after the Initial Exercise Date to and including the Expiration Date. At 
5:00 P.M. Boston, Massachusetts time on the Expiration Date, the portion of this Warrant not exercised prior thereto shall be and become void 
and of no value, and the Holder hereof shall have no right to purchase any additional Warrant Shares hereunder.  

(b) A Holder may exercise this Warrant by delivering to the Company, in accordance with Section 13 , this Warrant, together with 
(i) an exercise notice, in the form attached hereto as Appendix B (the “ Exercise Notice ”), appropriately completed and duly signed, and 
(ii) (A) payment of the Exercise Price for the number of Warrant Shares as to which this Warrant is being exercised pursuant to a Cash Exercise 
(as set forth in Section 5(c) below) or (B) if available pursuant to Section 5(d) below, by notifying the Company that this Warrant is being 
exercised pursuant to a Cashless Exercise (as set forth in Section 5(d) below), and the date such items are received by the Company is an “ 
Exercise Date .” Execution and delivery of an Exercise Notice in respect of less than all of the Warrant Shares issuable upon exercise of this 
Warrant shall result in the cancellation of the original Warrant and issuance of a New Warrant evidencing the right to purchase the remaining 
number of Warrant Shares.  

(c) Cash Exercise . In the event the Holder has elected to pay the Exercise Price in cash, it shall pay the Exercise Price by certified 
bank check payable to the order of the Company or by wire transfer of immediately available funds in accordance with the Company’s 
instructions (a “ Cash Exercise ”).  
   

3  



(d) Cashless Exercise . Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, the Holder may, in its sole discretion, exercise this 
Warrant in whole or in part and, in lieu of making the cash payment otherwise contemplated to be made to the Company upon such exercise in 
payment of the Exercise Price, elect instead to receive upon such exercise the “Net Number” of shares of Common Stock determined according 
to the following formula (a “ Cashless Exercise ”):  
   

For purposes of the foregoing formula,  

A = the total number of shares with respect to which this Warrant is then being exercised.  

B = the closing price per share of the Common Stock (as reported by Bloomberg) on the Trading Day immediately preceding the date of 
the Exercise Notice.  

C = the Exercise Price then in effect for the applicable Warrant Shares at the time of such exercise.  

(e) Except as otherwise provided for herein, this Warrant shall not entitle the Holder to any voting rights or other rights as a 
stockholder of the Company by virtue of the ownership hereof.  

6. Delivery of Warrant Shares .  

(a) Upon exercise of this Warrant, the Company shall promptly issue or cause to be issued and deliver or cause to be delivered to the 
Holder, in such name or names as the Holder may designate, a certificate for the Warrant Shares issuable upon such exercise (the “ Certificate ” ) 
bearing no restrictive legends. The Holder, or any Person so designated by the Holder to receive the Warrant Shares, shall be deemed to have 
become holder of record of such Warrant Shares as of the Exercise Date.  

(b) Neither these securities nor the securities for which these securities are exercisable have been registered with the Commission or 
the securities commission of any state in reliance upon an exemption from registration under the Securities Act of 1933 (the “ Securities Act ”), 
and, accordingly, may not be offered or sold except pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act or pursuant to an 
available exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act and in accordance with applicable 
state securities laws. The Holder acknowledges and agrees that the Warrant may be sold only pursuant to an applicable exemption from the 
registration requirements of the Securities Act and that the Warrant Shares may only be sold pursuant to an effective registration statement under 
the Securities Act or in accordance with any applicable exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act.  
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(c) This Warrant is exercisable, either in its entirety or, from time to time, for a portion of the number of Warrant Shares. Upon 
surrender of this Warrant following one or more partial exercises, the Company shall issue or cause to be issued, at its expense, a New Warrant 
evidencing the right to purchase the remaining number of Warrant Shares.  

7. Charges, Taxes and Expenses . Issuance and delivery of certificates for shares of Common Stock upon exercise of this Warrant shall be 
made without charge to the Holder for any issue or transfer tax, transfer agent fee or other incidental tax or expense in respect of the issuance of 
such certificates, all of which taxes and expenses shall be paid by the Company; provided , however , that the Company shall not be required to 
pay any tax which may be payable in respect of any transfer involved in the issue, delivery or registration of any certificates for Warrant Shares 
or Warrant in a name other than that of the Holder and that the Holder will be required to pay any tax with respect to cash received in lieu of 
fractional shares. The Holder shall be responsible for all other tax liability that may arise as a result of holding or transferring this Warrant or 
receiving Warrant Shares upon exercise hereof.  

8. Replacement of Warrant . If this Warrant is mutilated, lost, stolen or destroyed, the Company, at the sole expense of the Holder (such 
expenses, if any imposed by the Company to be reasonable), shall issue or cause to be issued in exchange and substitution for and upon 
cancellation hereof, or in lieu of and in substitution for this Warrant, a New Warrant, but only upon receipt of evidence reasonably satisfactory to 
the Company of such loss, theft or destruction and customary and reasonable indemnity, if requested by the Company.  

9. Reservation of Warrant Shares . The Company covenants that it will at all times reserve and keep available out of the aggregate of its 
authorized but unissued and otherwise unreserved Common Stock, solely for the purpose of enabling it to issue Warrant Shares upon exercise of 
this Warrant as herein provided, the number of Warrant Shares which are then issuable and deliverable upon the exercise of this entire Warrant, 
free from all taxes, liens, claims, encumbrances with respect to the issuance of such Warrant Shares and will not be subject to any pre-emptive 
rights or similar rights (taking into account the adjustments and restrictions of Section 10 hereof). The Company covenants that all Warrant 
Shares so issuable and deliverable shall, upon issuance and the payment of the applicable Exercise Price in accordance with the terms hereof, be 
duly and validly authorized, issued, fully paid and nonassessable. The Company will take all such action as may be necessary to assure that such 
shares of Common Stock may be issued as provided herein without violation of any applicable law or regulation, or of any requirements of any 
securities exchange or automated quotation system upon which the Common Stock may be listed or quoted, as the case may be; provided, 
however , that such actions shall only require the Company’s best efforts (or other specified standard) to the extent specifically provided for in 
this Warrant.  

10. Certain Adjustments . The Exercise Price and number of Warrant Shares issuable upon exercise of this Warrant are subject to 
adjustment from time to time as set forth in this Section 10.  

(a) Stock Dividends . If the Company, at any time while this Warrant is outstanding, pays a dividend on its Common Stock payable in 
additional shares of Common  
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Stock or otherwise makes a distribution on any class of capital stock that is payable in shares of Common Stock, then in each such case the 
Exercise Price shall be multiplied by a fraction, (A) the numerator of which shall be the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding 
immediately prior to the opening of business on the day after the record date for the determination of stockholders entitled to receive such 
dividend or distribution and (B) the denominator of which shall be the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately after the 
distribution date of such dividend or distribution. Any adjustment made pursuant to this Section 10(a) shall become effective immediately after 
the record date for the determination of stockholders entitled to receive such dividend or distribution; provided, however , that if following such 
record date the Company rescinds or modifies such dividend or distribution, the Exercise Price shall be appropriately adjusted (as of the date that 
the Company effectively rescinds or modifies such dividend or distribution) to take into account the effect of such rescinded or modified 
dividend or distribution on the Exercise Price pursuant to this Section 10(a) .  

(b) Stock Splits . If the Company, at any time while this Warrant is outstanding, (i) subdivides outstanding shares of Common Stock 
into a larger number of shares, or (ii) combines outstanding shares of Common Stock into a smaller number of shares, then in each such case the 
Exercise Price shall be multiplied by a fraction, (A) the numerator of which shall be the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding 
immediately before such event and (B) the denominator of which shall be the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately after 
such event. Any adjustment pursuant to this Section 10(b) shall become effective immediately after the effective date of such subdivision or 
combination.  

(c) Reclassifications . A reclassification of the Common Stock (other than any such reclassification in connection with a merger or 
consolidation to which Section 10(e) applies) into shares of any other class of stock shall be deemed:  

(i) a distribution by the Company to the holders of its Common Stock of such shares of such other class of stock for the 
purposes and within the meaning of this Section 10 ; and  

(ii) if the outstanding shares of Common Stock shall be changed into a larger or smaller number of shares of Common Stock 
as part of such reclassification, such change shall be deemed a subdivision or combination, as the case may be, of the outstanding shares of 
Common Stock for the purposes and within the meaning of Section 10(b ).  

(d) Other Distributions . If the Company, at any time while this Warrant is outstanding, distributes to holders of Common Stock 
(i) evidences of its indebtedness, (ii) shares of any class of capital stock, (iii) rights or warrants to subscribe for or purchase any shares of any 
class of capital stock or (iv) any other asset, other than a distribution of Common Stock covered by Section 10(a) , (in each case, “ Distributed 
Property ”), then in each such case the Exercise Price in effect immediately prior to the record date fixed for determination of stockholders 
entitled to receive such distribution (and the Exercise Price thereafter applicable) shall be adjusted (effective on and after such record date) to 
equal the product of such Exercise Price multiplied by a fraction, (A) the numerator of which shall be Market Price on such record date  
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less the then fair market value of the Distributed Property distributed in respect of one outstanding share of Common Stock, which, if the 
Distributed Property is other than cash or marketable securities, shall be as determined in good faith by the Board of Directors of the Company 
whose determination shall be described in a board resolution, and (B) the denominator of which shall be the Market Price on such record date; 
provided, however , that if following the record date for such distribution the Company rescinds or modifies such distribution, the Exercise Price 
shall be appropriately adjusted (as of the date that the Company effectively rescinds or modifies such distribution) to take into account the effect 
of such rescinded or modified distribution on the Exercise Price pursuant to this Section 10(d) .  

(e) Fundamental Transactions. If, at any time following the Initial Exercise Date, (i) the Company effects any merger or 
consolidation of the Company with or into another Person, (ii) the Company effects any sale of all or substantially all of its assets in one or a 
series of related transactions or (iii) there shall occur any merger of another Person into the Company whereby the Common Stock is cancelled, 
converted or reclassified into or exchanged for other securities, cash or property (in any such case, a “ Fundamental Transaction ”), then, as a 
condition to the consummation of such Fundamental Transaction, the Company shall (or, in the case of any Fundamental Transaction in which 
the Company is not the surviving entity, the Company shall take all reasonable steps to cause such other Person to) shall, at its election in its sole 
discretion:  

(I) execute and deliver to the Holder of this Warrant a written instrument providing that:  

(x) so long as this Warrant remains outstanding, upon the exercise hereof at any time on or after the consummation of 
such Fundamental Transaction and on such terms and subject to such conditions as shall be nearly equivalent as may be practicable to the 
provisions set forth in this Warrant, this Warrant shall be exercisable into, in lieu of Common Stock issuable upon such exercise prior to such 
consummation, the securities or other property (the “ Substituted Property ”) that would have been received in connection with such 
Fundamental Transaction by a holder of the number of shares of Common Stock into which this Warrant was exercisable immediately prior to 
such Fundamental Transaction, assuming such holder of Common Stock:  

(A) is not a Person with which the Company consolidated or into which the Company merged or which merged 
into the Company or to which such sale or transfer was made, as the case may be (a “ Constituent Person ”), or an Affiliate of a Constituent 
Person; and  

(B) failed to exercise such Holder’s rights of election, if any, as to the kind or amount of securities, cash and other 
property receivable in connection with such Fundamental Transaction ( provided, however , that if the kind or amount of securities, cash or other 
property receivable in connection with such Fundamental Transaction is not the same for each share of Common Stock held immediately prior to 
such Fundamental Transaction by a Person other than a Constituent Person or an Affiliate thereof and in respect of which such rights of election 
shall not have been exercised (a “ Non-Electing Share ”), then, for the purposes of this  
   

7  



Section 10(e) , the kind and amount of securities, cash and other property receivable in connection with such Fundamental Transaction by each 
Non-Electing Share shall be deemed to be the kind and amount so receivable per share by a plurality of the Non-Electing Shares); and  

(y) the rights and obligations of the Company (or, in the event of a transaction in which the Company is not the 
surviving Person, such other Person) and the Holder in respect of Substituted Property shall be as nearly equivalent as may be practicable to the 
rights and obligations of the Company and Holder in respect of Common Stock hereunder.  

Such written instrument shall provide for adjustments which, for events subsequent to the effective date of such written instrument, shall 
be as nearly equivalent as may be practicable to the adjustments provided for in this Section 10 . The above provisions of this Section 10(e) shall 
similarly apply to successive Fundamental Transactions, or  

(II) cause to be delivered to the Holder, as soon as practicable following the closing of the Fundamental Transaction, the 
Substituted Property less such portion of the Substituted Property with a value (determined in good faith by the Board of Directors of the 
Company or the other Person in the Fundamental Transaction) equal to the aggregate Exercise Price of this Warrant.  

(f) Adjustment of Warrant Shares. Simultaneously with any adjustment to the Exercise Price pursuant to paragraphs (a) through 
(d) of this Section 10 , the number of Warrant Shares that may be purchased upon exercise of this Warrant shall be increased or decreased 
proportionately, so that after such adjustment the aggregate Exercise Price payable hereunder for the increased or decreased number of Warrant 
Shares shall be the same as the aggregate Exercise Price payable for the Warrant Shares immediately prior to such adjustment.  

(g) Calculations. All calculations under this Section 10 shall be made to the nearest cent or the nearest 1/100th of a share, as 
applicable. The number of shares of Common Stock outstanding at any given time shall not include shares owned or held by or for the account 
of the Company, and the disposition of any such shares shall be considered an issue or sale of Common Stock.  

(h) Adjustments . Notwithstanding any provision of this Section 10 , no adjustment of the Exercise Price shall be required if such 
adjustment is less than $0.01; provided, however , that any adjustments which by reason of this Section 10(h) are not required to be made shall 
be carried forward and taken into account for purposes of any subsequent adjustment required to be made hereunder.  

(i) Notice of Adjustments. Upon the occurrence of each adjustment pursuant to this Section 10 , the Company will promptly deliver to 
the Holder a certificate executed by the Company’s Chief Financial Officer setting forth, in reasonable detail, the event requiring such 
adjustment and the method by which such adjustment was calculated, the adjusted Exercise Price and the adjusted number or type of Warrant 
Shares or other securities issuable upon exercise of this Warrant (as applicable). The Company will retain at its office copies of all such 
certificates and cause the same to be available for inspection at said office during normal business hours by the Holder or any prospective 
purchaser of the Warrant designated by the Holder.  
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(j) Notice of Corporate Events. If the Company (i) declares a dividend or any other distribution of cash, securities or other property in 
respect of its Common Stock, including, without limitation, any granting of rights or warrants to subscribe for or purchase any capital stock of 
the Company or any subsidiary of the Company, (ii) authorizes, approves, enters into any agreement contemplating, or solicits stockholder 
approval for, any Fundamental Transaction or (iii) authorizes the voluntary dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the affairs of the Company, 
then the Company shall deliver to the Holder a notice describing the material terms and conditions of such transaction at least 10 calendar days 
prior to the applicable record or effective date on which a Person would need to hold Common Stock in order to participate in or vote with 
respect to such transaction, and the Company will take all steps reasonably necessary in order to ensure that the Holder is given the practical 
opportunity to exercise this Warrant prior to such time so as to participate in or vote with respect to such transaction; provided , however , that 
the failure to deliver such notice or any defect therein shall not affect the validity of the corporate action required to be described in such notice.  

11. Registration Rights.  

(a) General. If at any time after the date hereof the Company proposes to register any of its Common Stock under the Securities Act 
in connection with the public offering of such securities for the accounts of shareholders other than Holder, solely for cash on a form that would 
also permit the registration of the Warrant Shares, the Company shall, each such time, promptly give Holder written notice of such 
determination. Upon the written request of Holder given within fifteen (15) days after the giving of any such notice by the Company, the 
Company shall, subject to the limitations set forth in Section 11(e) , use its best efforts to cause to be registered under the Securities Act all of the 
Warrant Shares that Holder has requested be registered; provided, that the Company shall have the right to postpone or withdraw any registration 
statement relating to an offering in which the Holder is eligible to participate under this Section 11 without any liability or obligation to the 
Holder under this Section 11 . For the avoidance of doubt, the Company shall not be obligated to effect any registration of Warrant Shares under 
this Section 11 incidental to the registration of any of its securities in connection with the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-3 
(Registration Statement No. 333-167025) filed with the SEC by the Company in connection with the shelf registration of the Company’s 
Common Stock.  

(i) Other Contractual Obligations of the Company . Each exercise of all or part of the Warrant by the Holder pursuant to 
Section 5 herein shall serve as Holder’s acknowledgment and acceptance that the Holder’s rights under this Section 11 as to the Warrant Shares 
received as the result of such exercise are subject to the contractual obligations of the Company as of the Effective Date, including the 
Company’s obligations to CytRx Corporation set out in the Contribution Agreement dated as of April 30, 2007 between CytRx Corporation and 
the Company, as amended on July 28, 2008.  
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(b) Obligations of the Company . Whenever required under this Section 11 to use its best efforts to effect the registration of any 
Warrant Shares, the Company shall, as expeditiously as reasonably possible:  

(i) Prepare and file with the SEC a registration statement with respect to such Warrant Shares and use its best efforts to cause 
such registration statement to become effective, and, upon the request of the Holder, keep such registration statement effective for a period of up 
to one (1) year or, if earlier, until the distribution contemplated in the registration statement has been completed; provided, however, that (i) such 
one (1) year period shall be extended for a period of time equal to the period the Holder refrains from selling any securities included in such 
registration at the request of an underwriter of Common Stock (or other securities) of the Company; and (ii) in the case of any registration of 
Warrant Shares on Form S-3 which are intended to be offered on a continuous or delayed basis, subject to compliance with applicable SEC rules, 
such one (1) year period shall be extended for up to ninety (90) days, if necessary, to keep the registration statement effective until all such 
Warrant Shares are sold.  

(ii) Prepare and file with the SEC such amendments and supplements to such registration statement and the prospectus used in 
connection with such registration statement as may be necessary to comply with the provisions of the Securities Act with respect to the 
disposition of all securities covered by such registration statement.  

(iii) Furnish to the Holder such numbers of copies of a prospectus, including a preliminary prospectus, in conformity with the 
requirements of the Securities Act, and such other documents as they may reasonably request in order to facilitate the disposition of such 
Warrant Shares owned by it.  

(iv) Use its best efforts to register and qualify the securities covered by such registration statement under such other securities 
or Blue Sky laws of such jurisdictions as shall be reasonably appropriate for the distribution of the securities covered by the registration 
statement, provided that the Company shall not be required in connection therewith or as a condition thereto to qualify to do business or to file a 
general consent to service of process in any such states or jurisdictions, and further provided that (anything in this Section 11 to the contrary 
notwithstanding with respect to the bearing of expenses) if any jurisdiction in which the securities shall be qualified shall require that expenses 
incurred in connection with the qualification of the securities in that jurisdiction be borne by shareholders, then such expenses shall be payable 
by the Holder to the extent required by such jurisdiction.  

(v) Provide a transfer agent for the Common Stock no later than the effective date of the first registration of any Warrant 
Shares.  

(vi) Otherwise use its best efforts to comply with all applicable rules and regulations of the SEC.  

(vii) Use its best efforts to cause all such Warrant Shares to be listed on a national securities exchange (if such securities are 
not already so listed) and on each additional national securities exchange on which similar securities issued by the Company are then listed, if 
the listing of such securities is then permitted under the rules of such exchange.  
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(viii) Use every reasonable effort to prevent the issuance of any stop order suspending the effectiveness of such registration 
statement or of any order preventing or suspending the use of any preliminary prospectus and, if any such order is issued, to obtain the lifting 
thereof at the earliest reasonable time.  

(c) Furnish Information . It shall be a condition precedent to the obligations of the Company to take any action pursuant to this 
Section 11 with respect to the registration of any of the Holder’s Warrant Shares that the Holder shall take such actions and furnish to the 
Company such information regarding itself, the Warrant Shares held by it, and the intended method of disposition of such securities, as the 
Company shall reasonably request and as shall be required in connection with any registration, qualification or compliance referred to in this 
agreement, including, without limitation (i) in connection with an underwritten offering, enter into an appropriate underwriting agreement 
containing terms and provisions then customary in agreements of that nature, (ii) enter into such custody agreements, powers of attorney and 
related documents at such time and on such terms and conditions as may then be customarily required in connection with such offering and 
(iii) distribute the Warrant Shares only in accordance with and in the manner of the distribution contemplated by the applicable registration 
statement and prospectus. In addition, the Holder shall promptly notify the Company of any request by the Commission or any state securities 
commission or agency for additional information or for such registration statement or prospectus to be amended or supplemented.  

(d) Registration Expenses. All expenses (excluding underwriters’ discounts and commissions) incurred in connection with any 
registration pursuant to this Section 11 including, without limitation, any additional registration and qualification fees and any additional fees 
and disbursements of counsel to the Company that result from the inclusion of securities held by the Holder in such registration, shall be borne 
by the Company whether or not the registration statement to which such registration expenses relate becomes effective.  

(e) Underwriting Requirements .  

(i) In connection with any offering under this Section 11 involving an underwriting of shares being issued by the Company, 
the Company shall not be required to include any Warrant Shares in such underwriting unless the Holder accepts the terms of the underwriting as 
agreed upon between the Company and the underwriters selected by it, and then only in such quantity as will not, in the sole discretion of the 
underwriters, jeopardize the success of the offering by the Company. If the total amount of securities that the Holder requests to be included in 
an underwritten offering under this Section 11 exceeds the amount of securities that the underwriters reasonably believe compatible with the 
success of the offering, the Company may exclude some or all of the Warrant Shares from such registration and underwriting.  

(ii) With respect to any underwritings of shares to be registered under this Section 11 , the Company shall have the right to 
designate the managing underwriter or underwriters.  
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(f) Delay of Registration . The Holder shall not have any right to take any action to restrain, enjoin, or otherwise delay any 
registration as the result of any controversy that might arise with respect to the interpretation or implementation of this Section 11 .  

(g) Indemnification . In the event any Warrant Shares are included in a registration statement under this Section 11 :  

(i) To the extent permitted by law, in connection with any registration statement in which Warrant Shares are included, the 
Company will indemnify and hold harmless the Holder and its officers, directors and stockholders, legal counsel and accountants for the Holder, 
any underwriter (as defined in the Securities Act) for the Holder and each person, if any, who controls the Holder or underwriter within the 
meaning of the Securities Act or the 1934 Act, against any losses, claims, damages or liabilities, joint or several, to which they may become 
subject under the Securities Act or otherwise, insofar as such losses, claims, damages or liabilities (or actions in respect thereof) arise out of or 
are based on (i) any untrue or alleged untrue statement of any material fact contained in such registration statement, including, without 
limitation, any prospectus or final prospectus contained therein or any amendments or supplements thereto, (ii) the omission or alleged omission 
to state therein a material fact required to be stated therein, or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading or (iii) any violation by 
the Company of any rule or regulation promulgated under the Securities Act applicable to the Company and relating to action or inaction 
required of the Company in connection with any such registration; and will promptly reimburse the Holder, and any underwriter, controlling 
person or other aforementioned person for any legal or other expenses reasonably incurred by them in connection with investigating or defending 
any such loss, claim, damage, liability, or action, provided, however, that the indemnity agreement contained in this Section 11g(i) shall not 
apply to amounts paid in settlement of any such loss, claim, damage, liability or action if such settlement is effected without the consent of the 
Company (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed) nor shall the Company be liable to the Holder, or any underwriter, 
controlling person or other aforementioned person in any such case for any such loss, claim, damage, liability or action to the extent that it 
(i) arises out of or is based upon an untrue statement or alleged untrue statement or omission or alleged omission made in connection with such 
registration statement, preliminary prospectus, final prospectus, or amendments or supplements thereto, in reliance upon and in conformity with 
written information furnished to the Company expressly for use in connection with such registration by or on behalf of the Holder, or any 
underwriter, controlling person or other aforementioned person, (ii) is caused by the failure of the Holder to deliver a copy of the final prospectus 
relating to such Warrant Shares, as then amended or supplemented, in connection with a purchase, if the Company had previously furnished 
copies thereof to the Holder or (iii) is caused by the Holder’s disposition of Warrant Shares during any period during which the Holder is 
obligated to discontinue any disposition of Warrant Shares under Section 11(j) .  

(ii) To the extent permitted by law, the Holder will indemnify and hold harmless the Company, each of its directors, each of 
its officers who has signed the registration statement, each person, if any, who controls the Company within the meaning of the Securities Act, 
and any underwriter (within the meaning of the Securities Act) for the Company against any  
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losses, claims, damages or liabilities to which the Company or any such director, officer, controlling person or underwriter may become subject, 
under the Securities Act or otherwise, insofar as such losses, claims, damages or liabilities (or actions in respect thereto) arise out of or are based 
upon (i) any untrue statement or alleged untrue statement of any material fact contained in such registration statement, including any prospectus 
or final prospectus contained therein or any amendments or supplements thereto or (ii) the omission or alleged omission to state therein a 
material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading, in each case to the extent, but only to the 
extent, that such untrue statement or alleged untrue statement or omission or alleged omission was made in reliance upon and in conformity with 
written information relating to and furnished to the Company by the Holder expressly for use in connection with such registration; and will 
promptly reimburse the Company or any such director, officer, controlling person or underwriter for any legal or other expenses reasonably 
incurred by them in connection with investigating or defending any such loss, claim, damage, liability or action; provided, however, that the 
indemnity agreement contained in this Section 11(g)(ii) shall not apply to amounts paid in settlement of any such loss, claim, damage, liability or 
action if such settlement is effected without the consent of the Holder (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed) and 
provided further that the Holder shall not have any liability under this Section 11(g)(ii) in excess of the net proceeds actually received by the 
Holder in the relevant public offering.  

(iii) Promptly after receipt by an indemnified party under this Section 11(g) of notice of the commencement of any action, 
such indemnified party will, if a claim in respect thereof is to be made against any indemnifying party under this Section 11(g) , notify the 
indemnifying party in writing of the commencement thereof and the indemnifying party shall have the right to participate in, and, to the extent 
the indemnifying party so desires, jointly with any other indemnifying party similarly noticed, to assume the defense thereof with counsel 
mutually satisfactory to the parties. The failure to notify an indemnifying party promptly of the commencement of any such action, if prejudicial 
to his ability to defend such action, shall relieve such indemnifying party of any liability to the indemnified party under this Section 11(g) , but 
the omission so to notify the indemnifying party will not relieve him of any liability that he may have to any indemnified party otherwise than 
under this Section 11(g) .  

(iv) If the indemnification provided for in this Section 11(g) is required by its terms but is for any reason held to be 
unavailable to or otherwise insufficient to hold harmless an indemnified party under Section 11(g)(i) or Section 11(g)(ii) in respect of any losses, 
claims, damages, liabilities or expenses referred to herein, then each applicable indemnifying party shall contribute to the amount paid or payable 
by such indemnified party as a result of any losses, claims, damages, liabilities or expenses referred to herein in such proportion as is appropriate 
to reflect the relative fault of the Company and the Holder in connection with the statements or omissions described in such Section 11(g)(i) or 
Section 11(g)(ii) which resulted in such losses, claims, damages, liabilities or expenses, as well as any other relevant equitable considerations. 
The relative fault of the Company and the Holder shall be determined by reference to, among other things, whether the untrue or alleged untrue 
statement of a material fact or the omission or alleged omission to state a material fact relates to information supplied by the Company or the 
Holder and the parties’ relative intent, knowledge, access to information and  
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opportunity to correct or prevent such statement or omission. The amount paid or payable by a party as a result of the losses, claims, damages, 
liabilities and expenses referred to above shall be deemed to include, subject to the limitations set forth in this Section 11(g) , any legal or other 
fees or expenses reasonably incurred by such party in connection with investigating or defending any action or claim. The provisions set forth in 
Section 11(g)(iii) with respect to notice of commencement of any action shall apply if a claim for contribution is to be made under this 
Section 11(g)(iv) ; provided, however, that no additional notice shall be required with respect to any action for which notice has been given 
under Section 11(g)(iii) for purposes of indemnification. The Company and the Holder agree that it would not be just and equitable if 
contribution pursuant to this Section 11(g) were determined solely by pro rata allocation or by any other method of allocation which does not 
take account of the equitable considerations referred to in this paragraph. Notwithstanding the provisions of this Section 11(g)(iv) , the Holder 
shall not be required to contribute an amount in excess of the net proceeds actually received by the Holder in the relevant public offering. No 
person guilty of fraudulent misrepresentation (within the meaning of Section 11(f) of the Securities Act) shall be entitled to contribution from 
any person who was not guilty of such fraudulent misrepresentation.  

(h) Payment of Expenses . The Company shall pay all reasonable expenses of the Holder (including the reasonable expenses of legal 
counsel for such Holder) incurred in connection with each registration of Warrant Shares requested pursuant to this Section 11 , other than 
underwriting discount and commission, if any, and applicable transfer taxes, if any.  

(i) No Transfer of Registration Rights . The registration rights and obligations of the Holder under this Exhibit with respect to any 
Warrant Shares may not be transferred to any third party other than any acquirer of all or substantially all of the assets or outstanding shares of 
stock of the Holder or any entity that merges with or into the Holder.  

(j) Future Events . If the Holder is at the time participating in a registration of Warrant Shares requested pursuant to this Section 11 , 
the Company will notify the Holder of the occurrence of any of the following events of which the Company is actually aware, and when so 
notified, the Holder will immediately discontinue any disposition of Warrant Shares until notified by the Company that such event is no longer 
applicable:  

(i) the issuance by the Commission or any state securities commission or agency of any stop order suspending the 
effectiveness of the registration statement or the initiation of any proceedings for that purpose (in which case the Company will make reasonable 
efforts to obtain the withdrawal of any such order or the cessation of any such proceedings); or  

(ii) the existence of any fact which makes untrue any material statement made in the registration statement or prospectus or 
any document incorporated therein by reference or which requires the making of any changes in the registration statement or prospectus or any 
document incorporated therein by reference in order to make the statements therein not misleading (in which case the Company will make 
reasonable efforts to amend the applicable document to correct the deficiency).  
   

14  



(k) Termination of Rights. The rights of the Holder pursuant to this Section 11 shall terminate and be of no further force and effect on 
the earlier of (i) the date that all Warrant Shares have been sold by the Holder or (ii) the date that all Warrant Shares may be sold in any three 
month period pursuant to Rule 144(b) promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.  

12. Fractional Shares . The Company shall not be required to issue or cause to be issued fractional Warrant Shares on the exercise of this 
Warrant. If any fraction of a Warrant Share would, except for the provisions of this Section 12, be issuable upon exercise of this Warrant, the 
Company shall make a cash payment to the Holder equal to (a) such fraction multiplied by (b) the Market Price on the Exercise Date of one full 
Warrant Share.  

13. Remedies. The Company stipulates that the remedies at law of the Holder of this Warrant in the event of any default or threatened 
default by the Company in the performance of or compliance with any of the terms of this Warrant are not and will not be adequate, and that 
such terms may be specifically enforced by a decree for the specific performance of any agreement contained herein or by an injunction against a 
violation of any of the terms hereof or otherwise.  

14. Notices. Any and all notices or other communications or deliveries hereunder (including without limitation any Exercise Notice) shall 
be in writing and shall be mailed by certified mail, return receipt requested, or by a nationally recognized courier service or delivered (in person 
or by facsimile), against receipt to the party to whom such notice or other communication is to be given. Any notice or other communication 
given by means permitted by this Section 14 shall be deemed given at the time of receipt thereof. The address for such notices or 
communications shall be as set forth below:  
   

Or such other address as is provided to such other party in accordance with this Section 14 .  
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If to the Company: 

Mark J. Ahn 
President and Chief Executive Officer 
Galena Biopharma, Inc. 
310 N. State Street, Suite 208 
Lake Oswego, Oregon 97034 
Fax: 855-883-7422 

If to the Holder: 

Legend Securities, Inc. 
Attention: Salvatore C. Caruso 
45 Broadway 32 Floor 
New York, New York 10006 
Phone: 212-344-5747 ext 231 
Fax: 212-898-1224 

nd 



15. Warrant Agent. The Company shall serve as warrant agent under this Warrant. Upon a prompt written notice to the Holder, the 
Company may appoint a new warrant agent. Any Person into which any new warrant agent may be merged, any Person resulting from any 
consolidation to which any new warrant agent shall be a party or any Person to which any new warrant agent transfers substantially all of its 
corporate trust or shareholders services business shall be a successor warrant agent under this Warrant without any further act. Any such 
successor warrant agent shall promptly cause notice of its succession as warrant agent to be mailed (by first class mail, postage prepaid) to the 
Holder at the Holder’s last address as shown on the Warrant Register.  

16. Miscellaneous.  

(a) This Warrant may not be assigned by the Holder except to a Permitted Transferee. This Warrant may not be assigned by the 
Company, except to a successor in the event of a Fundamental Transaction. This Warrant shall be binding on and inure to the benefit of the 
parties hereto and their respective permitted successors and assigns. Subject to the preceding sentence, nothing in this Warrant shall be construed 
to give to any Person other than the Company and the Holder any legal or equitable right, remedy or cause of action under this Warrant. This 
Warrant may be amended only in writing signed by the Company and the Holder and their permitted successors and assigns.  

(b) The Company will not, by amendment of its governing documents or through any reorganization, transfer of assets, 
consolidation, merger, dissolution, issue or sale of securities or any other voluntary action, avoid or seek to avoid the observance or performance 
of any of the terms of this Warrant, but will at all times in good faith assist in the carrying out of all such terms and in the taking of all such 
action as may be necessary or appropriate in order to protect the rights of the Holder against impairment. Without limiting the generality of the 
foregoing, the Company (i) will not increase the par value of any Warrant Shares above the amount payable therefor upon exercise thereof, and 
(ii) will take all such action as may be reasonably necessary or appropriate in order that the Company may validly and legally issue fully paid 
and nonassessable Warrant Shares on the exercise of this Warrant, free from all taxes, liens, claims and encumbrances and (iii) will not close its 
shareholder books or records in any manner which interferes with the timely exercise of this Warrant.  

(c) This Warrant shall be governed by and construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the Commonwealth of 
Massachusetts. Each party hereby irrevocably submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of the state and Federal courts sitting in the City of Boston, 
Massachusetts, for the adjudication of any dispute hereunder or in connection herewith or with any transaction contemplated hereby or discussed 
herein, and hereby irrevocably waives, and agrees not to assert in any suit, action or proceeding that it is not personally subject to the jurisdiction 
of any such court or that such suit, action or proceeding is improper. Each party hereby irrevocably waives personal service of process and 
consents to process being served in any such suit, action or proceeding by mailing a copy thereof via registered or certified mail or overnight 
delivery (with evidence of delivery) to such party at the address in effect for notices to it under this Warrant and agrees that such service shall 
constitute  
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good and sufficient service of process and notice thereof. Nothing contained herein shall be deemed to limit in any way any right to serve 
process in any manner permitted by law. THE PARTIES HEREBY WAIVE ALL RIGHTS TO A TRIAL BY JURY.  

(d) Neither party shall be deemed in default of any provision of this Warrant, to the extent that performance of its obligations or 
attempts to cure a breach hereof are delayed or prevented by any event reasonably beyond the control of such party, including, without 
limitation, war, hostilities, acts of terrorism, revolution, riot, civil commotion, national emergency, strike, lockout, unavailability of supplies, 
epidemic, fire, flood, earthquake, force of nature, explosion, embargo, or any other Act of God, or any law, proclamation, regulation, ordinance, 
or other act or order of any court, government or governmental agency, provided that such party gives the other party written notice thereof 
promptly upon discovery thereof and uses reasonable efforts to cure or mitigate the delay or failure to perform.  

(e) The headings herein are for convenience only, do not constitute a part of this Warrant and shall not be deemed to limit or affect 
any of the provisions hereof.  

(f) In case any one or more of the provisions of this Warrant shall be deemed invalid or unenforceable in any respect, the validity and 
enforceability of the remaining terms and provisions of this Warrant shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby and the parties will 
attempt in good faith to agree upon a valid and enforceable provision which shall be a commercially reasonable substitute therefor, and upon so 
agreeing, shall incorporate such substitute provision in this Warrant.  

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK,  
SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]  
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Warrant to be duly executed by its authorized officer as of the date first indicated 
above.  
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GALENA BIOPHARMA, INC. 

By:   /s/ Mark J. Ahn  

  

Mark J. Ahn, President and Chief Executive 
Officer 

Acknowledged and Agreed: 

/s/ Salvatore C. Caruso  
Salvatore C. Caruso, Legend Securities, Inc.  



APPENDIX A  

FORM OF ASSIGNMENT  

(to be completed and signed only upon transfer of Warrant)  

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned hereby sells, assigns and transfers unto                  the right represented by the within 
Warrant to purchase              shares of Common Stock of Galena Biopharma, Inc. to which the within warrant relates and appoints 
                        attorney to transfer said right on the books of Galena Biopharma, Inc. with full power of substitution in the premises.  
   

   

Dated:                           

  

(Signature must conform in all respects to name of Holder as specified 
on face of the Warrant) 

  Address of Transferee: 

  Legend Securities, Inc.  

  Attention: Salvatore C. Caruso  

  45 Broadway, 32 Floor  

  New York, NY 10006  

In the presence of: 

   

nd 



APPENDIX B  

NOTICE OF EXERCISE  

TO: GALENA BIOPHARMA, INC.  

(1) The undersigned hereby elects to purchase             Warrant Shares of the Company pursuant to the terms of the attached Warrant (only 
if exercised in full), and tenders herewith payment of the exercise price in full, together with all applicable transfer taxes, if any.  

(2) Payment shall take the form of (check applicable box):  

¨ in lawful money of the United States; or  

¨ [if permitted] the cancellation of such number of Warrant Shares as is necessary, in accordance with the formula set forth in 
subsection 2(c), to exercise this Warrant with respect to the maximum number of Warrant Shares purchasable pursuant to the 
cashless exercise procedure set forth in subsection 2(c).  

(3) Please issue a certificate or certificates representing said Warrant Shares in the name of the undersigned or in such other name as is 
specified below:  
   

The Warrant Shares shall be delivered to the following DWAC Account Number or by physical delivery of a certificate to:  
   

   

   

[SIGNATURE OF HOLDER]  
   

   

  

  

  

Name of Investing Entity:      
Signature of Authorized Signatory of Investing Entity:      
Name of Authorized Signatory:      
Title of Authorized Signatory:      
Date:      



Exhibit 10.2 

FIRST AMENDMENT TO CONTINGENT VALUE RIGHTS AGREEMENT  
   

THIS FIRST AMENDMENT TO CONTINGENT VALUE RIGHTS AGREEMENT (this “ Amendment ”) is made and entered into as of 
February 15, 2012 by and among the undersigned Galena Biopharma, Inc. (formerly RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation and herein “ Parent ”), 
Computershare Trust Company, N.A., a national banking association, Computershare Inc., a Delaware corporation, and Robert E. Kennedy, an 
individual, as the Stockholder Representative (collectively the “ Parties ”), in order to amend in certain respects the Contingent Value Rights 
Agreement dated as of April 13, 2011 among the Parties (the “ Original Agreement ”).  

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein and for other good and valuable consideration, the Parties 
agree as follows:  

1. Certain Definitions .  

1.1 References in the Original Agreement to this “Agreement” shall mean the Original Agreement, as amended by this Amendment. 
Unless otherwise defined in this Amendment, capitalized terms used herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Original Agreement.  

1.2 When used in this Amendment, the following capitalized terms shall have the meanings indicated:  

“ Future Milestone Shares ” means any and all “restricted” shares of Parent Common Stock that Parent, in its discretion in 
accordance with the provisions of the Original Agreement, elects to issue in payment of any of Milestone #2, Milestone #3, Milestone #4 and 
Milestone #5. The term “ restricted ” shares for this purpose and for the purposes of the definition of “Milestone Shares” has the meaning set 
forth in Rule 144 under the Securities Act.  

“ Milestone Shares ” means 1,315,789 “restricted” shares of Parent Common Stock, subject to increase as provided in 
Section 2.4 of this Amendment;  

“ Payment Date ” means February 10, 2012.  

“ Securities Act ” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.  

2. Milestone Payments .  

2.1 Parent hereby acknowledges that Milestone #1 was achieved on January 19, 2012.  

2.2 Notwithstanding any other provision of the Original Agreement, the Parties agree that Milestone #1 shall be payable by Parent’s 
issuance of the Milestone Shares as  

  



provided herein. On or before the Payment Date, Parent shall cause Computershare to issue in the name of each Holder, as reflected in the CVR 
Register as of the close of business on the last Business Day prior to the Payment Date, a stock certificate evidencing the number of Milestone 
Shares to which such holder shall be entitled under the Original Agreement.  

2.3 On the Payment Date, all of the certificates evidencing the Milestone Shares shall be deposited by Parent with the Escrow Agent 
under the Escrow Agreement, dated as of April 13, 2011, among Parent, the Stockholder Representative, and Computershare Trust Company, 
N.A., as Escrow Agent (the “ Escrow Agent ”). The certificates evidencing Milestone Shares shall be released to the Holders from the escrow 
under the Escrow Agreement (the “ Escrow ”) within three (3) Business Days following stockholder approval of the Stockholder Proposal, as 
contemplated in Section 3, below (“ Stockholder Approval ”). The Milestone Shares shall be subject to cancellation in the events described in 
Section 3, below.  

2.4 The Parties agree that, if Stockholder Approval is obtained, the number of Milestone Shares shall be subject to increase to the 
extent that $0.76 ( i.e. , the closing price of Parent Common Stock as reported on The NASDAQ Capital Market on January 18, 2012, the day 
prior to achievement of Milestone #1, used for purposes of determining the number of Milestone Shares in accordance with the Original 
Agreement) is greater than the closing price of Parent Common Stock as of the most recent trading day prior to the receipt of Stockholder 
Approval. In such event, the actual number of Milestone Shares issuable in payment of Milestone #1 shall equal the quotient determined by 
dividing $1 million ( i.e., the amount of Milestone #1) by the lesser of (1) $0.76 and (2) the closing price of Parent Common Stock as reported on 
The NASDAQ Capital Market or other principal trading market for Parent Common Stock on the most recent trading day prior to the receipt of 
Stockholder Approval.  

3. Stockholder Proposal .  

3.1 Parent shall undertake to seek approval by Parent stockholders of the issuance of the Milestone Shares in payment of 
Milestone #1 and the issuance of Future Milestone Shares and any related enabling matters (collectively, the “ Stockholder Proposal ”) at the 
2012 Annual Meeting of Parent stockholders.  

3.2 If Parent stockholders fail to approve of the Stockholder Proposal, or if Stockholder Approval is not otherwise obtained for any 
reason on or before July 15, 2012, the Milestone Shares shall be cancelled automatically. In either such event, Parent shall pay Milestone #1, 
plus interest thereon as provided in Section 4, below, in cash to the Holders within three Business Days after the earlier of the 2012 Annual 
Meeting of Parent stockholders and July 15, 2012.  

4. Interest Factor .  

4.1 Whether or not Stockholder Approval is obtained, in addition to the release from Escrow of the Milestone Shares or the payment 
in cash of Milestone #1 to the Holders, as the case may be, Parent shall pay concurrently to the Holders in cash an interest  
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factor of ten percent (10%) per annum on the amount of Milestone #1 from the Payment Date through the day immediately prior to the release of 
the Milestone Shares from Escrow or the cash payment, as the case may be, less the amount of legal fees incurred by the Stockholder 
Representative in connection with the negotiation, preparation and implementation of this Amendment, if any, in excess of the $10,000 to be 
paid or reimbursed by Parent as provided in Section 8, below.  

5. Resale Registration Filings .  

5.1 If Stockholder Approval is obtained, Parent shall, at its own expense (excluding any underwriting commissions and discounts or 
other brokerage fees incurred in connection with the resale by the Holders of the Milestone Shares), prepare and file with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission (“ SEC ”) within ten (10) Business Days following such approval a registration statement on Form S-3 or other 
appropriate form that Parent is then eligible to use under the Securities Act for the purposes of registering the Milestone Shares and a reasonable 
estimate of the Future Milestone Shares associated with the achievement of Milestone #2 for resale by the Holders (the “ Resale Registration 
Statement ”). Unless Parent has a resale registration statement in effect that covers such Future Milestone Shares, Parent also shall prepare and 
file with the SEC within ten (10) days following the achievement of each Milestone to be paid in Future Milestone Shares a registration 
statement on Form S-3 or other appropriate form that Parent is then eligible to use under the Securities Act for the purpose of registering the 
Future Milestone Shares for resale by the Holders (collectively, “ Future Resale Registration Statements ”).  

5.2 Parent shall use commercially reasonable efforts to have the Resale Registration Statement and any Future Resale Registration 
Statements declared effective by the SEC. Parent shall respond to any SEC comments within five (5) Business Days after receipt of such 
comments until the Resale Registration Statement, or any such Future Resale Registration Statements, as the case may be, is declared effective 
by the SEC. Parent shall maintain the effectiveness of the Resale Registration Statement and any Future Resale Registration Statements for a 
period ending on the earlier of: (i) the date on which the Milestone Shares or Future Milestone Shares covered thereby may be sold without any 
volume restrictions under Rule 144 under the Securities Act; or (ii) the date on which all Milestone Shares or Future Milestone Shares covered 
by such Registration Statement have been sold.  

5.3 If (i) the Resale Registration Statement or any Future Resale Registration Statements has not been declared effective on or before 
the ninetieth (90th) day following the filing thereof with the SEC, or (ii) if counsel has not provided to the transfer agent for Parent Common 
Stock (the “ Transfer Agent ”) a “blanket” legal opinion allowing for removal of the restrictive legend on the corresponding Milestone Shares or 
the Future Milestone Shares as contemplated in Section 6, below (the “ Cutoff Date ”), Parent shall pay the Holders in the aggregate one 
thousand dollars ($1,000) per day for each day following the Cutoff Date that the Resale Registration Statement or any Future Resale 
Registration Statements, as the case may be, shall not have been declared effective; provided, that the $1,000 per day penalty shall cease to  
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accrue upon the delivery to the Transfer Agent of a legend removal opinion of the type described in Section 6, below, sufficient to allow for 
removal of the restrictive legend from the applicable Milestone Shares or Future Milestone Shares, as the case may be, covered by such 
registration statement. The aggregate accrued penalties shall be deposited by Parent with the Escrow Agent on or before the fifth Business Day 
following the end of each month and promptly released by the Escrow Agent to the Holders on a pro rata basis in accordance with each Holder’s 
ownership of Escrow Shares (as defined in the Escrow Agreement).  

6. Legal Opinions .  

6.1 Concurrently with the execution and delivery of this Amendment, Parent shall cause its legal counsel to render a “blanket” legal 
opinion to the Transfer Agent to permit the Holders to have reissued in the Holders’ name, or in street-name, the certificates evidencing the 
shares of Parent Common Stock currently held by the Holders, including those shares currently held in the Escrow, as and when released from 
the Escrow, without a restrictive legend under the Securities Act, subject to obtaining appropriate representations and acknowledgements from 
the Holders regarding the manner of resale of such shares.  

6.2 Within ten (10) days following (i) the effectiveness of the Resale Registration Statement, (ii) the effectiveness of any Future 
Resale Registration Statements and (iii) if the SEC fails to declare a registration statement effective, the sixth (6th) month anniversary of the 
issuance of the applicable Milestone Shares and Future Milestone Shares, Parent shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause its legal 
counsel to render a “blanket” legal opinion to the Transfer Agent to permit the Holders to have reissued in the Holders’ name, or in street-name, 
the certificates evidencing the shares of Parent Common Stock then held by the Holders, without a restrictive legend under the Securities Act, 
subject to obtaining appropriate representations and acknowledgements from the Holders regarding the manner of resale of such shares in the 
event a registration statement is not effective.  

7. Representation . The Stockholder Representative acknowledges and agrees that the Milestone Shares, as well as any Future Milestone 
Shares, are or shall be “restricted” shares and, when issued, shall bear an appropriate restrictive legend to such effect. The Milestone Shares and 
any Future Milestone Shares shall not be resold publicly by the Holders, except pursuant to an effective registration statement under the 
Securities Act or in reliance upon the opinion of Parent’s legal counsel to be given pursuant to Section 6.2, above, indicating that such 
registration is not required.  

8. Legal Fees and Expenses . Parent and the Stockholder Representative shall bear their own legal fees and other expenses in connection 
with this Amendment and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, except that Parent shall (i) pay or reimburse the 
Stockholder Representative for up to $2,500 of documented legal fees reasonably incurred by him in connection with the negotiation of the Term 
Sheet, dated January 25, 2012, between Parent and the Stockholder Representative (the “ Term Sheet ”) and up to $10,000 in the aggregate in 
connection with the negotiation of the Term Sheet, this Amendment and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, and 
(ii) shall also pay to or reimburse  
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the Stockholder Representative the amount of documented legal fees, if any, in excess of $10,000 reasonably incurred by him in these 
connections. The Parties acknowledge and agree that the amount referred to in clause (ii), above, if any, shall be deducted from the Interest 
Factor otherwise payable by Parent to the Holders as provided in Section 4, above.  

9. Miscellaneous .  

9.1 Except as specifically set forth in this Amendment, the Original Agreement shall remain unchanged and in full force and effect.  

9.2 This Amendment, including the exhibits and schedules hereto, embodies the entire agreement and understanding of the Parties 
hereto in respect of the subject matter contained herein and supersedes all prior agreements and the understanding between the Parties with 
respect to such subject matter, including, without limitation, the Term Sheet.  

9.3 This Amendment may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original, and all of which 
together shall constitute one and the same instrument. A signature to this Amendment transmitted electronically shall have the same authority, 
effect, and enforceability as an original signature.  

[Signature page follows]  
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the Parties have caused this Amendment to be executed by their duly authorized representatives.  
   

[Signature Page of First Amendment to Contingent Value Rights Agreement]  
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Parent:   Galena Biopharma, Inc. 

  By:   /s/ Mark J. Ahn  
    Mark J. Ahn, Ph.D. 
    President and Chief Executive Officer 

Rights Agent:   Computershare Trust Company, N.A. 

  By:   /s/ Rose Stroud  
    Name:   Rose Stroud  
    Title:   Trust Officer  

  Computershare Inc. 

  By:   /s/ Rose Stroud  
    Name:   Rose Stroud  
    Title:   Trust Officer  

Stockholder Representative:   /s/ Robert E. Kennedy  
  Robert E. Kennedy 



Exhibit 10.37 

SECOND OMNIBUS AMENDMENT  

This SECOND OMNIBUS AMENDMENT (this “ Second Amendment ”) is made and entered into as of March 5, 2012, by and among 
Tang Capital Partners, LP, RTW Investments, LLC, Galena Biopharma, Inc. (formerly RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation) and RXi 
Pharmaceuticals Corporation (formerly RNCS, Inc.).  

WHEREAS, the parties entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement dated as of September 24, 2011 (the “ Securities Purchase 
Agreement ”) and the Ancillary Agreements related thereto, including the Bridge Notes;  

WHEREAS, the parties entered into an Omnibus Amendment dated as of February 6, 2012 (the “ First Amendment ”), amending certain 
provisions of the Securities Purchase Agreement and the Bridge Notes;  

WHEREAS, the Securities Purchase Agreement, as amended by the First Amendment, in Section 8.01(c) thereof provides that the 
Agreement may be terminated by either the Company or the Investors if the Closing has not occurred on or before 5:00 p.m., Eastern Standard 
Time, on March 5, 2012, which date may be extended from time to time by mutual written consent of the Company and the Investors;  

WHEREAS, the Bridge Notes dated September 24, 2011 held by the Investors, as amended by the First Amendment, in Section 1.1 thereof 
each provide for a Maturity Date (as defined in the Bridge Notes) of the earlier of (i) March 5, 2012 or (ii) an Event of Default (as defined in the 
Bridge Notes);  

WHEREAS, the parties desire to amend such provisions of the Securities Purchase Agreement and the Bridge Notes, in each case, as 
amended by the First Amendment, to extend the March 5, 2012 date;  

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and mutual covenants herein, and for other good and valuable consideration, the 
receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows:  

1. Securities Purchase Agreement Amendment . The Securities Purchase Agreement, as previously amended by the First Amendment, is 
hereby further amended as follows:  

(a) Section 8.01(c) is hereby further amended to replace “March 5, 2012” with “March 31, 2012”;  

(b) Section 5.11 is hereby amended to add the following new sentence at the end thereof: “Notwithstanding any other provision of 
this Agreement, the failure of Anastasia Khvorova to be employed by the Company, by itself of in combination with one or more other 
events, shall not be deemed to have resulted or to be reasonably expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.”   



(c) The following new sections are hereby added to ARTICLE V:  

Section 5.14 Trading Market; Ticker Symbol . The Company shall have obtained the approval of the Financial Industry 
Regulatory Authority to list the Company Common Stock for trading in a Trading Market and the Company shall have obtained the 
use of the trading symbol RXII or a derivative thereof ( e.g. , RXII.OB or RXII.PK).  

Section 5.15 Absence of Certain Developments . The Company shall have received confirmation, in a form satisfactory to the 
Investors in their sole discretion, that the Advirna Agreement remains in full force and effect and that the Company’s rights arising 
thereunder remain intact as of the date of such confirmation.  

(d) The following new section is hereby added to ARTICLE IV:  

Section 4.21 Annual Report on Form 10-K . By no later than March 30, 2012, the Company shall prepare and file, if required, 
an annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011.  

2. Bridge Notes Amendment .  

(a) The Bridge Notes, as amended by the First Amendment, are hereby further amended to replace:  

(i) references of “March 5, 2012” with “March 31, 2012”;  

(ii) references of “RNCS, Inc.” with “RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation”;  

(iii) references of “RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation” (but only those references contained in the Bridge Notes prior to giving 
effect to the change set forth above in Section 2(a)(ii)) with “Galena BioPharma, Inc.”  

3. Miscellaneous . Capitalized terms used herein and not defined shall have the meanings set forth in the Securities Purchase Agreement or 
in the Bridge Notes, as applicable, in each case as amended by the First Amendment. The terms and conditions set forth in Article X of the 
Securities Purchase Agreement are incorporated herein by reference. Nothing herein shall constitute a waiver of any provision of the Securities 
Purchase Agreement or any of the Ancillary Documents pursuant to Section 10.03 of the Securities Purchase Agreement.  

[Signature Page Follows]  



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Second Amendment as of the date first above written.  
   

[Signature Page to Second Omnibus Amendment]  

GALENA BIOPHARMA, INC. 

By:   /s/ Mark J. Ahn  
  Mark J. Ahn 
  President and Chief Executive Officer 

RXi PHARMACEUTICALS CORPORATION 

By:   /s/ Mark J. Ahn  
  Mark J. Ahn 
  President 

TANG CAPITAL PARTNERS, LP 

By:   /s/ Kevin C. Tang  
  Kevin C. Tang 
  Managing Director 

RTW INVESTMENTS, LLC 

By:   /s/ Roderick Wong  
  Roderick Wong 
  Managing Member 
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RXi PHARMACEUTICALS CORP.  

2,136 rentable sq. ft. 

“LAKE VIEW VILLAGE”  

COMMERCIAL OFFICE LEASE  

THIS LEASE, dated as of the 30th day of June, 2011, between LO 138 LLC, an Oregon limited liability company as “Landlord” and RXi 
PHARMACEUTICALS CORPORATION, a Delaware corporation, as “Tenant”.  

Section 1 PREMISES . Landlord hereby leases to Tenant and Tenant hereby leases from Landlord approximately 2,136 rentable Square feet of 
space shown on the floor plan attached hereto as Exhibit A-1 (“the “Premises”) on the second floor of the building as shown crosshatched on the 
site plan attached as Exhibit A-2 (the “Building”) in the development known as Lakeview Village constructed or to be constructed by Landlord 
on the real property described in attached Exhibit A-3 (the “Project”). Tenant’s lease of the Premises shall include the appurtenant right to use in 
common with others all common areas within the Project as Landlord may from time to time designate. Tenant’s lease of the Premises shall also 
include the nonexclusive right to use in common with others the City of Lake Oswego public parking garage constructed or to be constructed as 
shown on the site plan attached as Exhibit A-2 (the “Garage”). Such use shall be in accordance with the LORA Parking Facility Use, 
Maintenance and Operation Agreement between the Lake Oswego Redevelopment Agency and Gramor Development, Inc. (the “Parking 
Agreement”). Landlord reserves the right to alter or relocate any common area. The Lease is subject to all easements, restrictions, agreements of 
record, mortgages and deeds of trust, and zoning and building laws. This Lease is subject to that certain Agreement for the Disposition and 
Development of Block 138, City of Lake Oswego (“DDA”) dated April 17, 2001 between The Lake Oswego Redevelopment Agency (“LORA”) 
and Gramor Development, Inc. and any amendments thereto  

Section 2 TERM . The lease term shall commence on the Date of Commencement described below and continue for twenty-four (24) full 
calendar months (plus the partial month, if any, in which the lease commences), unless sooner terminated. “Date of Commencement” shall be 
August 1, 2011.  

Section 3 RENT .  

3.1 Minimum Rent . Tenant shall pay to Landlord, during the term of this Lease as minimum monthly rent the sum of Three Thousand 
Two Hundred Four and no/100 Dollars ($3,204.00) per month. Tenant shall not be required to pay minimum rent during Month 1 of the Lease 
term. Tenant shall be required to pay additional rent, pursuant to Section 3.2 from the Date of Commencement. Rent will be paid in advance on 
the first day of each month at such place as Landlord may designate. Minimum rent is uniformly apportionable day to day. Minimum rent for the 
partial month (if any) in which the lease term commences shall be prorated and paid at commencement of the lease term. Upon execution hereof, 
Tenant shall pay to Landlord the sum of Three Thousand Two Hundred Four and no/100 Dollars ($3,204.00) to be applied to minimum and 
additional rent as it becomes due.  



3.2 Additional Rent .  

(1) Operating Expenses . In addition to the minimum rent, Tenant shall pay as additional rent its share of all expenses for the Project. 
As used herein “operating expenses” shall mean all costs of ownership, operation, maintenance and repair of the Project as determined by 
standard real estate accounting practice, including but not limited to: wages, salaries and benefits of employees engaged in the operation, 
maintenance and repair of the Project; costs incurred by the Landlord under the Parking Agreement; the cost of all utilities for the Project 
including water, sewer, lighting, power, heating, air conditioning and ventilating (excluding utilities separately metered and servicing tenant 
spaces exclusively); the cost of janitorial service and supplies, waste disposal service, window washing and her services furnished for the benefit 
of tenants of the Project; costs of consumable supplies including without limitation cleaning supplies, restroom paper products, light bulbs, tubes 
and ballasts; costs of Project maintenance and service agreements; the cost of security, repair and replacement; cost of materials, tools and 
equipment used in the operation, management and maintenance of the Project; common area utility costs including city or county road 
maintenance fees; the cost of all insurance relating to the Project, including but not limited to the cost of casualty, rental abatement, boiler and 
machinery, earthquake, flood and liability insurance (and all deductibles); all accounting, legal and professional fees incurred in connection with 
the operation of the Project; the cost of rental value of the Project office; and a management fee of four percent (4%) of the minimum rent  

(2) Taxes and Assessments . In addition to the minimum rent, Tenant shall pay as additional rent its share of all real property taxes 
and assessments of any public authority against the Project payable during or with respect to the Lease term, including without limitation, 
Landlord’s cost incurred under the Parking Agreement and the cost of contesting any tax. Real property taxes and assessments shall include all 
real property taxes and assessments of any public authority assessed against the Project and any rent tax, gross receipts tax, tax on Landlord’s 
interest under this Lease, or any tax in lieu of the foregoing, whether or not such tax is now in effect (excluding any tax based upon Landlord’s 
net income). If any portion of the Project is occupied by a tax exempt tenant so that the Project has a partial tax exemption under ORS 307.112 
or a similar statute, the real property taxes and assessments shall mean real property taxes and assessments computed as if such partial exemption 
did not exist.  

(3) Tenant’s Share . Tenant’s share of the operating expenses, taxes and assessments of the Project shall be a percentage thereof 
equal to the percentage which the rentable square feet of the Premises bears to the total rentable square feet of the Project. Tenant’s share shall 
be based on the total rentable area of the Project whether such area is occupied or not and shall not be adjusted to reflect vacancy in the Project, 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Landlord shall be permitted to adjust Tenant’s percentage share of any item of operating expense to allocate such 
operating expense among tenants in the Project in an equitable manner based upon the usage of and benefits afforded to such tenants, 
respectively. Landlord shall also be permitted to adjust Tenant’s share of any portion of any real property taxes and assessments in the event a 
tenant within the Shopping Center is billed directly or separately assessed for such portion of real property taxes and assessments by the taxing 
authority. In such  
   

2  



event, Landlord shall be permitted to exclude such tenant’s area from the total net rentable area of the Shopping Center for the purposes of 
determining Tenant’s share of such portion of real property taxes and assessments.  

(4) Payment . Upon commencement of the Lease term and at the beginning of each calendar year during the term of the Lease, 
Landlord may reasonably estimate Tenant’s share of operating expenses and taxes and assessments for the ensuing calendar year or portion 
thereof, Landlord may revise the estimate during the course of any year. Tenant will pay one-twelfth of Tenant’s estimated share of operating 
expenses and taxes and assessments on the first day of each calendar month during the term hereof. If Landlord bills on an estimated basis, 
Landlord shall, within 120-days (or as soon thereafter as possible) after the end of any calendar year give Tenant written notice of Tenant’s 
actual share of operating expenses and taxes and assessments. If Tenant’s payments of its estimated share for such calendar year differ from 
Tenant’s actual share, an appropriate adjustment shall be made within 30-days after the giving of such notice. Any objections by Tenant to the 
annual statement shall be made in writing within thirty days after receipt thereof. Otherwise, the annual statement shall be deemed conclusive 
and binding on the parties. If Landlord bills on an actual basis Tenant will pay Tenant’s actual share of operating expenses and taxes and 
assessments on the first day of the first calendar month after such bill.  

(5) Parking Facility Agreement. This Lease is subject to the Parking Agreement .  

(6) Reciprocal Easement . Landlord reserves the right to subject the Project to reciprocal easements, covenants and restrictions to 
which this Lease shall automatically be subordinate. In such event, the operating expenses for the Project shall be deemed to include, without 
limitation, Landlord’s share of such costs under the reciprocal easements, covenants and restrictions.  

3.3 Interest and Late Charges . All rent and other payments not paid within thirty (30) days when due shall bear interest from the due date 
until fully paid at the rate of twelve percent (12%) per annum, but not in any event at a rate greater than the maximum rate of interest permitted 
by law. In addition, Tenant acknowledges that late payment of any rent or other payment required by this Lease from Tenant to Landlord will 
result in collection costs to Landlord, the extent of which additional costs is extremely difficult and economically impractical to ascertain. Tenant 
therefore agrees that if Tenant fails to make any rent or other payment required by this Lease to be paid to Landlord within ten (10) days when it 
is due, Landlord may elect to impose a late charge of five cents (50) per dollar of the overdue payment, to reimburse Landlord for the costs of 
collecting the overdue payment. Tenant shall pay the late charge upon demand by Landlord. Tenant agrees that the late charge is a reasonable 
estimate of the costs to Landlord of collecting the overdue payment. Landlord may levy and collect a late charge in addition to all other remedies 
available for Tenant’s default, and collection of a late charge shall not waive the breach caused by the late payment.  

3.4 Net Lease Provision . All payments required to be paid by Tenant under this Lease, other than minimum rent, will constitute additional 
rent. This is intended to be a net lease, meaning that Tenant shall pay all expenses of every type relating to the Premises after commencement of 
the lease term, all rent (including minimum and additional rent) shall be received by Landlord without setoff, offset, abatement, or deduction of 
any kind.  
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Section 4 BUSINESS PURPOSE .  

4.1 Permitted Use . Tenant shall use the Premises only for the purpose of a general office use which may include biotechnological, 
pharmaceutical and medical office use and for no other purpose without the Landlord’s express written consent.  

4.2 Compliance with Laws . In connection with its use, Tenant shall comply at its expense with all applicable laws, regulations and 
requirements of any public authority, including those regarding maintenance, operation and use of the Premises and any appliances on the 
Premises (including signs),  

4.3 Insurance . Tenant shall not conduct or permit any activities on the Premises which will: increase the fire insurance rate upon the 
Project or cause a cancellation of the fire insurance policy; or create a nuisance or damage the reputation of the Project or be reasonably 
offensive to Landlord or other tenants  

4.4 Supervision . Tenant shall keep the Premises clean and orderly and will cause its employees on the Premises to be well groomed and 
dressed in accordance with a first-class, professional operation of Tenant’s business. Tenant will supervise its employees and cause Tenant’s 
agents, independent contractors, employees, customers, suppliers and invitees to conduct their activities in such a manner as to comply with the 
requirements of this Lease and the rules and regulations described herein.  

4.5 Common Areas . All common areas within the Project shall be used in strict compliance with Landlord’s reasonable rules, regulations 
and requirements for such areas.  

4.6 Name of Business . The advertised name of the business operated in the Premises shall be RXi Pharmaceuticals or any other such name 
the originally-named Tenant is legally identified as.  

4.7 Parking . Tenant shall comply with the Garage rules, regulations and requirements as adopted and published by Landlord from time to 
time and shall cause Tenant’s customers, employees and invitees to abide by such rules, regulations and requirements. Landlord reserves the 
right to restrict the use of designated stalls or areas within the Garage. When requested by Landlord, Tenant shall give Landlord written notice of 
the license number of all vehicles parked in the Project by Tenant’s officers, employees, agents and contractors. If a vehicle of Tenant’s or its 
officers, employees, agents or contractors is at any time parked in a part of the Project or Garage other than the designated area, Landlord shall 
have the right to have the vehicle towed and to collect towing and storage charges as a condition of releasing the vehicle to its owner or to charge 
the owner of the vehicle a per diem fee for each vehicle so parked.  

During the hours of 7:00 am — 5:00 pm Monday through Friday (“Office Hours”), Tenant shall have the exclusive right to use four 
(4) parking stalls for employee parking.  
   

4  



4.8 Storage, Trash . Tenant shall not store anything outside except in areas approved by Landlord. Tenant will use only trash and garbage 
receptacles approved by Landlord. Tenant shall dispose of trash and other matter in a manner acceptable to Landlord, at Tenant’s expense.  

Section 5 UTILITIES AND SERVICES .  

5.1 Building Maintenance . Landlord shall maintain the public and common areas of the Project and the Building structure in good 
condition and repairs.  

5.2 Utility Service . Landlord shall supply the Premises with electricity for lighting and operation of normal office equipment, heating 
ventilation and cooling to a standard of comfort customary in other comparable office buildings in the area, janitorial services and such other 
services as Landlord may elect during the times and in the manner that such services are customarily furnished in comparable office buildings in 
the area. Landlord shall not be in default hereunder or be liable for any failure or interruption of utilities or services to the Premises. Landlord 
shall take reasonable steps to restore service as soon as practical subject to causes beyond Landlord’s reasonable control. Gas, electricity, water 
and sewer used in the office portion of the Project shall be separately metered from gas, electricity, water and sewer used in the retail portion of 
the Project. Tenant shall pay its proportionate share of all Project utilities including but not limited to parking area lighting, elevator electricity 
and landscape irrigation pursuant to Section 3.2 hereof. Landlord shall reasonably allocate operating expenses of the Project based on projected 
and actual costs associated with each. All such costs and services incurred shall be an Operating Expense pursuant to Section 3.2 hereof.  

Section 6 INSURANCE; INDEMNITY .  

6.1 Public Liability Insurance . Tenant shall continuously maintain at its expense comprehensive general liability insurance, with limits of 
not less than $2,000,000 per person, $2,000,000 per occurrence for injury to, illness of, or death of persons occurring in, upon or about the 
Premises or Project, and $200,000 per occurrence for property damage occurring in, upon or about the Project with fire legal liability 
endorsement with limits no less than $200,000. All such insurance shall insure the performance by Tenant of the indemnity agreement set forth 
in Section 6.5 hereof.  

6.2 Fire Insurance of Tenant . Tenant, at its expense, shall maintain in effect; fire and extended coverage insurance on furnishings, 
leasehold improvements, fixtures, inventory and equipment located on the Premises, for the full replacement value. The proceeds of such 
insurance, so long as this Lease remains in effect, shall be used to repair or replace the leasehold improvements, fixtures, equipment and plate 
glass so insured.  

6.3 Insurance Policies . All insurance policies shall name Landlord, its managers and members and any managing agent and other designee 
as additional insureds and shall be with companies and with loss-payable clauses satisfactory to Landlord and with ratings no less than A+ by 
A.M. Best. Copies of all policies or certificates evidencing such insurance shall be delivered to Landlord by Tenant prior to Tenant’s occupancy 
of the Premises. All policies shall be primary and noncontributing with any insurance which may be carried by Landlord. All policies shall bear 
endorsements requiring 30 days written notice to Landlord prior to any change or cancellation.  
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6.4 Waiver of Subrogation . Neither party shall be liable to the other for any loss or damage caused by water damage or any of the risks 
covered by a standard fire insurance policy with extended coverage endorsements, and there shall be no subrogated claim by one party’s 
insurance carrier against the other party arising out of any such loss.  

6.5 Indemnity of Landlord . Tenant hereby waives all claims against Landlord for damage to any property or injury, illness or death of any 
person in, upon, or about the Premises and/or Shopping Center arising at any time and from any cause whatsoever. Tenant shall defend, 
indemnify and hold harmless Landlord, its managers and members and any managing agent or other designee from any and all claims or liability 
for any damage to any property or injury, illness, or death of any person occurring in or on the Premises or occurring elsewhere in the Shopping 
Center when such damage, injury, illness, or death shall be caused in whole or in part by the act or failure to act of Tenant, its agents, servants, 
employees, invitees, contractors, or licensees.  

Section 7 REPAIRS, MAINTENANCE AND ALTERATIONS .  

7.1 Condition of Premises . By entry hereunder Tenant accepts the Premises as being in the condition in which Landlord is obligated to 
deliver the Premises. Tenant shall, at Tenant’s own expense, keep the Premises in good condition and repair, including without limitation, the 
maintenance, replacement and repair of any walls, floors, ceilings, interior doors, interior windows and fixtures, interior plumbing (if any), 
electrical wiring and conduits. Tenant shall be responsible for all repairs, interior and exterior, structural and non-structural, ordinary and 
extraordinary, in and to the Premises and the Project and the facilities and systems thereof, the need for which arises out of the performance or 
existence of the Tenant’s alterations, the installation, use or operation of Tenant’s property in the Premises, the moving of Tenant’s property in 
or out of the Project, or the act, omission, misuse or neglect of Tenant, its agents, employees, contractors or invitees. Tenant shall promptly 
make, at Tenant’s expense, all repairs in or to the Premises for which Tenant is responsible. Such work shall be performed only by contractor(s) 
designated or approved in writing by the Landlord. Tenant shall, upon the termination of this Lease, surrender the Premises to Landlord, in good 
condition except for ordinary wear and tear and for damage covered by Landlord’s fire and extended coverage insurance.  

7.2 Climate Control . Landlord shall maintain and operate the heating, ventilating and air-conditioning systems serving the Premises for 
occupancy of the Premises during Business Hours of Business Days, the expense of which shall be included in Operating Expense of the Project 
as defined in Section 3.2 hereof. As used herein, “Business Hours” shall mean generally customary daytime business hours, but not before 7:30 
a.m. or after 6 p.m. on weekdays and not before 7:30 a.m. or after 1 p.m. on Saturdays. “Business Days” shall mean all days except Sundays and 
days observed by the Federal or State government as legal holidays. Tenant shall have the right to use and control the HVAC system within the 
Premises during hours outside Business Hours.  
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7.3 Alterations . Tenant shall not make any alterations or improvements to the Premises without the prior written consent of Landlord. Any 
alterations or improvements to the Premises (excluding trade fixtures installed by Tenant), shall become part of the Premises and belong to 
Landlord and shall be surrendered with the Premises without disturbance upon the termination of the Lease. In the event Landlord consents to 
the making of any alterations or improvement, the same shall be made at Tenant’s sole expense.  

7.4 Trade Fixtures . Upon expiration or earlier termination of the Lease, Tenant shall remove all trade fixtures, movable furniture and 
equipment located on the Premises which belong to the Tenant, and repair at its expense any damage caused to the Premises by such removal. If 
Tenant fails to remove such property, this shall be an abandonment of the property and Landlord may retain the property and all rights of Tenant 
with respect to it shall cease or, by notice in writing given to Tenant within 20 days after removal was required, Landlord may elect to hold 
Tenant to its obligation of removal. If Landlord elects to require Tenant to remove, Landlord may effect a removal and place the property in 
storage for Tenant’s account. Tenant shall be liable to Landlord for the cost or reasonable value of removal, restoration, transportation to storage 
and storage, with interest on all such as expenses as provided in paragraph 13.3 below.  

7.5 Compliance With The Laws . Tenant should not use the Premises or permit anything to be done in or about the Premises which will 
conflict with any law or regulation.  

7.6 Entry and Inspection . With reasonable notice except in an emergency, Landlord or its agents may enter the Premises at any time to 
determine Tenant’s compliance with this Lease, to make necessary repairs, or to show the Premises to prospective tenants or purchasers.  

Section 8 RECONSTRUCTION AND RESTORATION .  

8.1 Minor Damage . If during the term hereof the Premises are destroyed or damaged by fire or other perils covered by Landlord’s fire and 
extended coverage insurance and such damage is not “substantial,” Landlord shall promptly repair such damage to Landlord’s Work in the 
Premises and this Lease shall continue in full force and effect.  

8.2 Substantial Damage . If during the term hereof the Premises are destroyed or damaged by fire or other perils covered by Landlord’s 
insurance in an amount exceeding twenty-five percent (25%) of its full construction-replacement cost or other peril not covered by Landlord’s 
insurance, then Landlord may elect to terminate this Lease by giving Tenant written notice of such termination within 60 days after the date of 
such damage. Otherwise, Landlord shall proceed to restore Landlord’s Work in the Premises to a condition comparable to that existing prior to 
the damage. Tenant shall cooperate with Landlord during the period of repair and vacate all or any part of the Premises to the extent necessary 
for the performance of the required work. Landlord need not incur expenses for restoration in excess of the net insurance proceeds available to 
Landlord after payment of all reasonable costs, expenses and attorneys’ fees incurred by Landlord in connection therewith.  

8.3 Abatement of Rent . The minimum rent shall be abated during the period and to the extent the Premises is not reasonably usable for 
Tenant’s use. if the damage does not cause any material interference with Tenant’s use, there shall be no rent abatement.  
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8.4 Repair of Tenant’s Property . Repair, replacement, or restoration of any fixtures, equipment and personal property owned by Tenant, 
and Tenant improvements shall be the responsibility of Tenant.  

Section 9 ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING . Tenant shall not (voluntarily or by operation of law) assign, mortgage, pledge, hypothecate or 
encumber the Premises or Tenant’s leasehold estate or sublet any portion of the Premises, or otherwise transfer any interest in the Premises 
without Landlord’s prior written consent in each instance which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed. In determining whether 
to consent, Landlord may consider any reasonable factor including without limitation, credit worthiness, business experience, general reputation 
and ability to perform the terms of this Lease of the proposed transferee. If Tenant is a corporation, transfer of a fifty percent (50%) or greater 
interest in cumulative total in any 2-year period in the stock of Tenant shall be deemed an assignment within the meaning of this Section. If 
Tenant is a partnership, any change in the partners shall be deemed an assignment of this Lease. if Tenant requests consent to a proposed 
transfer, Tenant shall pay a review fee of $200 at the time of the request for application to Landlord’s expenses in reviewing the request for 
consent to transfer.  

Section 10 CONDEMNATION .  

10.1 Entire or Substantial Taking . If more than twenty-five percent (25%) of the Premises (notwithstanding restoration by Landlord as 
herein provided) shall be taken under the power of eminent domain, this Lease shall automatically terminate on the date the condemning 
authority takes possession.  

10.2 Partial Taking . In the event of any taking under the power of eminent domain which does not so result in a termination of this Lease, 
the minimum rent payable hereunder shall be reduced, effective on the date the condemning authority takes possession, in the same proportion as 
the reduction in rentable floor area of the Premises. Landlord shall promptly, at its sole expense, restore the portion of the Premises not taken to 
as near its former condition as is reasonably possible, and this Lease shall continue in full force and effect.  

10.3 Awards . Any award for taking of all or any part of the Premises under the power or eminent domain shall be the property of the 
Landlord, whether such award shall be made as compensation for diminution in value of the leasehold or for taking of the fee. Nothing herein, 
however, shall be deemed to preclude Tenant from obtaining, or to give Landlord any interest in, any award to Tenant for loss of or damage to or 
cost of removal of Tenant’s trade fixtures and removable personal property, or for damages for cessation or interruption of Tenant’s business.  

10.4 Sale Under Threat of Condemnation . A sale by Landlord to any authority with power of eminent domain, either under threat of 
condemnation or while condemnation proceedings are pending, shall be deemed a taking under the power of eminent domain under this Section. 
Landlord need not incur expenses for restoration in excess of the amount of condemnation proceeds received by Landlord after payment of all 
reasonable costs, expenses and attorneys’ fees paid or incurred by Landlord in connection with the condemnation.  
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Section 11 SIGNS . Tenant shall not inscribe, post, place or in any manner display any sign notice, picture, placard, or any advertising matter, 
anywhere in, on or about the Premises or the Project without first obtaining Landlord’s prior written consent. Tenant shall be permitted to place 
identification signage to the right of the interior door to the Premises. Landlord shall produce and install said door signage in accordance with 
building standards and at Tenant’s expense. Any sign on the Premises will be designed and constructed in compliance with applicable sign 
codes. Tenant shall be responsible for the removal of its sign(s) and the repair of any damage to the building as a result of the sign’s presence or 
removal.  

Section 12 OTHER OBLIGATIONS OF PARTIES .  

12.1 Liens . Tenant shall pay as due all claims for work done on the Premises or for services rendered or materials furnished to the 
Premises and shall keep the Premises free from any liens other than liens created by Landlord. If Tenant fails to pay such claim or to discharge 
any lien, Landlord may do so and collect such amount as additional rent. Amounts paid by Landlord shall bear interest and be repaid by Tenant 
as provided in paragraph 13.3 below. Such payment by Landlord shall not constitute a waiver of any right or remedy Landlord may have because 
of Tenant’s default.  

12.2 Holding Over . If Tenant does not vacate the Premises at the time required, Landlord shall have the option to treat Tenant as a tenant 
from month to month, subject to all of the provisions of this Lease (except that the term will be month to month and the initial minimum monthly 
rent will be one hundred fifty percent {150%) of the minimum monthly rent then being paid by Tenant), or to eject Tenant from the Premises and 
recover damages caused by wrongful hold over.  

12.3 Non merger . The voluntary or other surrender of this Lease by Tenant, or a mutual cancellation thereof, shall not work a merger, and 
shall, at the option of the Landlord, terminate all and any existing subtenancies, or may, at the option of Landlord, operate as an assignment to it 
of any and all such subtenancies.  

12.4 Rights of Landlord . Landlord shall have the right to change the name or designation of the Project without notice or liability to 
Tenant. Landlord shall also have the right to grant to anyone the exclusive right to conduct a particular business or undertaking in the Project. 
Landlord has entered into a Declaration of Restrictive Covenants with the Lake Oswego Redevelopment Agency (the “Restrictive Covenants”) 
to which this lease is subordinate. Tenant shall not use the Premises for any use which violates such Restrictive Covenants.  

12.5 Priority of Lease . This Lease shall be subject and subordinated at all times to the lien of all mortgages and deeds of trust subsequently 
placed upon the Project all without the necessity of having further instruments executed on the part of Tenant to effectuate such subordination. If 
any party providing financing or funding to Landlord requires, as a condition to such financing or funding, that Tenant send such party written 
notice of any default by Landlord under this Lease, giving such party the right to cure such default until it has completed foreclosure and 
preventing Tenant from terminating this Lease unless such default remains uncured after foreclosure has been completed, Tenant will execute 
and deliver any agreement required by such party in order to accomplish this purpose.  
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12.6 Landlord’s Liability; Sale . The liability of Landlord under this Lease will be limited to Landlord’s interest in the Project, and any 
judgment against Landlord will be enforceable solely against Landlord’s interest in the Project. In the event the original Landlord hereunder, or 
any successor owner of the Project, shall sell or convey the Project, all liabilities and obligations on the part of the original Landlord, or such 
successor owner, under this Lease accruing thereafter shall terminate, and thereupon all such liabilities and obligations shall be binding upon the 
new owner. Tenant agrees to attorn to such new owner.  

12.7 Estoppel Certificate . Within 10 days after Landlord’s written request, Tenant shall deliver a written statement stating the date to 
which the rent and other charges have been paid, whether the Lease is unmodified and in full force and effect, and any other matters that may 
reasonably be requested by Landlord.  

12.8 Rules and Regulations . Tenant agrees to comply with any rules and regulations for the Project adopted and published by Landlord 
from time to time and to cause Tenant’s customers, employees and invitees to abide by such rules and regulations. Tenant agrees that Landlord 
shall not be responsible to Tenant for the noncompliance by any other tenant or occupancy of the Project with such rules and regulations.  

12.9 Financial Statements . Upon written notice from Landlord, Tenant agrees to provide current financial statements for the Tenant and/or 
Guarantor. Landlord hereby agrees to maintain the confidentiality of all such statements; however Landlord may disclose such to its attorneys, 
accountants or other professional advisors and any current or potential mortgagee or purchaser of the Property, and in connection with any 
proceeding to enforce the terms of this Lease.  

Section 13 DEFAULTS; REMEDIES .  

13.1 Default . The following shall be events of default:  

(1) Payment Default . Failure of Tenant to make any base, percentage or additional rent or other payment under this Lease for a 
period of ten (10) days after it becomes due and payable.  

(2) Unauthorized Transfer . Any transfer by Tenant without Landlord’s prior written consent as required under Section 9.  

(3) Abandonment of Premises . Tenant fails to occupy or use the Premises for the purposes permitted by this Lease for a total of ten 
(10) consecutive business days or more during the lease term, unless such failure is excused under other provisions of this Lease.  

(4) Default In Other Covenant . Failure of Tenant to comply with any other term or condition or fulfill any other obligation of this 
Lease within 20-days after written notice by Landlord specifying the nature of the default with reasonable particularity. No notice and no 
opportunity to cure shall be required if Landlord has previously given Tenant notice of failure to comply with such term or condition or fulfill 
such other obligation of this Lease during the term hereof.  
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(5) Insolvency Defaults . Dissolution, termination of existence, insolvency on a balance sheet basis or business failure of Tenant; the 
commencement by Tenant of a voluntary case under the federal bankruptcy laws or under any other federal or state law relating to insolvency or 
debtor’s relief; the entry of a decree or order for relief against Tenant in an involuntary case under the federal bankruptcy laws or under any other 
applicable federal or state law relating to insolvency or debtor’s relief; the appointment of or the consent by Tenant to the appointment of a 
receiver, trustee or custodian of Tenant or of any of Tenant’s property; an assignment for the benefit of creditors by Tenant; Tenant’s failure 
generally to pay its debts as such debts become due; the making or suffering by Tenant of a fraudulent transfer under applicable federal or state 
law; concealment by Tenant of any of its property in fraud of creditors; the making or suffering by Tenant of a preference within the meaning of 
federal bankruptcy law; or the imposition of a lien through legal proceedings or distraint upon any of the property of Tenant which is not 
discharged or bonded. During any period in which there is a Guarantor(s) of this Lease, each reference to “Tenants” in this paragraph shall be 
deemed to refer to “Guarantor or Tenant,” separately.  

13.2 Remedies on Default . Upon default, Landlord may exercise any one or more of the following remedies, or any other remedy 
available under applicable law:  

(1) Retake Possession . With or without terminating the Lease, to the extent permitted by law, Landlord may re-enter and retake 
possession of the Premises and terminate Tenant’s tenancy, without notice, either by summary proceedings, force, any other applicable action or 
proceeding, or otherwise. Landlord may use the Premises for Landlord’s own purposes or relet it upon any reasonable terms without prejudice to 
any other remedies that Landlord may have by reason of Tenant’s default. None of these actions will be deemed an acceptance of surrender by 
Tenant. To the extent permitted by law, Tenant expressly waives the service of any notice of intention to terminate Tenant’s tenancy or Tenant’s 
right to possession or to retake the Premises, and waives service of any demand for payment of rent or for possession, and of any and every other 
notice or demand required or permitted under applicable law.  

(2) Relet the Premises . Landlord at its option may relet the whole or any part of the Premises, from time to time, either in the name 
of Landlord or otherwise, to such tenants, for such terms ending before, on, or after the expiration date of the lease term, at such reasonable 
rentals and upon such other reasonable conditions (including concessions and free rent periods) as Landlord, in its sole discretion, may 
reasonably determine to be appropriate. Landlord shall have no obligation to relet the Premises or any part and shall not be liable for refusal or 
failure to relet the Premises, or in the event of any such reletting, for refusal or failure to collect any rent due upon such reletting. No such refusal 
or failure shall operate to relieve Tenant of any liability under this Lease or otherwise affecting such liability. Landlord at its option may make 
such physical changes to the Premises as Landlord, in its sole discretion, considers advisable or necessary in connection with any such reletting 
or proposed reletting without relieving Tenant of any liability under this Lease or otherwise affecting Tenant’s liability. If there is other 
comparable unleased space in the Project, Landlord shall have no obligation to attempt to relet the Premises prior to leasing other space in the 
Project.  

(3) Damages for Default . Whether or not Landlord retakes possession or relets the Premises, Landlord may recover all damages 
caused by the default (including but not  
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limited to unpaid rent, attorneys’ fees relating to the default, and costs of reletting). Landlord may sue periodically to recover damages as they 
accrue during the remainder of the lease term without barring a later action for further damages. Landlord may at any time bring an action for 
accrued damages plus damages for the remaining lease term equal to the difference between the rent specified in this Lease and the reasonable 
rental value of the Premises for the remainder of the term, discounted to the time of judgment at the rate of six percent (6%) per annum.  

(4) Continuation after Default . Even though Tenant is in default under this Lease, this Lease shall continue in effect so long as 
Landlord does not terminate this Lease, and Landlord may enforce all its rights and remedies under this Lease, including the right to recover the 
rent as it becomes due under the Lease. Upon default, Landlord may terminate this Lease by giving written notice of termination of this Lease to 
Tenant. Termination of Tenant’s tenancy or Tenant’s right to possession, acts of maintenance or preservation or efforts to relet the Premises or 
the appointment of a receiver upon initiative of Landlord to protect Landlord’s interest under this Lease shall not constitute a termination of this 
Lease unless written notice of termination of this Lease is given by Landlord to Tenant.  

13.3 Cure of Tenant’s Default . Without prejudice to any other remedy for default, Landlord may perform any obligation or make any 
payment required to cure a default by Tenant. The cost of performance, including attorneys’ fees and all disbursements, shall immediately be 
repaid by Tenant upon demand, together with interest from the date of expenditure until fully paid at the rate of fourteen percent (14%) per 
annum, but not in any event at a rate greater than the maximum rate of interest permitted by law.  

13.4 Cumulative Remedies . The remedies provided for in this Lease are cumulative and not intended to be exclusive of any other remedy 
to which Landlord may lawfully be entitled at any time, and Landlord may invoke any such remedy, including, without limitation, termination of 
the tenancy under ORS 91.090, as if specific remedies were not provided for herein.  

Section 14 SECURITY DEPOSITS . Tenant shall upon execution hereof deposit with the Landlord the sum of Three Thousand Two Hundred 
Four and no/100 Dollars ($3,204.00), as security for the full and faithful performance by Tenant of every provision of this Lease. If Tenant 
violates any provision of this Lease, Landlord may, but shall not be obligated to, apply all or any part of this security deposit to remedy such 
violation. If any portion of said deposit is so applied, Tenant shall immediately deposit with Landlord cash in an amount sufficient to restore the 
security deposit to its original amount. Landlord may commingle this deposit with Landlord’s funds and Tenant shall not be entitled to interest 
on such deposit. If Tenant shall fully and faithfully perform every provision of this Lease, the security deposit or any balance thereof shall be 
returned to Tenant within 10 days after the expiration of the lease term.  

Section 15 LANDLORD ’S AND TENANT’S WORK .  

15.1 By Landlord . Landlord shall perform the work described as Landlord’s Work in attached Exhibit B.  
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15.2 By Tenant . Tenant shall perform all other work required to ready the Premises for Tenant’s use and occupancy in accordance with 
attached Exhibit B.  

Section 16 MISCELLANEOUS .  

16.1 Waivers . No waiver by Landlord of performance of any provision of this Lease shall be deemed to be a waiver of nor prejudice 
Landlord’s right to otherwise require performance of the same provision or any other provision.  

16.2 Recording . Tenant shall not record this Lease.  

16.3 Notices . All notices under this Lease shall be in writing effective when delivered in person, or if mailed, upon deposit in the United 
States Mail, certified and postage prepaid and addressed to the address of Tenant or Landlord shown below or at such other address as may be 
designated by either party by notice to the other.  

16.4 Exhibits and Riders . Exhibits and riders, if any, initialed or signed by Landlord and Tenant, and attached or affixed to this Lease, are 
a part hereof as if set forth in full herein.  

16.5 Construction . (a) This Lease shall be construed and governed by the laws of the State of Oregon; (b) the invalidity or unenforceability 
of any provision hereof shall not affect or impair any other provisions hereof; (c) this Lease constitutes the entire agreement of the parties and 
supersedes all prior agreements or understandings between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof; (d) this Lease may not be 
modified or amended except by written agreement signed and acknowledged by both parties; (e) if there be more than one tenant, the obligations 
hereunder imposed upon Tenant shall be joint and several; (f) time is of the essence of this Lease in each and every provision hereof; and 
(g) nothing contained herein shall create the relationship of principal and agent or of partnership or of joint venture between the parties hereto 
and no provisions contained herein shall be deemed to create any relationship other than that of landlord and tenant.  

16.6 Successor . Subject to any limitations on assignments herein, all of the provisions of this Lease shall inure to the benefit of and be 
binding upon the successors and assigns of the parties hereto.  

16.7 Attorneys’  Fees . In the event suit or action is instituted to interpret or enforce the terms of this Lease, the prevailing party shall be 
entitled to recover from the other party such sum as the court may adjudge reasonable as attorneys’ fees at trial, on petition for review, or on 
appeal, in addition to all other sums provided by law.  

16.8 Hazardous Substances . Tenant shall not use, generate transport, treat, store, dispose of or otherwise handle Hazardous Substances on 
the Leased Premises without the prior written consent of Landlord, except Hazardous Substances and in quantities commonly used in business 
offices, provided such Hazardous Substances are maintained and used in accordance with applicable laws relating thereto, Landlord may 
withhold such consent in its sole discretion or may condition such consent upon Tenant’s agreement to comply with requirements designated by 
Landlord. The term “Hazardous Substances” shall mean any and all hazardous, toxic, infectious or radioactive substances, wastes or materials as 
defined or listed by any federal, state or local statute, regulation or ordinance pertaining to the protection of human health or the environment and 
shall specifically include petroleum oil and its fractions.  
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16.9 No Offer . This Lease is submitted to Tenant on the understanding that it will not be considered an offer and will not bind Landlord in 
any way until (a) Tenant has duly executed and delivered duplicated originals to Landlord and (b) Landlord has executed and delivered one of 
such originals to Tenant.  

16.10 Consent . Unless Landlord’s consent or approval is required by the express terms of this Lease not to be unreasonably withheld, such 
approval or consent may be withheld, delayed or conditioned by Landlord in its sole and arbitrary discretion.  
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LANDLORD:   TENANT: 

LO 138 LLC,   RXi PHARMACEUTICALS CORPORATION 
an Oregon limited liability company   a Delaware corporation 

By:   Gramor 138 LLC,     

  an Oregon limited liability company     

  Manager     

By:   Gramor Investments, Inc.,     

  an Oregon Corporation     

  Manager     

By:   /s/ Barry A. Cain    By:   /s/ Mark J. Ahn  
  Barry A. Cain, President     Mark J. Ahn, President/CEO 

Date:   7/18/11    Date:   7/18/11  

Landlord Address:   Tenant Address: 
19767 SW 72nd Avenue, Suite 100   60 Prescott Street 
Tualatin, OR 97062   Worcester, MA 01605 
(503) 245-1976   (503) 961-4465 

and a copy to:   Thomas R. Page 
  Stoel Rives 
  900 S.W. Fifth Avenue Suite 2600 
  Portland, OR 97204 



On this day personally appeared before me MARK J. AHN, to me known to be the PRESIDENT/CEO, of the corporation described as 
Tenant in the foregoing instrument, and acknowledged the said instrument to be the free and voluntary act and deed of said corporation for the 
uses and purposes therein mentioned, and on oath stated that they were authorized to execute the said instrument on behalf of the corporation.  

GIVEN under my hand and official seal this 18th day of July, 2011.  
   

   

On this day personally appeared before me BARRY A. CAIN, to me known to be the President of Gramor Investments, Inc., that executed 
the foregoing instrument, and acknowledged the said instrument to be the free and voluntary act and deed of said corporation for the uses and 
purposes therein mentioned, and on oath stated that he was authorized to execute the said instrument on behalf of the corporation and Landlord.  

GIVEN under my hand and official seal this 18th day of July, 2011.  
   

STATE OF OREGON               )   
  )   ss 

County of Washington   )   

Official Seal   /s/ Kristin Jennifer Woods  
Kristin Jennifer Woods  
Notary Public – Oregon  
Commission No. 447699  
My Commission Expires May 19, 2014    

Notary Public in and for the State of Oregon 

STATE OF OREGON               )   
  )   ss 

County of Washington   )   

Official Seal   /s/ Kristin Jennifer Woods  
Kristin Jennifer Woods  
Notary Public – Oregon  
Commission No. 447699  
My Commission Expires May 19, 2014    

Notary Public in and for the State of Oregon 



LIST OF EXHIBITS AND RIDERS  
ATTACHED HERETO AND MADE A PART HEREOF  

“LAKE VIEW VILLAGE”  
   

EXHIBIT “A-1”     Premises 

EXHIBIT “A-2”     Site Plan 

EXHIBIT “A-3”     Legal Description of the Project 

EXHIBIT “B”     Construction Exhibit 

EXHIBIT “C”     Shopping Center Rules and Regulations 

RIDER:    Option to Extend 



EXHIBIT “A-2”  
SITE PLAN  

LAKE VIEW VILLAGE  
   

  



EXHIBIT “A-2”  
SITE PLAN  

LAKE VIEW VILLAGE  
   

  



EXHIBIT “A-3”  
LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROJECT  

“LAKE VIEW VILLAGE”  

Parcel 2 of PARTITION PLAT NO 2002-076, a duly filed plat, in the City of Lake Oswego, County of Clackamas, State of Oregon.  



EXHIBIT “B”  
DESCRIPTION OF LANDLORD’S WORK AND TENANT’S WORK  

“LAKE VIEW VILLAGE”  
RXi PHARMACEUTICALS  

Page 1 of 1  

CONSTRUCTION OF TENANT’S PREMISES:  

Landlord agrees that it will, at its sole cost and expense, commence and pursue to completion the construction of the improvements as stated in 
“Description of Landlord’s Work” herein.  

DESCRIPTION OF LANDLORD’S WORK:  

Landlord shall paint the interior of the Premises in a color(s) mutually agreeable to Tenant and Landlord. Other than outlined herein, Landlord 
shall deliver the Premises to Tenant in “as is” condition.  

DESCRIPTION OF TENANT’S WORK:  

Except as provided under “Description of Landlord’s Work”, all work in the Premises shall be provided by or for Tenant at Tenant’s expense. 
This work shall include, but not be limited to the following:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

1. In the event Tenant plans to make alternations to the Premises which require a building permit, Tenant shall within twenty (20) days after 
receipt of Landlord’s floor plan, submit to Landlord two (2) prints and one (1) reproducible set of full dimensioned 1/8 inch scale or larger 
drawings on 24” x 36” sheets plus specifications prepared by Tenant’s architect or designed at Tenant’s expense if Landlord’s architect is 
used, which drawings shall indicate the specific requirement of Tenant’s space showing clearly the storefront, interior partitions, colors, 
materials, trade fixtures plans, lighting and electrical outlets all in conformity with the provision of this Exhibit “B” and which shall be 
suitable for submittal for issuance of required permits. 

2. Any special or decorative lighting including any additional service panel capacity that may be required as a result. 

3. Special furred, covered or dropped ceiling areas. 

4. All interior painting, floor covering and other finishes not included in Landlord’s work. 

5. Al partitions and doors not included under Landlord’s work. 

6. If the Landlord performs any of Tenant’s work, then the cost of said work shall be paid in the following manner: Fifty percent (50%) prior 
to commencement of construction and the balance immediately following completion. Payment is due upon receipt of invoice. The entire 
payment of the invoice must be received by landlord prior to Tenant occupying the Premises and issuance of keys. 
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7. If Tenant penetrates roof membrane, Tenant shall, at its expense, use Landlord’s roofing contractor to repair all such penetrations. Al 
repairs shall comply with the requirements under the roof warranty. 

8. Tenant’s licensed general contractor must be approved by Landlord prior to Tenant issuing a contract. 



EXHIBIT “C”  
TO OFFICE LEASE AGREEMENT  

RULES AND REGULATIONS  
“LAKE VIEW VILLAGE”  

Page 1 of 4  
   

   

   

   

   

   

1. The entrance, halls, corridors, stairways and elevator shall not be obstructed by any of the tenants or used for any purpose other than for 
ingress and egress from their respective premises. The entrances, halls, corridors, stairways, walkways, and the elevator are not intended 
for use by the general public but for the tenant and its employees, licensees and invitees. Landlord reserves the right to control and operate 
the public portions of the building in which the Premises are located (the “Building”), the Project, and the public facilities as well as 
facilities furnished for the common use of the tenants, in such manner as it in its reasonable judgment deems best for the benefit of the 
tenants generally. No tenant shall invite to the tenant’s premises, or permit the visit of persons in such numbers or under such conditions as 
to interfere with the use and enjoyment of any of the entrances, corridors, elevator and other facilities of the Building or Project by any 
other tenants. 

2. No awnings or other projections shall be attached to the outside walls of the Building. No curtains, blinds, shades or screens, if any, which 
are different from the standards adopted by Landlord for the Project shall be attached to or hung in any exterior window or door or the 
premises of any tenant without the prior written consent of Landlord, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. 

3. Tenant may mark, drive nails or screw or drill on or into the partitions, woodwork or plaster of the Premises; provided, however, that any 
damage caused thereby shall be repaired by Tenant, at Tenant’s expense, prior to the expiration of the lease term. Tenant shall not 
penetrate the ceiling or floor of the Premises without the prior written consent of Landlord. 

4. No sign, placard, picture, name lettering, advertisement, notice or object visible from the exterior of any tenant’s premises shall be 
displayed in or on the exterior windows or doors, or on the outside of any tenant’s premises, or at any point inside any tenant’s premises 
where the same might be visible outside of such premises, without the prior written consent of Landlord, which consent shall not be 
unreasonably withheld. All approved signs or lettering shall be prepared, printed, affixed, or inscribed at the expense of the tenant and shall 
be of a size, color and style acceptable to Landlord. 

5. The windows that reflect or admit light and air into the halls, passageways or other public places in the Building shall not be covered or 
obstructed by any tenant, nor shall any bottles, parcels or other articles be placed on the window sills. 

6. No showcases or other articles shall be put in front of or affixed to any part of the exterior of the Building, nor placed in the halls, corridors 
or vestibules. 



   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

Exhibit “C”     Lake View Village 

7. No bicycles, skateboard, vehicles, animals or birds of any kind shall be brought into or kept in or about the Building; however, bicycles 
may be kept in a bike rack installed by the Landlord on the Building exterior. 

8. No noise, including, but not limited to, music or the playing of musical instruments, recordings, radio, television or similar audio or video 
device which, in the judgment of Landlord, might disturb other tenants in the Building, shall be made or permitted by any tenant. 

9. No tenant, nor any tenant’s contractors, employees, agents, visitors, invitees, or licensees, shall at any time bring into or keep upon the 
premises or the Building any inflammable, combustible, explosive, environmentally hazardous or otherwise dangerous fluid, chemical or 
substance. 

10. Additional locks or bolts of any kind which shall not be operable by the grand master key for the Building shall not be placed upon any of 
the doors or windows by any tenant, nor shall any changes be made in locks or mechanism thereof which shall make such locks inoperable 
by such grand master key. Additional keys for a tenant’s premises and toilet rooms shall be procured only from the Landlord who may 
make a reasonable charge therefore. 

11. All movement of freight, furniture, packages, boxes, crates or any other object or matter of any description must take place during such 
hours and in such elevators, and in such manner as Landlord or its agents may determine from time to time. Any labor and engineering 
costs incurred by Landlord in connection with any moving herein specified, shall be paid by Tenant to Landlord, on demand. 

12. Landlord shall have the right to prescribe the weight and position of safes and other objects of excessive weight, and no safe or other object 
whose weight exceeds the lawful load for the area upon which it would stand shall be brought into or kept upon any tenant’s premises. If, 
in the judgment of Landlord, it is necessary to distribute the concentrated weight of any heavy object, the work involved in such 
distribution shall be done at the expense of the tenant and in such manner as Landlord shall determine. 

13. No machinery or mechanical equipment other than ordinary portable business machines may be installed or operated in any tenant’s 
premises without Landlord’s prior written consent which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed, and in no case shall any 
machines or mechanical equipment be so placed or operated as to disturb other tenants. Machines and mechanical equipment which may be 
permitted to be installed and used in tenant’s premises shall be equipped, installed and maintained so as to prevent any disturbing noise, 
vibration or electrical or other interference from being transmitted from such premises to any other area of the Building. 

14. Landlord, its contractors, and their respective employees, shall have the right to use, without charge therefor, electricity and water in the 
premises of any tenant while making repairs or alterations in the premises of such tenant. 
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15. No premises of any tenant shall be used for lodging or sleeping or for any immoral or illegal purpose. 

16. The requirements of tenants for any services by Landlord will be attended to only upon prior application to the Landlord. Employees of 
Landlord shall not perform any work or do anything outside of their regular duties, unless under special instructions from Landlord. 

17. Canvassing, soliciting and peddling in the Building are prohibited and each tenant shall cooperate to prevent the same. 

18. Without the prior written consent of Landlord, no tenant shall sell newspapers, magazines, periodicals, theater or travel tickets or other 
goods or merchandise to the general public in or on tenant’s premises nor shall any tenant use or permit the use of any sidewalk for any 
similar purposes. 

19. Each tenant shall store its trash and garbage within its premises. No material shall be placed in the trash boxes or receptacles if such 
material is of such nature that it may not be disposed of in the ordinary and customary manner of removing and disposing of office 
building trash and garbage in the City of Lake Oswego without being in violation of any law or ordinance governing such disposal. All 
garbage and refuse disposal shall be made only through entryways provided for such purposes and at such times as Landlord shall 
designate. No tenant shall cause or permit any unusual or objectionable odors to emanate from its premises which would annoy other 
tenants or create a public or private nuisance. No cooking shall be done in the premises of any tenant except as is expressly permitted in 
such tenant’s lease; and in any event said cooking shall not cause objectionable odors to permeate from its premises which would annoy 
other tenants. Tenant’s operation of an employee kitchen containing a microwave and refrigeration shall not be considered a violation of 
this regulation. 

20. No coin vending machine, video game, coin or token operated amusement device or similar machine shall be used or installed in any 
tenant’s premises without Landlord’s prior written consent. 

21. No bankruptcy, going out of business, liquidation or other form of distress sale shall be held in any of tenant’s premises. No sales shall be 
held outside of any tenant’s premises. No advertisement shall be done by loudspeaker, barkers, flashing lights or displays or other methods 
not consistent with the character of a high-quality office building. 

22. Nothing shall be done or permitted in any tenant’s premises, and nothing shall be brought into or kept in any tenant’s premises, which 
would impair or interfere with the economic heating, cleaning or other servicing of the Building or the premises, or the use or enjoyment 
by any other tenant of any other premises, nor shall there be installed by any tenant any ventilating, air conditioning, electrical or other 
equipment of any kind which, in the reasonable judgment of Landlord, might cause any such impairment or interference. 
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23. No acids, vapors or other similar caustic materials shall be discharged or permitted to be discharged into the waste lines, vents or flues of 
the Building. The water and wash closets and other plumbing fixtures in or serving any tenant’s premises shall not be used for any purpose 
other than the purposes for which they were designed or constructed, and no sweepings, rubbish, rages, acids or other foreign substances 
shall be deposited therein. All damages resulting from any misuse of the fixtures shall be borne by the tenant who, or whose employees, 
agents, invitees, visitors or licensees shall have caused the same. 

24. All entrance doors in each tenant’s premises and windows shall be left locked when the tenant is not occupying the premises. Entrance 
doors to the tenant’s premises shall not be blocked open at any time. Each tenant, before closing and leaving its premises at any time, shall 
turn out all lights. 

25. Hand trucks not equipped with rubber tires and side guards shall not be used within the Building. 

26. Tenant’s employees shall park only in those areas of the Project designated in writing by Landlord from time to time for such purpose. If 
requested, Tenant shall furnish to Landlord in writing license numbers of vehicle of Tenant and employees. Any vehicle improperly parked 
by an employee of Tenant may be towed or otherwise removed by Landlord at Tenant’s expense and Tenant shall indemnify Landlord 
from any liability in connection with such removal. 

27. Tenant shall be responsible for the observance of all of the foregoing rules and regulations by Tenant’s employees, agents, clients, 
customers, invitees, and guests. 

28. Landlord reserves the right to rescind, modify, alter or waive any rule or regulation at any time prescribed for the Project when, in its 
reasonable judgment, it deems it necessary, desirable or proper for the Project’ s best interest and for the best interests of the tenants 
generally, and no alteration or waiver of any rule or regulation in favor of one tenant shall operate as an alteration or waiver in favor of any 
other tenant. Landlord shall not be responsible to any tenant for the non-observance or violation by any other tenant of any of the rules and 
regulations at any time prescribed for the Building. 

29. Landlord reserves the right to add to, modify or otherwise change these Rules and Regulations. Such changes shall become effective when 
written notice thereof is provided tenants of the Building. 

30. These rules and regulations are in addition to, and shall not be construed in any manner to modify or amend, in whole or in part, the terms 
of any written lease for space in the Project. 
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RIDER: OPTION TO EXTEND  

Terms of Option:  

Tenant shall have an option to extend the term of this Lease for one (1) additional period of one (1) year upon the same terms and 
conditions set forth herein; provided Tenant shall have delivered written notice to Landlord of the exercise of the option not more than 365 days 
nor less than 120 days prior to the end of the initial Lease term and provided further that:  
   

   

Months 25-36 $3,300.00 per month  
   

  
(a) Tenant is not in default hereunder in the payment of rent or any other term or condition hereof at the time it gives such notice to 

Landlord or at the time the extended term begins; and 

  (b) The minimum monthly rent, as specified in Section 3.1 hereof, for such extended term shall be modified as follows: 

LANDLORD:   TENANT: 

LO 138 LLC,   RXi PHARMACEUTICALS CORPORATION, 
an Oregon limited liability company   a Delaware corporation 

By: 

  

Gramor 138 LLC,  
an Oregon limited liability company  
Manager      

By:   Gramor Investments, Inc.,     

  

an Oregon Corporation  
Manager      

By:   /s/ Barry A. Cain    By:   /s/ Mark J. Ahn  
  Barry A. Cain, President     Mark J. Ahn, President/CEO 
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LICENSE AGREEMENT  

THIS LICENSE AGREEMENT (this “ Agreement ”) is made and entered into by and between Apthera, Inc., a Delaware corporation 
having its principal offices at 8418 E. Shea Boulevard, Suite 100, Scottsdale, Arizona 85260 USA (the “ Licensor ”), and Kwangdong 
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., a company incorporated in Korea having its principal offices at 1577-4 Seocho-Dong, Seoul, Republic of Korea (the “ 
Licensee ”), with such foregoing entities also referred to hereafter individually as a “ Party ” or collectively as the “ Parties. ” The Agreement 
shall be effective as of the Effective Date.  

WHEREAS, the Licensor is the owner of or otherwise controls the Licensed Intellectual Property (as defined below);  

WHEREAS, Licensee desires to use, sell, offer for sale, and otherwise commercialize the products using the Licensed Intellectual Property 
within the Licensed Fields (as defined below);  

WHEREAS, Licensee desires to acquire and the Licensor desires to grant to Licensee a license under the Licensed Intellectual Property; 
and  

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and covenants contained in this Agreement and other valuable 
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows:  

1. Definitions.  

1.1 Certain Definitions . The following terms shall have the following respective meanings:  

“ Affiliates ” shall mean, with respect to any specified Person, a Person that directly or indirectly through one or more 
intermediaries, controls, or is controlled by, or is under common control with, the Person specified.  

“ Agreement ” shall have the meaning set forth in the Introduction hereof.  

“ Bankruptcy ” of either Party shall mean any of the following events:  

(a) Such Party is unable to pay its debts as they come due or such Party fails to have assets (both tangible and 
intangible) with a fair salable value in excess of the amount required to pay the probable liability on its respective 
existing debts for a period of more than ninety (90) days (“  Insolvency ” );  



(b) The institution by such Party of proceedings to be adjudicated as bankrupt, or insolvent or the consent by such Party 
to the institution of bankruptcy or Insolvency proceedings against such Party or the filing by such Party of a petition or 
answer or consent seeking reorganization or release under any applicable law, or the consent by such Party to the filing 
of any such petition or the appointment of a receiver, liquidator, assignee, trustee, or other similar official of such Party, 
or of any substantial part of such Party’s property, or the making by such Party of an assignment for the benefit of 
creditors, or the taking of action by such Party in furtherance of any such action; or 8418 E. Shea Blvd., Suite 100, 
Scottsdale, AZ 85260 www.apthera.com  

(c) The institution, consent, or the filing by (or against) such Party of any composition, reorganization, or bankruptcy 
liquidation proceedings under applicable law.  

“ Claims ” shall mean any claim, action, arbitration, proceeding, review, audit, hearing, investigation, litigation, or suit 
(whether civil, criminal, administrative, investigative, informal, or threatened).  

“ Confidential Information ” shall have the meaning set forth in the Mutual Confidential Disclosure Agreement.  

“ Disclosing Party ” shall have the meaning set forth in the Mutual Confidential Disclosure Agreement.  

“ Effective Date ” shall mean the date on which this Agreement is signed by the last Party to sign it.  

“ EMEA ” shall mean the European Medicines Agency, and any successor thereto.  

“ FDA ” shall mean the United States Food and Drug Administration, and any successor thereto.  

“ Field of Use ” shall mean for the treatment of breast cancer.  

“ Indemnified Party ” shall mean the Party seeking indemnification.  

“ Indemnifying Party ” shall mean the Party indemnifying the Indemnified Party.  

“ Infringes ” shall mean impairs, dilutes, misappropriates, or otherwise violates.  

“ Insolvency ” shall have the meaning set forth in the definition of Bankruptcy hereof.  

“ Intellectual Property ” shall mean all intellectual property rights of any nature or form of protection of a similar nature or 
having equivalent or similar effect to any of the foregoing, including, without limitation: (a) inventions, discoveries, 
processes, designs, techniques, developments, technology, and related improvements, whether or not patentable; (b) United 
States patents, patent applications, divisional s, continuations, reissues, renewals, registrations, confirmations, re-
examinations, certificates of inventorship, extensions, and the like, and any provision applications of any such patents or 
patent applications, and any foreign or international equivalent of any of the foregoing; (c) any word, name, symbol, color, 
designation, or device or  

   
2  



any combination thereof, including, without limitation, any United States or pending trademark, trade dress, service mark, 
service name, trade name, brand name, logo, domain name, or business symbol, and any foreign or international equivalent of 
any of the foregoing and all goodwill associated therewith; (d) any work, whether or not registered in the United States or 
elsewhere, that incorporate, is based upon, derived from, or otherwise uses any intellectual property, including, without 
limitation, mechanical and electronic design drawings (including, without limitation, computer-aided design files), 
specification, software (including, without limitation, documentation and object and source code listing), processes, technical 
or engineering data, test procedures, schematics, writings, materials, products, artwork, packaging and advertising materials; 
and (e) technical, scientific, and other know-how and information, trade secrets, knowledge, technology, means, methods, 
processed, practices, formulas, assembly procedures, computer programs, apparatuses, specifications, books, records, 
production data, publications, databases, reports, manuals, data and results, in written, electronic, or any other form not known 
or hereafter developed.  

“ KFDA ” shall mean the Korea Food & Drug Administration and any successor thereto.  

“ Licensee ” shall have the meaning set forth in the Introduction hereof.  

“ Licensee Financial Records ” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.4 hereof.  

“ Licensee Indemnities ” shall mean Licensee and its directors, officers, employees, Affiliates and agents.  

“ Licensed Intellectual Property ” shall mean any and all Intellectual Property related to the Licensed Products as set forth 
on Exhibit B attached hereto, as may be amended from time to time by the mutual written agreement of the Parties.  

“ Licensed Products ” shall mean any product which: (a) in the absence of the license granted in Section 2 hereof would 
infringe any of the Licensed Intellectual Property; or (b) is made, at least in part, using any of the Licensed Intellectual 
Property.  

“ Licensed Territory ” shall mean the Republic of Korea.  

“ Licensor ” shall have the meaning set forth in the Introduction hereof.  

“ Licensor Indemnitees ” shall mean the Licensor and its directors, officers, employees, Affiliates and agents.  

“ Losses ” shall mean all Claims, losses, liabilities, damages, costs, obligations, assessments, penalties and interest, demands 
and expenses (including, without limitation, actual attorneys’ fees), whether direct or indirect, known or unknown, absolute or 
contingent (including, without limitation, settlement costs and any legal, accounting and other expenses for investigation or 
defending any Claims).  

“ Mutual Confidential Disclosure Agreement ” shall mean that certain Mutual Confidential Disclosure Agreement entered 
into by and between the Licensor and Licensee, dated April 2, 2009 attached hereto as Exhibit A.  
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“ Net Sales ” shall mean Licensee’s invoice price for the sale of all Licensed Products, less those taxes, duties, refunds, 
exchanges, promotional give-aways and shipping charges actually incurred by Licensee and separately stated on such invoice. 

“ Party ” or “ Parties ” shall have the meaning set forth in the Introduction hereof.  

“ Persons ” shall mean any individual, partnership, firm, corporation, association, trust, unincorporated organization, or other 
entity, as well as any syndicate or group that would be deemed to be a person under Section 13(d) of the Securities Exchange 
Act of 1934, as amended.  

“ Phase III Clinical Trial ” shall mean a clinical trial as defined in 21 C.F.R. 312.21(c), as may be amended from time to 
time, or any foreign equivalent thereto. A Phase III Clinical Trial shall be deemed to have been initiated when the first patient 
is dosed in such Phase III Clinical Trial.  

“ Quarterly Net Sales Report ” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.5 hereof.  

“ Receiving Party ” shall have the meaning set forth in the Mutual Confidential Disclosure Agreement.  

“ Regulatory Authority ” shall mean, with respect to any particular country, territory or union, the governmental authority, 
body, commission, agency or other instrumentality of such country, territory or union with the primary responsibility for the 
evaluation or approval of pharmaceutical products before such pharmaceutical product may be tested, marketed, promoted, 
distributed or sold in such country, including such governmental bodies that have jurisdiction over the pricing of such 
pharmaceutical product. The term “Regulatory Authority” includes the KFDA, the FDA, and the European Agency for the 
Evaluation of Medicinal Products or EMEA  

“ Reimbursement approval ” shall mean the approval received for any Licensed Product to be reimbursed by insurance. 
Once a Licensed Product is approved for reimbursement by insurance, the royalty rate for Reimbursable Net Sales shall apply 
to the Licensed Product.  

“ Reimbursable Net Sales ” shall mean the Net Sales for any Licensed Products that have been approved for reimbursement 
by insurance.  

“ Non-reimbursable Net Sales ” shall mean the Net Sales for any Licensed Products that have not been approved for 
reimbursement by insurance.  

“ Royalties ” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.3 hereof.  

“ Term ” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 12.1 hereof.  

2. License Grant.  

2.1 Grant of License . Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the Licensor grants to Licensee and its Affiliates an 
exclusive, non-transferable license, limited to the Licensed Territory and Field of Use, to the Licensed Intellectual Property to use, sell, offer for 
sale, or otherwise commercially exploit the Licensed Products supplied by Licensee within the Licensed Territory and Field of Use for the Term 
of this Agreement.  
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2.2 Right to Sub-license . Licensee shall not have the right to sub-license any of the Licensed Intellectual Property in accordance with 
Section 2.1 hereof without Licensor’s prior written consent and Licensor’s consent shall not be unreasonably withheld.  

2.3 Reservation of Rights . All rights in any Licensed Intellectual Property not granted by the Licensor to Licensee in Sections 2.1 
and 2.2 hereof are expressly reserved to the Licensor and no additional licenses are granted or implied hereunder.  

3. Consideration and Reporting.  

3.1 Equity Investment . Licensee shall make a [***] U.S. dollar ($ [***] ) equity investment in Licensor payable as follows:  

(a) a [***] U.S. dollar ($ [***] ) investment in Series B-1 Preferred Equity Offering to be paid within fifteen (15) days after 
the Effective Date of the Agreement, and  

(b) a four hundred thousand U.S. dollar ($400,000.00) investment to be paid within thirty (30) days from the date that the first 
patient is dosed in a Phase III clinical study with the investment to be made in Licensor’s then current preferred equity offering; provided that the 
conditions of the aforesaid preferred equity offering shall be at least senior to or on parity with the conditions of the Licensor’s most senior 
preferred equity at that time.  

3.2 Milestone Payments . Licensee agrees to pay Licensor the following milestone payments:  

(a) [***] U.S. dollars ($ [***] ) to be paid within thirty (30) days of receiving reimbursement approval in the Licensed 
Territory,  

(b) [***] U.S. dollars ($ [***] ) to be paid within thirty (30) days after Licensee achieves [***] U.S. dollars ($ [***] ) in Net 
Sales of all Licensed Products, and  

(c) [***] U.S. dollars ($ [***] ) to be paid within thirty (30) days after Licensee achieves [***] U.S. dollars ($ [***] ) in Net 
Sales of all Licensed Products.  

3.3 Royalties . Licensee shall pay and the Licensor shall receive the following percents of the Net Sales of all Licensed Products in 
the Licensed Territory for the Term of this Agreement (the “ Royalties ”):  

(a) for the first [***] U.S. dollars ($ [***] ) in Net Sales, Licensor shall receive [***] ( [***] %) of Reimbursable Net Sales 
and [***] ( [***] %) of Non-reimbursable Net Sales,  

(b) for Net Sales over [***] U.S. dollars ($ [***] ) and up to [***] U.S. dollars ($ [***] ), Licensor shall receive [***] percent 
( [***] %) of Reimbursable Net Sales and [***] percent ( [***] %) of Non-reimbursable Net Sales,  

(c) for Net Sales over [***] U.S. dollars ($ [***] ), Licensor shall receive [***] percent ( [***] %) of Reimbursable Net Sales 
and [***] percent ( [***] %) of Non-reimbursable Net Sales.  

The Royalties due under this Section 3.3 shall be paid within sixty (60) days after the end of the then-current quarter.  

3.4 Financial Records and Auditing . Licensee shall, during the Term of this Agreement and for a period of one (1) fiscal year 
thereafter, keep and maintain financial statements and records relating  
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exclusively to the subject matter of this Agreement solely for the purposes of confirming the Net Sales of the Licensed Products to be reported 
according to Section 3.5 hereof (the “ Licensee Financial Records ”). The Licensor, through an independent certified public accountant 
(provided that such independent certified public accountant is not compensated on a contingency basis), subject to a written non-disclosure 
agreement with Licensee, shall have the right, during normal business hours and upon ten (10) days advance written notice to Licensee, and no 
more often than once per calendar year, to inspect the Licensee Financial Records. Licensee shall have the right to have a representative present 
at all such inspections. The Licensor warrants that all such audits shall be carried out in a manner calculated not to unreasonably interfere with 
Licensee’s conduct of business. Further, such certified public accountant agrees to comply with all of Licensee’s safety and security 
requirements during any visits to Licensee’s facilities. The cost of such inspection or audit shall be borne by the Licensor, unless such inspection 
or audit reflects a discrepancy adverse to the Licensor of five percent (5%) or more in the Net Sales reported by Licensee. In the event that the 
inspection or audit reveals a discrepancy adverse to the Licensor of five percent (5%) or more in the Net Sales reported by Licensee in 
accordance with this Agreement, Licensee shall be responsible for the reasonable costs of such inspection or audit. The Licensor acknowledges 
that the Licensee’s Financial Records contain confidential trade information. Neither the Licensor nor its representatives shall at any time 
communicate to others or use any facts or information obtained as a result of such inspection or audit of the Licensee Financial Records. Under 
no circumstances shall such independent certified public accountant provide the Licensor with any information regarding the identity of 
Licensee’s customers or provide the Licensor with any copies of Licensee’s customer lists. The Licensor’s right to inspect the Licensee Financial 
Records shall be limited to the current year for which Net Sales of the Licensed Products are to be reported are payable and the immediately 
preceding one (1) fiscal year period. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, such audit right shall extend only one (1) fiscal 
year beyond termination of this Agreement.  

3.5 Quarterly Reports . During the Term of this Agreement and for any calendar quarter in which Licensee or its Affiliates have made 
any sales of the Licensed Products, Licensee shall, within thirty (30) days after the end of each such calendar quarter, furnish to the Licensor a 
written report showing the Net Sales of the Licensed Products during such quarter (the “ Quarterly Net Sales Report ”) including the following 
specific information: (a) total Net Sales of the Licensed Products broken down into Reimbursable Net Sales and Non-reimbursable Net Sales 
categories as may be reasonably requested by the Licensor, and sufficient documentation to demonstrate the calculation of such Net Sales; 
(b) the exchange rates used in determining the Net Sales in United States dollars; and (c) a comparison of forecast to actual sales of the Licensed 
Products, as customarily done by Licensee.  

3.6 Payments . All payments due pursuant to this Agreement shall be made in United States dollars. Any payments due pursuant to 
this Agreement unpaid within the time period set forth in the corresponding Section shall bear interest at the rate of one and one-half percent 
(1.5%) per month or the highest amount permitted by law, whichever is lower, from the date when such payment was due until payment in full, 
with interest, is made.  

3.7 Withholding Taxes . Licensee shall make the payment of the milestone and royalty payments owed to Licensor (defined in 
Sections 3.2 and 3.3) after deduction of withholding taxes that are imposed on such payments under the laws of the Licensed Territory and any 
of the bi-lateral tax treaties to which the government of the Licensed Territory is a party. Licensee shall notify Licensor of any such withholding 
taxes and the Parties shall cooperate to receive any benefits under any double taxation treaty.  

4. Ownership of Intellectual Property.  

4.1 Ownership of Licensed Intellectual Property . Licensee acknowledges and agrees, by and between the Parties, that the Licensor 
shall own all right, title and interest in and to the Licensed Intellectual Property and Licensee shall have no rights thereto beyond the licenses 
granted in Sections 2.1 and 2.2 hereof.  
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4.2 Ownership of Improvements to Licensed Intellectual Property . Licensee acknowledges and agrees, by and between the Parties, 
that Licensor shall own all right, title and interest in and to any improvements in the Licensed Intellectual Property regardless of which Party 
contributed to the improvements. Licensor agrees to grant to Licensee and its Affiliates an exclusive, non-transferable license, limited to the 
Licensed Territory and Field of Use, to any such improvements in the Licensed Intellectual Property in accordance with the same terms and 
conditions that apply to the licensed Intellectual Property.  

5. Prosecution and Maintenance of Intellectual Property.  

5.1 Prosecution and Maintenance of Licensed Intellectual Property . The Licensor shall prosecute and maintain the Licensed 
Intellectual Property. The Licensor shall be responsible for all costs, fees and other expenses related to such prosecution and maintenance 
(including, without limitation, outside counsel fees, patent, trademark and copyright office fees, annuities and maintenance fees) with respect to 
any Licensed Intellectual Property. The Licensor shall file, prosecute and maintain the Licensed Intellectual Property, at the Licensor’s sole cost. 
The Licensor shall keep Licensee advised as to all material developments with respect to all registrations and applications filed, prosecuted and 
maintained under this Section 5.1.  

6. Product Development and Clinical Trials.  

6.1 Costs and Participation . Licensor shall be responsible for all product development costs and all costs for clinical trials, and 
recruit enough patients for filing with Regulatory Authorities in the Licensed Territory. Licensee shall advise on regulatory aspects related to 
clearance of the sale of any Licensed Product in the Licensed Territory and Licensee shall participate in Phase III clinical trials in the Licensed 
Territory at sites mutually agreed upon by the Parties.  

6.2 Information and Data used for Regulatory Purposes . Licensor shall deliver to Licensee documents, information and data which 
are and will remain in Licensor’s possession and owned or controlled by Licensor and its Affiliates, which Licensor deems may be reasonably 
needed by Licensee in developing, registering, and marketing the Licensed Product in the Licensed Territory. During the term of this Agreement, 
Licensor shall from time to time inform Licensee of new information which Licensor may deem to be useful for Licensee in the development 
and sale of the Licensed Product in the Licensed Territory.  

7. Cost and Supply of Licensed Product.  

7.1 Cost . Licensor shall supply Licensee with Licensed product known as the commercial product NeuVax (E75 peptide in 
combination with GM-CSF) as a packaged finished product at a price not to exceed [***] U.S. dollars ($ [***] ) per dose under the terms of a 
Supply Agreement to be agreed upon by both Parties after the Licensed Product NeuVax is approved for sale in the Licensed Territory. This 
price can be adjusted for inflation on an annual basis based on rates set by the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics. If an adjuvant biologically similar 
to GM-CSF becomes available and approved to be packaged with E75, Licensor will supply such packaged product to Licensee at Licensor’s 
cost plus [***] ( [***] %) of Licensor’s costs, provided that the sale of the commercial product NeuVax has been launched by Licensee in the 
Licensed Territory for a period of at least five (5) years.  

7.2 Supply . Licensor agrees to supply Licensee with the Licensed Product having more than 90% of shelf life remaining, within 3 
months after its acceptance of the orders. Licensor shall guarantee the Licensed Product was manufactured in a qualified GMP facility of 
Licensor or any of its subcontractors.  
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8. Representations, Warranties and Covenants.  

8.1 Representations and Warranties .  

(a) The Licensor’s Representations and Warranties. The Licensor represents and warrants as follows:  

(i) The Licensor has all necessary legal power, right and authority to enter into and perform its obligations under this 
Agreement and has taken all necessary corporate action under the laws of the State of Delaware and its certificate of incorporation and bylaws to 
authorize the execution of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereunder.  

(ii) No Claim has been brought or is threatened by any third party with respect to any Licensed Intellectual Property that 
alleges that such Licensed Intellectual Property Infringes the rights of any third party.  

(iii) The Licensor has not threatened or initiated any Claim against any third party alleging that such third party 
Infringes any Licensed Intellectual Property.  

(iv) The Licensor has taken all reasonable measures to protect and preserve the security, confidentiality and value of all 
Licensed Intellectual Property, including, without limitation, trade secrets and other Confidential Information.  

(v) The Licensor has not previously granted any rights to any third party that are inconsistent with the rights granted to 
Licensee under this Agreement.  

(b) Licensee’s Representations and Warranties. Licensee represents and warrants that Licensee has all necessary legal power 
to enter into and perform its obligations under this Agreement and has taken all necessary corporate action under all applicable Korean laws and 
its certificate of incorporation and bylaws to authorize the execution of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated 
hereunder.  

8.2 Covenants .  

(a) The Licensor’s Covenants. The Licensor covenants as follows:  

(i) The Licensor will comply with all applicable laws and regulations with respect to the Licensed Intellectual Property, 
the Licensed Products, and this Agreement.  

(ii) The Licensor will take every reasonable action to preserve the security, confidentiality and value of all Licensed 
Intellectual Property.  

(iii) The Licensor will ensure that all of its employees, consultants, or agents involved in creation of the Licensed 
Intellectual Property on behalf of the Licensor shall assign to the Licensor all of their right, title and interest in and to such Licensed Intellectual 
Property.  

(iv) The Licensor will not grant for the Term of this Agreement any rights to any third party that are inconsistent with 
the rights granted to Licensee under this Agreement.  

(v) The Licensor will collaborate with the Licensee in good faith if the Licensee requests any supports for the successful 
marketing of the Licensed Products in the Licensed Territory.  

(b) Licensee’s Covenants. Licensee covenants that it will comply with all applicable laws and regulations with respect to the 
Licensed Intellectual Property and the Licensed Products.  
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8.3 DISCLAIMER . EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY SET FORTH IN THIS ARTICLE 8 HEREOF, NO PARTY MAKES 
ADDITIONAL WARRANTIES, REPRESENTATIONS, OR COVENANTS EXPRESS, IMPLIED, OR STATUTORY AS TO ANY OTHER 
MATTER WHATSOEVER.  

9. Infringement.  

9.1 Notice of Infringement . Each Party shall immediately notify the other Party in writing of any known or alleged infringement(s) 
of the Licensed Intellectual Property and the Licensed Products and shall immediately inform the other Party of any evidence of any such 
infringement(s).  

9.2 Enforcement of Licensed Intellectual Property . The Licensor shall have the first right, but not the obligation, to enforce any of 
the Licensed Intellectual Property against any third party. Licensee agrees to join as a party plaintiff in any Claim initiated by the Licensor if 
requested by the Licensor, at the sole cost of the Licensor, and Licensee shall provide the Licensor all assistance the Licensor may reasonably 
request in any such Claim, at the sole cost of the Licensor. In the event that the Licensor fails or decides not to enforce such Licensed Intellectual 
Property within thirty (30) days after written notice of such possible infringement, the Licensor shall give Licensee written notice of the decision 
or failure to take action and Licensee shall have the right, but not the obligation to undertake such Claim in its own name, on its own behalf, and 
at its own cost; provided, however, that the Licensor shall join as a party plaintiff in any such Claim initiated by Licensee if requested by 
Licensee, at the equal share of the cost of Licensor and Licensee, and the Licensor shall provide Licensee all assistance Licensee may reasonably 
request in any such Claim, at the equal share of the cost of Licensor and Licensee.  

9.3 No Settlement . Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, under no circumstances shall either Party settle or 
resolve any Claims of or by the Licensed Intellectual Property and/or the Licensed Products without the express written consent of the other 
Party, of which such consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed, or conditioned.  

10. Indemnification.  

10.1 Indemnification by Licensor . The Licensor shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless Licensee Indemnitees from and against 
any and all Losses which any Licensee Indemnitee may suffer or incur by reason of:  

(a) Any breach by the Licensor of any of its representations, warranties, agreements, or covenants contained in this 
Agreement or by the willful misconduct of the Licensor, including, without limitation, by way of any misappropriation, willful misstatement, or 
fraud on any government authority;  

(b) Any third party Claim of harm or injury arising out of, related to, or in connection with a product recall or the manufacture 
of the Licensed Products that is attributable to any Licensed Product provided by Licensor.  

10.2 Indemnification by Licensee . Licensee shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless the Licensor Indemnitees from and against 
any and all Losses, which any Licensor Indemnitee may suffer or incur by reason of:  

(a) Any breach by Licensee of its representations, warranties, agreements, or covenants contained in this Agreement or by the 
willful misconduct of Licensee, including, without limitation, by way of any misappropriation, willful misstatement, or fraud on any government 
authority.  
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10.3 Indemnification Procedures .  

(a) The Indemnified Party pursuant to this Article 10 shall promptly notify the Indemnifying Party, in writing, of such Claim 
describing such Claim in reasonable detail; provided, however, that the failure to provide such written notice shall not affect the obligations of 
the Indemnifying Party unless and only to the extent it is actually prejudiced thereby.  

(b) The Indemnifying Party shall have a right within thirty (30) days after receipt of such written notice to take control, 
through counsel of its own choosing (but reasonably acceptable to the Indemnified Party) and at its own cost, the settlement, or defense thereof 
unless: (i) the Indemnifying Party is also a party to the proceeding and the Indemnified Party determines in good faith that joint representation 
would be inappropriate; or (ii) the Indemnifying Party fails to provide reasonable assurance to the Indemnified Party of its financial capacity to 
defend such proceeding, and provide indemnification with respect thereto. The Indemnifying Party shall not, without the written consent of the 
Indemnified Party (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed, or conditioned), settle or compromise any Claim, unless such 
settlement or compromise includes an unconditional release of the Indemnified Party. If the Indemnifying Party does not notify the Indemnified 
Party within thirty (30) days after the receipt of written notice of a Claim of indemnity hereunder that it elects to undertake the defense thereof, 
the Indemnified Party shall have the right to contest, settle, or compromise the Claim but shall not pay or settle any such Claim without the 
consent of the Indemnifying Party (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed, or conditioned).  

(c) The Indemnifying Party and the Indemnified Party shall cooperate fully in all aspects of any investigation, defense, pre-
trial activities, trial, compromise, settlement, or discharge of any Claim in respect of which indemnity is sought pursuant to this Article 10, 
including, without limitation, providing the other Party with reasonable access to employees and officers (including, without limitation, as 
witnesses) and other information. The remedies provided in this Article 10 shall not be exclusive of or limit any other remedies that may be 
available to the Indemnified Parties.  

(d) The Indemnifying Party shall reimburse the Indemnified Party for all Losses within five (5) days of receipt of written 
notice from the Indemnified Party setting forth the amount of such Losses. The Indemnified Party shall also have a right to offset such Losses 
against any payment due to the Indemnifying Party.  

11. Confidential Information.  

11.1 Confidential Information Generally . The existence and terms and conditions of this Agreement are confidential, and neither 
Party may make any disclosures regarding this Agreement without the express prior written consent of the other Party, except:  

(a) As may be required by law or legal process;  

(b) During the course of litigation so long as the disclosure of such terms and conditions are restricted in the same manner as 
is the confidential information of other litigating parties and so long as: (i) the restrictions are embodied in a court-entered protective order; and 
(ii) the Disclosing Party informs the Receiving Party in writing in advance of the disclosure; or  

(c) In confidence to its legal counsel, accountants, banks and financing sources and their advisors solely in connection with 
complying with financial transactions.  

11.2 Restrictions on Confidential Information .  

(a) The Receiving Party agrees not to disclose any Confidential Information of the Disclosing Party and to maintain such 
Confidential Information in strictest confidence, to take all reasonable precautions to prevent its unauthorized dissemination and to refrain from 
sharing any or all of the  
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information with any third party for any reason whatsoever except as required by court order, both during and after the Term of this Agreement. 
Without limiting the scope of this duty, the Receiving Party agrees to limit its internal distribution of the Confidential Information of the 
Disclosing Party only on a “need to know” basis solely in connection with the performance of this Agreement, and to take steps to ensure that 
the dissemination is so limited.  

(b) The Receiving Party agrees not to use the Confidential Information of the Disclosing Party for its own benefit or for the 
benefit of any third party other than in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement.  

(c) All the Licensor’s Confidential Information remains the sole property of the Licensor and all Licensee’s Confidential 
Information remains the sole property of Licensee.  

(d) Upon written request of the Disclosing Party, or upon the expiration or other termination of this Agreement for any reason 
whatsoever, the Receiving Party agrees to return to the Disclosing Party all such provided Confidential Information, including, without 
limitation, all copies thereof.  

11.3 Survival . The obligations set forth in this Article 11 shall apply throughout the Term of this Agreement and for a period of five 
(5) years after the termination or expiration of this Agreement or any extensions hereof.  

12. Term and Termination.  

12.1 Term . This Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date, and, unless extended by the mutual written agreement of the 
Parties (and then only upon the terms and conditions set forth herein) or sooner terminated in accordance with Section 12.2 hereof, shall continue 
for a period of 15 years from the launch of the sale of any Licensed Product in the Licensed Territory or until the expiration or invalidation of the 
last valid claim in the Licensed Intellectual Property in the Licensed Territory, whichever occurs later (the “ Term ”). This Agreement shall be 
automatically renewed thereafter on a yearly basis, unless terminated pursuant to the terms of this Agreement.  

12.2 Early Termination . Upon the occurrence of any of the following, this Agreement may be terminated by:  

(a) Either Party immediately upon written notice to the other Party if the other Party breaches any material provision of this 
Agreement and such breach is: (i) incapable of cure; or (ii) capable of cure, but not cured within ninety (90) days of the breaching Party’s receipt 
of written notice of such default from the non-breaching Party.  

(b) Either Party immediately upon the Bankruptcy of the other Party.  

(c) The Licensor immediately if Licensee does not pay the Consideration as described in Article 3 hereof within ninety 
(90) days of the Licensor’s written notice of such non-payment.  

(d) The Licensee if no Licensed Product is approved for sale in the Licensed Territory.  

(e) Mutual written agreement of the Parties.  

12.3 Effect of Early Termination: Upon expiration or early termination of this Agreement by the Licensor or Licensee pursuant to 
Section 12.2 hereof, the rights granted hereunder shall immediately terminate; provided, however, that Licensee shall be permitted to use the 
Licensed Intellectual Property for a  
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period of three (3) months to complete deliveries on contracts in force as of the date of termination, to sell and to otherwise dispose of any 
existing inventory of the Licensed Products provided under this Agreement.  

12.4 Survival . Expiration or early termination of this Agreement shall not relieve either Party of its obligations incurred prior to the 
expiration or early termination. The following provisions shall survive expiration or early termination of this Agreement or of any extensions 
thereof for a period of five (5) years or for such period of time as indicated in the surviving provision: Sections 4, 8, 10, 11, 13 hereof, 
Section 12.3 hereof and this Section 12.4.  

13. Miscellaneous.  

13.1 Notices . All notices, requests, demands and other communications required to or permitted to be given under this Agreement 
shall be in writing and shall be conclusively deemed to have been delivered: (a) when hand delivered to the other Party; (b) when received when 
sent by facsimile at the address and number set forth below (provided, however, any notice given by facsimile shall be deemed received on the 
next business day if such notice is received after 5:00 p.m. recipient’s time, or on a non-business day); (c) three (3) business days after the same 
have been deposited in a United States post office with first class or certified mail return receipt requested postage prepaid and addressed to the 
Parties as set forth below; or (d) the next business day after the same have been deposited with a nationally recognized overnight delivery service 
(i.e., Federal Express, DHL, or United Parcel Service) postage prepaid, addressed to the Parties as set forth below with next business-day 
delivery guaranteed. For the purposes of this Agreement, the delivery addresses of the Parties are:  

If to the Licensor:  

Apthera, Inc.  
8418 E. Shea Boulevard  
Suite 100  
Scottsdale, Arizona 85260  
USA  
Attention: Robert E. Kennedy, CFO  
Phone: (480) 348-9705  
Facsimile: (480) 348-9709  

If to Licensee:  

Kwangdong Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.  
1577-4 Seocho-Dong  
Seoul, Republic of Korea  
Attention: [Bo Hyung Lee, Director]  
Phone: [82-2-2025-1360]  
Facsimile: [82-2-2025-1350]  

Each Party shall make an ordinary, good faith effort to ensure that it will accept or receive notices that are given in accordance with this 
Section 11.1, and to ensure that the receiving Party actually receives such notice. A Party may change or supplement the addresses given above, 
or designate additional addresses by giving the other Party written notice of the new address in the manner set forth above. Any correctly 
addressed notice that is refused, unclaimed, or undeliverable because of an act or omission of the Party to be notified shall be deemed effective 
as of the first date that said notice was refused, unclaimed, or deemed undeliverable by the postal authorities, messenger, or overnight delivery 
service.  

13.2 Entire Agreement . This Agreement, together with any exhibits and schedules attached hereto and incorporated herein by this 
reference, and any other agreements entered into pursuant to  
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this Agreement, constitute the entire agreement between the Parties pertaining to the subject matter contained herein, and supersede all prior or 
contemporaneous agreements, representations and understandings of the Parties.  

13.3 Delays or Omissions . No delay or omission to exercise any right, power, or remedy accruing to either Party upon any breach or 
default under this Agreement shall impair any such right, power, or remedy of such Party, nor shall it be construed to be a waiver of any such 
breach or default, or an acquiescence therein, or of or in any similar breach or default thereafter occurring; nor shall any waiver of any single 
breach or default be deemed a waiver of any other breach or default theretofore or thereafter occurring. Any waiver, permit, consent, or approval 
of any kind or character on the part of either Party of any breach or default under this Agreement, or any waiver on the part of either Party of any 
provisions or conditions of this Agreement, must be in writing and shall be effective only to the extent specifically set forth in such writing or as 
provided in this Agreement. All remedies, either under this Agreement or by law or otherwise afforded to either Party, shall be cumulative and 
not alternative.  

13.4 Severability . This Agreement shall be deemed severable, and the invalidity or unenforceability of any term or provision hereof 
shall not affect the validity or enforceability of this Agreement or of any other term or provision hereof. Furthermore, in lieu of any such invalid 
or unenforceable term or provision, the Parties intend that there shall be added as a part of this Agreement a provision as similar in terms to such 
invalid or unenforceable provision as may be possible to be valid and enforceable.  

13.5 Governing Law . This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed and enforced in accordance with the internal laws of the 
State of Arizona without regard to its conflict of laws provisions. The Parties expressly and irrevocably consent to the exclusive personal 
jurisdiction and venue of the federal courts sitting within the County of Maricopa, Arizona, unless no federal subject matter jurisdiction exists, in 
which case the Parties consent to the exclusive jurisdiction and venue in the Superior Court of Maricopa County, Arizona. The Parties expressly 
waive all defenses of lack of personal jurisdiction and forum non conveniens with respect to the federal and state courts sitting within the County 
of Maricopa, Arizona.  

13.6 Commercial Impracticability . No Party shall be liable for any failure to perform its obligations in connection with any action 
described in this Agreement, only if such failure directly results from and is caused by any act of God, riot, war, terrorist attack, civil unrest, 
flood, earthquake, or other causes beyond such Party’s reasonable control, excluding a Party’s financial condition or negligence.  

13.7 Successors and Assigns; No Third Party Beneficiaries . Neither this Agreement nor any of the rights or obligations arising under 
this Agreement may be assigned or transferred by either Party, in whole or in part, without the prior written consent of the other Party, and any 
attempted assignment or transfer without such written consent shall be of no force or effect.  

13.8 Entire Agreement; Amendment . Neither this Agreement nor any term hereof may be amended, waived, discharged, or 
terminated other than by a written instrument signed by the Party against whom enforcement of any such amendment, waiver, discharge, or 
termination is sought.  

13.9 Construction; Headings . The article, section and subsection headings in this Agreement are inserted for convenience only and 
will not affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement. The language of this Agreement shall be construed simply and 
according to its fair meaning, and shall not be construed for or against any Party hereto as a result of the source of its draftsmanship.  

13.10 Counterparts . This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which will be deemed an original, but 
all of which together will constitute one instrument. Signatures transmitted electronically or by facsimile will be deemed original signatures.  
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13.11 Independent Contractor . Each Party is an independent contractor and is not and shall not be deemed to be the legal 
representative or agent of the other Party for any purpose whatsoever, and neither Party is authorized by the other Party to transact business, 
incur obligations (express or implied), bill goods, or otherwise act in any manner, in the name or on behalf of the other Party, or to make any 
promise, warranty, or representation in the name or on behalf of the other Party except as permitted in this Agreement.  

13.12 Injunctive Relief and Equitable Relief . The Parties acknowledge that a breach of any of the provisions set forth in Article 11 
hereof shall result in irreparable and continuing damage for which there shall be no adequate remedy at law, and the non-breaching Party shall be 
entitled to injunctive relief and/or a decree for specific performance, and such other relief as may be proper (including, without limitation, 
monetary damages if appropriate).  

13.13 Further Assurances . Each Party hereto shall promptly execute and deliver such further instruments and take such further 
actions as any other Party hereto may reasonably require or request in order to carry out the intent of this Agreement and to consummate the 
transactions contemplated hereby.  

[The remainder of this page has been intentionally left blank; signature page follows.]  
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have duly executed this Agreement as of the Effective Date.  
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APTHERA, INC. 

By:   /s/ Robert E. Kennedy  
Name:   Robert E. Kennedy 
Title:   CFO 
Date:   April 22, 2009 

KWANGDONG 
PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. 

By:   /s/ Soo Boo Choi  
Name:   Soo Boo Choi 
Title:   Chairman 
Date:   April 30, 2009 



EXHIBIT A  

Non-Disclosure Agreement  



MUTUAL CONFIDENTIAL DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT  

This MUTUAL CONFIDENTIAL DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT (hereinafter referred to as “Agreement”), effective as of the 2nd day of April, 
2009 (the “Effective Date”), is made by and between:  

Kwangdong Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. , a Korean corporation having its principal offices at 1577-4 Seocho-Dong, Seoul, Republic of Korea, 
hereinafter referred to as “COMPANY”  

and  

Apthera, Inc. , a Delaware corporation having its principal place of business at 8418 Shea Blvd., Suite 100, Scottsdale, Arizona 85260-6667, 
hereinafter referred to as “Apthera”  

Hereinafter sometimes individually referred to as ‘Party’ and collectively as ‘Parties’. The party disclosing the Information shall hereinafter 
referred to as the ‘Disclosing Party’ and the party receiving such Information shall be referred to as the ‘Receiving Party’  

WITNESSETH  

WHEREAS , Apthera and COMPANY wish to discuss a potential business, scientific and/or technical relationship between them (hereinafter 
referred to as the “Purpose”); and  

WHEREAS , during the course of such discussions, it may become desirable or necessary for the Parties hereto to disclose to each other certain 
technical, commercial or business information of a proprietary or confidential nature (hereinafter referred to as “Confidential Information”); and  

WHEREAS , Parties hereto are willing to provide for the conditions of such disclosure of Confidential Information and the rules governing the 
use and the protection thereof;  

NOW, THEREFORE , Apthera and COMPANY, intending to be legally bound, hereby agree as follows:  
   

   

1. As used in this Agreement the term “Confidential Information”  shall mean all information including, where appropriate and without 
limitation, licenses, business plans and data (including financial, manufacturing, marketing, operations and strategic information), other 
data (including engineering, scientific and technical information), patent disclosures, patent applications, unpublished findings, know how, 
techniques, processes, structures, methods, models, specifications, designs, drawings, algorithms, formulae, programs, samples, 
compositions, biological material, and compounds relating to the same disclosed by the Disclosing Party to the Receiving Party or obtained 
by the Receiving Party through observation or examination of information or any means of disclosing such Proprietary Information that the 
Disclosing Party hereto may select to use during the life of this Agreement, but only to the extent that such information is maintained as 
confidential by the Disclosing Party and is marked or otherwise identified as “Confidential” when disclosed to the Receiving Party. In the 
case of information given verbally, such Confidential Information must be reduced to written form within 30 days of disclosure and 
likewise marked “Confidential” . 

2. During the period in which this Agreement is effective and also during the period stated in Section 13 below, each Party is obliged to treat 
all Confidential Information supplied or disclosed by the Disclosing Party as strictly confidential and secret. Each Party shall use such 
Confidential Information only for the Purpose and shall safeguard any such Confidential Information as it safeguards its own confidential 
information and shall refrain from unauthorized use by or disclosing it to third parties or disclosing it in any other way. Furthermore, 
Parties will ensure every reasonable precaution to prevent the unauthorized disclosure of said Confidential Information. 
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3. Parties may only disclose or reveal the Confidential Information to the minimum number of employees of Parties who have a need to know 
and solely for the Purpose or, with prior written approval of the Disclosing Party, to the minimum of employees of companies associated 
with the other Party or its advisors who are actually engaged in the execution of activities requiring access to the Confidential Information, 
on the condition that the Receiving Party has in force an appropriate confidentiality agreement with such advisors and associated company 
and their employees have signed appropriate agreements requiring them to treat the Confidential Information as strictly confidential, and 
treat such Confidential Information in accordance with this Agreement. 

4. The Confidential Information of each Party, or any part thereof, whether capable of being copyrighted, patented, or otherwise registered by 
law, or not, is for the purpose of this Agreement acknowledged by the Receiving Party as being the sole property of the Disclosing Party. 
Upon termination or expiration as set forth in Section 13 below, or at such earlier time as it appears that the Confidential Information is no 
longer required, each Party shall, at its own expense, return to the other Party the originals and all copies of such Confidential Information 
within a reasonable time or, if requested by the Disclosing Party, shall destroy or return the originals and all copies of such Confidential 
Information and certify to the destruction or return in writing within thirty (30) days of the request thereto. Notwithstanding any contrary 
foregoing provision, the Receiving Party may retain one copy of Confidential Information in a secure location with appropriately restricted 
access for evidentiary purposes. The parties acknowledge that it may not be feasible to remove copies of information in electronic systems, 
such as email and system archives and certain electronic media, and their continued presence shall not be a breach of this obligation so 
long as such copies are treated as confidential. 

5. The Receiving Party shall not analyze, copy, reverse engineer, or otherwise attempt to derive the composition or underlying information of 
any Confidential Information. 

6. The Receiving Party shall have no obligations or restrictions with respect to any Confidential Information, which the Receiving Party can 
prove: 

  
a. is or has become publicly and generally available or ascertainable prior to, or after the disclosure thereof and in such case through no 

wrongful act of the Receiving Party; or 

  b. is already known to the Receiving Party, as evidenced by written documentation in its files; or 

  
c. has been lawfully received at any time from a third party that the Receiving Party reasonably believes possesses such information 

lawfully and has the right to disclose such information; or 

  d. has been or is published without violation of this Agreement; or 

  
e. is independently developed in good faith by employees of the Receiving Party who did not have access to, nor had knowledge of the 

Confidential Information; or 

  f. is approved for release or use by written authorization of the Disclosing Party; or 

  

g. is required to be disclosed by applicable law, regulations or order of a governmental authority, agency or court of competent 
jurisdiction provided that the Receiving Party takes reasonable steps to avoid disclosure or minimize its extent and promptly notifies 
the other Party of such order to provide that Party sufficient time to seek a protective order or other remedy to protect such 
Confidential Information. The Receiving Party may disclose only the minimum Confidential Information required to be disclosed, 
whether or not a protective order or other remedy is in place. 



The Confidential Information shall not be deemed to be within one of the foregoing exceptions merely because it is embraced by 
more general information within the exception. In addition, any combination of features shall not be deemed to be within one of the 
foregoing exceptions merely because individual features are within the exception but only if the combination itself is within the 
exception. The Receiving Party shall have the burden of proof in establishing any of the above-mentioned exceptions.  
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7. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be construed as granting or conferring any rights by license or otherwise to the Receiving Party, 
expressed or implied, for any patent, trademark, copyright, know-how, invention or other intellectual property, discovery or improvement 
prior to or after the date of this Agreement, whether or not related to the subject matter of the Agreement. All Confidential Information 
disclosed by one Party to the other shall remain the intellectual property of the Disclosing Party. Furthermore while each Party hereto 
agrees to act in good faith in disclosing information, which is accurate and adequate for the purpose set forth herein, neither Party provides 
any warranty as to the accuracy and completeness of the information disclosed by it hereunder. 

8. Nothing in this Agreement may be construed as compelling either Party hereto to disclose any Confidential Information to the other, or to 
enter into any further contractual relationship relating to the subject matter of this Agreement. 

9. Each Party hereto, to the extent of its right to do so, shall disclose to the other Party only such Confidential Information, which the 
Disclosing Party deems appropriate to fulfill the objectives of this Agreement. Any information or data in whatever form disclosed by 
either Party hereto to the other shall be subject to the relevant terms and conditions of this Agreement. 

10. The Receiving Party shall be liable to Disclosing Party for any and all damages suffered by Disclosing Party arising out of or in relation to 
any breach of the Receiving Party undertakings herein. The Receiving Party understands that any violation of this Agreement may cause 
immediate and irreparable harm to the Disclosing Party, which monetary damages cannot adequately remedy. Without prejudice to rights 
and remedies available to the Disclosing Party, Receiving Party agrees that injunctive relief may be sought against it, in order to remedy, or 
to prevent a violation hereof. 

11. For each and every breach of this Agreement the Disclosing Party shall have the right to seek specific performance and other injunctive 
and equitable relief. 

12. The execution, existence and performance of this Agreement shall be kept confidential by the Parties hereto and shall not be disclosed by 
either Party without the prior written consent of the other. 

13. In consideration of the Purpose, Parties shall exchange Confidential Information within one (1) year of signing this Agreement. That if, on 
whatever grounds, an agreement between Parties would not be entered into, this Agreement shall be terminated automatically after one 
(1) year and the obligations set forth in this Agreement are continuing and shall survive the termination of any discussions, evaluations, 
negotiations or this Agreement and remain in full effect for a period of five (5) years from the date of termination. In the event the Parties 
enter into an agreement related to the Purpose, this Agreement shall continue in full effect until the longer of one (1) year of signing this 
Agreement or the expiration of such agreement related to the Purpose, and the obligations set forth in this Agreement are continuing and 
shall survive the termination of this Agreement and remain in full effect for a period of five (5) years from the date of termination. 



   

   

   

IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the Parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the Effective Date.  
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14. The Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Arizona, USA, without regard to the 
conflict of law principles thereof. 

15. None of the terms of this Agreement shall be amended or modified except in writing and signed by persons authorized to bind Parties. 

16. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of each of the Parties, their successors, legal representatives, and assigns. A 
Party may assign this Agreement only to a successor of that Party to that portion of its business relating to the subject matter of this 
Agreement and only after written approval of the contracting Party under this Agreement. However, such assignment shall not relieve said 
Party of any of the obligations of confidentiality set forth above. 

17. This Agreement may be rendered effective through facsimile or other electronic transmission and/or may be executed in counterparts, each 
of which shall be deemed an original, and all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument. 

APTHERA, INC.    Kwangdong Pharmaceuticals, Co., Ltd. 

/s/ Robert E. Kennedy     /s/ Bo-Hyung Lee  
Signature    Signature 

Robert E. Kennedy     Bo-Hyung Lee  
Name    Name 

CFO     Director, Business Development  
Title    Title 



EXHIBIT B  

Licensed Intellectual Property  

PATENTS  

Issued Patents  
   

Pending Patent Applications  
   

TRADEMARKS  

U.S. Serial No. 77/107,771 filed February 14, 2007 for the mark “NEUVAX”.  

Patent Number    Title of Patent     Jurisdiction    
Filing  
Date 

6,514,942     Methods And Compositions For Stimulating T-Lymphocytes    U.S.    3/14/95 
6,096,313  

   

Compositions Containing Immunogenic Molecules and Granulocyte-Macrophage 
Colony Stimulating Factor, as an Adjuvant    U.S.    2/9/96 

Application Number    Title of Patent     Jurisdiction    Filing Date 

10/507,009     Controlled modulation of amino acid side chain length of peptide antigens    U.S.    3/28/05 
60/941,524     Vaccine for the Prevention of Breast Cancer Relapse    U.S.    6/1/07 
PCT/US08/60044    Vaccine for the Prevention of Breast Cancer Relapse    PCT    4/11/08 



Exhibit 10.46 

AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO LICENSE AGREEMENT  

This Amendment No. 1 to License Agreement (this “ Amendment ”) is made as of January 13, 2012, by and among Apthera, Inc., a 
Delaware corporation (“ Licensor ”), Kwangdong Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., a company incorporated in Korea (“ Licensee ”), and Galena 
Biopharma, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“ Galena ”), with reference to the following facts:  

WHEREAS, Licensor and Licensee previously entered into a License Agreement, effective as of April 30, 2009 (the “ License Agreement 
”), in connection with Licensor’s grant to Licensee of a license to the Licensed Intellectual Property;  

WHEREAS, Licensor is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Galena; and  

WHEREAS, Licensor and Licensee wish to amend the License Agreement in certain respects as provided in this Amendment.  

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and other consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which hereby are 
acknowledged, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows:  

1. Definitions . Capitalized terms not defined in this Amendment shall have the meanings attributed to such terms in the License 
Agreement.  

2. Amendment . Section 3.1(b) of the License Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety to read as follows:  

“a four hundred thousand U.S. dollar ($400,000) investment to be paid within thirty (30) days from the date that the first patient 
is dosed in a Phase III Clinical Trial, with such investment to be made in shares (the “ Shares ”) of Galena common stock, par value 
$0.0001 per share (the “ Common Stock ”), at a price per share equal to the greater of (i) the closing sale price of the Common Stock 
as reported on the NASDAQ Capital Market (or if not then trading on the NASDAQ Capital Market, the closing sale price of the 
Common Stock on the stock exchange or over-the-counter market on which the Common Stock is principally trading on such date) 
on the first full trading day after Galena first issues a press release announcing that the first patient was dosed in a Phase III Clinical 
Trial, or (ii) $0.65. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, if Galena issues the foregoing press release prior to market open 
(i.e., 9:30 a.m. EST) on a trading day, then the closing sale price of the Common Stock on that trading day will apply for purposes of 
(i) of this Section 3.1(b).”  

3. Issuance of the Shares . Upon issuance in accordance with the terms of this Amendment, the Shares will be duly authorized, validly 
issued, fully paid and non-assessable. For its clarity, Galena shall issue the Shares as afore-mentioned subject to the terms of this Amendment 
and the License Agreement and it shall cause the certificates representing the Shares to be delivered to Licensee.  



4. Representations, Warranties and Agreements of Licensee . Licensee represents and warrants to, and agrees with, Licensor and Galena as 
follows:  

(a) Licensee will acquire the Shares for its own account, for investment purposes only.  

(b) Licensee understands that the Shares will not upon issuance thereof be registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended 
(the “ Securities Act ”), or under any state securities laws. Licensee is familiar with the provisions of the Securities Act and Rule 144 thereunder 
and understands that the restrictions on transfer placed on Shares may result in Licensee being required to hold the Shares for an indefinite 
period of time.  

(c) Licensee agrees not to sell, assign, transfer or otherwise dispose of, with or without consideration (“ Transfer ”), any of the Shares 
except pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act or an exemption from registration. As a further condition to any 
such Transfer, except in the event that such Transfer is made pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act, if in the 
reasonable opinion of counsel to Galena any Transfer of the Shares by the contemplated transferee thereof would not be exempt from the 
registration and prospectus delivery requirements of the Securities Act, the contemplated transferee may be required to furnish Galena with an 
investment letter setting forth such information and agreements as may be reasonably requested by Galena to verify the Transfer’s compliance 
with the registration provisions of the Securities Act.  

5. Lock-Up . Licensee agrees that, without the prior written consent of Galena, it will not, during the period commencing on the date the 
Shares are issued to Licensee and ending on the first anniversary of such date: (i) offer, pledge, sell, contract to sell, sell any option or contract to 
purchase, purchase any option or contract to sell, grant any option, right or warrant to purchase, lend, or otherwise transfer or dispose of, directly 
or indirectly, any of the Shares or (ii) enter into any swap or other arrangement that transfers to another, in whole or in part, any of the economic 
consequences of ownership of the Shares, whether any such transaction described in clause (i) or (ii) above is to be settled by delivery of the 
Common Stock or such other securities, in cash or otherwise.  

6. Compliance and liability of Galena and Licensor . Galena shall have Licensor comply with all of the terms and conditions of this 
Amendment and License Agreement and Galena and Licensor shall be jointly and severally liable for the fulfillment of this Amendment as well 
as License Agreement.  

7. No Other Changes to the License Agreement . Except as expressly amended by this Amendment, all of the terms of the License 
Agreement shall remain in full force and effect.  

8. Execution in Counterparts . This Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which will be deemed an original, 
but all of which together will constitute but one and the same instrument. Counterpart signature pages to this Amendment may be delivered by 
facsimile or electronic delivery ( e.g ., by email of a PDF signature page) and each such counterpart signature page will constitute an original for 
all purposes.  

[ Signature page follows ]  
   

2  



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Amendment as of the date first set forth above.  
   

   
3  

APTHERA, INC.   KWANGDONG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. 

By:   /s/ Mark J. Ahn    By:   /s/ Sung Won Choi  
  Name:   Mark J. Ahn     Name:   Sung Won Choi 
  Title:       Title:   President 

GALENA BIOPHARMA, INC.       

By:   /s/ Mark J. Ahn        

  Name:   Mark J. Ahn       

  Title:   President and CEO       



Exhibit 10.47 

THIS SEPARATION AND TRANSITION AGREEMENT is entered into as of September 24, 2011 by and among the Parties.  

R E C I T A L S  

WHEREAS, Employee is currently employed as the Chief Scientific Officer of RXi pursuant to the Existing Employment Agreement;  

WHEREAS, it is proposed that Employee be employed in the same capacity by RNCS, Inc., a Delaware corporation and wholly owned 
subsidiary of RXi (“ RNCS ”), in connection with the transactions contemplated by the Definitive Agreements;  

WHEREAS, in order to facilitate the transactions contemplated by the Definitive Agreements, the Parties wish to terminate and 
Employee’s employment with RXi in conjunction with her new employment by RNCS; and  

WHEREAS, Employee wishes to resign voluntarily her employment with RXi in order to accept her new employment with RNCS.  

AGREEMENTS  

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the mutual promises contained in this Agreement, the Parties agree as follows:  
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1. Definitions . Unless otherwise defined herein, capitalized terms used herein shall have the meanings set forth in the Existing Employment 
Agreement. Certain other capitalized terms used herein shall have the meanings indicated in paragraph 7. 

2. Termination of Employment . 

  
a) Employee hereby resigns voluntarily as of the Effective Date; as such, the Term of the Employee’s employment under the Existing 

Employment Agreement shall terminate on the Effective Date, except that the provisions of the Existing Employment Agreement that 
by the terms thereof are to continue beyond the Term of such employment shall not be affected by this Agreement. 

3. Transition Arrangements . 

  
a) In consideration of Employee’s entering into the New Employment Agreement, RXi shall pay Employee the following compensation 

in lieu of any other compensation or benefits under the Existing Employment Agreement, or otherwise: 

  
1) Within three business days following the Effective Date, RXi shall (i) pay Employee $50,000 in cash and (ii) issue to 

Employee under RXi’s 2007 Incentive Plan $50,000 of shares of RXi common stock valued for this purpose at the closing 
price of RXi common stock as reported on The NASDAQ Capital Market on the Effective Date. 
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2) To the extent it shall not have done so previously, within three business days following the Effective Date, RXi shall pay 

Employee any accrued and unpaid Base Salary as of the Effective Date. 

  
3) Employee acknowledges and agrees that any and all accrued and unpaid vacation pay and other paid time off of Employee 

shall be assumed by RNCS and honored by RNCS under the New Employment Agreement. 

  
4) To the extent it shall not have done so previously, upon presentation by Employee after the Effective Date, RXi shall 

reimburse Employee for any previously unreimbursed business expenses incurred by her prior to the Effective Date in 
accordance with RXi’s usual expense reimbursement policies. 

  

5) In conjunction with the Spin-off Closing, RXi shall grant to Employee under RXi’s 2007 Incentive Plan an option to purchase 
up to 50,000 shares of RXi common stock at an exercise price equal to the closing price of RXi common stock as reported on 
The NASDAQ Capital Market as of the date of the Spin-off Closing and otherwise on the terms set forth in the form of 
Option Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit 1 . 

  

6) To the extent it shall not have done so previously, RXi shall reimburse Employee, promptly upon presentation by Employee 
of invoices therefor, for legal services and disbursements, not to exceed $10,000 in the aggregate, incurred by her in 
connection with the negotiation and preparation of this Agreement, the New Employment Agreement and the Definitive 
Agreements, tax and other legal analysis of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby and related matters. 
Additionally, to the extent it shall not have done so previously, RXi shall, upon presentation by Employee of appropriate 
documentation, reimburse Employee as provided in the Existing Employment Agreement for her relocation expenses as 
follows: 

  (i) Closing costs on the sale of Employee’s Colorado home up to a maximum of 7% of $500,000 ( i.e ., $35,000); and 

  
(ii) Up to $20,000 to cover taxes on non-tax-free components of Employee’s relocation package under the Existing 

Employment Agreement and the foregoing reimbursement. 

  
7) To the extent it shall not have done so previously, within three business days following the Effective Date, RXi shall pay 

Employee $5,000 relating to the recent release by the FDA of the clinical CMC hold on RXi’s NewVax product candidate. 
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b) Employee acknowledges and agrees that the foregoing compensation is all of the compensation and benefits payable or otherwise to 
be provided to Employee by RXi on and after the Effective Date in connection with or as a result of Employee’s employment, or 
termination of her employment, with RXi, and that Employee is not entitled to any other compensation, benefits or perquisites from 
RXi. 

  
c) Employee agrees that all compensation payable under this paragraph 3 shall be paid after withholding for taxes that, in RXi’s 

reasonable good faith judgment, are required to be withheld by RXi. 

4. RXi Property . Employee hereby acknowledges and agrees that, to the extent she has not previously done so, and except as RXi may 
otherwise agree in light of the ongoing services to be performed by her under the New Employment Agreement, on the Effective Date 
Employee shall return to RXi all RXi property, including, but not limited to, all keys, credit cards, documents, equipment (including 
computer and telephone equipment) files, data, and records of any kind whatsoever that she has, or has had, in her possession or control. 

5. Transition Agreements . 

  a) Subject to the terms and provisions of this Agreement and Employee’s compliance herewith: 

  

1) From and after the Effective Date until the Spin-Off Closing, Employee shall be entitled to continue, at her election, to 
participate in all group health plans and other employee benefit plans, including 401(k) plans, generally made available to 
employees of RXi. Nothing herein, however, shall affect RXi’s right to modify, amend, change or discontinue any such plans 
at any time. 

6. Release; Further Assurances . 

  
a) In further consideration of RXi entering into this Agreement, and its promise to make payments and to provide benefits hereunder to 

which Employee is otherwise not entitled, Employee shall, concurrently with her execution and delivery of this Agreement, execute 
and deliver to RXi the Release. 

  
b) The Parties hereby agree to make, execute and deliver such other instruments or documents, and to do or cause to be done such 

further or additional acts, as may be reasonably necessary to effectuate the purposes or to implement the terms of this Agreement. 
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7. Definitions . 

  a) As used in this Agreement, the following capitalized terms shall have the meanings indicated: 

  1) “  Agreement ”  means this Separation and Transition Agreement, as it may be amended as provided herein. 

  
2) “  Definitive Agreements ”  means, collectively, the Contribution Agreement between RXi and RNCS and the 

Agreement between RNCS and Advirna, LLC, an affiliate of Employee, each dated the date hereof, as they may be 
amended as provided therein, together with the SPA. 

  3) “  Effective Date ”  has the meaning set forth in the RNCS Employment Agreement. 

  4) “  Employee ”  means Anastasia Khvorova, Ph.D. 

  
5) “ Existing Employment Agreement ” means the Employment Agreement, made as of October 17, 2008, between 

Employee and RXi, as amended to date. 

  
6) “  New Employment Agreement ”  means the Employment Agreement to be entered into between RNCS and Employee 

on terms mutually satisfactory to RNCS and Employee. 

  7) “  Parties ”  means the Employee and RXi, collectively. 

  8) “  RXi ”  means RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation, a Delaware corporation (to be renamed Galena Biopharma, Inc.). 

  9) “  Release ”  means the General Release in the form attached hereto as Exhibit 2 . 

  
10) “  SPA ”  means the Securities Purchase Agreement among RXi, RNCS, Tang Capital Partners L.P., and RTW 

Investments, LLC, dated the date hereof, as it may be amended as provided therein. 

  11) “  Spin-Off Closing ”  has the meaning set forth in the SPA. 

8. Miscellaneous . 

  
a) This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the substantive laws of the State of Massachusetts 

without regard to any conflict or choice of law rules that would result in the application of any other state’s law. 



   

   

[Signature Page Follows]  
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b) Should any provision of this Agreement or any portion hereof, be declared or be determined by any court to be illegal or 

invalid, the validity of the remaining parts, terms or provisions shall not be affected thereby and said illegal or invalid part, 
term or provision shall be automatically conformed to the law, if possible, or deemed not to be part of this Agreement. 

  

c) The Parties to this Agreement acknowledge that they have entered into this Agreement voluntarily, without coercion and 
based upon their judgment and not in reliance upon any representation or promises made by the other party other than those 
contained or referred to herein. This Agreement, including Exhibits, incorporates and constitutes the entire agreement among 
the Parties regarding the subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior negotiations, understandings and agreements between 
the Parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof. This Agreement may not be modified or cancelled, nor may any 
provision with respect to it be waived, except in a writing signed by the Parties. 

  
d) This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Parties and their respective heirs, legal representatives, 

successors and assigns. 



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this Separation and Transition Agreement to be executed as of the date first set forth 
above.  
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/s/ Anastasia Khvorova          
ANASTASIA KHVOROVA, Ph.D. 

RXi PHARMACEUTICALS CORPORATION 

By:     /s/ Mark J. Ahn          

  

Mark J. Ahn, Ph.D.  
President and Chief Executive Officer  

ACKNOWLEDGED: 

RNCS, INC.  

By:     /s/ Mark J. Ahn          

  

Mark J. Ahn, Ph.D.  
President and Treasurer  



Exhibit 21.1 

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT  
   

Name    Ownership Percentage     Jurisdiction of Organization   
Apthera, Inc.       100 %      Delaware    

RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation       100 %      Delaware    



EXHIBIT 23.1 

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING  FIRM  

Galena Biopharma, Inc.  
Lake Oswego, OR  

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Forms S-3 (No.333-167025 and No. 333-174076 
and Forms S-8 (Nos. 333-174819 and No. 333-175763) of Galena Biopharma, Inc. of our report dated March 28, 2012, relating to the 
consolidated financial statements which appear in the Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

/s/    BDO USA, LLP  
Boston, MA  

March 28, 2012  



Exhibit 31.1 

CERTIFICATION  

I, Mark J. Ahn, Ph.D., certify that:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

Dated: March 28, 2012  
   

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Galena Biopharma, Inc.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
covered by this report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 
13a–15(f) and 15d–15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

  
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 

supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us 
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

  
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under 

our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

  
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report my conclusions about 

the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such 
evaluation; and 

  
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s 

most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over 
financial reporting; and 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions): 

  
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 

reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

  
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s 

internal controls over financial reporting. 

/s/    Mark J. Ahn  
Mark J. Ahn, Ph.D., President and Chief Executive Officer 
(Principal Executive Officer) 



Exhibit 31.2 

CERTIFICATION  

I, Kwang S. Lee, certify that:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

Dated: March 28, 2012  
   

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Galena Biopharma, Inc.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
covered by this report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 
13a–15(f) and 15d–15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

  
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 

supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us 
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

  
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under 

our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

  
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report my conclusions about 

the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such 
evaluation; and 

  
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s 

most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over 
financial reporting; and 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions): 

  
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 

reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

  
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s 

internal controls over financial reporting. 

/s/    Kwang S. Lee  
Kwang S. Lee, Vice President, Finance and Chief  
Accounting Officer (Principal Financial Officer)  



EXHIBIT 32.1 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 1350, CHAPTER 63 OF TITLE 18, UNITED STATES  
CODE, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  

Pursuant to Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 
2002, each of the undersigned, as principal executive officer and principal financial officer of Galena Biopharma, Inc. (the “ Company ”), does 
hereby certify that to such officer’s knowledge:  

(1) the Company’s Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2011 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of 
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and  

(2) the information contained in the Company’s Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2011 fairly presents, in all material 
respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.  
   

Date: March 28, 2012  

/s/    Mark J. Ahn 

Mark J. Ahn, Ph.D.  
President and Chief Executive Officer  
(Principal Executive Officer)  

/s/    Kwang S. Lee 

Kwang S. Lee 
Vice President, Finance and Principal Accounting Officer 
(Principal Financial Officer)  


